
 

 

 

 
Children and Education 
Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
 

Monday, 28 February 2022 at 4.30 p.m. 

Committee Room One - Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 

Crescent, London,  E14 2BG 

 
 

Agenda 
 
Councillor Bex White 
 
Members 
Vice-Chair: Dr Phillip Rice 
 
Councillor Shad Chowdhury, Councillor Gabriela Salva Macallan, Councillor Helal Uddin, 
Councillor Abdal Ullah, Councillor Andrew Wood 
 
Co-optees 
Dr Phillip Rice Church of England Representative 
Joanna Hannan Representative of Diocese of 

Westminster 
Vacant Muslim Faith Community 
Abena Adedji Parent Governors 
Vacant Parent Governors 
Ashraf Zaman Parent Governors 

 
 
Substitutes:  
Councillor Marc Francis and Councillor Kabir Ahmed 
 
 
[The quorum for the Children and Education Scrutiny Sub-Committee is 3 Members] 
 

Further Information 
Reports for consideration, meeting contact details, public participation and more 
information is available on the following pages. 

 
 

 



 
 
 
 

 

 

Public Information 
 

Viewing or Participating in Committee Meetings 
The meeting will be broadcast live on the Council’s website. A link to the website is 
detailed below. The press and public are encouraged to watch this meeting on-line. 
Please note: Whilst the meeting is open to the public, the public seating in the meeting 
room for observers will be extremely limited due to the Covid19 pandemic restrictions. 
You must contact the Democratic Services Officer to reserve a place, this will be 
allocated on a first come first served basis. No one will be admitted unless they have 
registered in advance. 

 
Meeting Webcast 
The meeting is being webcast for viewing through the Council’s webcast system. 
http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home  
 

Contact for further enquiries:  
Democratic Services,  
1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG 
Tel: 020 7364 0842 
E-mail: farhana.zia@towerhamlets.gov.uk 
Web:http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk 

 
 

Electronic agendas reports and minutes. 
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.   
 
To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date.  
 

Agendas are available on the Modern.Gov, Windows, iPad and Android 
apps.   

Scan this 
code for an 
electronic 

agenda:  

 

 
 

http://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


 
 
 
 

 

 
 

London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
 

Children and Education Scrutiny Sub-Committee  

 
Monday, 28 February 2022 

 
4.30 p.m. 

 
 
 

 PAGE 
NUMBER(S) 

 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE    

 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 

2. DECLARATIONS OF  INTERESTS   5 - 6 

 Members are reminded to consider the categories of interest, identified in the Code of 
Conduct for Members to determine: whether they have an interest in any agenda item 
and any action they should take. For further details, see the attached note from the 
Monitoring Officer. 
 
Members are also reminded to declare the nature of the interest at the earliest 
opportunity and the agenda item it relates to. Please note that ultimately it is the 
Members’ responsibility to identify any interests and also update their register of interest 
form as required by the Code. 
 
If in doubt as to the nature of an interest, you are advised to seek advice prior the 
meeting by contacting the Monitoring Officer or Democratic Services. 

 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING   7 - 28 

 To confirm as a correct record of the proceedings the unrestricted minutes of the meeting 
of the held on 21st November and 8th December 2021. 

4. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION    

4 .1 Covid 19 Update    

4 .2 Special Education Needs and Disability   29 - 470 

 Background papers attached.  
 

1. TH Inspection Outcome Letter  Page 31 
2. TH Written Statement of Action  Page 39 
3. TH WSOA Fit for Purpose Letter  Page 71 
4. SEND Code of Practice Page 73 



 
 
 
 

 

5. Ofsted Annual Report  Page 365 
6. Our Time Youth Forum and Young Ambassadors Annual Report  Page 460 
7. Glossary 

https://www.localoffertowerhamlets.co.uk/pages/local-
offer/send/epic-glossary 

 

Page 465 

 

5. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO 
BE URGENT   

 

 

https://www.localoffertowerhamlets.co.uk/pages/local-offer/send/epic-glossary
https://www.localoffertowerhamlets.co.uk/pages/local-offer/send/epic-glossary


DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS AT MEETINGS– NOTE FROM THE 

MONITORING OFFICER 

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Code of Conduct for 

Members at Part C, Section 31 of the Council’s Constitution  

(i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) 

You have a DPI in any item of business on the agenda where it relates to the categories listed in 

Appendix A to this guidance. Please note that a DPI includes: (i) Your own relevant interests; 

(ii)Those of your spouse or civil partner; (iii) A person with whom the Member is living as 

husband/wife/civil partners. Other individuals, e.g. Children, siblings and flatmates do not need to 

be considered.  Failure to disclose or register a DPI (within 28 days) is a criminal offence. 

Members with a DPI, (unless granted a dispensation) must not seek to improperly influence the 

decision, must declare the nature of the interest and leave the meeting room (including the public 

gallery) during the consideration and decision on the item – unless exercising their right to address 

the Committee.  

DPI Dispensations and Sensitive Interests. In certain circumstances, Members may make a 

request to the Monitoring Officer for a dispensation or for an interest to be treated as sensitive. 

(ii) Non - DPI Interests that the Council has decided should be registered – 

(Non - DPIs) 

You will have ‘Non DPI Interest’ in any item on the agenda, where it relates to (i) the offer of gifts 

or hospitality, (with an estimated value of at least £25) (ii) Council Appointments or nominations to 

bodies (iii) Membership of any body exercising a function of a public nature, a charitable purpose 

or aimed at influencing public opinion. 

Members must declare the nature of the interest, but may stay in the meeting room and participate 
in the consideration of the matter and vote on it unless:  
 

 A reasonable person would think that your interest is so significant that it would be likely to 
impair your judgement of the public interest.  If so, you must withdraw and take no part 
in the consideration or discussion of the matter. 

(iii) Declarations of Interests not included in the Register of Members’ Interest. 
 

Occasions may arise where a matter under consideration would, or would be likely to, affect the 
wellbeing of you, your family, or close associate(s) more than it would anyone else living in 
the local area but which is not required to be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. In 
such matters, Members must consider the information set out in paragraph (ii) above regarding 
Non DPI - interests and apply the test, set out in this paragraph. 
 

Guidance on Predetermination and Bias  
 

Member’s attention is drawn to the guidance on predetermination and bias, particularly the need to 
consider the merits of the case with an open mind, as set out in the Planning and Licensing Codes 
of Conduct, (Part C, Section 34 and 35 of the Constitution). For further advice on the possibility of 
bias or predetermination, you are advised to seek advice prior to the meeting.  
 

Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act, 1992 - Declarations which restrict 
Members in Council Tax arrears, for at least a two months from voting  
 

In such circumstances the member may not vote on any reports and motions with respect to the 
matter.   

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Further Advice contact: Janet Fasan, Director of Legal and Monitoring Officer, Tel: 0207 364 
4800. 
 

APPENDIX A: Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule) 

Subject  Prescribed description 

Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation 
 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 
(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by the Member in carrying out duties as a member, 
or towards the election expenses of the Member. 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or 
a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) 
and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 
 
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 
 

 
 

Page 6



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

HELD AT 4.30 P.M. ON THURSDAY, 21 OCTOBER 2021 
 

COMMITTEE ROOM ONE - TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE 
CRESCENT, LONDON,  E14 2BG 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Bex White (Chair)  
  
Councillor Victoria Obaze Councillor Gabriela Salva Macallan 
Councillor Andrew Wood Councillor Shad Chowdhury* 
  
Co-opted Members Present: 
 
Dr Phillip Rice (Vice-Chair) – Church of England Representative  
Joanna Hannan* – Diocese of Westminster  
Ahmed Hussain* – Parent Governor  
Ashraf Zaman* – Parent Governor  
Other Councillors Present: 
 
Councillor Asma Begum* Councillor Kahar Chowdhury* 
Apologies: 

Councillor Helal Uddin  

Others Present: 
 
Daniel Burton* – Tower Hamlets Education Partnership 
Jon Ryder* – Headteacher, George Green’s School 
Asiya Abdulkadir* – Year 12 Student, George Green’s 

School 
Officers Present: 
 
Kay Goodacre* – (Head of Strategic Finance, Children 

& Culture) 
Dan Jones* – (Director, Public Realm) 
Tom Rawlings* – (Team Leader - Design Team, 

Transport and Highways) 
Layla Richards* – (Head of Strategy and Policy – 

Children and Culture) 
Jonathan Solomons – (Strategy and Policy Manager - 

Children and Culture) 
James Thomas* – (Corporate Director, Children and 

Culture) 
Farhana Zia – (Democratic Services Officer, 

Committees, Governance) 
*Attended Virtually - online 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

2 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Helal Uddin.  

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  

 
No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made by the 
members.  
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting of 2nd September 2021 were agreed to 

be an accurate record of the meeting and were approved by the Sub-

Committee.  

Variation in the order of Business  

The Chair Councillor Bex White, stated that she’d like to vary the order of 

business taking item 4.1 and then item 5, Any other business, before returning 

to the remaining items on the agenda. She explained there were two updates’ 

Officers needed to provide the Sub-Committee, however due to Officers 

having to leave the meeting early, the AOB items would be dealt with after the 

first substantive item.  

Members of the Sub-Committee AGREED to the variation of the business for 

the meeting.  

 
4. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION  

 
4.1 Covid 19 Update - Secondary Schools  

 
The Sub-Committee received a verbal update on the continued impact Covid-

19 was having on secondary school education, in particular on older young 

people who had missed exams due to the lockdown. 

Councillor Asma Begum, Cabinet Member for Children, Youth Services, 

Education and Equalities introduced the item saying schools had played a 

pivotal role in providing educational support to young people and their families 

as well as acting as a community hub during the lockdown. She said schools 

had continued to operate in difficult circumstances, playing a huge role in 

safeguarding and addressing the wider needs of young people.  

The Sub-Committee then heard from Mr Daniel Burton, Director of Secondary 

Education and Partnerships, at THEP (Tower Hamlets Education Partnership) 

who gave a presentation on the impact Covid-19 had had on pupils who had 

not taken exams. Mr Burton presented the national and local perspective and 

made the following points:  

Page 8



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

3 

 A survey by the Social Mobility Foundation in January 2021, showed 

that 73% of young people were anxious about exam cancellations, with 

64% saying school closures had negatively impacted on their mental 

health and 73% being worried about being able to study during the 

lockdown.  

 There was considerable uncertainty around school exams however the 

exam assessments and results show an increase in attainment 

nationally as well as locally, in 2019/20 and 2020/21.  

 Year 13’s and year 12 cohorts had different experiences of exam 

cancellation. The centre assessed grades that were to be moderated 

by the algorithm, were abandoned in favour of teacher assessments. 

 When young people returned to school in Autumn 2020 they still had to 

contend with self-isolation and bubble systems, and this impacted on 

their learning.  

 The current year 13’s had experienced disruption to the GCSE’s and 

post 16 education, whereas the current year 12’s experience had been 

different because they were not sitting their terminal exams. Their 

exams for 2021, were cancelled and at that stage there was much 

more rigour and clarity in terms of expectations of schools.  

 Mr Burton said schools in Tower Hamlets were more concerned about 

the current Year 13’s who were more a concern than year 12’s, due to 

stress, anxiety and preparedness for their post 16 courses and exams. 

Their confidence and resilience had been affected as they had not sat 

exams previously.  

 To help support students’ schools were establishing clear routines and 

expectations and were intervening earlier. Students were being 

mentored, offered extra-curricular classes with greater emphasis on 

health and mental well-being, as well as test and exam practise.  

 

The Sub-Committee then heard from Mr Jon Ryder, Headteacher at George 

Green’s School and Ms Asiya Abdulkadir, a Year 12 student at the school.  

The main points made by Mr Ryder were:  

 He concurred with Mr Burton the most affected cohort were the Year 

13 students who had been most affected by non-exams.  

 The school had a programme of study support which they provided to 

students at exam times, however the current Year 13 students had not 

experienced this, due to the pandemic and lockdown.  

 Year 12 students had had a different experience. To provide an 

authentic experience of sitting exams, the school had put in place tests, 

called evidence testing to prepare current Year 12 and Year 11 

students for exams, so they were prepared for the next stage of their 

education.  

 Mr Ryder said there had been a definite impact on young people with 

SMH – social, emotional and mental health issues and said some of 

the Covid recovery money had been spent on recruiting learning 

Page 9



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

4 

mentors, who had assisted in bridging the gap and getting students 

ready for being in the classrooms.  

 Mr Ryder said the Covid recovery money, which had been given by 

government was difficult to access. He said there was too much 

paperwork and caveats to get to the money whereas the government 

ought to trust the professional judgement of teachers.  

 Government needed to provide further clarity about exams for 2022. 

Some of the content had been dropped from some subjects but nothing 

further had been said about the contingency arrangements for current 

Year 11 students, who had been affected by school closures and had 

missed part of their learning. Mr Ryder said the Government needed to 

learn from past mistakes.  

 

Ms Asiya Abdulkadir then spoke about her experience as a Year 12 Student 

at George Green’s School.  

 Ms Abdulkadir said she was studying Physics, Biology and Maths A-

Levels and felt the school had supported her well, despite not having 

full exam experience.  

 She said the school had provided devices to students, where their 

attendance was tracked, and they had followed a normal timetable of 

study.  

 She said she had spoken to her peers. There were mixed experiences 

about missing school and exam preparation. Some students had taken 

the pandemic and lockdown in their stride whereas others had 

struggled to cope, with their mental health.  

 Ms Abdulkadir said the five evidence tests, where the best three were 

taken has your exam performance had felt like an authentic and normal 

exam experience and she felt relaxed and prepared for future exams.  

 Ms Abdulkadir said she was proud of her generation, who had had to 

deal with difficult circumstances, including uncertainty during exam 

time and for the future.  

 

In response to comments and questions from members the following was 

noted:  

 The Chair stated her admiration for Ms Abdulkadir and her peers for 

working hard and sticking with their studies through challenging times.  

 In answer to meeting the financial gaps, once the covid recovery 

money is no longer available, Mr James Thomas, Corporate Director 

for Children and Culture, said local government would continue to 

lobby government for funds and would ask government to trust school 

leaders on how the money is spent.  

 In response to what else would assist in preparing for exams, Ms 

Abdulkadir said the examining boards should reduce the content that 

Page 10



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

5 

students had to learn, especially as they had missed so much of their 

courses and education.  

 Mr Jon Ryder confirmed that in preparation for exams, mock exams 

would take place in December and then in March to assist students to 

prepare for their real exams. 

 In response to if the five evidence-based tests were being well received 

by Universities and employers, Mr Ryder said he couldn’t answer that 

question but would say they had wanted to make the testing regime as 

normal as possible and given students a genuine experience of how 

exams worked.  

 In response to if THEP had linked up with the Tower Hamlets 

Partnership which included local employers and Queen Mary University 

about the challenges this particular cohort of students faced, Mr Burton 

said they had not. He said this was a good challenge for THEP to look 

at what careers advice was provided and how they engage with higher 

education providers and employers.  

 In response to what was being done to develop skills such as essay 

writing, Mr Jon Ryder stated they continued to support young people by 

providing them with support and by teaching young people how and 

what to include in essay writing. Mr Ryder said this skill took time to 

develop through normal lessons and through extra-curricular work and 

assignments. 

 In response to if the current system of examination was fit for purpose, 

and if greater emphasis should be on teacher assessments, Mr Jon 

Ryder said his view was the current system of examination was 

outdated and needed to be abolished. He said a much more robust 

system of learning and teacher assessment was needed, as everyone 

learns differently. He said the curriculum needed to be more boarder, 

but he did not believe there was the political will to change the system. 

Mr Burton agreed with Mr Ryder’s view and said the current emphasis 

on terminal examinations at age 16 and then at age 18 was out of step 

with the rest of the world. Politicians were wedded to the idea of 

examinations and there wasn’t the will to move away from it. Mr Burton 

said there was an underlying lack of trust in teachers and their ability to 

assess students on their performance and skill level.  

 

The Chair thanked the attendees for their contribution to the meeting and said 

their input had been invaluable in helping members understand the impact 

Covid-19 had had on young people and their readiness for exams.  

 The Chair summarised the main points of the discussion as follows:  

1. Tower Hamlets should continue to lobby government and DfE about 

simplifying the process for accessing the Covid recovery money; and  

2. THEP should look at ways to engage with other partners and the 

opportunities for those leaving school. How these gaps can be bridged 

for this cohort of students. 

Page 11



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

6 

 
4.2 Budget and Finance  

 
Councillor Asma Begum, Cabinet Member for Children, Youth Services, 

Education and Equalities introduced the items stating there were longstanding 

national pressures on Children and Young People services, particularly 

funding in relation to SEND. She said they continued to lobby government for 

funding especially as the service was demand-led and therefore if the demand 

increased, more pressure was placed on the finance budget.  

The Sub-Committee then heard for Ms Kay Goodacre, Head of Strategic 

Finance for Children and Culture who gave a presentation on the issue. Ms 

Goodacre made the following points:  

 High End Needs continued to be a pressure however the lobbying of 

government had led to an 8% in funding in 2021/22.  

 There was a requirement to produce a high-end needs management 

plan for the DfE, which was previously known as the recovery plan. 

The nuance in wording from ‘recovery’ to ‘management’ plan shows the 

Government recognises the demand will not decrease but will need to 

be managed in the long term. 

 School budgets were also under pressure. School Balances increased 

from £27m to £35m in 2020/21.  

 Work on transparency and compliance had been undertaken with 

schools in relation with the Statement of Accounts. Headteachers and 

Business Managers within schools had been provided with training. 

 A refreshed policy for schools with in-year budget deficits and cash 

advances had been introduced.  

 Falling school roles, school closures and amalgamations continued to 

be an issue. 

 The budget headlines were schools to receive a 2% increase in their 

minimum funding guarantee, High End Needs would increase by 8% 

however there would be a reduction in the Dedicated School Grant by 

10.5%.  

 In relation to future pressures the budget may face, Ms Goodacre said 

this related to supporting families, such as the recruitment and 

retention of Social Workers, greater number of families with no access 

to public funds, children in need of placements and reorganisation of 

the Youth and Early Years’ service.  

 

In response to comments and questions from members the following was 

noted:  

 The school balances increase of £8M was not focussed on a few 

schools but was spread over the sector both primary and secondary 

schools. The impact of Covid and schools being cautious had led to 

this. 

Page 12



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

7 

 In response to if the Council was exploiting all the available funding 

streams/ grants for vulnerable learning, Ms Goodacre said they did 

their utmost to access funding however sometimes it was for the 

schools to apply for the funding, as illustrated by the Covid Recovery 

and Tuition funding. Ms Goodacre said this came with conditions and 

was difficult to access. She said they assisted and signposted schools 

accordingly.  

 In relation to the School Forum, Councillor Salva-Macallan asked if the 

agenda and minutes from the meetings were available online. 

Councillor Salva-Macallan requested the dates of the meetings be 

noted on the Corporate Calendar, so Members were aware when 

meetings were taking place. Ms Goodacre responded stating the 

Schools forum meetings were public meetings and the agenda and 

minutes were published online.  

o ACTION: The Children & Culture Directorate to ensure meetings of the 

Schools Forum are added to the Corporate Calendar.  

 In response to if Tower Hamlets had been hardest hit in relation to 

falling school rolls and demography changes, Ms Goodacre responded 

stating this was the current situation across London, especially inner 

London. She said Hammersmith & Fulham had run into financial 

difficulties due to falling rolls whereas Tower Hamlets had acted quickly 

to address this and school closures. She said it had to be accepted that 

London was changing, and migration trends showed less children living 

in London. 

 In relation to the closure of schools costing £2.1m, members asked if 

there was a strategy in place to recoup funds. Ms Goodacre explained 

the costs related to the deficit the two schools in question had at the 

time of the closure and with falling rolls, they’d have less income 

coming in. She said this cost had to be picked up by the Local Authority 

as it had a statutory duty to do so. She said as the site is not owned by 

the Council, it could not sell the land to recoup the money. 

 

The Chair thanked the attendees for their contribution to the meeting and said 

their input had helped members understand the pressures on the budget of 

the Children and Culture Directorate. 

The Chair summarised the main points of the discussion as follows:  

1. There were huge pressures facing different aspects of the Children and 

Culture Directorates budget. Children’s social care and high-end needs 

budget as well as the school budgets and pressures relating to 

accessing funding.  

2. That the Schools Forums meeting dates should be added to the 

Corporate Calendar, so members were aware when they met.  

 
 
 

Page 13



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

8 

4.3 School Streets  
 
Councillor Kahar Chowdhury, Cabinet Member for Highways and Public 

Realm introduced this item saying that as part of the Mayor’s manifesto, the 

Council was committed to deliver fifty school streets by 2022. He said the 

concept was to reduce congestion at drop off and pick up times and introduce 

safer walking and cycling as well as reduce pollution.  

The Sub-Committee then received a presentation from Mr Dan Jones, 

Director of Public Realm and Mr Tom Rawlings, Transport and Highways 

Manager.  

The main points from the presentation were:  

 21 Schools Street projects had been completed, with 9 beginning 

construction this year. The remaining were programmed next year.  

 Mr Dan Jones explained what a street school was and said this could 

be physical changes to the street or restrictions on vehicle access 

times.  

 The changes being made concentrated on primary school sites 

however going forward would like to include secondary schools. 

 Mr Jones explained the process used to consult with parents, schools 

and neighbours in the area.  

 Two examples of schools that had been converted to School Streets 

were talked through in detail, with pictures showing the before and after 

look.  

 Mr Rawlings said some of the factors taken into consideration were the 

number of residents who would be impacted, to offering public realm 

improvements such as greening and closing off roads, if this was 

required. Other considerations were the loss of parking, when a new 

zebra crossing is introduced as well as cost and timing implications 

such as camera installation.  

 The Pandemic had impacted on the delivery of the school streets 

programme. Consultation with schools had been delayed due to the 

schools being closed. Consultation with the first tranche of schools was 

effective however the second tranche was affected due to the 

pandemic. 

 

In response to comments and questions the following was noted: 

 Councillor White asked if Public Realm had consulted with other 

colleagues in respect to the design materials used to engage with 

schools and children. Mr Rawlings stated the standard method of 

consultation had been used, with schools being contacted and 

information being disseminated via the school to parents plus 

leafletting of local residents asking them to respond to the consultation.   

 In response to how the School Streets programme fitted into the 

Liveable Streets initiative, Mr Jones stated they were making sure they 

Page 14



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

9 

did not do things twice. They were working together with the 

communications team to ensure residents were fully aware of the 

schemes and were consulted. Mr Jones said the aim of School Streets 

was to limit vehicles at certain times of the day but were open to 

residents for access.  

 Councillor Wood questioned if School Streets were really working, in 

terms of reduction in drivers. He stated that in his neighbourhood the 

number of vehicles had increased and said some of the changes 

made, had made it more dangerous rather than safer, with parents 

dropping off children on a busy A road rather than parking up in the 

side street, where the school is located. He asked if the schemes could 

be reversed or made safer? Mr Rawlings said the scheme had been 

introduced on a trial basis and as such changes could be made. He 

said schools near major roads were tricker to deal with, but he would 

look at that.  

 Councillor Obaze asked when the School Streets programme would be 

introduced to a school in her ward. Mr Rawlings stated the feedback 

from the consultation they had undertaken did not have a good return 

rate but a further consultation concerning Columbia Road School and 

Nursey would be undertaken. 

o ACTION: Public Realm to share with the Sub-Committee the data in 

relation to the success of the School Streets Scheme. If it has helped 

to reduce accidents and near misses; and what improvement has been 

made to air quality.  

 Councillor Salva-Macallan commented consultations should involve all 

the voices and should ensure concerns are addressed. She referred to 

a primary school and said there was land in front of the school which 

belonged to Tower Hamlets Homes and therefore the pace of 

development of a school street had been slower.  

 

The Chair thanked the attendees for their contribution to the meeting and said 

their input had helped members understand what the aims of the School 

Streets programme were.   

The Chair summarised the main points of the discussion as follows: 

1. The School Street scheme was an exciting programme bringing 

change to busy school areas. Public Realm should re-examine the 

scheme at Arnhem Wharf and be proactive in collating data, monitoring 

the number of vehicles and near misses and make changes 

accordingly.  

2. Public Realm should look to work with other departments in the Council 

to ensure there was more joint working, in terms of design of 

consultations, which involved schools, parents and residents but also 

the school’s ecology or environment committees as well as working 

with THEP who can assist in disseminating information.  

Page 15



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

10 

3. In respect of pressures on budgets, there is a possibility there could be 

more money provided for consultation for streets schools and therefore 

consideration should be given to how this is used to optimise 

consultation especially as school budgets are stretched.  

 
5. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 
The Chair, Councillor Bex White stated the Sub-Committee would receive two 

updates’, one relating to the SEND Inspection and the other to why a Serious 

Case Review had not been undertaken in relation to the girls who went off to 

Syria.  

SEND Inspection – outcome and next steps  

Mr James Thomas, Corporate Director for Children & Culture, stated that at 

the last meeting of the Sub-Committee the outcome of the inspection was 

embargoed and as such the findings could not be shared with the Sub-

Committee. However, the report relating to the SEND Inspection was 

published by the DfE on the 27th September 2021. A copy of the report had 

been emailed to Members. He said the report set out the strengths and 

weaknesses relating to SEND and it was fair to say that the DfE considered 

the self-evaluation completed by the Council and its partners to be an honest 

assessment of the areas that required improvement. 

Mr Thomas stated that not all aspects of local provision across the partnership 

was good.  He said the four weaknesses highlighted - quality of education, 

health and care plans, waiting times for speech and language therapy 

provision, waiting times for ASD assessment and comprehensive engagement 

and communication with parents and carers were going to be the areas where 

the partners would be focussing their efforts. He said in terms of what 

happened next, the Council and the CCG would draw up a written statement 

of action, looking at these areas, which they had to submit by the 24th 

December 2021 deadline. Mr Thomas said they would be working with the 

DfE and NHS England to ensure government oversight, support, and 

challenge. Mr Thomas added that the inspection of Tower Hamlets was 

towards the end of a five -year cycle of inspection and usually a re-inspection 

would occur after 2 years. However due to the interruption caused by Covid-

19, this was not going to happen. Mr Thomas said the government was 

introducing a new framework of inspection and any follow up inspection would 

likely be part of the new framework.  

Mr Thomas said the sub-committee was to deep dive the issue at its February 

meeting, where further scrutiny of the SEND Inspection would take place. 

The Chair, Councillor Bex White confirmed the update on the actions taken, 

following the SEND inspection was scheduled for the February 2022 meeting. 

Serious Case Review -Syria  

Page 16



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 21/10/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

11 

In respect to the questions raised about why a serious case review was not 

undertaken in relation to the girls from Bethnal Green who had left for Syria, 

Mr Thomas confirmed he was in receipt of the letter from Members and said 

further information about the previous decision was being gathered. He 

explained a serious case review was undertaken by the Local Safeguarding 

Board however due to changes made by Government in 2019, the Local 

Safeguarding Board had evolved into the Local Safeguarding Partnership, 

where the onus of responsibility is shared equally between the Council, CCG 

and Police. He said the Partnership and the Independent Scrutineer would be 

examining the evidence, recordings and notes from when the incident took 

place in 2015 and would be discussing this.  

Mr Thomas said he would share the outcome of their discussions with 

members at the next meeting of the Sub-Committee. 

Time Change of future meetings 

The Chair explained that due to the Sub-Committee’s remit of Children and 

Education and with most meetings involving young people, she was proposing 

a time change for all future meetings, from 6:30 p.m. to 4:30 p.m. to allow for 

young people to participate.  

Councillor White asked members of the Sub-Committee to let her know their 

views regarding this and said she’d be writing to the Head of Democratic 

Services and the Monitoring Officer requesting for this change. 

 
The meeting ended at 6.38 p.m.  

 
 

Chair, Councillor Bex White 
Children and Education Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

1 

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS 
 

MINUTES OF THE CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

HELD AT 4.30 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY, 8 DECEMBER 2021 
 

INFORMAL MEETING 
 

COMMITTEE ROOM ONE - TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE 
CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG 

 
Members Present: 
 
Councillor Bex White (Chair)*  
 Councillor Shad Chowdhury* Councillor Victoria Obaze* 

 
 Councillor Gabriela Salva-Macallan* Councillor Helal Uddin* 

 
 Councillor Andrew Wood*  
Co-opted Members Present: 
 
Dr Phillip Rice (Vice–Chair)*  – Church of England Representative 
Joanna Hannan* – Diocese of Westminster  
Abena Adedji* – Parent Governor 
Ahmed Hussain* – Parent Governor 
Ashraf Zaman* – Parent Governor 
 –  
Apologies: 

  

Others Present: 
 
Farhan Hoque* – CLICC 
Hamida Begum* – CLICC 
 –  
 –  
 –  
 –  
Officers Present: 
 
Robert Bielby* – (Service Manager Children Looked 

After & Leaving Care Service, 
Children's Social Care) 

Claudette Blake* – Fostering Team 
Johanna Burke-Richards* – Assessment and Intervention Team 
Hasan Faruq* – Participation & Engagement Manager 
Lissa-Marie Minnis* – Service Manager Regulated Services 

& Resources 
Charlotte Moodie* – Team Leader of the Edge of Care 

Service 

Page 19



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

2 

Sam Nair* – Principal Social Worker - Children 
with Disabilities Team 

Clare Noyes* – Family Support & Protection Team 
Jonathan Solomons* – (Strategy and Policy Manager - 

Children and Culture) 
James Thomas* – (Corporate Director, Children and 

Culture) 
Farhana Zia – (Democratic Services Officer, 

Committees, Governance) 
Attended online – virtually 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
No apologies for absence were received from members.  

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  

 
No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made by members.  

 
3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The minutes of the previous meeting of 21st October were agreed to be an 

accurate record of the meeting.  

The Chair said the minutes would be formally approved at the next meeting as 

this meeting was an informal meeting of the of the sub-committee.  

Variation in the order of Business 

The Chair, Councillor Bex White, stated that item 4.2 would be taken first, 

followed by item 4.1, so that the guests invited to the first substantive item 

could join the meeting virtually.  

 
4. REPORTS FOR CONSIDERATION  

 
4.1 Outcome for Children we Care for and Care Leavers  

 
Mr James Thomas, Corporate Director for Children and Culture introduced the 

item and said the council’s corporate parenting responsibilities, were such that 

the child in care should be thought of as our own child. He said the Council 

was like the extended family of the child in care. He said the Council had a 

number of resources at its disposal, and he was keen for the Council to think 

about what more could be done as corporate parents for the children that we 

look after. Mr Thomas said the key to the success of looking after children in 

the care of the council, were the teams which supported them. He praised the 

work of social workers, teachers, and health colleagues as well as the 

exceptional work of foster carers, residential care workers and workers who 

support young people in semi-independent accommodation.  

Page 20



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

3 

The Sub-Committee the heard from Mr Hasan Faruq, Participation & 

Engagement Manager, Youth and Community Services. He said his team 

supported young people in care and was responsible for overseeing the work 

of the Youth Council and Young Mayor. He said two members of the Children 

Living & Leaving Care Council (CLICC) were present for the meeting. Mr 

Farhan Hoque, CLICC member and Young People’s Coordinator, and Hamida 
Begum member and Deputy Chair of CLICC. Mr Faruq said they would talk 

about their experiences and projects they have been involved in. 

The main points to note were:  

 The CLICC had designed a Care Leaver App, which assisted Care 

Leavers to navigate the services available.  

 The CLICC had organised a residential trip to Wales, for Young People 

to build their communication skills, self-belief, and personal 

achievement. 

 They had worked with the Corporate Parenting Board and had devised 

a wish list of the things they’d like the Board to action, such as 

providing a wrap around service and smoother transition from one 

service/situation to another.  

 The CLICC Team had worked with Queen Mary University to talk about 

their experience of being in care and how professionals can improve 

that experience. Hamida said there were times when the child is ‘lost in 

the system’ and their voice is not heard.  

 A Podcast was being produced, which would be released in January 

2022. The young people will learn new skills in how to produce and edit 

a podcast.  

 

In response to questions and comments from members the following was 

noted:  

 

 The Chair, Councillor Bex White asked Hamida to explain what she 

meant by ‘lost in the system.’ Hamida said this meant the repetition of 

their story to various professionals, and professionals not being aware 

of their back story when talking to them. She said the podcast would 

endeavour to explain more about these experiences.  

 
The Sub-Committee then received a further presentation for Mr Leo Major, 
Head of Service Children Looked After & Through Care.  
 
The main points to note were:  
 

 Following the 2019 Ofsted report the Service model for the service has 

been strengthened, with various teams supporting Children Looked 

After (CLA) by the Council.  

 Each CLA Team is led by a Team Manager and has up to 6 

Practitioners who are a mix of Advanced Practitioners, Social Workers, 

and New Qualified Workers. 

Page 21



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

4 

 Key Performance Indicators and Audit findings have been used to 

improve partnership working and the recruitment and retention of social 

workers as well as foster carers.  

 Key challenges included the quality and impact of supervision on 

practice effectiveness and direct work and influence of child/young 

person’s voice. 

 Other priorities include the refresh of the Local Offer 2022-23, 

embedding learning from audit activity, QMUL workshops and other 

feedback; as well as increasing the proportion young people, achieving 

at least one qualification at Level 2 for Maths and English. 

 

In response to questions and comments from members the following was 

noted:  

 The Chair, Councillor Bex White asked why there was a big difference 

in the number of male and female children coming into care. She asked 

if the statistics were similar in other neighbouring boroughs? Mr Major 

said a high percentage of boys and young men were in care than girls 

and this picture was not dissimilar to other boroughs. Mr Thomas 

added the age profile for children coming into care had two spikes, one 

in early years and the other in the 13+ age range. He said those 

coming into care in the early years needed to be found permanent 

homes, adoption or special guardianship. The spike in the 13+ group 

was related to unaccompanied asylum seekers, which were 

predominately males. 

 Referring to the future priorities slide, Councillor Wood asked how 

much of the things listed related to maintaining the Ofsted rating or 

were they pushing for better outcomes? Mr Thomas said he had asked 

Mr Major to be ambitious and improve the outcomes of children in care 

and care leavers, rather than chase an Ofsted rating. He said they do 

want to get to an ‘outstanding’ rating eventually, but the focus should 

remain on the children they looked after. Mr Major added he was being 

aspirational and wanted to ensure they engaged well children, by 

increasing the educational attainment of children in care and care 

leavers.  

 

The Chair thanked the attendees for their contribution to the meeting and said 

their input had been invaluable in helping members understand the work of 

the Children in Care and Care leavers Team and how they add value to the 

corporate responsibility of the Council as corporate parents.  

The Chair summarised the main points of the discussion as follows: 

1. Labels matter to young people, such as acronyms used to describe 

young people in care and the naming of mental health services. The 

Chair said it was good to hear the Council was listening to young 

Page 22



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

5 

people and moving away for labels, young people were not comfortable 

with.  

2. The Sub-Committee would like to see the social care dashboard, which 

should be presented to the sub-committee regularly, for sub-committee 

members to keep an oversight on trends and statistics relating to 

services provided by Children Services.  

3. Unaccompanied minors were also spoken about and the Sub-

Committee needs to keep abreast of how this develops as this may be 

an increased pressure on the Council.  

 
4.2 Children's Services Improvement including Covid 19 update  

 
The Sub-Committee received a verbal update in relation to the improvement 

in Children’s Services, including an update on the impact of Covid-19 to the 

services provided.  

Mr James Thomas, Corporate Director for Children and Culture introduced the 

item saying significant pressures were being faced by the children social care 

service who were delivering services to support families. He said there had 

been a sustained increase in demand and some pressure on staffing capacity, 

due to illness.  

Mr Thomas said overall the evidence for quality and performance was 

reassuring. He said when they were last inspected by Ofsted in 2019, a good 

judgment was received. He said the evidence showed they had sustained that 

good level of performance. He said there would be a resumption of external 

inspection and scrutiny in 2022, which he welcomed as well as a peer review 

by the Local Government Association, to look at front-end services and child 

protection work.   

Lastly, Mr Thomas commented on the shocking and distressing murder of 

Arthur Labinjo-Hughes, in Solihull, which had received much coverage and 

reaction. Mr Thomas said a reasonable question to ask would be if something 

as shocking could happen here in Tower Hamlets. He said there could never 

be a guarantee that children will not be abused however, the extreme levels of 

abuse in Arthur’s case are rare. Mr Thomas cited Professor Eileen Munro’s 

report saying all leaders must work to reduce harm and risk, but child abuse 

could not be eliminated. He said for this reason harm to children remained a 

top corporate risk and various mitigations were in place to combat this, 

including the Local Safeguarding Partnership, whose role is to externally 

quality assure the systems in place.   

Mr Sam Nair, the Principal Social Worker then gave a presentation on the 

different aspects of social work covered by Children Services and how they 

had coped with changes to the way they work during to the pandemic. Mr Nair 

was accompanied by Ms Charlotte Moodie, Team Leader of the Edge of Care 

Service, Ms Johanna Burke-Richards, advanced practitioner, Assessment and 

Intervention Team, Ms Clare Noyes Family Support & Protection team and Ms 

Claudette Blake, advanced practitioner, Fostering Team.  

Page 23



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

6 

Mr Nair commented on the restructure of the Youth Service, Early Help and 

the Youth Justice Service and said this was now complete. He said the linking 

of services meant there was a joined-up approach to delivering services. Mr 

Nair said there had been a significant rise in demand due to Covid-19, poverty 

issues associated with it, plus a rise in the number of asylum-seeking 

unaccompanied children. Domestic abuse and emotional wellbeing of children 

had also been a significant factor during the pandemic.  

The Sub-Committee then heard from each service area:  

Early Help  

Mr Nair stated the Early Help team had been restructured August 2020, with 

social workers present in schools and a link to the MASH service – Multi-

Agency Safeguarding Hub. He said the graph, on page 25, showed the 

throughput from MASH to the Early Help team. Ms Charlotte Moodie, from the 

Edge of Care team talked through a case study relating to her service.  

Edge of Care Team 

The main points to note were:  

 The edge of care team was a specialist adolescent service working 

with young people aged 11 17. The focus of the team was to work with 

the Individual and family to provide support.  

 The focus of their work was prevention – to avoid family breakdowns 

and reunification work – to return children back home.  

 Difficulties faced during Covid-19, were face to face visits, staff and 

family risk assessments, access to PPE. Developing new ways to 

meeting with vulnerable children, online and outside were possible.  

 Ms Moodie then went through a case study outlining how they had 

supported a family in crisis.  

 

Youth Justice & Young People  

Mr Nair said the Youth Service and Youth Justice Service were much more 

integrated and were making good progress in reducing the number of first-

time entrants and reoffenders. He said there was still work, to do to ensure 

the new service begins to function as one service as well as prepare for the 

Youth Justice Inspection which was expected in early 2022. Referring to 

Exploitation, Mr Nair said they were continuing to work with the Police to 

disrupt activity with a continued emphasis on risk assessments and care plans 

ensuring these remained robust. Mr Nair said it is for vital for the teams to 

continue to have face to face contact with vulnerable children and this 

remained a priority, despite the pandemic. Mr Nair said MASH had seen a 

significant increase in demand, regarding domestic violence referrals and 

concerns about children’s wellbeing. Ms Johanna Burke-Richards, advanced 

practitioner, Assessment and Intervention Team talked through a case study 

relating to her service. 

Page 24



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

7 

Assessment and Intervention Team 

The main points to note were: 

 Ms Burke -Richards went through a case study outlining how they had 

dealt with a case of neglect and had supported a family where the 

farther was suffering a mental health crisis.  

 Ms Burke-Richards outline the challenges faced, from increased 

workloads due to the number of referrals, refusal of home visits by 

families due to the anxiety caused by the Pandemic, to adopting 

innovative ways to work with children and families, be it a doorstep visit 

in full PPE and virtual visits via online meetings and phone calls.  

 Ms Burke-Richards described the different tools they used to make 

their assessments and how they worked with children to obtain their 

views, feelings and wishes.  

 

Family Support and Protection Service  

Mr Nair stated that unlike the front-door services which take referrals, the 

Children and Families team worked with families to support and prevent family 

breakdowns. Mr Nair said there had been a rise in the number of children who 

required Child Protection Plans, since April 2021, when schools returned to 

fully in-person teaching. He said two additional posts had been agreed to 

cope with the demand. He said staff morale remained good and links to the 

LEAP (pupil referral unit) has been strengthened with a dedicated social 

worker dealing with child exploitation and serious youth violence.  Ms Clare 

Noyes, Family Support & Protection talked through a case study relating to 

her service. 

Family Support and Protection Team 
 

The main points to note were: 

 Ms Noyes went through a case study outlining how they had dealt with 

a case of domestic abuse and had supported the family, during the 

pandemic.  

 She said it was vital for the social worker to meeting with the children 

separately and therefore they had agreed to use the a nearby school 

playground, to allow for face-to-face meetings.  

 Ms Noyes said the risk assessment toolkit was used to assess the risk 

and interventions such as a ‘cool down’ space, were introduced. 

Information on how to access domestic abuse help groups as well as 

ensuring the family knew how to contact the police, using 55 to alert 

police of domestic abuse, were also provided.   

 

Children in Care and Care Leavers  

Page 25



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

8 

Mr Nair said as the Sub-Committee had received an in-depth update on this, 

he would touch upon the main headlines.  He said that as mentioned before 

there had been an increase in the number of children in care, particularly 

unaccompanied asylum seekers. He said the Children Living in Care Council 

(CLICC) had been strengthened by widening the involvement of young people 

with other care leavers. He said further progress was required to promote 

apprenticeships across the council.  

Foster Care 

Mr Nair, stated Foster Carers continued to manage the demand of Covid, 

caring for young people with resilience and ingenuity. He said the 

“Mockingbird” project had provided a robust level of peer support to carers, 

especially as the recruiting of carers has become increasingly difficult. Mr Nair 

said the service needed to strengthen its social media presence for 

recruitment of carers and possibly consider developing an offer of tax 

exemption for foster carers. Ms Claudette Blake, advanced practitioner from 

the Fostering Team talked through a case study relating to her service. 

Fostering Team  

The main points to note were: 

 The Mockingbird foster care project was a hub and spoke model of 

care developed in Seattle, Washington State, USA.  

 LBTH was one of 8 pilot Local Authorities trialling the new model. The 

aim of the model was to provide safety, stability and permanency for 

children and young people in local authority care.  

 The mockingbird project is an evidence-based model, which has led of 

significant improvement in the outcomes for children and young people.  

 The benefits of the project as lead to the establishment of foster 

‘communities’ whereby children have a safe and stable environment to 

grow and learn. It has increased stability and retention of placements 

and as provided carers with a natural break. This has led to positive 

relationships for children, with social workers being able to do hands on 

social work.  

 

Social Care Academy  

Mr Nair provided the Sub-Committee with statistical information on how the 

Social Care Academy, had continued to recruit and retain staff. Mr Nair said 

94 members of staff had been hired.  

Assurance and Future Challenges  

Lastly, Mr Nair said the key to social work was the quality assurance provided 

by external inspections and peer reviews, which would continue to be a 

feature in 2022. Mr Nair highlighted the future challenges for Children 

Services.  

Page 26



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

9 

 

In response to questions and comments from members the following was 

noted:  

 The Chair, Councillor Bex White commented that partnership working, 

and wellbeing of staff were key themes in all the case studies and said 

these were important pillars to ensure children and families were 

supported.  

 The Chair asked, if Plan B was implemented by Government would 

face to face meetings continue to happen for those at risk? Mr James 

Thomas responded stating they would continue to have face to face 

contact under any future lockdown.  

 Councillor Wood said the case studies highlighted the important role 

schools play in identifying cases of neglect, domestic violence etc and 

asked how Children Services were dealing with children that were not 

in school and those coming from other countries? Mr James Thomas 

said this had been a major focus throughout the pandemic especially 

with children being out of school for a prolonged period.  He said 

additional tracking systems were in place and said they worked in 

partnership with the schools to ensure contact was established 

especially when a child had been out of school for some time. He said 

they were looking at ways to strengthen the link between Health 

Visiting and School Nursing to pick up on children that were not 

enrolled for a school place.  

 In relation to new arrivals to the country, Mr Thomas said it was difficult 

to establish contact with the child or the family when there was no 

awareness of them. He said this was a difficult area to ensure 100%, 

that children were not at risk. He said this was a national issue.  

 Mr Nair added that they continued to work with their health partners to 

assist in the scenario as described above.  

 Mr Ashraf Zaman asked if Children Services worked with the GP care 

group, to identify at risk children, especially due to the lack of face-to-

face contact? Mr Thomas responded stating this had been a key focus 

of the multi-agency response to the pandemic. He said he chaired the 

Children Partnership ‘silver group’ and this had been a standing 

question for the group – ‘Where are you at resuming face to face 

contact and are there any staffing capacity issue to deliver the 

service?”. Mr Thomas said it was clear that during the 1st lockdown too 

many services were withdrawn. Children’s social care services, schools 

and health visiting had resumed face to face contact, but GP services 

were lagging. Mr Thomas said this was due to the exceptional 

pressures faced by health colleagues, in primary health care.  

 Councillor Salva-Macallan asked if the data for refugees and asylum 

seekers could be provided to the sub-committee and asked if there 

needed to be more joined up work. Mr Thomas said they were working 

jointly with others, especially given the added challenge of hosting 

asylum hotels within the borough.   

Page 27



CHILDREN AND EDUCATION SCRUTINY SUB-
COMMITTEE, 08/12/2021 

SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED) 

 

10 

 In relation to if there was enough PPE available, should the country go 

into lockdown again, Mr Thomas said there was enough and said they 

were well prepared for any further lockdown.  

 

The Chair thanked the attendees for their contribution to the meeting and said 

their input had been invaluable in helping members understand the impact 

Covid-19 had on Children Services.  

 
5. ANY OTHER UNRESTRICTED BUSINESS CONSIDERED TO BE URGENT  

 
The Chair provided updates in relation to the following:  

Serious Case Review – Syria  

Mr James Thomas, Corporate Director for Children and Culture said the 

evidence in relation to this case had been collated and the Local 

Safeguarding Partnership were to discuss the case, tomorrow at their meeting 

of 9th December 2021. He said once the review was complete, the written 

response would be shared with members of the Sub-Committee.  

Appointment of Sponsor  

Referring to the email sent by Councillor Wood, in relation to the appointment 

of Mulberry Schools Trust as sponsor to Wood Wharf Primary School, Mr 

James Thomas said he would provide a point-by-point answer to Councillor 

Wood.  

Resignation  

Mr Ahmed Hussain, co-optee Parent Governor resigned, stating the new time 

of 4:30 p.m. was difficult for him to attend. He thanked the Chair and Sub-

Committee members for their understanding and said this would be his last 

meeting. He said he’d be grateful if the response to the review case could be 

shared with him also.  

The Chair, on behalf of the Sub-Committee expressed her sadness at Mr 

Ahmed’s decision and said the new timing were agreed, so young people can 

attend meetings of the sub-committee. She thanked Mr Ahmed for his 

contributions to the work of the sub-committee and said he would be missed. 

 
The meeting ended at 6.35 p.m.  

 
 

Chair, Councillor Bex White 
Children and Education Scrutiny Sub-Committee 

 

Page 28



 

Background 

Reading 

Papers 
 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4.2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Ofsted 
Agora 
6 Cumberland Place 
Nottingham 
NG1 6HJ 

 T 0300 123 1231 

Textphone 0161 618 8524 
enquiries@ofsted.go.uk 
www.gov.uk/ofsted 
lasend.support@ofsted.gov.uk 

 

 
 

 

 
5 July 2021 
 
James Thomas 
Corporate Director, Children and Culture  
Tower Hamlets Borough Council 
Mulberry Place 
5 Clove Crescent 
Tower Hamlets 
E14 0BG 
 
Selina Douglas, Managing Director, Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group 
Tricia Boahene, Local Area Nominated Officer, Tower Hamlets Borough Council 
 
Dear Mr Thomas and Ms Douglas 
 
Joint area SEND inspection in Tower Hamlets  
 
Between 28 June 2021 and 2 July 2021, Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission 
(CQC), conducted a joint inspection of the local area of Tower Hamlets to judge the 
effectiveness of the area in implementing the special educational needs and/or 
disabilities (SEND) reforms as set out in the Children and Families Act 2014. 
 
The inspection was led by one of Her Majesty’s Inspectors from Ofsted, with a team 
of inspectors including an Ofsted Inspector and a children’s services inspector from 
the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 
 
Inspectors spoke with children and young people with SEND, parents and carers, 
and local authority and National Health Service (NHS) officers. They visited a range 
of providers and spoke to leaders, staff and governors about how they are 
implementing the SEND reforms. Inspectors looked at a range of information about 
the performance of the area, including the area’s self-evaluation. Inspectors met 
with leaders for health, social care and education. They reviewed performance data 
and evidence about the local offer and joint commissioning. 
 
As a result of the findings of this inspection and in accordance with the Children Act 
2004 (Joint Area Reviews) Regulations 2015, Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector (HMCI) 
has determined that a Written Statement of Action is required because of significant 
areas of weakness in the area’s practice. HMCI has also determined that the local 
authority and the area’s clinical commissioning group are jointly responsible for 
submitting the written statement to Ofsted. 
 

Page 31

mailto:enquiries@ofsted.go.uk
http://www.gov.uk/ofsted
mailto:lasend.support@ofsted.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

2 

In reaching their judgements, inspectors took account of the impact of the COVID-
19 (coronavirus) pandemic on SEND arrangements in the area. Inspectors 
considered a range of information about the impact of the pandemic and explored 
how the area’s plans and actions had been adapted as a result.  
 
This letter outlines our findings from the inspection, including some strengths and 
areas for further improvement. 
 
Main Findings 
 
  Since 2018 and the launch of the Tower Hamlets SEND strategy, the pace of 

improvement in provision for children and young people with SEND has 
increased. This improvement has accelerated since 2019, including through 
the period of the pandemic and the significant challenges this brought.   

  Leaders know what works well and what does not. Their self-evaluation is 
accurate, clear and honest. Nevertheless, there are some aspects of the 
area’s work that are letting children and young people down. Leaders have 
plans in place to address these weaknesses, but in the meantime some 
children and young people’s needs are not being assessed and met. There is 
significant work to do. 

  The online local offer has recently been updated and refreshed. A quarter of 
the parents and carers who responded to our survey said they found the local 
offer to be helpful. A similar proportion told us that it is not helpful. Parents 
we met told us that some information is out of date and some links do not 
work.  

  Communication between area leaders and parents is inconsistent. Mixed 
messages mean that some parents do not know about services that could 
help them. Parents are frustrated because they do not know about the area’s 
plans to improve services. 

  The integrated commissioning team is committed to joint working and pooling 
of budgets to improve services for children and young people. This team was 
brought together two-and-a-half years ago and has a number of projects in 
the pipeline. A few projects have been successfully completed, such as a 
review of specialist transport. School leaders are represented on the SEND 
improvement board and note that there is lots of energy and investment. 
They told us that strategic thinking now needs to translate into action, and 
we agree.  

  The designated medical officer and designated clinical officer have limited 
time to undertake these roles. This means that their capacity to facilitate 
improvement across children and young people’s health services is not being 
used efficiently. 

  Education, health and care (EHC) plans are of poor quality. While more recent 
plans show an improvement, in many existing plans objectives are not clear, 

Page 32



 

 

 

 

 

3 

and advice from professionals is not reflected well enough in the finalised 
plans. Leaders do not have sufficient oversight of the quality of EHC plans or 
the annual review process. EHC plans are often not updated following annual 
reviews, even when the child or young person is moving to a new stage in 
their education or training. Many existing EHC plans have not been co-
produced (where children, families and those that provide the services work 
together to create a decision or a service that works for them all). While this, 
too, has improved recently, too many plans remain in place without the child 
or young person’s aspirations and wishes being recorded.  

  Waiting times for autism spectrum disorder (ASD) assessments are too long. 
Professionals tell us that some services are available to families while they are 
awaiting assessment, but too often parents are not aware of this support.  

  Commissioning arrangements for speech and language therapy have resulted 
in fragmented and inequitable provision. There are significant gaps in the 
speech and language therapy service for under-fives. Current commissioning 
arrangements mean that school-age children do not always receive the 
speech and language therapy they require. 

  Some services are highly regarded and valued by parents and education 
providers. These include the sensory service, the independent advice service 
and the behaviour and attendance service. School leaders consider the 
support for learning service to be important in providing a link between the 
local authority and education providers. 
 

 
The effectiveness of the local area in identifying children and young 
people’s special educational needs and/or disabilities 
 
Strengths 
 
  Health visitors know that some children’s emerging needs may have been 

missed when developmental checks were carried out virtually during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. To rectify this, they have decided to carry out face-to-
face appointments with this cohort of children to ensure that any needs are 
identified before they start school. 

  Some early years settings work with health visitors to undertake an integrated 
review for two-year-old children. Around half of all reviews for two-year-old 
children were integrated in this way prior to the pandemic. This supports 
early identification of needs as agencies are working jointly. School leaders 
told us that children whose needs are identified at the two-year-old check are 
provided with timely and effective support.   

  Each private, voluntary and independent nursery setting has a named 
inclusion coordinator who supports the setting with identifying and meeting 

Page 33



 

 

 

 

 

4 

children’s additional needs. These coordinators also provide training to enable 
nursery staff to spot emerging needs early.  

  During special educational needs (SEN) panel meetings, members identify 
children and young people whose needs can be met by accessing a service 
that would otherwise require an EHC plan. 

  Partnership working has improved during the pandemic. School nurses 
worked closely with GPs, voluntary groups and other agencies to identify 
children and young people who were shielding to meet their needs effectively. 

  All young people who become known to the youth justice team are assessed 
by professionals to spot any previously unidentified SEND.  
 

 
Areas for development 
 
  The identification of children’s needs in the early years is weak. Too few 

women receive an antenatal visit from a health visitor, the number of babies 
receiving a hearing test is low and two-year-old checks are not consistently 
identifying speech and language delay.  

  Some children and young people arrive in primary and secondary schools 
without their needs having been identified or shared with the school. Leaders 
know this and have a plan in place for improvement, but this has been 
delayed by the pandemic.  

  Children and young people under the age of 18 wait too long for an 
appointment to discuss a potential diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder. 
Although some services are available to families while they are waiting for an 
appointment, many parents are not aware of this. Some have been told that 
services are not available prior to a diagnosis.  

  Speech and language therapy needs are not identified early. Currently, there 
are specific gaps in the service for under-fives. Some young children have 
been assessed and then discharged as there was no service available.    
 

 
The effectiveness of the local area in meeting the needs of children and 
young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities 
 
Strengths 
 
  School leaders and special educational needs coordinators (SENCos) are well 

supported by the behaviour and attendance support service and the support 
for learning service to assess and meet the needs of children and young 
people with SEND, including those receiving SEN support. 

Page 34



 

 

 

 

 

5 

  Leaders have made sure that a broad range of leisure and recreational 
activities is available for children and young people with SEND. They have 
invested substantially in local parks, for example. Careful thought has been 
given to ensure that equipment is accessible and inclusive. Leaders provide a 
range of universal and targeted opportunities for children and young people 
to enjoy socialising with appropriate levels of support.  

  Children and young people who are not in settled foster placements or who 
are placed out of borough receive focused support from mental health 
professionals and educational psychologists. This means that they receive 
support in a timely way.  

  The sensory support team is well regarded. Tower Hamlets has a high 
incidence of hearing impairment in its population and the needs of this group 
of children and young people are met well. The sensory service has, for 
example, supported school staff to train as qualified teachers of the deaf.  

  Leaders work with some groups of parents, such as the parent carer forum 
and parent ambassadors. These groups are involved in strategic-level 
meetings and influence decision-making.  

  Some young people are proud of their roles as SEND ambassadors. They 
contribute to the SEND improvement board and influence decision-making. 
They also visit schools to recruit new SEND ambassadors.  

  Adult social care services receive timely information about children and young 
people transitioning to their service. The early help service supports those 
aged 0 to 25 who do not meet statutory thresholds. However, too few parents 
know about this support and worry that their children may not meet 
thresholds for adult learning disability services.  

  Some services offer support for families while they wait for therapy. For 
example, parents can attend an occupational therapy workshop to learn ways 
to support their child while they wait for individual appointments.  

  The autism outreach service is well regarded by providers and parents alike. 
They talk of outreach workers going above and beyond what is expected to 
make sure that children and young people with autism receive the support 
they need.  

 
 
Areas for development 
 
  EHC plans are of poor quality. The outcomes in plans are generic and lack 

specificity. Some children and young people who clearly have health and/or 
care needs do not have these set out in their EHC plan. Some of the 
professional advice provided is not translated correctly into the EHC plan and 
health professionals are not provided with draft or finalised plans in order to 
check their contribution. Despite improvements in recently completed plans, 

Page 35



 

 

 

 

 

6 

the voice of the child or family is not evident in too many existing plans. 
These EHC plans have not been co-produced with children and young people 
and their families.   

  Area leaders do not have oversight of the annual review process. While they 
receive copies of annual reviews completed by education providers, they do 
not check the quality of these or update EHC plans when needed. It is not 
unusual to find pupils leaving school at the end of Year 11 with plans that set 
out provision and outcomes relevant to their primary education.  

  Children and young people’s care needs are not considered automatically as 
part of the EHC assessment process if they have not been referred directly to 
social care services. This means some families feel they do not have access to 
suitable levels of support, including short breaks.  

  Some health professionals and parents told us that short breaks are not 
available for some children and young people with complex needs. Area 
leaders tell us this is not the case and all those who are eligible receive a 
short break if they apply for it. This misunderstanding causes frustration for 
families. It means that some children and young people do not access the 
short break provision they need.  

  Some health care professionals are not aware of the application process for 
personal budgets. They are not able to offer advice to parents who want to 
explore this possibility.  

 
 
The effectiveness of the local area in improving outcomes for children and 
young people with special educational needs and/or disabilities 
 
Strengths 
 
  Children and young people with SEND attend school regularly and are not 

overly subject to exclusions. They achieve well at school.  

  An increasing number of young people are gaining employment as a result of 
strategies implemented by the area. The range of employment options is 
increasing along with the number of young people involved. The most recent 
addition is the extension of the age range of pupils at the pupil referral unit. 
Some pupils over the age of 16 access extended work experience placements 
as part of their preparation for adulthood.  

  The established practice of carrying out audiology clinics in educational 
settings is a strength. Children and young people miss fewer lessons and are 
more comfortable in a familiar setting.  

  Special school leaders are working collaboratively with the area to improve 
provision for young people with autism as they move into adulthood.  

Page 36



 

 

 

 

 

7 

  Therapists and mental health professionals measure the effectiveness of their 
work with individual children and young people. As a result, they can amend 
their practice swiftly in response to a child or young person’s changing needs.  

  The ‘hospital at home’ pilot scheme is reducing the length of hospital stays for 
those with SEND who need medical intervention.   
 

 
Areas for development 
 
  It is not clear how professionals link their work to the objectives set in a 

child’s EHC plan. The system for checking progress towards these objectives 
through the annual review process is inconsistent. This is because leaders 
currently rely on school staff to complete annual reviews without oversight 
from the area.  

  The transition to adult health services does not work well for some young 
people. Some adult services will not accept referrals from children’s health 
teams until a young person’s 18th birthday. This hinders effective transition 
planning.   

 
The inspection raises significant concerns about the effectiveness of the 
area. 
 
The area is required to produce and submit a WSOA to Ofsted that explains how it 
will tackle the following areas of significant weakness: 
 
  The poor quality and oversight of EHC plans including the annual review 

process.  

  The lengthy waiting times for an assessment and diagnosis of ASD. 

  Fragmentation in the provision of speech and language therapy which means 
that too many children and young people do not get the specialist help and 
support they need. 

  Weaknesses in communication between area leaders and parents leading to 
misunderstandings. Many families are not aware of services that they could 
access and have no knowledge of area’s plans to improve.   
 

 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Gaynor Roberts 
Her Majesty’s Inspector 

Page 37



 

 

 

 

 

8 

 
 

Ofsted Care Quality Commission 

Michael Sheridan 
Regional Director 

Victoria Watkins 
Deputy Chief Inspector, Primary Medical 
Services, Children Health and Justice 

Gaynor Roberts 
HMI Lead Inspector 

Andrea Crosby-Josephs 
CQC Inspector 

Andy Lawrence 
Ofsted Inspector 

 

 

Cc: Department for Education 
Clinical commissioning group 
Director of Public Health for the area 
Department of Health 
NHS England 
 

 
 

Page 38



 

1 
 

   

 

Tower Hamlets 

Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

Written Statement of Action  

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 39



 

2 
 

Introduction  

We are committed to ensuring that every child in Tower Hamlets is supported to meet their full potential regardless of 

their additional needs and vulnerabilities. The support that we offer to children who have Special Educational Needs and 

Disabilities, and their families has been at the forefront of our improvement journey and we were very glad that these 

improvements were recognised during our two most recent inspections (Children’s Social Care 2019 and SEND in 2021) 

especially that the pace of our improvement had accelerated.  

Our SEND Strategy 2020-24 outlines this commitment and articulates the approach that the local area is taking to ensuring 

that children with SEND receive the best support possible. Our existing improvement plan follows the priorities within the 

strategy and are reflected within this Written Statement of Action. We absolutely recognise that there is more to be done. 

Our Self-Assessment highlighted many of the strengths and weaknesses that were included in our published outcome 

letter and this strong understanding of our own practice means that this Written Statement of Action reflects a large 

amount of work that was already underway through the implementation of the SEND Strategy.  

Both the Local Authority and Clinical Commissioning Group fully accept the findings of the inspection and are committed 

to ensuring that the support and services we provide to children and young people with SEND and their families are 

excellent. This Written Statement of Action addresses the four areas of significant weakness identified during the 

inspection 

• The poor quality and oversight of Education, Health and Care Plans including the annual review process. 

• The lengthy waiting times for an Autistic Spectrum Disorder assessment  

• Fragmentation in the provision of speech and language therapy which means that too many children and young 

people do not get the specialist help and support they need. 

• Weaknesses in communication between area leaders and parents leading to misunderstandings. Many families are 

not aware of services that they could access and have no knowledge of area’s plans to improve. 

P
age 40



 

3 
 

  

Children and families have been integral to the development of our improvement plan and this Written Statement of 

Action and we will continue to work with our SEND Independent Parent and Carer’s Forum, our SEND Ambassadors, the 

Our Time Youth Forum and other groups to ensure that our improvement journey truly meets the needs of those who 

most need our services.  

 

James Thomas         Siobhan Harper 

Corporate Director, Children and Culture     Transitions Director 

Tower Hamlets Council        North East London, Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 41



 

4 
 

Our Vision 

We want every child or young person with SEND to have every chance to thrive. We have ensured that our system is 

driven by an understanding of local needs and a thorough understanding of our strengths and areas for development 

across different services and agencies, with the broad aim of tackling health inequalities for children and young people in 

the local population.  

 

Tower Hamlets Special Educational Needs and Disability Strategy 2020-24 

 

How the Written Statement of Action was developed 

Workstream leads were tasked with developing a core set of actions for each area of significant weakness. These were 

discussed and challenged by a working group of officers from within the local authority and Clinical Commissioning Group 

as well as the chair of the Independent Parent and Carers Forum. Once a draft had been agreed, further input and 

discussion was sought from local system leaders, via the SEND Improvement Board. We also had sessions with parents and 

carers to ensure that the actions reflected their experiences and that they understood the process of improvement. 

Further engagement and consultation is planned throughout the period of improvement via a number of themed “Let’s 

Talk SEND” events. 

 

Workstreams 

The workstreams have been assigned two lead officers, one from the local authority and one from the CCG, this is to 

ensure that there is a joined-up approach as well maintaining momentum in the case of absence. The workstream leads 

are responsible for leading and chairing workstream meetings; overseeing the action and activity of workstream members 

and reporting on this through highlight reports to SEND Improvement Board on a bi-monthly basis. Workstream 

membership is drawn from across the SEND community including education, health and social care representatives as well 

as parents and carers, and other stakeholders with arrangements for representation from young people being in place. 

P
age 42



 

5 
 

Actions are delivered by a broad range of professionals, parents, young people and other stakeholders which include the 

core work stream membership and where necessary a broader range of invited stakeholders. 

 

At the heart of this system sits the SEND Improvement Board, chaired by the Director of Children’s Services and the 

deputy chair being the Joint Director of Integrated Commissioning for the CCG and LA which interrogates the data and 

holds each part of the system accountable for how it is delivering on behalf of local residents. The SEND Improvement 

Board has overall responsibility for monitoring and overseeing the Written Statement of Action, alongside the 

improvement plan and overall SEND Strategy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 43



 

6 
 

 

 

 

Written Statement of Action  

 

 

 

 

P
age 44



 

7 
 

Workstream 1 – Education, Health and Care Plans and Annual Reviews 

Workstream Leads – Head of SEN (LA) & Designated Clinical Officer (CCG) 
Area of Significant Weakness - The poor quality and oversight of EHC plans including the annual review 
process. 

 

Progress since the inspection  

Throughout 2021 there has been a Local Area focus on improving the timeliness and quality of Education, Health and Care 

Plans due to delays experienced for children, young people and families during the pandemic. This work continues to be a 

focus in line with the areas for improvement identified during the inspection, with at least monthly monitoring of the 

figures at a senior level. As part of this work a restructure of the service was completed, increasing the capacity of the 

casework team and the management of the service. 

 

Although inspectors could see improvements in more recent Education, Health and Care Plans they found that too many 

children and young people had outdated outcomes and aspirations. There were plans completed on conversion templates 

that needed to be transferred to the most recent template. Following the inspection, the multi-agency Quality Assurance 

working group have looked at the process for ensuring that both the advices received from professionals during the 

assessment process and the final Education Health and Care Plans are consistent and of a high quality. The group have 

audited a selection of EHCP’s looking at strengths and areas for improvement and have developed a common single 

template for advice and will deliver a draft Quality Assurance Matrix in December 2021. This latter work has been 

supported by the Local Authority’s Social Work Academy. All ongoing work will be supported by workshops arranged with 

parents/carers and young people to ensure that their views on the quality of EHCP’s issued by the Local Authority are part 

of the improvement process. 

 

P
age 45



 

8 
 

Casework staff have undergone training, both one to one and in small group sessions, to ensure that they can write their 

own plans, amend Education Health and Care Plans to a high quality following annual reviews, and deliver co-production 

meetings. Service managers are supervising and coaching staff through these processes and quality assuring the work that 

they are doing. This process is modelling the annual review process for service staff and for settings.  

 

A growth bid for additional staffing capacity of 12 posts was developed post-inspection and has been submitted to senior 

leaders within the council, these staff will be in place from January 2022. This will enable the review of all current 

Education Health and Care Plans maintained by the Local Authority through the annual review process, across the 2021/22 

academic year and ensure that improvements made during this time are sustainable into the future. Prior to receiving a 

decision on the growth bid approval has been given to increase capacity on an interim basis. 

 

An Annual Review tracker has been developed and is being used to monitor and track annual reviews. Initially, the focus 

has been on phase transfer year groups to ensure that we can review the data that is being collected is in line with what is 

required for reporting processes. This will ensure that the quality of the plans and reviews going to settings for 

consultation are of a high quality. The information in the tracker is being inputted into the Management Information 

System (MIS) to ensure ongoing consistent monitoring methods. 

 

Following the inspection, the multi-agency Transitions Board, jointly chaired by senior staff in adults’ and children’s social 

care has been reconvened to ensure that similar processes are being followed for young people, post-16 and is also 

focussing on tracking and ensuring that transitions to adult health and care services are completed as part of the annual 

review process and in a timely way. 

 

  

P
age 46



 

9 
 

 

Strategic Objective 1 - Ensure that EHCP’s are of a high quality and meet the SEND Code of Practice in all areas. 
Ref SEND 

I P 
Action Success Measures Deadline Accountable 

Lead(s) 
1.1 2 Implement the current 

Action Plan to improve co-
production and the quality 
of Education, Health and 
Care Plans (EHCP), including 
those amended at Annual 
Review 
 
 

Agreed single advice template in use  
 
Review of EHCP template and guidance will be 
completed. 
 
Training and guidance on co-production 
provided and completed for services 
contributing to EHC advices.  
 
Service quality assurance (QA) shows that 90% 
of newly issued plans accurately reflect the 
advice from professionals   
 
Every EHCP has a golden thread running 
through it of personal aspirations, strengths 
and needs, leading to SMART outcomes and 
provision. 

January 2022 
 
February 2022 
 
 
May 2022 
 
 
 
July 2022 
 
 
 
January 2023 
 

Head of SEN 
 
SEN Service 
Manager 

1.2 1 & 2 The SEND Quality Assurance 
Group to agree a Local Area 
Quality Assurance Process 
that provides regular 

The local area has an agreed quality assurance 
matrix in place for assessing the quality of 
EHCP’s.  

January 2022 
 
 
 

Head of SEN 
 
DMO and/or 
DCO 

P
age 47



 

10 
 

reporting and review of 
emerging improvement 
themes and monitoring of all 
QA processes. 
 
 

Services are aware of and using the Quality 
Assurance (QA) process – reporting results to 
the SEND QA group. 
 
Improved triaging of advice requests and 
information sharing results in clearly defined 
care needs in every EHCP. 
 
All services contribute to the ongoing 
improvement of EHCP’s and will reflect 
improvement in the use of their advice within 
the plan evidenced through the QA process. 
 
QA confirms that at least 85% newly issued EHC 
plans meet the quality threshold. 
 
Regular reporting of QA data is embedded to 
ensure that SEND leaders will know of areas for 
improvement emerging from QA and further 
actions needed. 

March 2022 
 
 
 
May 2022 
 
 
 
July 2022 
 
 
 
 
July 2022 
 
 
July 2022 

1.3 2 SEN Service to submit an 
action plan for improving the 
monitoring, oversight and 
tracking of the annual review 
process to ensure that all 

The plan will be ratified by the SEND 
improvement Board 
 
SEN Service capacity increased to ensure that 
annual review processes are embedded and 
sustainable  

July 2021 
(complete) 
 
January 2022 
 

Head of SEN 
 
SEN Service 
Manager 

P
age 48



 

11 
 

statutory duties and 
timescales are met. 

Regular progress reporting to the SEND 
Improvement Board in place and progress is 
evidenced  

Bi-monthly from 
November 2021 
 

1.4 2 Implement action plan to 
improve the monitoring and 
tracking of annual reviews to 
ensure that all statutory 
duties are met 
 
 

The annual review process reviewed using 
feedback from young people, parents, and 
other stakeholders 
 
All documentation and guidance in relation to 
annual reviews amended and updated 
 
Implementation of an interim annual review 
tracker completed  
 
Management Information System (MIS) in place 
for recording and tracking all annual reviews. 
 
All Annual Review dates are recorded on the 
MIS  
 
100% of annual reviews received have a 
decision made to maintain, amend or cease 
plans within 12 months of the initial plan, or 
the last annual review 
 

December 2021 
 
 
 
February 2022 
 
 
October 2021 
(complete) 
 
October 2021 
(complete) 
 
September 2022 
 
 
March 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of SEN 

P
age 49



 

12 
 

60% of decisions made to maintain, amend or 
cease a plan are made within 4 weeks of the 
date of the annual review 

March 2023 

1.5 2 Review and update all 
existing EHCP’s to ensure 
that they reflect current 
need, that they are amended 
in line with the Quality 
Assurance matrix and 
accurately reflect the current 
views of children, young 
people and their families and 
that all plans are on the 
most up to date template. 

Increased capacity within the service enables all 
phase transfers to be quality assured at Annual 
Review and amended where required. 
 
100% of plans produced on the original 
conversions template, are updated to the 
newest template. 
 
Outcomes within plans reflect the current need 
and provision for all children and young people. 
 
Reporting and tracking of progress is accurate 
and Local area SEND leaders have improved 
oversight of annual reviews and confidence 
that the annual review process is sustainable 
going forward. 

January 2023 
 
 
 
March 2023 
 
 
 
March 2023 
 
 
March 2023 

Head of SEN 
 

1.6 
 

2&5 Improve the process of 
reviewing and amending 
EHCP’s for children and 
young people, and their 
families, who are going 
through phase transfer, 

100% of all phase transfer reviews completed 
by the 2022 deadlines: 

• Pre-16 children and young people 

• Post-16 young people 
 
Audit of current provision and plans for all post-
19 completed EHCP’s 

 
 
February 2022 
March 2022 
 
January 2022 
 

Head of SEN 
 
SEN Service 
Manager 
 
SEN 14-25 
Manager 

P
age 50



 

13 
 

including those preparing for 
adult life from Year 9. 

Local Area SEND Leaders are well informed of 
the pathways available to young people post-16 
and the numbers on each progression pathway. 

January 2023 
 
 

1.7 2 & 5 Planning for transition to 
adult health and care 
services is timely and 
accurately reflected in the 
annual review process and 
amendments made to plans 
for young people. 
 
 

The reconvened Multi- agency Transitions 
Board's strengthened arrangements secure 
seamless transfer between children's and 
adults' services for all young people. 
 
Preparing for Adulthood transition booklet 
updated and will inform young people’s 
awareness of the support available in the Local 
Area as they progress into adulthood. 
 
Transitions data is shared across Education, 
Health and Social Care. 
 
100% of young people who require transition 
plans to adult services will have these in place 
before their 18th birthday. 

September 2022 
 
 
 
 
August 2022 
 
 
 
 
June 2022 
 
 
January 2023 
 

Chair of the 
SEND 
Transitions 
Board 
 
Head of SEN 

1.8 1 & 2 Implement and collate 
regular feedback from 
parents and young people 
on their experiences of the 
EHC Needs assessment 
process, the quality of final 

Young people and parents actively feedback on 
their experiences of EHC Needs Assessment 
and Annual Reviews. This feedback is gathered, 
analysed and reported. 
 

April 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of SEN 
 
SEN Service 
Manager 

P
age 51



 

14 
 

EHCP’s and the annual 
review process. 
 
Further work to utilise 
existing forums to ensure 
the voice of children and 
parents is heard and informs 
the assessment and annual 
review process. 

Young people and parents confirm that 75% of 
new and amended plans reflect current needs 
and future aspirations 
 
At least 75% of parents and young people 
reporting satisfactory involvement in the 
processes of assessment and review 
 
Leaders understand the issues arising from 
feedback and actions being taken to address 
this through regular reporting to the SEND 
Improvement Board. 

March 2023 
 
 
 
March 2023 
 
 
 
Ongoing from 
March 2023 
 
 

1.9 1 & 2 Publish all reviewed 
documentation on the Local 
Offer to ensure that all 
families and stakeholders 
are aware of and have 
access to high quality advice 
and guidance. 

All reviewed documentation and guidance will 
be published on the Local Offer 
 
Settings report that they understand new 
processes and documents  
 
Themed review of information collected will 
enable regular updating of information on the 
Local Offer. 

May 2022 
 
 
May 2022 
 
 
May 2022 

Head of SEN 
 
SEN Service 
Manager 
 
 

 

 

 

P
age 52



 

15 
 

Workstream 2 – Assessment and Diagnosis of Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) 

Workstream Leads –Head of Children’s Integrated Commissioning (LA/CCG) & Interim Head of Early Help & Children and 
Families Service (LA), General Manager Paediatrics at Barts Health.   

Area of Significant Weakness - The lengthy waiting times for an  assessment and diagnosis of ASD 
 

Progress since the inspection 

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic there was an improvement plan in place from Barts Health to reduce the Autistic 

Spectrum Disorder (ASD) assessment waiting time.  This delivered investment in clinical staffing to increase activity and 

capacity within the service, but this did not deliver a long-term sustainable solution. The gains accomplished during this 

short period were impacted and superseded during the pandemic and national restrictions.  

In early 2021, two sets of stakeholders met to discuss the local issues with ASD diagnostic assessment waiting times and 

general support for children, young people and their families/carers who use the ASD Diagnostic Pathway.  It was agreed 

that a ASD Pathway Review Group would be established with broad representation from across all key stakeholders, 

including clinicians and parents/families. The group’s remit focused on improving the ASD pathway in the borough, 

including access for families at different stages of the pathway- pre, during, and post ASD Diagnostic Assessment1. 

The group is underpinned by a quality improvement framework and works to collectively understand/address challenges 

in the pathway. The first two subgroups established reporting into the overarching group focused on the system priorities-

the Diagnostic Pathway and the Family Support.  

 

 
1 See Appendix 1 for detailed figures. 

P
age 53



 

16 
 

Ref SEND  
I P 

Action Success Measures  Deadline Accountable 

Lead(s) 

2.1 3 Secure investment to boost 

the diagnostic capacity of 

the ASD Assessment Service 

Secure approval for Business Case for 2.0 WTE 

Therapists and 0.5 WTE administrator at the 

Tower Hamlets, Newham and Waltham Forest 

Finance and Performance Committee 

July 2021 
(complete) 

Head of 

Children’s 

Integrated 

Commissioning  

2.2 3 Barts Health to launch 
additional ASD Diagnostic 
clinics and submit updated 
recovery plan for ASD 
diagnostic waiting 
times/back log  
 

Recruit to therapist/administrator posts 
following successful recruitment process. 
 
New post holders’ complete 
training/observations 
 

Launch additional ASD Diagnostic Clinics and 

ASD Diagnostic Pathway change is delivered to 

boost diagnostic capacity and address waiting 

times/backlog. 

October 2021- 
(complete) 
 
December 
2021- 
(complete) 
 
January 2022 

General 

Manager 

Paediatrics 

2.3 3 ASD Pathway Review Group 

to monitor and track the 

implementation of the 

recovery plan 

Within two years, ASD diagnostic waiting times 
are within the NICE/best practice 
recommended range- in line with recovery 
planning 

• Average of 25 children and young 
decisions about ASD diagnosis made 

December 
2023 with 
evidence of 
quarterly 
progress from 
January 2022 

Head of 

Children’s 

Integrated 

Commissioning  

P
age 54



 

17 
 

each month on average (up from an 
average of 8). 

• The caseload waiting for a diagnostic 
decision is less than 150 from a high of 
over 300.  

against agreed 
milestones  

General 

Manager 

Paediatrics 

2.4 3 Review support pathways 
for pre/post ASD 
Assessment Service 
diagnostic assessment.   
 
 

Map local support services through ASD 
Pathway- establishing eligibility criteria, 
information on access, and identifying any 
significant issues. 
 
Agree action plan for addressing issues 
identified by ASD support service mapping 
exercise, including how the service offer is 
communicated to families and local services.  
 
Family Support Task and Finish Group, with 
broad local partner and family representation, 
to meet monthly to direct progress in the spirit 
of co-production and ensuring local 
involvement 

January 2022 
 
 
 
 
February 2022 
 
 
 
 
Monthly 
meetings in 
place   

0-19 Service 

Director 

Deputy Head 

of Early Help 

2.5 3 Publish a clear support 

pathway for families 

pre/during and post 

diagnosis on the Local Offer 

Clear family friendly guidance published on the 
Local Offer, including key information on 
support services and a guide to navigate the 
service offer 
 

February 2022 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of TH GP 

Care Group 

Deputy Head 

of Early Help 

P
age 55



 

18 
 

Guidance is promoted to families through 
partners communication and engagement 
channels- ensuring that local families know of 
improvements.  
 

Collate feedback from the Let’s Talk Send 

sessions and parent forums to confirm 

parents/carers are clear on the support offer at 

each stage of the pathway 

February 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
August 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 56



 

19 
 

Workstream 3 – Speech and Language Therapy (SLT) 

Workstream Leads –Head of Children’s Integrated Commissioning (LA/CCG) & Designated Clinical Officer (CCG) 
Area of Significant Weakness - Fragmentation in the provision of speech and language therapy which means 
that too many children and young people do not get the specialist help and support they need. 

 

Progress since the inspection 

The Children’s Integrated Therapies Steering Group was initiated pre-pandemic to develop a systemwide model to 

integrate therapies across the borough. The aim was to improve and clarify the service offer for children and families as 

they move from identification, intervention, treatment, and transition into Adult Services. The model focused on upskilling 

specific workforces including Early Years, Health Visiting and Education with a view to earlier identification and early 

intervention, to support children and families to achieve improved outcomes in the long term. 

The group continues to develop a tiered systemwide model. The initial focus will be on addressing the identified gap in 

treatment for under 5s and then embedding this into a wider integrated pathway that addresses all therapy needs for 

children and young people with SEND.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 57



 

20 
 

Ref SEND 
I P 

Action Success Measures  Deadline Accountable 

Lead(s) 

3.1 3 The Children’s Integrated 

Therapies Group will 

produce a joined-up 

commissioning model for 

all therapies (OT, Physio 

and SLT) from 0-25 

(including SEND) 

Develop a costed integrated therapy that 
details a clear collectively commissioned 
pathway- covering the range of need: 
universal, universal plus, specialist, targeted.  
 
Define the monitoring and measurement 
processes- outputs, outcomes, and impact and 
continuous improvement. 
 
Secure sign off for draft plans for pathway 
including roles, responsibilities and 
governance arrangements for new model and 
pathways 

April 2022 
 
 
 
 
April 2022 
 
 
 
April 2022 

CCG Snr 

Commissioning 

Manager  

3.2 3 Take the integrated model 

through the respective 

governance structures 

across the LA/CCG and 

begin phased 

implementation to ensure 

learning moves from one 

part of the pathway 

through to the entirety 

Secure sign off for Phase 1 of the integrated 
therapies model at the following stakeholder 
meetings: 

• Children and Young People Integrated 
Therapies Steering Group 

• SEND Improvement Board 

• Local Residents/Family Forums (as 
appropriate) 

September 
2022 

CCG Senior 

Commissioning 

Manager  

P
age 58



 

21 
 

• Tower Hamlets, Newham and Waltham 
Forest Finance and Performance 
Committee 

3.3 3 Secure sign off from 
CCG/LA for proposal to 
address the gap in 
provision of SLT for 3-5 
years old 
 

Develop costed proposal for SLT provision for 
3-5 years old that addresses the gap with 
sufficient SLT capacity and reflects the level of 
need locally 
 
Draft service specification/summary to 
provide clear details on service’s remit, 
eligibility criteria and performance 
expectations  
 
Secure sign off of an option details in the cost 
proposal from senior CCG/LA stakeholders 

December 2021 
 
 
 
 

 
January 2022 
 
 
 
 
February 2022 

Head of 

Children’s 

Integrated 

Commissioning  

Head of 

Community 

Children’s 

Therapies 

3.4 3 Implement the 3-5 SLT 

intervention model(s) 

Agree mobilisation plan Launch 3-5 SLT 
Intervention Model 
 
Deliver an increase in the proportion of 
children who are meeting the communication 
and language expectations at the end the 
reception year as part of the Early Years’ 
Foundation Stage 20192 

February 2022 
 
 
May 2022 
 
Yearly tracking 
of outcomes  

Head of 

Children’s 

Integrated 

Commissioning  

 

Head of 

Community 

Children’s 

Therapies 

 
2 DfE have removed the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile as a statutory reporting requirement for schools. Tower Hamlets will work with schools to 

ensure local measures are in place to gauge progress. However, currently it presents challenges with quantifying an improvement. 

P
age 59



 

22 
 

Workstream 4 – Communication between local area leaders and parents 

Workstream Leads – Director of Education (LA) & Joint Director of Integrated Commissioning (CCG) 
Area of Significant Weakness - Weaknesses in communication between area leaders and parents leading to 
misunderstandings. Many families are not aware of services that they could access and have no knowledge of area’s 
plans to improve. 

 

Progress since the inspection 

The chair of the SEND Independent Parent/Carer Forum is a core member of the SEND Improvement Board and Every 

Chance for Every Child Forum. The SEND Independent Parent/Carer Forum (SIPCF) is an integral part of the SEND strategic 

system. The Forum’s involvement has had a positive effect in highlighting the independent voice of parents and carers. 

The SIPCF also runs regular informal coffee mornings for parents to share information and gather feedback about the local 

area’s services for children with SEND.  

Local area leaders have committed to attending termly Let’s Talk SEND sessions with parents and carers to hear feedback 

and address weaknesses in communication as identified in the joint area SEND inspection. 

The engagement with local children, young people, parents, and carers through the jointly commissioned SEND IASS is 

improving. Prior to the Covid 19 pandemic in partnership with Parent and Young People Ambassadors a series of events 

took place to promote and consult on the Local Offer including the Tower Hamlets Annual Parent Conference, Health & 

Wellbeing Fair, SENCO Conference, Integrated Early Years event and Community Safety Event. The positive steps made 

were impacted by the pandemic and subsequent outreach events were cancelled. Despite the challenges of information 

and consultation sessions in a virtual world this service has established positive relationships with parents, carers, and 

young people throughout the borough, actively promoting engagement and participation opportunities. Engagement is 

P
age 60



 

23 
 

also supported by a termly Families Matter magazine distributed through schools, early years and community settings and 

online, Bite size e bulletin, Parent and Carer Council and training for parents to act as SEND Ambassadors. However, an 

overarching Parental Engagement Strategy is needed. 

Throughout 2021 there has been a Local Area focus on improving the Local Offer. A new front page was launched, a Young 

Peoples Zone introduced and improved search and feedback functions.   

The Local Offer Steering Group has been convened to bring together key stakeholders to monitor and review the Local 

Offer and interface with relevant strategic and service developments. This group will continue to monitor consultation and 

feedback processes ensuring stakeholders and partners are engaged in on-going review and improvement in line with the 

areas for improvement identified during the inspection. Young people and parents actively feedback on their current 

experiences of EHC Needs Assessment and Annual Reviews. This feedback is gathered, analysed and reported. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 61



 

24 
 

Ref SEND  
I P 

Action Success Measures  Deadline Accountable 
Lead(s) 

4.1 1 Develop Let’s Talk SEND 
listening events (with 
Director of Education, 
Designated Medical Officer, 
Designated Clinical Officer, 
SEND Independent Parent 
and Carer Forum, Parent 
and Family Support Service, 
SEND Information Advice 
Support Service) with 
parents/carers, children and 
young people to 
continuously update them 
on services available and 
provide progress reports on 
the local area’s strategic 
plans. 

Let’s Talk SEND listening events established 
as part of a termly cycle  
 
Parents/carers participating increases by at 
least 10% per year from November 2021 
baseline  
 
Regular opportunities for parents/carers to 
engage with local area leaders posted on the 
Local offer and social media platforms 
 
Parents/carers survey via the Local Offer and 
feedback from Let’s Talk sessions indicates 
increasing awareness and understanding of 
the local area’s services and priorities 

December 2021 
 
 
November 2022 
 
 
 
Tracked termly 
2022/23 
 
 
October 2022 

Director of 
Education 

4.2 1 Develop a clear 
communication strategy 
which encompasses the 
Local Offer, social media, 
Families Matter magazine, 
Let’s Talk SEND, SEND 
Newsletter (with spotlight 

Draft Parental engagement /communication 
strategy co- produced and completed  
 
Termly Families Matter magazine/ SEND 
Newsletter (with spotlight contributions 
from parents/carers, system leaders) 
established 

April 2022  
 
 
July 2022 
 
 

Director of 
Education 
 
Head of Parent 
and Family 
Support 

P
age 62



 

25 
 

contributions from 
parents/carers) 

Number of followers on Social media / 
Twitter increases. 

Tracked Termly 
2022/23 

4.3 1 Engage with parents on a 
regular and informal basis to 
get feedback and 
suggestions for continuously 
improving engagement and 
communication.  
 
Hold coffee mornings or 
similar sessions in schools, 
community/health settings, 
early years settings, 
Children’s and Family 
Centres parent/carers in 
smaller groups focussed on 
“issues and results” 

Increase in the number of parents involved 
in SEND Independent Parent/Carer Forum 
year on year by at least 5% from baseline of 
400. 
 
Parents and carers participation in the 
engagement opportunities offered indicates 
decline in the number of issues raised over 
time  
 
 

September 
2022 
 
 
 
January 2023 

Director of 
Education 
 
 
 

4.4 1 Provide regular reports and 
feedback from the SEND 
Improvement Board to 
include progress on the 
areas for development in 
the Written Statement of 
Action (WSoA) 

Increased and regular attendance at local 
area engagement activities with local area 
leaders 
 
Parents/carers aware of the local area’s 
improvement plans and progress  
 

Tracked termly 
2022/23 
 
 
July 2022 
 
 
 
 

Director of 
Education 

P
age 63



 

26 
 

Feedback from SEND parent and YP 
ambassadors indicate improved engagement 
and access to local area leaders   

December 2022 
 
 

4.5 1 SEND Parent Ambassadors 
promote the Local Offer and 
inform parents of local 
developments and services 

SEND parent ambassador feedback from 
families indicate increased awareness of 
services available and improvements in the 
lived experiences of families 

July 2022 Manager, Family 
Information, 
Advice and 
Support Service 

4.6 1 Capture the progress of 
engagement activities 
through ‘You said - We did’, 
and share with 
parents/carers at least 
termly 

Increase in parents/carers reporting that 
online information and directories up to 
date, accessible and useful  
 
 

Tracked termly 
2022/23 
 
 
 
 

Head of Parent and 
Family Support  
 
Manager, Family 
Information, 
Advice and Support 
Service 

4.7 1 Promote the Local Offer 
across the Local Area and all 
partners. Gather and 
analyse feedback on the 
quality of the Local Offer 
from parents and young 
people’s focus groups   
 

Number of Local Offer website page views 
increase by 1% monthly from current 16,600 
page views   
 
Satisfaction levels improve to 75% based on 
feedback from the EHCP and Annual review 
processes  
 
Feedback from parents/carers and young 
people participating in focus groups 
indicates easier access to information, news 
and guidance on the local offer  
 

Tracked 
quarterly 
2022/23 
 
March 2023 
 
 
 
Tracked 
quarterly 
2022/23 
 

Head of Parent 
and Family 
Support 
 
Manager, Family 
Information, 
Advice and 
Support Service 
 

P
age 64



 

27 
 

Evidence from website metrics 
shows an increase in the number of user 
sessions (8000 baseline) and individual user 
sessions (3,320 baseline) 

Tracked 
quarterly 
2022/23 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 65



 

28 
 

Appendix 1 - ASD Assessment Diagnostic Recovery Planning- Summary Table 

2021/22 

  

Jan-

22 

Feb-

22 

Mar-

22 

Apr-

22 

May-

22 

Jun-

22 

Jul-

22 

Aug-

22 

Sep-

22 

Oct-

22 

Nov-

22 

Dec-

22 

Additions 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 

Discharged -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 

Additional discharges -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 

Impact on volume waiting 346 337 328 319 310 301 292 283 274 265 256 247 

 

2023 

 

  

Jan-

23 

Feb-

23 

Mar-

23 

Apr-

23 

May-

23 

Jun-

23 

Jul-

23 

Aug-

23 

Sep-

23 

Oct-

23 

Nov-

23 

Dec-

23 

Additions 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 16 

Discharged -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 -8 

Additional discharges -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 -17 

Impact on volume waiting 238 229 220 211 202 193 184 175 166 157 148 139 

P
age 66



 

29 
 

Appendix 2 - Governance and Accountability  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tower Hamlets Together (THT)Board) 

Children & Families Executive 

 

SEND Improvement Board  

Chair – Director of Children and Culture (LA) 

Deputy Chair - Joint Director of Integrated 

Commissioning (CCG) 

Transitions Board 

SEND Quality Assurance Group - SEND Data & Performance Group (T&F) 

Local Offer Steering Group - Children's Integrated Therapies Steering Group  

Continuing Care Steering Group - ASD Pathway Review Group 

School Health Advisory Group - Stakeholder Transport Advisory Group  

Health and Wellbeing Board 

(HWBB) 

School’s Forum 
Our Time All-Abilities Youth Forum 

SEND Independent Parent Carer Forum 

Every Chance for Every Child Forum 

Key 

  

 

Parental/young person involvement 

Political engagement 
Financial responsibilities 

Strategic Groups 

 Dotted lines denote information-sharing 

Solid lines are accountability lines 

Stakeholders  

SEND Operational Groups 

P
age 67



 

30 
 

Appendix 3 - SEND Improvement Board  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 68



 

31 
 

Appendix 4 – SEND Improvement Board Membership 

 
Chair: Corporate Director, Children and Culture  
Deputy Chairs: Joint Director of Integrated Commissioning (LBTH/THCCG) / Director of Education (LBTH)  
Chair of the SEND Independent Forum for Parents & Carers  
Member of Our Time-All Abilities Youth Forum and Young People Ambassador  
Associate Director of Public Health (LBTH)  
CAMHS Lead for SEND in Tower Hamlets, East London Foundation Trust  
Chief Operating Officer, Tower Hamlets GP Care Group 
Service Manager, Community Learning Disability Service (Adults) (LBTH) 
General Manager, Bart’s Health NHS Trust  
Primary School Headteacher 
Secondary School Headteacher 
Special School Headteacher 
Colleges Representative 
Nursery Schools Representative 
Director, Adult Social Care (LBTH) 
Programme Lead for Maternity & Early Years, PH, LBTH  
Deputy Head of Early Help & Children and Families Service (LBTH) 
Director of Supporting Families Directorate (LBTH) 
Designated Medical Officer, Bart’s Health NHS Trust  
Designated Clinical Officer, Barts’ Health NHS Trust 
Head of Special Educational Needs (LBTH)   
Head of Parent and Family Support (LBTH) 
Senior Intelligence & Performance Manager (LBTH) 

 

 

 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

   

6 January 2022 

James Thomas 

Corporate Director, Children and Culture 

Tower Hamlets Borough Council 

Mulberry Place 

Tower Hamlets 

E14 0BG 

 

Selina Douglas, Managing Director, Tower Hamlets Clinical Commissioning Group 

 

 
Dear Mr Thomas and Ms Douglas 

 

This letter is written in accordance with The Children Act 2004 (Joint Area Reviews) 

Regulations 20151 to inform Tower Hamlets Borough Council and Tower Hamlets 

Clinical Commissioning Group, as principal authorities, that Ofsted and the Care 

Quality Commission have jointly evaluated the written statement of action submitted 

to us on 24 December 2021.  

 

The statement of action is deemed to be fit for purpose in setting out how the area 

will tackle the significant areas of weakness identified in the published report letter. 

 

I welcome the involvement of parents and carers, children and young people, in both 

the development and the delivery of the written statement of action. This, in itself, 

will contribute to work towards the fourth bullet point, the improvement of 

communication between area leaders and parents. However, leaders may wish to 

consider how they will explain to the wider parent community what difference the 

actions they take will make to the lives of children and young people with special 

educational needs and/or disabilities.  

 

Appropriate actions are planned to tackle the significant weaknesses found at the 

time of the inspection, and these actions are set into a suitable timeframe. The 

written statement of action demonstrates a commitment to joint working between 

partners, with professionals from both the council and health partners involved in 

leading the planned work. Suitable governance processes are described.  

 

Plans to address the weakness relating to the poor quality of education, health and 

care plans, including the annual review process could be further strengthened by 

 
1 The Children Act 2004 (Joint Area Reviews) Regulations 2015 

www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/1972/regulation/4/made. 
 

Ofsted 
Agora 
6 Cumberland Place 
Nottingham 
NG1  6HJ 

 

 
www.gov.uk/ofsted  
 Lasend.support@ofsted.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 71

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/1972/regulation/4/made
http://www.gov.uk/ofsted


 

 

 

 

placing more emphasis on the improvement of existing plans. For example, actions 

1.1 and 1.2 identify measurable success criteria relating to the proportions of newly 

issued plans that accurately reflect professional advice, and that meet the quality 

threshold. There is no similar ambition set out for amended existing plans.  

In addition, while the ambition for all young people who require transition plans to 

adult services to have these in place before their 18th birthday is suitable, this may 

be too late for some young people. In some cases, plans will need to be made well in 

advance of the young person’s 18th birthday so that implementation is smooth. 

 

It is pleasing to read that leaders have already secured additional capacity to address 

waiting times for autism spectrum disorder assessments. However, given that the 

previous plan from Barts health trust did not demonstrate long-term sustainability it 

would he helpful if the written statement of action included an indication of how 

sustainability in this new plan will be secured.  

 

The written statement of action must be published on local websites2, so that 

parents, children and young people can understand the actions you are taking to 

improve the effectiveness of the area in identifying and meeting needs, and 

improving outcomes for children and young people who have special educational 

needs and/or disabilities. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Mike Sheridan HMI 

Regional Director, London 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2 Regulation 4 (5); www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/1792/regulation/4/made 
 

Page 72

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/1792/regulation/4/made


 

Special educational 
needs and disability 
code of practice:  
0 to 25 years 
Statutory guidance for organisations 
which work with and support children 
and young people who have special 
educational needs or disabilities 

January 2015 

Page 73



2 
 

Contents 
Foreword 11 

Introduction 12 

About this guidance 12 

Expiry or review date 12 

To which legislation does this guidance refer? 12 

Who must have regard to this guidance? 13 

The First-tier Tribunal (Special Educational Needs and Disability) 13 

Changes from the SEN Code of Practice (2001) 13 

Implementation of the Code of Practice 14 

Special educational needs (SEN) 15 

Disabled children and young people 16 

Related legislation and guidance 18 

1 Principles 19 

What this chapter covers 19 

Relevant legislation 19 

Principles underpinning this Code of Practice 19 

The principles in practice 20 

Participating in decision making 20 

Supporting children, young people and parents to participate in decisions 
about their support 21 

Involving children, young people and parents in planning, commissioning and 
reviewing services 22 

Parent Carer Forums 22 

Identifying children and young people’s needs 23 

Greater choice and control for parents and young people over their support 24 

Collaboration between education, health and social care services to provide 
support 24 

High quality provision to meet the needs of children and young people 
with SEN 25 

A focus on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning 25 

Supporting successful preparation for adulthood 28 

2 Impartial information, advice and support 30 

What this chapter covers 30 

Relevant legislation 30 

Introduction 30 

Who are information, advice and support for? 32 

Page 74



3 
 

Children 32 

Parents 32 

Young people 32 

What needs to be provided? 33 

Additional support 35 

Support for parents in HM Armed Forces 36 

3 Working together across education, health and care for joint 
outcomes 37 

What this chapter covers 37 

Relevant legislation 38 

The legal framework 38 

Scope of joint commissioning arrangements 39 

Establishing effective partnerships across education, health and care 41 

Partnership with children, young people and parents 42 

Joint understanding: Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 43 

Responsibility for decision-making in joint commissioning arrangements 44 

Using information to understand and predict need for services 45 

Joint planning 46 

Deciding on shared outcomes 46 

Making best use of resources 47 

Personal Budgets 48 

Joint delivery 49 

Joint review to improve service offered 49 

Education, Health and Care: roles and responsibilities 50 

Designated Medical/Clinical Officer 50 

Children’s social care 51 

Adult social care 52 

Health services for children and young people with SEN and disabilities and 
their families 53 

Local authorities’ role in delivering health services 54 

The health commissioning duty 55 

Schools and post-16 settings as commissioners 55 

Regional commissioning: meeting the needs of children and young people with 
highly specialised and/or low-incidence needs 55 

Local accountability 56 

4 The Local Offer 59 

What this chapter covers 59 

Relevant legislation 59 

Page 75



4 
 

What is the Local Offer? 59 

Preparing and reviewing the Local Offer 61 

Involving children and young people and parents 61 

Involving schools, colleges, health services and others 63 

Keeping the Local Offer under review 64 

Publishing comments about the Local Offer 65 

Taking action in response to comments about the Local Offer 66 

What must be included in the Local Offer? 66 

Educational, health and care provision 68 

Training and apprenticeships 73 

Transport 73 

Support available to children and young people to help them prepare for 
adulthood 74 

Information about how to seek an EHC needs assessment 76 

Information, advice and support 77 

Publishing the Local Offer 77 

5 Early years providers 78 

What this chapter covers 78 

Relevant legislation 78 

Improving outcomes: high aspirations and expectations for children with SEN 79 

Equality Act 2010 80 

Medical conditions 81 

SEN in the early years 81 

From birth to two – early identification 81 

Early years provision 82 

Progress check at age two 83 

Assessment at the end of the EYFS – the EYFS profile 84 

Identifying needs in the early years 84 

SEN support in the early years 86 

Assess 86 

Plan 86 

Do 87 

Review 87 

Transition 88 

Involving specialists 88 

Requesting an Education, Health and Care needs assessment 88 

Record keeping 88 

Keeping provision under review 88 

The role of the SENCO in early years provision 88 

Page 76



5 
 

The role of the Area SENCO 89 

Funding for SEN support in the early years 90 

6 Schools 91 

What this chapter covers 91 

Relevant legislation 91 

Improving outcomes: high aspirations and expectations for children and young 
people with SEN 92 

Equality and inclusion 93 

Medical conditions 94 

Curriculum 94 

Careers guidance for children and young people 94 

Identifying SEN in schools 94 

Broad areas of need 97 

Special educational provision in schools 99 

SEN support in schools 100 

Transition 102 

Involving specialists 102 

Requesting an Education, Health and Care needs assessment 103 

Involving parents and pupils in planning and reviewing progress 104 

Use of data and record keeping 105 

Publishing information: SEN information report 106 

The role of the SENCO in schools 108 

Funding for SEN support 109 

7 Further education 111 

What this chapter covers 111 

Relevant legislation 111 

Introduction 111 

Statutory duties on post-16 institutions 112 

Equality Act 2010 113 

Careers guidance for young people 114 

Identifying SEN 114 

SEN support in college 114 

Assessing what support is needed 115 

Planning the right support 115 

Putting the provision in place 116 

Keeping support under review 116 

Expertise within and beyond the college 116 

Record keeping 117 

Page 77



6 
 

Funding for SEN support 118 

8 Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years 120 

What this chapter covers 120 

Relevant legislation 121 

Introduction 122 

Strategic planning for the best outcomes in adult life 122 

Duties on local authorities 123 

Starting early 124 

Support from Year 9 onwards (age 13-14) 124 

Children and young people with EHC plans: preparing for adulthood reviews 125 

Young people preparing to make their own decisions 126 

16- to 17-year-olds 127 

Support for young people 128 

The Mental Capacity Act 128 

Planning the transition into post-16 education and training 128 

Careers advice for children and young people 130 

High quality study programmes for students with SEN 130 

Pathways to employment 131 

Packages of support across five days a week 132 

Transition to higher education 133 

Young people aged 19 to 25 135 

Funding places for 19- to 25-year-olds 135 

Transition to adult health services 136 

Transition to adult social care 136 

Transition assessments for young people with EHC plans 137 

Continuity of provision 138 

EHC plans and statutory care and support plans 138 

Personal Budgets 139 

Leaving education or training 140 

9 Education, Health and Care needs assessments and plans 141 

What the chapter covers 141 

Relevant legislation 141 

Introduction 142 

Requesting an EHC needs assessment 143 

Considering whether an EHC needs assessment is necessary 144 

Principles underpinning co-ordinated assessment and planning 147 

Involving children, young people and parents in decision-making 147 

Support for children, young people and parents 149 

Page 78



7 
 

Co-ordination 149 

Sharing information 150 

Timely provision of services 150 

Cross-agency working 151 

Looked after children 151 

Timescales for EHC needs assessment and preparation of an EHC plan 151 

Advice and information for EHC needs assessments 155 

Deciding whether to issue an EHC plan 157 

Decision not to issue an EHC plan 159 

Transparent and consistent decision-making 159 

Writing the EHC plan 160 

Content of EHC plans 161 

Outcomes 162 

What to include in each section of the EHC plan 164 

Agreeing the health provision in EHC plans 170 

Responsibility for provision 170 

The draft EHC plan 171 

Requests for a particular school, college or other institution 172 

Where no request is made for a particular school or college or a request for a 
particular school or college has not been met 174 

Reasonable steps 175 

Requesting a Personal Budget 178 

Mechanisms for delivery of a Personal Budget 179 

Setting and agreeing the Personal Budget 179 

Scope of Personal Budgets 181 

Use of direct payments 183 

Finalising and maintaining the EHC plan 185 

Maintaining special educational provision in EHC plans 186 

Maintaining social care provision in EHC plans 187 

Maintaining health provision in EHC plans 188 

Specific age ranges 188 

All children under compulsory school age 188 

Children aged under 2 188 

Children aged 2 to 5 189 

Young people aged 19 to 25 190 

Transfer of EHC plans 192 

Transfers between local authorities 192 

Transfers between clinical commissioning groups 193 

Reviewing an EHC plan 194 

Page 79



8 
 

Reviews where a child or young person attends a school or other institution 195 

Reviews where a child or young person does not attend a school or other 
institution 197 

Reviews of EHC plans for children aged 0 to 5 198 

Transfer between phases of education 198 

Preparing for adulthood in reviews 199 

Re-assessments of EHC plans 200 

Requesting a re-assessment 200 

The re-assessment process 201 

Amending an existing plan 201 

Ceasing an EHC plan 202 

Disclosure of an EHC plan 205 

Transport costs for children and young people with EHC plans 206 

10 Children and young people in specific circumstances 208 

What this chapter covers 208 

Relevant legislation 208 

Looked-after children 209 

Care leavers 211 

SEN and social care needs, including children in need 211 

Children’s social care 211 

Power to continue children’s social care services to those aged 18 to 25 213 

Children and young people educated out of area 214 

Children and young people with SEN educated at home 214 

Children with SEN who are in alternative provision 216 

Children and young people in alternative provision because of health needs 218 

Children of Service personnel 219 

Action to take in respect of Service children with SEN 219 

First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) 221 

Further information 221 

Children and young people with SEN who are in youth custody 222 

Relevant legislation 222 

What this section covers 222 

Introduction 223 

Summary of statutory requirements 223 

Sharing information 225 

Education for children and young people in youth custody 225 

Healthcare for children and young people in youth custody 226 

Requesting an EHC needs assessment for a detained person 227 

Page 80



9 
 

Considering whether an assessment of post-detention education, health 
and care needs is necessary 227 

Advice and information for an assessment of post-detention education,  
health and care needs 229 

Preparing an EHC plan for a detained person in custody 233 

Provision of information, advice and support 234 

Partial assessment on entry to or exit from custody 235 

Transfer between places of relevant youth accommodation 236 

Appeals and mediation 236 

Keeping an EHC plan and arranging special educational provision 237 

Arranging health care provision for detained children and young peopl 
with EHC plans 239 

Monitoring provision in custody 240 

Review on release from youth custody 240 

Moving to a new local authority on release 241 

Looked after children remanded or sentenced to custody 241 

Transition from youth justice to a custodial establishment for adults 242 

Education on release for those in a custodial establishment for adults 242 

Cross-border detention 243 

11 Resolving disagreements 244 

What this chapter covers 244 

Relevant legislation 244 

Principles for resolving disagreements 245 

Early resolution of disagreements 248 

Disagreement resolution arrangements and mediation 248 

Disagreement resolution services 248 

Contracting disagreement resolution services 250 

Mediation 251 

Contracting services for mediation and mediation information 252 

Routes to mediation 252 

Mediation on matters which can be appealed to the Tribunal 252 

Mediation advice before mediation 253 

Exceptions to the requirement to contact a mediation adviser 254 

Going to mediation about matters which can be appealed to the Tribunal 254 

Mediation on the health and social care elements of an EHC plan 255 

Effective mediation 257 

Children and young people in youth custody 258 

Registering an appeal with the Tribunal 258 

Page 81



10 
 

Parents’ and young people’s right to appeal to the Tribunal about EHC needs 
assessments and EHC plans 258 

The First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) 258 

The role and function of the Tribunal 259 

Who can appeal to the Tribunal about EHC needs assessments and plans 259 

What parents and young people can appeal about 259 

Conditions related to appeals 260 

Decisions the Tribunal can make 260 

How parents and young people can appeal 261 

Disability discrimination claims 262 

Exclusion 262 

Legal aid 264 

Complaints procedures 265 

Early education providers’ and schools’ complaints procedures 265 

Complaints to the Secretary of State 266 

Complaints to Ofsted 266 

Post-16 institution complaints 267 

Local Authority complaints procedures 268 

Local Government Ombudsman 268 

The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman 269 

Judicial review 270 

NHS Complaints 270 

Complaints about social services provision 271 

Annex 1:  Mental Capacity 273 

Annex 2:  Improving practice and staff training in education 
settings 276 

Glossary of terms 278 

References 287 

  

Page 82



11 
 

Foreword 

From the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Health 
and the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for 
Children and Families 
Our vision for children with special educational needs and disabilities is the same as 
for all children and young people – that they achieve well in their early years, at 
school and in college, and lead happy and fulfilled lives.  

This new Special Educational Needs and Disability Code of Practice will play a vital 
role in underpinning the major reform programme.  

For children and young people this means that their experiences will be of a system 
which is less confrontational and more efficient. Their special educational needs and 
disabilities will be picked up at the earliest point with support routinely put in place 
quickly, and their parents will know what services they can reasonably expect to be 
provided. Children and young people and their parents or carers will be fully involved 
in decisions about their support and what they want to achieve. Importantly, the 
aspirations for children and young people will be raised through an increased focus 
on life outcomes, including employment and greater independence.  

Local authorities and their local health partners have been working together to 
prepare for the new arrangements, to jointly plan and commission services for 
children and young people who have special educational needs or are disabled. 
Those with more complex needs will have an integrated assessment and where 
appropriate a single Education, Health and Care plan for their support. 

The Code of Practice is the product of extensive consultation, and draws on the 
experience of pathfinder local authorities which have been piloting new approaches 
with local communities. We have listened to a wide range of individuals and groups 
and the result is a Code which will help everyone working with children and young 
people with special educational needs and disability to secure for them the outcomes 
from education, health and social care which will make the biggest difference to their 
lives.  

 
 

DR DAN POULTER EDWARD TIMPSON 
Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State 
for Health  

Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State 
for Children and Families 

 

Page 83



12 
 

Introduction 

About this guidance 
i. This Code of Practice provides statutory guidance on duties, policies and procedures 

relating to Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and associated regulations 
and applies to England. It relates to children and young people with special 
educational needs (SEN) and disabled children and young people. A ‘young person’ 
in this context is a person over compulsory school age and under 25. Compulsory 
school age ends on the last Friday of June in the academic year in which they 
become 16. For ease of reference, young people are referred to in this Code of 
Practice as ‘over 16’. 
 
In this Code of Practice, where the text uses the word ‘must’ it refers to a statutory 
requirement under primary legislation, regulations or case law. 

The bodies listed in paragraph iv. must have regard to the Code of Practice. This 
means that whenever they are taking decisions they must give consideration to what 
the Code says. They cannot ignore it. They must fulfil their statutory duties towards 
children and young people with SEN or disabilities in the light of the guidance set out 
in it. They must be able to demonstrate in their arrangements for children and young 
people with SEN or disabilities that they are fulfilling their statutory duty to have 
regard to the Code. So, where the text uses the word ‘should’ it means that the 
guidance contained in this Code must be considered and that those who must have 
regard to it will be expected to explain any departure from it. 

Expiry or review date 
ii. This guidance will be kept under review and updated when necessary. 

To which legislation does this guidance refer? 
iii. This guidance refers to Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and associated 

regulations. The regulations associated with the Children and Families Act 2014 are: 

• The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 

• The Special Educational Needs (Personal Budgets) Regulations 2014 

• The Special Educational Needs and Disability (Detained Persons) 
Regulations 2015 

• The Children and Families Act 2014 (Transitional and Saving Provisions)(No 
2) Order 2014  

Page 84



13 
 

Who must have regard to this guidance? 
iv. This Code of Practice is statutory guidance for the following organisations: 

• local authorities (education, social care and relevant housing and employment 
and other services) 

• the governing bodies of schools, including non-maintained special schools 

• the governing bodies of further education colleges and sixth form colleges 

• the proprietors of academies (including free schools, university technical 
colleges and studio schools)  

• the management committees of pupil referral units  

• independent schools and independent specialist providers approved under 
Section 41 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

• all early years providers in the maintained, private, voluntary and independent 
sectors that are funded by the local authority 

• the National Health Service Commissioning Board 

• clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) 

• NHS Trusts  

• NHS Foundation Trusts  

• Local Health Boards 

• Youth Offending Teams and relevant youth custodial establishments 

• The First-tier Tribunal (Special Educational Needs and Disability) (see v.) 

The First-tier Tribunal (Special Educational Needs and 
Disability)  

v. When considering an appeal from a parent or young person the First-tier Tribunal 
(Special Educational Needs and Disability) (‘the Tribunal’) must have regard to this 
Code of Practice. The Tribunal will expect local authorities, early education settings, 
schools and colleges to be able to explain any departure from the Code, where it is 
relevant to the case it is considering. 

Changes from the SEN Code of Practice (2001) 
vi. The main changes from the SEN Code of Practice (2001) reflect the changes 

introduced by the Children and Families Act 2014. These are: 

Page 85



14 
 

• The Code of Practice (2014) covers the 0-25 age range and includes 
guidance relating to disabled children and young people as well as those with 
SEN 

• There is a clearer focus on the participation of children and young people and 
parents in decision-making at individual and strategic levels 

• There is a stronger focus on high aspirations and on improving outcomes for 
children and young people 

• It includes guidance on the joint planning and commissioning of services to 
ensure close co-operation between education, health and social care 

• It includes guidance on publishing a Local Offer of support for children and 
young people with SEN or disabilities 

• There is new guidance for education and training settings on taking a 
graduated approach to identifying and supporting pupils and students with 
SEN (to replace School Action and School Action Plus) 

• For children and young people with more complex needs a co-ordinated 
assessment process and the new 0-25 Education, Health and Care plan (EHC 
plan) replace statements and Learning Difficulty Assessments (LDAs) 

• There is a greater focus on support that enables those with SEN to succeed in 
their education and make a successful transition to adulthood 

• Information is provided on relevant duties under the Equality Act 2010 

• Information is provided on relevant provisions of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 

• There is new guidance on supporting children and young people with SEN 
who are in youth custody. 

Implementation of the Code of Practice 
Implementation 

vii. From 1 September 2014 the majority of Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014, 
its associated regulations and this Code of Practice will be in force, subject to any 
transitional arrangements. 

viii. From 1 September 2014 all the organisations listed in paragraph iv. must have 
regard to this Code of Practice.  

Page 86



15 
 

ix. Subject to any transitional arrangements made, from that date the following guidance 
will cease to have effect: 

• SEN Code of Practice (2001) 

• Inclusive Schooling (2001) 

• Section 139A Learning Difficulty Assessments Statutory Guidance (2013) 

Transitional arrangements 
x. From 1 September 2014 transitional arrangements will be in place to support the 

changeover from the current system to the new system in a phased and ordered 
way. These arrangements, which are set out in a statutory transitional order and 
accompanied by transitional guidance, will facilitate the transfer of those with 
statements to EHC plans. They ensure that during the transition period local 
authorities must continue to comply with elements of the Education Act 1996 in 
relation to children with statements, and the Learning and Skills Act 2000 in relation 
to young people who have had Learning Difficulty Assessments and remain in 
education or training (provided they still have learning difficulties). 

xi. The legal test of when a child or young person requires an EHC plan remains the 
same as that for a statement under the Education Act 1996. Therefore, it is expected 
that all those who have a statement and who would have continued to have one 
under the current system, will be transferred to an EHC plan – no-one should lose 
their statement and not have it replaced with an EHC plan simply because the 
system is changing. Similarly, local authorities have undertaken LDAs for young 
people either because they had a statement at school or because, in the opinion of 
the local authority, they are likely to need additional support as part of their further 
education or training and would benefit from an LDA to identify their learning needs 
and the provision required to meet those needs. Therefore, the expectation is that 
young people who are currently receiving support as a result of an LDA and remain 
in further education or training during the transition period, who request and need an 
EHC plan, will be issued with one. 

xii. Guidance on the provisions in the Children and Families Act 2014 relating to those in 
youth custody, which came into force in April 2015, is set out in Chapter 10. 

Special educational needs (SEN)  
xiii. A child or young person has SEN if they have a learning difficulty or disability which 

calls for special educational provision to be made for him or her.  

xiv. A child of compulsory school age or a young person has a learning difficulty or 
disability if he or she: 

Page 87



16 
 

• has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of others of 
the same age, or 

• has a disability which prevents or hinders him or her from making use of 
facilities of a kind generally provided for others of the same age in 
mainstream schools or mainstream post-16 institutions 

xv. For children aged two or more, special educational provision is educational or 
training provision that is additional to or different from that made generally for other 
children or young people of the same age by mainstream schools, maintained 
nursery schools, mainstream post-16 institutions or by relevant early years providers. 
For a child under two years of age, special educational provision means educational 
provision of any kind. 

xvi. A child under compulsory school age has special educational needs if he or she is 
likely to fall within the definition in paragraph xiv. above when they reach compulsory 
school age or would do so if special educational provision was not made for them 
(Section 20 Children and Families Act 2014). 

xvii. Post-16 institutions often use the term learning difficulties and disabilities (LDD). The 
term SEN is used in this Code across the 0-25 age range but includes LDD. 

Disabled children and young people 
xviii. Many children and young people who have SEN may have a disability under the 

Equality Act 2010 – that is ‘…a physical or mental impairment which has a long-term 
and substantial adverse effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day 
activities’. This definition provides a relatively low threshold and includes more 
children than many realise: ‘long-term’ is defined as ‘a year or more’ and ‘substantial’ 
is defined as ‘more than minor or trivial’. This definition includes sensory impairments 
such as those affecting sight or hearing, and long-term health conditions such as 
asthma, diabetes, epilepsy, and cancer. Children and young people with such 
conditions do not necessarily have SEN, but there is a significant overlap between 
disabled children and young people and those with SEN. Where a disabled child or 
young person requires special educational provision they will also be covered by the 
SEN definition. 

xix. The Equality Act 2010 sets out the legal obligations that schools, early years 
providers, post-16 institutions, local authorities and others have towards disabled 
children and young people: 

• They must not directly or indirectly discriminate against, harass or victimise 
disabled children and young people 

Page 88



17 
 

• They must not discriminate for a reason arising in consequence of a child or  
young person’s disability 

• They must make reasonable adjustments, including the provision of auxiliary 
aids and services, to ensure that disabled children and young people are not 
at a substantial disadvantage compared with their peers. This duty is 
anticipatory – it requires thought to be given in advance to what disabled 
children and young people might require and what adjustments might need to 
be made to prevent that disadvantage 

• Public bodies, including further education institutions, local authorities, 
maintained schools, maintained nursery schools, academies and free schools 
are covered by the public sector equality duty and, when carrying out their 
functions, must have regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, promote 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between disabled and non-
disabled children and young people. Public bodies also have specific duties 
under the public sector equality duty and must publish information to 
demonstrate their compliance with this general duty and must prepare and 
publish objectives to achieve the core aims of the general duty. Objectives 
must be specific and measurable. The general duty also applies to bodies 
that are not public bodies but that carry out public functions. Such bodies 
include providers of relevant early years education, non-maintained special 
schools, independent specialist providers and others making provision that is 
funded from the public purse. 

xx. The duties cover discrimination in the provision of services and the provision of 
education, including admissions and exclusions. All providers must make 
reasonable adjustments to procedures, criteria and practices and by the provision of 
auxiliary aids and services. Most providers must also make reasonable adjustments 
by making physical alterations. Schools and local authority education functions are 
not covered by this last duty, but they must publish accessibility plans (and local 
authorities, accessibility strategies) setting out how they plan to increase access for 
disabled pupils to the curriculum, the physical environment and to information.  

xxi. School governing bodies and proprietors must also publish information about the 
arrangements for the admission of disabled children, the steps taken to prevent 
disabled children being treated less favourably than others, the facilities provided to 
assist access of disabled children, and their accessibility plans.  

xxii. Where a child or young person is covered by SEN and disability legislation, 
reasonable adjustments and access arrangements should be considered as part of 
SEN planning and review. Where school governors are publishing information about 

Page 89



18 
 

their arrangements for disabled children and young people, this should be brought 
together with the information required under the Children and Families Act 2014.  

xxiii. Here, and throughout this Code the term ‘parent’ includes all those with parental 
responsibility, including parents and those who care for the child. 

Related legislation and guidance 
xxiv. Where appropriate, references are made in this Code to other relevant legislation. 

The Code does not give guidance in relation to that legislation but signals where it 
can be found in the References section at the end of this Code. 

xxv. Organisations may find it helpful to consider the following related guidance:  

• Working Together to Safeguard Children (2013): Statutory guidance from 
the Department for Education which sets out what is expected of 
organisations and individuals to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children  

• The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 2 (Care 
Planning Placement and Case Review) and Volume 3 (Planning 
Transition to Adulthood for Care Leavers): Guidance setting out the 
responsibilities of local authorities towards looked after children and care 
leavers 

• Equality Act 2010: Advice for schools: Non-statutory advice from the 
Department for Education, produced to help schools understand how the 
Equality Act affects them and how to fulfil their duties under the Act 

•  Reasonable adjustments for disabled pupils (2012): Technical guidance 
from the Equality and Human Rights Commission  

• Supporting pupils at school with medical conditions (2014): statutory 
guidance from the Department for Education  

• The Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice: Protecting the vulnerable 
(2005) 

  

Page 90



19 
 

1 Principles  

What this chapter covers 
Section19 of the Children and Families Act 2014 sets out the principles underpinning 
the legislation and the guidance in this Code of Practice. This chapter sets out those 
principles and how they are reflected in the chapters that follow. 

Relevant legislation 
Section 19 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

Principles underpinning this Code of Practice  
1.1 Section 19 of the Children and Families Act 2014 makes clear that local authorities, 

in carrying out their functions under the Act in relation to disabled children and young 
people and those with special educational needs (SEN), must have regard to: 

• the views, wishes and feelings of the child or young person, and the child’s 
parents  

• the importance of the child or young person, and the child’s parents, 
participating as fully as possible in decisions, and being provided with the 
information and support necessary to enable participation in those decisions 

• the need to support the child or young person, and the child’s parents, in 
order to facilitate the development of the child or young person and to help 
them achieve the best possible educational and other outcomes, preparing 
them effectively for adulthood 

1.2 These principles are designed to support: 

• the participation of children, their parents and young people in decision- 
making  

• the early identification of children and young people’s needs and early 
intervention to support them 

• greater choice and control for young people and parents over support 

• collaboration between education, health and social care services to provide 
support 

• high quality provision to meet the needs of children and young people with 
SEN 

Page 91



20 
 

• a focus on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning 

• successful preparation for adulthood, including independent living and 
employment 

The principles in practice 

Participating in decision making 
1.3 Local authorities must ensure that children, their parents and young people are 

involved in discussions and decisions about their individual support and about local 
provision. 

1.4 Early years providers, schools and colleges should also take steps to ensure that 
young people and parents are actively supported in contributing to needs 
assessments, developing and reviewing Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans. 

Specifically, local authorities must 

• ensure the child’s parents or the young person are fully included in the EHC 
needs assessment process from the start, are fully aware of their opportunities 
to offer views and information, and are consulted about the content of the plan 
(Chapter 9) 

• consult children with SEN or disabilities, and their parents and young people 
with SEN or disabilities when reviewing local SEN and social care provision 
(Chapter 4)  

•  consult them in developing and reviewing their Local Offer (Chapter 4) 

• make arrangements for providing children with SEN or disabilities, and their 
parents, and young people with SEN or disabilities with advice and information 
about matters relating to SEN and disability (Chapter 2) 

1.5 Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs), NHS Trusts or NHS Foundation Trusts who 
are of the opinion that a child under compulsory school age has or probably has SEN 
or a disability must give the child’s parents the opportunity to discuss their opinion 
with them before informing the local authority (see paragraph 1.16). 

1.6 Children have a right to receive and impart information, to express an opinion and to 
have that opinion taken into account in any matters affecting them from the early 
years. Their views should be given due weight according to their age, maturity and 
capability (Articles 12 and 13 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 
Child). 

Page 92



21 
 

1.7 Parents’ views are important during the process of carrying out an EHC needs 
assessment and drawing up or reviewing an EHC plan in relation to a child. Local 
authorities, early years providers and schools should enable parents to share their 
knowledge about their child and give them confidence that their views and 
contributions are valued and will be acted upon. At times, parents, teachers and 
others may have differing expectations of how a child’s needs are best met. 
Sometimes these discussions can be challenging but it is in the child’s best interests 
for a positive dialogue between parents, teachers and others to be maintained, to 
work through points of difference and establish what action is to be taken. 

1.8 The Children and Families Act 2014 gives significant new rights directly to young 
people once they reach the end of compulsory school age (the end of the academic 
year in which they turn 16). When a young person reaches the end of compulsory 
school age, local authorities and other agencies should normally engage directly with 
the young person rather than their parent, ensuring that as part of the planning 
process they identify the relevant people who should be involved and how to involve 
them. Chapter 8 sets out how some decision-making rights transfer from parents to 
young people at this stage and how families will continue to play a critical role in 
supporting a young person with SEN. Most young people will continue to want, or 
need, their parents and other family members to remain involved in discussions and 
decisions about their future. Some young people, and possibly some parents, will not 
have the mental capacity to make certain decisions or express their views. Provision 
is made in the Children and Families Act (Section 80) to deal with this and Annex 1 
to this Code provides further details.  

Supporting children, young people and parents to participate in 
decisions about their support 

1.9 Local authorities must ensure that children, young people and parents are provided 
with the information, advice and support necessary to enable them to participate in 
discussions and decisions about their support. This should include information on 
their rights and entitlements in accessible formats and time to prepare for 
discussions and meetings. From Year 9 onwards, particularly for those with 
Education, Health and Care plans, local authorities, schools, colleges and other 
agencies will be involved in the planning for their transition to adult life, the future 
and how to prepare for it, including their health, where they will live, their 
relationships, control of their finances, how they will participate in the community and 
achieve greater independence. Further details are given in Chapter 8. Local 
authorities should help children and their families prepare for the change in status 
under SEN law that occurs once the child reaches the end of compulsory school 
age.  

Page 93



22 
 

1.10 Local authorities should consider whether some young people may require support 
in expressing their views, including whether they may need support from an 
advocate (who could be a family member or a professional). Local authorities must 
not use the views of parents as a proxy for young people’s views. Young people will 
have their own perspective and local authorities should have arrangements in place 
to engage with them directly. 

Involving children, young people and parents in planning, 
commissioning and reviewing services 

1.11 Local authorities must consult children with SEN or disabilities, their parents, and 
young people with SEN or disabilities in reviewing educational and training provision 
and social care provision and in preparing and reviewing the Local Offer. It is 
important that they participate effectively in decisions about support available to 
them in their local area. Chapters 3 and 4 provide guidance on these duties. 

1.12 Effective participation should lead to a better fit between families’ needs and the 
services provided, higher satisfaction with services, reduced costs (as long-term 
benefits emerge) and better value for money. Local authorities should work with 
children, young people and parents to establish the aims of their participation, mark 
progress and build trust. They should make use of existing organisations and forums 
which represent the views of parents – and those which represent the views of 
children and young people directly – and where these do not exist, local authorities 
should consider establishing them. Effective participation happens when: 

• it is recognised, valued, planned and resourced (for example, through 
appropriate remuneration and training) 

• it is evident at all stages in the planning, delivery and monitoring of services 

• there are clearly described roles for children, young people and parents 

• there are strong feedback mechanisms to ensure that children, young 
people and parents understand the impact their participation is making 

Parent Carer Forums 
1.13 Parent Carer Forums are representative local groups of parents and carers of 

children and young people with disabilities who work alongside local authorities, 
education, health and other service providers to ensure the services they plan, 
commission, deliver and monitor meet the needs of children and families. Parent 
Carer Forums have been established in most local areas and local authorities are 
actively encouraged to work with them. More information about Parent Carer Forums 
is available from the websites of Contact a Family and the National Network of 

Page 94



23 
 

Parent Carer Forums. Links to them can be found in the References section under 
Chapter 1.  

Identifying children and young people’s needs 
1.14 Local authorities must carry out their functions with a view to identifying all the 

children and young people in their area who have or may have SEN or have or may 
have a disability (Section 22 of the Children and Families Act 2014). 

1.15 Local authorities may gather information on children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities in a number of ways. Anyone can bring a child or young person who they 
believe has or probably has SEN or a disability to the attention of a local authority 
(Section 24 of the Children and Families Act 2014) and parents, early years 
providers, schools and colleges have an important role in doing so.  

1.16 CCGs, NHS Trusts and NHS Foundation Trusts must inform the appropriate local 
authority if they identify a child under compulsory school age as having, or probably 
having, SEN or a disability (Section 23 of the Children and Families Act 2014). 

1.17 A child’s parents, young people, schools and colleges have specific rights to request 
a needs assessment for an EHC plan and children and their parents and young 
people should feel able to tell their school or college if they believe they have or may 
have SEN. The legal test of when a child or young person requires an EHC plan 
remains the same as that for a statement under the Education Act 1996. Therefore, it 
is expected that all those who have a statement and who would have continued to 
have one under the current system, will be transferred to an EHC plan – no-one 
should lose their statement and not have it replaced with an EHC plan simply 
because the system is changing. Similarly, local authorities have undertaken LDAs 
for young people either because they had a statement at school or because, in the 
opinion of the local authority, they are likely to need additional support as part of their 
further education or training and would benefit from an LDA to identify their learning 
needs and the provision required to meet those needs. Therefore, the expectation is 
that young people who are currently receiving support as a result of an LDA and 
remain in further education or training during the transition period, who request and 
need an EHC plan, will be issued with one. 

1.18 Chapters 5, 6 and 7 provide guidance for early years providers, schools and colleges 
on identifying children and young people’s SEN and making provision to meet those 
needs as early as possible. 

1.19 Local authorities, CCGs and other partners must work together in local Health and 
Wellbeing Boards to assess the health needs of local people, including those with 
SEN or who are disabled. This assessment, the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 
informs a local Health and Wellbeing Strategy which sets priorities for those who 

Page 95



24 
 

commission services. Local authorities must keep their educational and training 
provision and social care provision for children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities under review (Section 27 of the Children and Families Act 2014). In 
carrying out this duty, the local authority will gather information from early years 
providers, schools and post-16 institutions. In most cases, those institutions must, in 
turn, co-operate with the local authority. The local authority must publish and keep 
under review its Local Offer of provision in consultation with children, their parents 
and young people. Guidance on these matters is given in Chapters 3 and 4. 

Greater choice and control for parents and young people over their 
support 

1.20 A local authority’s Local Offer should reflect the services that are available as a 
result of strategic assessments of local needs and reviews of local education and 
care provision (Section 27 of the Children and Families Act 2014) and of health 
provision (Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and Joint Commissioning 
arrangements (Section 26 of the Children and Families Act 2014). Linking these 
assessments and reviews to the Local Offer will help to identify gaps in local 
provision. Local authorities must involve children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities and the parents of children with SEN or disabilities in the development 
and review of the Local Offer. This will help to ensure it is responsive to local 
families. Guidance on the Local Offer is provided in Chapter 4. 

1.21 Parents of children who have an EHC plan and young people who have such a plan 
have a right to ask for a particular educational institution to be named in the plan and 
for a Personal Budget for their support. Guidance is given in Chapter 9. 

Collaboration between education, health and social care services to 
provide support 

1.22 If children and young people with SEN or disabilities are to achieve their ambitions 
and the best possible educational and other outcomes, including getting a job and 
living as independently as possible, local education, health and social care services 
should work together to ensure they get the right support. 

1.23 When carrying out their statutory duties under the Children and Families Act 2014, 
local authorities must do so with a view to making sure that services work together 
where this promotes children and young people’s wellbeing or improves the quality 
of special educational provision (Section 25 of the Children and Families Act 2014). 
Local authorities must work with one another to assess local needs. Local 
authorities and health bodies must have arrangements in place to plan and 
commission education, health and social care services jointly for children and young 
people with SEN or disabilities (Section 26). Chapter 3 gives guidance on those 
duties. 

Page 96



25 
 

High quality provision to meet the needs of children and young 
people with SEN  

1.24 High quality teaching that is differentiated and personalised will meet the individual 
needs of the majority of children and young people. Some children and young people 
need educational provision that is additional to or different from this. This is special 
educational provision under Section 21 of the Children and Families Act 2014. 
Schools and colleges must use their best endeavours to ensure that such provision 
is made for those who need it. Special educational provision is underpinned by high 
quality teaching and is compromised by anything less. 

1.25 Early years providers, schools and colleges should know precisely where children 
and young people with SEN are in their learning and development. They should: 

• ensure decisions are informed by the insights of parents and those of children 
and young people themselves 

• have high ambitions and set stretching targets for them 

• track their progress towards these goals 

• keep under review the additional or different provision that is made for them 

• promote positive outcomes in the wider areas of personal and social 
development, and  

• ensure that the approaches used are based on the best possible evidence 
and are having the required impact on progress  

Chapters 5, 6 and 7 give guidance on identifying and supporting children and young 
people with SEN or disabilities. 

A focus on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning 

1.26 As part of its commitments under articles 7 and 24 of the United Nations Convention 
of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, the UK Government is committed to 
inclusive education of disabled children and young people and the progressive 
removal of barriers to learning and participation in mainstream education. The 
Children and Families Act 2014 secures the general presumption in law of 
mainstream education in relation to decisions about where children and young 
people with SEN should be educated and the Equality Act 2010 provides protection 
from discrimination for disabled people.  

1.27 Where a child or young person has SEN but does not have an EHC plan they must 
be educated in a mainstream setting except in specific circumstances (see below). 

Page 97



26 
 

The School Admissions Code of Practice requires children and young people with 
SEN to be treated fairly. Admissions authorities: 

• must consider applications from parents of children who have SEN but do not 
have an EHC plan on the basis of the school’s published admissions criteria 
as part of normal admissions procedures 

• must not refuse to admit a child who has SEN but does not have an EHC 
plan because they do not feel able to cater for those needs 

• must not refuse to admit a child on the grounds that they do not have an 
EHC plan 

1.28 The Equality Act 2010 prohibits schools from discriminating against disabled children 
and young people in respect of admissions for a reason related to their disability. 
Further education (FE) colleges manage their own admissions policies and are also 
prohibited from discriminating against disabled young people in respect of 
admissions. Students will need to meet the entry requirements for courses as set out 
by the college, but should not be refused access to opportunities based on whether 
or not they have SEN. 

1.29 Children and young people without an EHC plan can be placed in special schools 
and special post-16 institutions only in the following exceptional circumstances: 

• where they are admitted to a special school or special post-16 institution to be 
assessed for an EHC plan with their agreement (in the case of a young 
person) or the agreement of their parent (in the case of a child), the local 
authority, the head teacher or principal of the special school or special post-16 
institution and anyone providing advice for the assessment 

• where they are admitted to a special school or special post-16 institution 
following a change in their circumstances with their agreement (in the case of 
a young person) or the agreement of their parent (in the case of a child), the 
local authority and the head teacher or principal of the special school or 
special post-16 institution. Where an emergency placement of this kind is 
made the local authority should immediately initiate an EHC needs 
assessment or re-assessment 

• where they are in hospital and admitted to a special school which is 
established in a hospital, or  

• where they are admitted to a special academy (including a special free 
school) whose academy arrangements allow it to admit children or young 
people with SEN who do not have an EHC plan 

Page 98



27 
 

1.30 The last of these provisions enables the Secretary of State to approve academy 
arrangements for individual special academies or special free schools that are 
innovative and increase access to specialist provision for children and young people 
without EHC plans. Those academies the Secretary of State authorises will make 
clear through their Funding Agreement that a child or young person with SEN but no 
EHC plan should be placed there only at the request of their parents or at their own 
request and with the support of professional advice such as a report from an 
educational psychologist. A special academy or special free school with these 
arrangements will be able to admit only those children who have a type of SEN for 
which they are designated. They will have adopted fair practices and arrangements 
that are in accordance with the Schools Admission Code for the admission of 
children without an EHC plan. 

1.31 The leaders of early years settings, schools and colleges should establish and 
maintain a culture of high expectations that expects those working with children and 
young people with SEN or disabilities to include them in all the opportunities 
available to other children and young people so they can achieve well.  

1.32 There is a significant overlap between children and young people with SEN and 
those with disabilities and many such children and young people are covered by both 
SEN and equality legislation.  

1.33 The Equality Act 2010 and Part 3 of the Children and Families Act 2014 interact in a 
number of important ways. They share a common focus on removing barriers to 
learning. In the Children and Families Act 2014 duties for planning, commissioning 
and reviewing provision, the Local Offer and the duties requiring different agencies to 
work together apply to all children and young people with SEN or disabilities. In 
carrying out the duties in the Children and Families Act 2014, local authorities and 
others with responsibilities under that Act, are covered by the Equality Act.  

1.34 In practical situations in everyday settings, the best early years settings, schools and 
colleges do what is necessary to enable children and young people to develop, 
learn, participate and achieve the best possible outcomes irrespective of whether 
that is through reasonable adjustments for a disabled child or young person or 
special educational provision for a child or young person with SEN.  

1.35 Much of the guidance in this Code of Practice focuses on the individual duties owed 
to children and young people with SEN. When early years settings, schools and 
colleges, local authorities and others plan and review special educational provision 
and make decisions about children and young people with SEN (chapters 5 to 7) and 
9) they should consider, at the same time, the reasonable adjustments and access 
arrangements required for the same child or young person under the Equality Act. 

Page 99



28 
 

1.36 The presumption of mainstream education is supported by provisions safeguarding 
the interests of all children and young people and ensuring that the preferences of 
the child’s parents or the young person for where they should be educated are met 
wherever possible. 

1.37 Special schools (in the maintained, academy, non-maintained and independent 
sectors), special post-16 institutions and specialist colleges all have an important 
role in providing for children and young people with SEN and in working 
collaboratively with mainstream and special settings to develop and share expertise 
and approaches.  

1.38 Children and young people with SEN have different needs and can be educated 
effectively in a range of mainstream or special settings. Alongside the general 
presumption of mainstream education, parents of children with an EHC plan and 
young people with such a plan have the right to seek a place at a special school, 
special post-16 institution or specialist college. Further details of the arrangements 
for Education, Health and Care Plans are set out in Chapter 9. 

Supporting successful preparation for adulthood 
1.39 With high aspirations, and the right support, the vast majority of children and young 

people can go on to achieve successful long-term outcomes in adult life. Local 
authorities, education providers and their partners should work together to help 
children and young people to realise their ambitions in relation to:  

• higher education and/or employment – including exploring different 
employment options, such as support for becoming self-employed and help 
from supported employment agencies 

• independent living – enabling people to have choice and control over their 
lives and the support they receive, their accommodation and living 
arrangements, including supported living 

• participating in society – including having friends and supportive relationships, 
and participating in, and contributing to, the local community 

• being as healthy as possible in adult life  

1.40 All professionals working with families should look to enable children and young 
people to make choices for themselves from an early age and support them in 
making friends and staying safe and healthy. As children grow older, and from Year 
9 in school at the latest, preparing for adult life should be an explicit element of 
conversations with children and their families as the young person moves into and 
through post-16 education. For children and young people in or beyond Year 9 with 

Page 100



29 
 

EHC plans, local authorities have a legal duty to include provision to assist in 
preparing for adulthood in the EHC plan review.  

1.41 Chapter 8 provides further guidance on how to support children and young people in 
preparing for adult life. Provision required for preparation for adulthood should inform 
joint commissioning of services, the Local Offer, EHC needs assessments and plans, 
and education and training provision for all children and young people with SEN. 

  

Page 101



30 
 

2 Impartial information, advice and support 

What this chapter covers 
This chapter is about the information, advice and support which local authorities 
must provide for children, young people and parents, covering special educational 
needs (SEN), disability, health and social care. 

Relevant legislation 
Primary 
Sections 19(c), 26(3), 32 and 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

Regulations 
The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 

The Special Educational Needs (Personal Budgets) Regulations 2014 

Introduction 
2.1 Local authorities must arrange for children with SEN or disabilities for whom they 

are responsible, and their parents, and young people with SEN or disabilities for 
whom they are responsible, to be provided with information and advice about 
matters relating to their SEN or disabilities, including matters relating to health and 
social care. This must include information, advice and support on the take-up and 
management of Personal Budgets. In addition, in carrying out their duties under Part 
3 of the Children and Families Act 2014, local authorities must have regard to the 
importance of providing children and their parents and young people with the 
information and support necessary to participate in decisions. 

2.2 Local authorities must take steps to make these services known to children, their 
parents and young people in their area; head teachers, proprietors and principals of 
schools and post-16 institutions in their area, and others where appropriate.  

2.3 They must ensure that their Local Offer includes details of how information, advice 
and support related to SEN and disabilities can be accessed and how it is resourced 
(Chapter 4, The Local Offer). 

2.4 Information, advice and support should be provided through a dedicated and easily 
identifiable service. Local authorities have established Information, Advice and 
Support Services (formerly known as Parent Partnership services) to provide 
information, advice and support to parents in relation to SEN. In addition, many local 
authorities provide or commission information, advice and support services for young 

Page 102



31 
 

people. Local authorities should build on these existing services to provide the 
information, advice and support detailed in this chapter.  

2.5 Information, Advice and Support Services should be impartial, confidential and 
accessible and should have the capacity to handle face-to-face, telephone and 
electronic enquiries.  

2.6 Local authorities should involve children, young people and parents (including local 
Parent Carer Forums and Youth Forums) in the design or commissioning of services 
providing information, advice and support in order to ensure that those services meet 
local needs. Local authorities should do this in a way which ensures that children, 
young people and parents feel they have participated fully in the process and have a 
sense of co-ownership. Chapters 3 and 4 give further detail on how local authorities 
should engage these groups in planning, commissioning and reviewing services, and 
in developing the Local Offer. 

2.7 The joint arrangements that local authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) must have for commissioning education, health and care provision for 
children and young people with SEN or disabilities must include arrangements for 
considering and agreeing what information and advice about education, health and 
care provision is to be provided, by whom and how it is to be provided. These joint 
arrangements should consider the availability of other information services in their 
area (services such as youth services, Local Healthwatch, the Patient Advice and 
Liaison Service (PALS) and the Family Information Service) and how these services 
will work together. 

2.8 When designing Information, Advice and Support Services, local authorities should 
take into account the following principles: 

• The information, advice and support should be impartial and provided at arm’s 
length from the local authority and CCGs  

• The information, advice and support offered should be free, accurate, 
confidential and in formats which are accessible and responsive to the needs 
of users 

• Local authorities should review and publish information annually about the 
effectiveness of the information, advice and support provided, including 
customer satisfaction (see also Chapter 4, The Local Offer) 

• Staff providing information, advice and support should work in partnership 
with children, young people, parents, local authorities, CCGs and other 
relevant partners 

Page 103



32 
 

• The provision of information, advice and support should help to promote 
independence and self-advocacy for children, young people and parents 

• Staff providing information, advice and support should work with their local 
Parent Carer Forum and other representative user groups (such as Youth 
Forums) to ensure that the views and experiences of children, young people 
and parents inform policy and practice  

Who are information, advice and support for? 
2.9 Local authorities should recognise the different needs of children, young people and 

parents. 

Children 
2.10 The Children and Families Act 2014 requires local authorities to provide children with 

information, advice and support relating to their SEN or disability. Many children will 
access information, advice and support via their parents. However, some children, 
especially older children and those in custody, may want to access information, 
advice and support separately from their parents, and local authorities must ensure 
this is possible. 

Parents 
2.11 Staff working in Information, Advice and Support Services should be trained to 

support, and work in partnership with, parents. 

2.12 As a child reaches the end of compulsory school age (the end of the academic year 
in which they turn 16), some rights to participate in decision-making about Education 
Health and Care (EHC) plans transfer from the parent to the young person, subject 
to their capacity to do so, as set out in the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (See Chapter 8 
for more information). Parents of young people can still access information, advice 
and support on behalf of, or with, the young person. Staff should be clear about the 
transfer of some rights and responsibilities to young people, and work sensitively 
with parents to help them understand their role. 

2.13 There may be cases where the young person and the parents do not agree on an 
issue. Legally, it is the young person’s decision which prevails, subject to their 
capacity. Where there are disagreements, staff providing information, advice and 
support should work impartially and separately with both the parents and the young 
person. 

Young people 
2.14 Young people are entitled to the same quality and level of information, advice and 

support as parents. Local authorities should recognise the specific needs of this 

Page 104



33 
 

group, while ensuring co-ordination and consistency in what is offered to children, 
young people and parents. 

2.15 Young people must have confidence that they are receiving confidential and 
impartial information, advice and support. Staff working directly with young people 
should be trained to support them and work in partnership with them, enabling them 
to participate fully in decisions about the outcomes they wish to achieve. Young 
people may be finding their voice for the first time, and may need support in 
exercising choice and control over the support they receive (including support and 
advice to take up and manage Personal Budgets). Advocacy should be provided 
where necessary. Local authorities must provide independent advocacy for young 
people undergoing transition assessments, provided certain conditions are met (see 
section 67 of the Care Act 2014).  

2.16 The service should direct young people to specialist support to help them prepare for 
employment, independent living (including housing) and participation in society and 
should provide access to careers advice where needed. Duties on schools and 
colleges to give impartial careers advice are covered in Chapter 8, Preparing for 
adulthood from the earliest years. 

What needs to be provided? 
2.17 The scope of this information, advice and support should cover initial concerns or 

identification of potential SEN or disabilities, through to ongoing support and 
provision, which may include an EHC plan. The local authority must ensure children, 
young people and parents are provided with information and advice on matters 
relating to SEN and disability. This should include:  

• local policy and practice  

• the Local Offer 

• personalisation and Personal Budgets  

• law on SEN and disability, health and social care, through suitably 
independently trained staff 

• advice for children, young people and parents on gathering, understanding 
and interpreting information and applying it to their own situation 

• information on the local authority’s processes for resolving disagreements, 
its complaints procedures and means of redress 

Page 105



34 
 

2.18 Local Healthwatch offers advice to patients and their families in relation to health 
services, and CCGs and local authorities should ensure that this information is 
clearly available to families, including through the Local Offer. 

2.19 To meet local needs, local authorities should provide the following forms of support 
through their Information, Advice and Support Service(s): 

• Signposting children, young people and parents to alternative and 
additional sources of advice, information and support that may be available 
locally or nationally 

• Individual casework and representation for those who need it, which should 
include: 

o support in attending meetings, contributing to assessments and reviews 
and participating in decisions about outcomes for the child or young 
person 

o directing children, young people, parents and those who support and 
work with them to additional support services where needed, including 
services provided by the voluntary sector. These services should 
include support relating to preparing for adulthood, including housing 
support, careers advice and employment support 

• Help when things go wrong, which should include: 

• supporting children, young people and parents in arranging or attending 
early disagreement resolution meetings 

• supporting children, young people and parents in managing mediation, 
appeals to the First-tier Tribunal (Special Educational Needs and 
Disability), exclusions and complaints on matters related to SEN and 
disability 

• making children, young people and parents aware of the local 
authority’s services for resolving disagreements and for mediation, and 
on the routes of appeal and complaint on matters related to SEN and 
disability (see Chapter 11, Resolving disagreements) 

• Provision of advice through individual casework and through work with 
parent carer support groups, local SEN youth forums or disability groups, or 
training events 

  

Page 106



35 
 

Additional support 
2.20 Families may receive help from an independent supporter, provided by private 

voluntary and community sector organisations, who is independent of the local 
authority. Independent supporters will be recruited locally and receive accredited 
training, including legal training, to help any family going through an EHC needs 
assessment and the process of developing an EHC plan. Local authorities should 
work with organisations that are providing independent supporters to ensure there 
are arrangements agreed locally to offer help from an independent supporter to as 
many families as possible who require it. 

2.21 Local authorities should adopt a key working approach, which provides children, 
young people and parents with a single point of contact to help ensure the holistic 
provision and co-ordination of services and support. Key working may be provided 
by statutory services in health, social care and education, or by the voluntary, 
community, private or independent sectors. Key working can be offered to any family 
where children and young people have SEN or disabilities, for example if they 
receive SEN support in schools or nurseries or in preparing for adulthood. 
Approaches will vary locally, but the main functions of key working support should 
include some or all of the following: 

• emotional and practical support as part of a trusting relationship 

• enabling and empowering for decision-making and the use of Personal 
Budgets 

• co-ordinating practitioners and services around the child or young person 
and their family 

• being a single point of regular and consistent contact 

• facilitating multi-agency meetings 

• supporting and facilitating a single planning and joint assessment process 

• identifying strengths and needs of family members 

• providing information and signposting 

• advocating on behalf of the child, young person and/or their family 

• facilitating the seamless integration of clinical and social care services with 
specialist and universal services 

2.22 Guidance and examples of best practice on key working approaches are available 
from the Early Support website (see the References section under Chapter 2) and 
the Pathfinder information packs (see the References section under General). 
Further non-statutory guidance on how to deliver impartial information, advice and 
support for children, young people and parents can be found on the Information, 

Page 107



36 
 

Advice and Support Services Network website – see the References section under 
Chapter 2 for a link. 

Support for parents in HM Armed Forces 
2.23 Parents serving in HM Armed Forces can also access the Children’s Education 

Advisory Service (CEAS) – an information, advice and support service established 
specifically for Service parents. It covers any issue relating to their children’s 
education, including SEN. More information about CEAS may be found on the CEAS 
website – a link is given in the References section under Chapter 2.  

Support for children and young people in custody 

2.24 When securing a detained person’s EHC needs assessment the local authority must 
consider whether the child, the child’s parent or the young person requires any 
information, advice and support in order to enable them to take part effectively in the 
assessment. If it considers that such information, advice or support is necessary the 
local authority must provide it. Further guidance in respect of children and young 
people who are in custody is in Chapter 10. 

Page 108



37 
 

3 Working together across education, health and 
care for joint outcomes 

What this chapter covers  
This chapter explains the duties local authorities and their partner commissioning 
bodies have for developing joint arrangements for commissioning services to 
improve outcomes for 0 to 25-year-old children and young people who have special 
educational needs (SEN) or disabilities, including those with Education Health and 
Care (EHC) plans.  

It explains: 

• the scope of joint commissioning arrangements 

• how local partners should commission services to meet local needs and 
support better outcomes 

• how partnership working should inform and support the joint commissioning 
arrangements 

• the role that children, young people, parents and representative groups such 
as Parent Carer Forums and Youth Forums have in informing commissioning 
arrangements 

• responsibility for decision-making in joint commissioning arrangements 

• how partners should develop a joint understanding of the outcomes that their 
local population of children and young people with SEN and disabilities 
aspires to, and use it to produce a joint plan, which they then deliver jointly, 
and review jointly  

• how joint commissioning draws together accountability arrangements for key 
partners 

• the role of colleges as commissioners 

  

Page 109



38 
 

Relevant legislation 
Primary 
Sections 23, 25, 28 and 31 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

The Care Act 2014 

Section 2 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 

Schedule 2, Sections 17 and section 47 of the Children Act 1989 

Section 2 of the Children Act 2004 

National Health Service Act 2006 (Part 3, section 75 and 14Z2) 

Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 

Equality Act 2010 (including disability equality duty under s149)  

Health and Social Care Act 2012 

The legal framework 
3.1 Section 25 of the Children and Families Act 2014 places a duty on local authorities 

that should ensure integration between educational provision and training provision, 
health and social care provision, where this would promote wellbeing and improve 
the quality of provision for disabled young people and those with SEN.  

3.2 The Care Act 2014 requires local authorities to ensure co-operation between 
children’s and adults’ services to promote the integration of care and support with 
health services, so that young adults are not left without care and support as they 
make the transition from children’s to adult social care. Local authorities must 
ensure the availability of preventative services for adults, a diverse range of high 
quality local care and support services and information and advice on how adults can 
access this universal support. 

3.3 Local authorities and clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) must make joint 
commissioning arrangements for education, health and care provision for children 
and young people with SEN or disabilities (Section 26 of the Act). The term ‘partners’ 
refers to the local authority and its partner commissioning bodies across education, 
health and social care provision for children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities, including clinicians’ commissioning arrangements, and NHS England for 
specialist health provision. 

Page 110



39 
 

3.4 Joint commissioning should be informed by a clear assessment of local needs. 
Health and Wellbeing Boards are required to develop Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessments and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategies, to support prevention, 
identification, assessment and early intervention and a joined-up approach. Under 
section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006, local authorities and CCGs can 
pool resources and delegate certain NHS and local authority health-related functions 
to the other partner(s) if it would lead to an improvement in the way those functions 
are exercised. 

3.5 To take forward the joint commissioning arrangements for those with SEN or 
disabilities described in this chapter, partners could build on any existing structures 
established under the Children Act 2004 duties to integrate services. 

3.6 The NHS Mandate, which CCGs must follow, contains a specific objective on 
supporting children and young people with SEN or disabilities, including through the 
offer of Personal Budgets. 

3.7 Joint commissioning arrangements should enable partners to make best use of all 
the resources available in an area to improve outcomes for children and young 
people in the most efficient, effective, equitable and sustainable way (Good 
commissioning: principles and practice, Commissioning Support Programme, (Rev) 
September 2010). Partners must agree how they will work together. They should 
aim to provide personalised, integrated support that delivers positive outcomes for 
children and young people, bringing together support across education, health and 
social care from early childhood through to adult life, and improves planning for 
transition points such as between early years, school and college, between 
children’s and adult social care services, or between paediatric and adult health 
services.  

3.8 Under the Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010), public bodies (including 
CCGs, local authorities, maintained schools, maintained nursery schools, academies 
and free schools) must have regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, promote 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations between disabled and non-disabled 
children and young people when carrying out their functions. They must publish 
information to demonstrate their compliance with this general duty and must prepare 
and publish objectives to achieve the core aims of the general duty. Objectives must 
be specific and measurable. 

Scope of joint commissioning arrangements 

3.9 Joint commissioning arrangements must cover the services for 0-25 year old 
children and young people with SEN or disabilities, both with and without EHC plans. 
Services will include specialist support and therapies, such as clinical treatments and 

Page 111



40 
 

delivery of medications, speech and language therapy, assistive technology, 
personal care (or access to it), Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS) support, occupational therapy, habilitation training, physiotherapy, a range 
of nursing support, specialist equipment, wheelchairs and continence supplies and 
also emergency provision. They could include highly specialist services needed by 
only a small number of children, for instance children with severe learning disabilities 
or who require services which are commissioned centrally by NHS England (for 
example some augmentative and alternative communication systems, or health 
provision for children and young people in the secure estate or secure colleges).  

3.10 Local authorities, NHS England and their partner CCGs must make arrangements 
for agreeing the education, health and social care provision reasonably required by 
local children and young people with SEN or disabilities. In doing so they should take 
into account provision being commissioned by other agencies, such as schools, 
further education colleges and other education settings. Partners should commission 
provision for children and young people who need to access services swiftly, for 
example because they need emergency mental health support or have sustained a 
serious head injury.  

3.11 Joint commissioning must also include arrangements for: 

• securing EHC needs assessments 

• securing the education, health and care provision specified in EHC plans, and  

• agreeing Personal Budgets  

3.12 Local joint commissioning arrangements must consider: 

• what advice and information is to be provided about education, health and 
care provision for those who have SEN or are disabled and by whom it is to 
be provided 

• how complaints about education, health and social care provision can be 
made and are dealt with, and 

• procedures for ensuring that disagreements between local authorities and 
CCGs (and NHS England for specialist services) are resolved as quickly as 
possible 

The outputs of this work must be presented publicly in the Local Offer (see Chapter 
4, The Local Offer, paragraphs 4.30 and 4.31).  

  

Page 112



41 
 

The joint commissioning cycle  

 

Establishing effective partnerships across education, 
health and care 

3.13 Local authorities must work to integrate educational provision and training provision 
with health and social care provision where they think that this would promote the 
wellbeing of children and young people with SEN or disabilities, or improve the 
quality of special educational provision. Local partners must co-operate with the 
local authority in this. The NHS Mandate, NHS Act 2006 and Health and Social Care 
Act 2012 make clear that NHS England, CCGs and Health and Wellbeing Boards 
must promote the integration of services. 

3.14 The Care Act 2014 also requires local authorities to work to promote the integration 
of adult care and support with health services.  

3.15 Working Together to Safeguard Children (2013) includes requirements for local 
agencies to work together to assess the social care needs of individual children and 
young people who may benefit from early help, and for local authorities and their 
partners to have a clear line of accountability for the commissioning and/or provision 
of services designed to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and young 
people. 

3.16 The local authority must review its educational, training and social care provision, 
consulting a range of partners including children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities, and their parents and carers. This consultation will inform the 

Page 113



42 
 

development and review of the Local Offer (Section 27 of the Children and Families 
Act 2014). 

3.17 The local authority must engage other partners it thinks appropriate to support 
children and young people with SEN and disabilities. This might include voluntary 
organisations, CAMHS, local therapists, Jobcentre Plus and their employment 
support advisers, training/apprenticeship/supported employment providers, housing 
associations, careers advisers, leisure and play services. Local authorities and 
CCGs should consider the role that private, voluntary and community sector 
providers can play in delivering services. More information is given on roles and 
responsibilities of key agencies from paragraph 3.70 onwards. 

Partnership with children, young people and parents 
3.18 At a strategic level, partners must engage children and young people with SEN and 

disabilities and children’s parents in commissioning decisions, to give useful insights 
into how to improve services and outcomes. Local authorities, CCGs and NHS 
England must develop effective ways of harnessing the views of their local 
communities so that commissioning decisions on services for those with SEN and 
disabilities are shaped by users’ experiences, ambitions and expectations. To do 
this, local authorities and CCGs should engage with local Healthwatch organisations, 
patient representative groups, Parent Carer Forums, groups representing young 
people with SEN and disabilities and other local voluntary organisations and 
community groups.  

3.19 Under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 each CCG must exercise its functions to 
secure that individuals to whom the services are being, or may be, provided, are 
involved in in planning commissioning arrangements, in the development and 
consideration of proposals for change, and in decisions affecting the operation of 
commissioning arrangements where implementation would have an impact on the 
manner in which services are delivered or the range of services available. Links to a 
range of useful resources to help them do this are provided in the References 
section under Chapter 3. 

Page 114



43 
 

Joint understanding: Joint Strategic Needs Assessments 
3.20 There is a clear relationship between population needs, what is procured for children 

and young people with SEN and disabilities, and individual EHC plans.  

 

3.21 Each upper tier local authority (county council or unitary authority) has a Health and 
Wellbeing Board. The Health and Wellbeing Board is a strategic forum which 
provides leadership across the health, public health and social care systems. The 
board’s job is to improve the health and wellbeing of the local population and reduce 
health inequalities. Health and Wellbeing Boards have a duty to promote greater 
integration and partnership working, including through joint commissioning, 
integrated provision and pooled budgets. The membership of the board must include 
the Director of Children’s Services, Director of Public Health, Director of Adult Social 
Services and a minimum of one elected member from the local authority, a CCG 
representative and a local Healthwatch representative. Membership from 
communities and wider partners is decided locally.  

3.22 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is the means by which the Board 
understands and agrees the needs of all local people. It is the basis for the joint 
health and wellbeing strategy which sets the priorities for joint action. Further 
information about the JSNA is available on the GOV.UK website – a link is given in 
the References section under Chapter 3.  

3.23 The JSNA considers the needs of the local community as a whole, including specific 
analysis of the needs of vulnerable groups including disabled children and young 

 

Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment/Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy

Joint commissioning

Local offer

EHC 
Plan

Delivered by Health and Wellbeing 
Board. Considers needs of whole 
population. 

Local authority/CCG applies JSNA analysis 
to 0-25 children and young people with SEN 
and disabilities to agree shared outcomes, 
working with partners, eg children and young 
people and Parent Carer Forums. 

Local authority publishes a Local Offer setting out what 
support is available for 0-25 year olds with SEN or 
disabilities. 

An EHC plan starts by focusing on outcomes that are 
important to the individual. Any education, health or 
care provision required to meet a child/young person’s 
needs related to SEN must be included in the plan 
(see Chapter 9). 

Page 115



44 
 

people and those with SEN, those needing palliative care and looked after children. 
Local partners across education, health and social care should work together to 
establish what targeted commissioning is needed to address the needs identified.  

3.24 The JSNA will inform the joint commissioning decisions made for children and young 
people with SEN and disabilities, which will in turn be reflected in the services set out 
in the Local Offer. At an individual level, services should co-operate where 
necessary in arranging the agreed provision in an EHC plan. Partners should 
consider how they will work to align support delivered through mechanisms such as 
the early help assessment and how SEN support in schools can be aligned both 
strategically and operationally. They should, where appropriate, share the costs of 
support for individual children and young people with complex needs, so that they do 
not fall on one agency.  

Responsibility for decision-making in joint commissioning 
arrangements 

3.25 Local authorities and CCGs have considerable freedom in how they work together to 
deliver integrated support that improves children and young peoples’ outcomes. 
However, local governance arrangements must be in place to ensure clear 
accountability for commissioning services for children and young people with SEN 
and disabilities from birth to the age of 25. There must be clear decision-making 
structures so that partners can agree the changes that joint commissioning will bring 
in the design of services. This will help ensure that joint commissioning is focused on 
achieving agreed outcomes. Partners must also be clear about who is responsible 
for delivering what, who the decision-makers are in education, health and social 
care, and how partners will hold each other to account in the event of a 
disagreement. The partners must be able to make a decision on how they will meet 
the needs of children and young people with SEN or disabilities in every case. 

3.26 Elected members, governing bodies of CCGs and chief executives across education, 
health and social care should provide leadership for integrated working. 
Arrangements for children and young people with SEN or disabilities should be 
specifically accountable to Lead Members for Children’s Services and Directors for 
Children’s Services in line with their statutory duties. It should be clear who can 
make decisions both operationally (for example, deciding what provision should be 
put in an EHC plan) and strategically (for example, what provision will be 
commissioned locally for disabled children and young people and those with SEN) in 
exercising statutory duties. 

Page 116



45 
 

Using information to understand and predict need for 
services 

3.27 To inform commissioning decisions, partners should draw on the wide range of local 
data sets as well as qualitative information about the likely education, health and 
social care needs of children and young people with SEN or disabilities.  

3.28 Data-sets include but are not restricted to: 

• population and demographic data 

• prevalence data for different kinds of SEN and disability among children and 
young people at national level – for example through the Child and Maternal 
Health Intelligence Network (CHiMat) 

• numbers of local children and young people with EHC plans and their main 
needs 

• use of out-of-area placements for those with low-incidence needs  

• analysis of key performance indicators that are shared across health, 
education and social care as part of the new joint commissioning 
arrangements 

• the outcomes of developmental assessments (including the two-year-old 
check) 

• information from the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) profile 

• where children or young people with SEN or disabilities are educated 

• an analysis of local challenges and sources of health inequalities – for 
example, the level of local economic deprivation, historic data about previous 
support offered through statements and EHC plans, and the education and 
health needs of young offenders 

• employment rates for young people leaving education 

• local data on disabled children from the register of disabled children in their 
area (including those with impaired hearing and vision) which local authorities 
are required to keep under Schedule 2 of the Children Act 1989. Local 
authorities should ensure that registers of disabled children and young 
people, and particularly details of those with a vision or hearing impairment, 
are kept accurate and up to date, as such low-incidence needs are particularly 
difficult to plan for from national data sets 

Page 117



46 
 

3.29 Local authorities must review their provision, taking into consideration the 
experiences of children, young people and families (including through representative 
groups such as Parent Carer Forums), voluntary and community sector providers 
and local Healthwatch. Information from such reviews will contribute to future 
arrangements and the effectiveness of local joint working.  

3.30 Joint commissioning arrangements should be based on evidence about which 
services, support and interventions are effective. Local areas should maintain up-to-
date information on research and guidance about good practice, for example through 
referring to NICE guidance and Campbell collaboration/Cochrane collaboration. 

Joint planning 
Deciding on shared outcomes 

3.31 Local partners should identify the outcomes that matter to children and young people 
with SEN or disabilities to inform the planning and delivery of services and the 
monitoring of how well services have secured those outcomes. Outcomes refer to 
the benefit or difference made to an individual as a result of an intervention at three 
levels: 

• Individual outcomes such as might be set out in an EHC plan: for example, 
Martha can communicate independently with her friends at playtime 

• Service level outcomes: for example, paternal mental health has improved in 
10 families  

• Strategic outcomes: for example, there has been a 10% increase in young 
people supported into employment and independent living  

3.32 To achieve such outcomes, provision has to be put in place. In the examples above, 
a speech and language and social skills programme, a short breaks programme and 
a newly commissioned transitions strategy, respectively.  

3.33 Partners should use their joint understanding to determine the shared outcomes they 
seek to achieve, for example improvement in educational attainment, levels of 
mental health and wellbeing and reductions in health inequalities. They should draw 
on national priorities (for example, those set through the NHS Outcomes 
Framework), local priorities (for example, the JSNA and Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy). This should be a transparent process – the local community should be 
aware both of what the shared outcomes are and the plan to achieve them. This 
requirement could be discharged through the requirement to consult publicly on the 
Local Offer. 

  

Page 118



47 
 

3.34 The Children and Young People’s Outcome Forum report Improving Children and 
Young People’s Health Outcomes: a system wide response is a useful resource that 
partners should draw upon. It is available from the GOV.UK website (see References 
section under Chapter 3 for a link). 

Making best use of resources 
3.35 Joint commissioning arrangements should help partners identify scope for working 

more efficiently together. Partners should assess the extent to which activities 
contribute to their local priorities and outcomes and decide which services should be 
commissioned or decommissioned, in consultation with children and young people 
with SEN or disabilities, their parents, or representative groups such as Parent Carer 
Forums. 

3.36 Under Section 10 of the Children Act 2004 and Section 75 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 local authorities and CCGs have a statutory duty to consider the 
extent to which children and young people’s needs could be met more effectively 
through integrating services and aligning or pooling budgets in order to offer greater 
value for money, improve outcomes and/or better integrate services for children and 
young people with SEN or disabilities. Under the Care Act 2014, local authorities 
must ensure the provision of preventative services, the diversity and quality of care 
and support services for adults, and the provision of information and advice on care 
and support locally.  

3.37 To make the best use of resources, partners should consider how an integrated 
approach can best support:  

• prevention – for example using the outcomes of developmental assessments 
as outlined in the EYFS to target early help for children experiencing 
developmental delay can reduce the need for specialist services later on 

• early identification of needs 

• the resilience of families and local services to enable children and young 
people with more complex needs to participate actively in their local 
community 

• better access to services 

• the development of good language, communication and mental health through 
universal services so that effective use is made of specialist speech and 
language therapy services and CAMHS  

Page 119



48 
 

• better transitions between life stages and settings, including from early years 
to primary education, primary to secondary and secondary to further 
education (FE), and 

• children and young people in preparing for adult life 

Personal Budgets 
3.38 Young people and parents of children who have EHC plans have the right to request 

a Personal Budget, which may contain elements of education, social care and health 
funding. Partners must set out in their joint commissioning arrangements their 
arrangements for agreeing Personal Budgets. They should develop and agree a 
formal approach to making fair and equitable allocations of funding and should set 
out a local policy for Personal Budgets that includes: 

• a description of the services across education, health and social care that 
currently lend themselves to the use of Personal Budgets 

• the mechanisms of control for funding available to parents and young people 
including: 

o direct payments – where individuals receive the cash to contract, 
purchase and manage services themselves 

o an arrangement – whereby the local authority, school or college holds 
the funds and commissions the support specified in the EHC plan (these 
are sometimes called notional budgets) 

o third party arrangements – where funds (direct payments) are paid to 
and managed by an individual or organisation on behalf of the child’s 
parent or the young person 

o a combination of the above 

• clear and simple statements of eligibility criteria and the decision-making 
processes that underpin them 

3.39 To do this, partners should: 

• identify and agree the funding streams and services for inclusion and develop 
the necessary infrastructure to support their inclusion 

• identify the links to be made locally between the SEN offer and Personal 
Health Budgets for children and adults 

Page 120



49 
 

• identify and establish the information, advice and support necessary at an 
area and individual level to help families consider options for, and to take up 
and manage, Personal Budgets 

• develop a pathway for Personal Budgets within the process of EHC needs 
assessment and EHC plan development and the workforce and cultural 
changes necessary for a person-centred approach 

• identify how the new joint commissioning strategies will support greater choice 
and control year on year, as the market is developed and funding streams are 
freed from existing contractual arrangements 

• as an integral part of this, partners should ensure children, young people and 
families are involved in the decision-making processes at both an individual 
and a strategic level 

Joint delivery 
3.40 At a strategic level, when commissioning training for professionals partners should 

consider whether combined service delivery, training or a common set of key skills 
would help professionals and providers adapt to meeting the needs of children and 
young people with SEN or disabilities in a more personalised way. This could include 
commissioning ‘key working’ roles to support children and young people with SEN 
and disabilities and their parents, particularly at key points such as diagnosis, EHC 
plan development and transition. 

3.41 Partners should also consider whether and how specialist staff can train the wider 
workforce so they can better identify need and offer support earlier – for example, 
educational psychologists or speech and language therapists training professionals 
such as teachers or GPs to identify and support children and young people with 
mental health problems or speech and language difficulties, respectively. This may 
involve NHS Local Education and Training Boards. Some areas have involved 
parent carers in delivery of workforce development programmes. 

Joint review to improve service offered 
3.42 Joint commissioning is an ongoing improvement cycle. Over time, partners may shift 

the focus of their activity as the needs of the local population change and delivery of 
services improves. 

3.43 Partners should agree how they will work together to monitor how outcomes in 
education, health and care are being improved as a result of the provision they 
make. Partners should monitor the changing needs of the local population of children 
and young people with SEN and disabilities closely and, crucially, establish whether 
or not the provision arranged for them is improving outcomes. EHC plans for 

Page 121



50 
 

individual children and young people must be similarly reviewed to see if they are 
enabling the child or young person to achieve their desired outcomes, so that where 
appropriate the commissioned provision can be changed. Feedback from children, 
young people and families is useful in identifying gaps in provision. Any changes in 
provision commissioned locally should be reflected in the Local Offer. 

3.44 Local authorities must review the special educational provision and social care 
provision in their areas for children and young people who have SEN or disabilities 
and the provision made for local children and young people who are educated out of 
the area, working with the partners to their joint commissioning arrangements. The 
local authority must consult with children and young people with SEN or disabilities 
and their parents and as part of this should consult with family representatives such 
as Parent Carer Forums. Joint commissioning arrangements must consider the 
needs of children and young people with SEN and disabilities. Partners should also 
work with commissioners of adult services to ensure that there are smooth 
transitions between children’s and adult services. This will involve working with a 
range of professionals in the public, private, voluntary and community sectors and 
will help those with SEN or disabilities prepare for adulthood, including living 
independently and employment. 

Education, Health and Care: roles and responsibilities 
Designated Medical/Clinical Officer 

3.45 Partners should ensure there is a Designated Medical Officer (DMO) to support the 
CCG in meeting its statutory responsibilities for children and young people with SEN 
and disabilities, primarily by providing a point of contact for local partners, when 
notifying parents and local authorities about children and young people they believe 
have, or may have, SEN or a disability, and when seeking advice on SEN or 
disabilities. This does not alter the CCG’s responsibility for commissioning health 
provision.  

3.46 The DMO provides the point of contact for local authorities, schools and colleges 
seeking health advice on children and young people who may have SEN or 
disabilities, and provides a contact (or contacts) for CCGs or health providers so that 
appropriate notification can be given to the local authority of children under 
compulsory school age who they think may have SEN or disabilities. The DMO can 
support schools with their duties under the ‘Supporting Pupils with Medical 
Conditions’ guidance. The DMO would not routinely be involved in assessments or 
planning for individuals, except in the course of their usual clinical practice, but would 
be responsible for ensuring that assessment, planning and health support is carried 
out. Some CCGs may delegate key decisions to the DMO (for example, agreeing the 
health services in an EHC plan).  

Page 122



51 
 

3.47 The DMO should have an appropriate level of clinical expertise to enable them to 
exercise these functions effectively, and should be designated as the DMO in their 
job description. There may be one DMO for several CCGs and local authorities, 
where there are joint arrangements or shared commissioning responsibilities, and 
given the age range of EHC plans from birth to 25, the DMO may need to liaise with 
colleagues outside paediatrics.  

3.48 This is a non-statutory role which would usually be carried out by a paediatrician, but 
there is local flexibility for the role to be undertaken by a suitably competent qualified 
and experienced nurse or other health professional (in which case the role would be 
the Designated Clinical Officer). The person in this role should have appropriate 
expertise and links with other professionals to enable them to exercise it in relation to 
children and young adults with EHC plans from the age of 0 to 25 in a wide range of 
educational institutions.  

Children’s social care 
3.49 Where a child or young person has been assessed as having social care needs in 

relation to their SEN or disabilities social care teams:  

• must secure social care provision under the Chronically Sick and Disabled 
Persons Act (CSDPA) 1970 which has been assessed as being necessary to 
support a child or young person’s SEN and which is specified in their EHC 
plan 

• should provide early years providers, schools and colleges with a contact for 
social care advice on children and young people with SEN and disabilities 

• must undertake reviews of children and young people with EHC plans where 
there are social care needs 

• should make sure that for looked after children and care leavers the 
arrangements for assessing and meeting their needs across education, health 
and social care are co-ordinated effectively within the process of care and 
pathway planning, in order to avoid duplication and delay, to include in 
particular liaising with the Virtual School Head (VSH) for looked after children 

3.50 Where children or young people with SEN or disabilities also have a child in need or 
child protection plan, the social worker within the SEN team should ensure the 
statutory timescales for social care assessments are met and any assessments are 
aligned with EHC needs assessments wherever possible. Working Together to 
Safeguard Children (2013) gives full details. A link is available in the References 
section under Chapter 3. 

Page 123

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children


52 
 

Adult social care 
3.51 Young people with SEN or disabilities turning 18 may become eligible for adult social 

care services, regardless of whether they have an EHC plan or whether they have 
been receiving services from children’s social care. 

3.52 The Care Act 2014 and the associated regulations and guidance set out the 
requirements on local authorities when young people are approaching, or turn, 18 
and are likely to require an assessment for adult care and support. These are 
intended to support effective transition from children’s to adult social care services. 
For those already receiving support from children’s services, the Care Act makes it 
clear that local authorities must continue to provide children’s services until adult 
provision has started or a decision is made that the young person’s needs do not 
meet the eligibility criteria for adult care and support following an assessment. 
Children’s services must not be discontinued simply because a young person has 
reached their 18th birthday. More information on this is given in Chapter 8, Preparing 
for Adulthood. 

3.53 Local authorities and their partners must co-operate in the provision of adult care 
and support in promoting the individual’s wellbeing and local authorities must: 

• promote the integration of adult care and support and health services 

• arrange the provision of preventative resources that can be accessed by 
those who require support but who do not have eligible needs (under the Care 
Act 2014). 

• ensure a diverse and high quality range of services to meet assessed care 
and support needs 

3.54 Local authorities must provide information and advice on the range of services 
available. They should include in their Local Offer relevant information and advice on 
local provision and how to receive an assessment for transition to adult care and 
support.  

3.55 The transition from children’s to adult services needs to be well managed and should 
take place at a time that is appropriate for the individual. This is particularly important 
where young people’s assessed needs do not meet eligibility criteria for adult 
services. 

3.56 Local authorities and their partners should work together to ensure effective and well 
supported transition arrangements are in place; that assessment and review 
processes for both Care plans and EHC plans are aligned; that there is effective 
integration with health services, and that there is a good range of universal provision 

Page 124



53 
 

for inclusion in the Local Offer. Young people and their families should not be 
expected to repeatedly provide duplicate information to different services, or to 
attend numerous reviews, or receive support that is not co-ordinated and joined up. 
There should be clear and joined-up decision-making processes and lines of 
accountability for considering when the transition to adult services should take place 
and ensuring that children’s services continue to be in place for as long as required. 

3.57 Local authorities should consider ways of supporting carers. Parent carers have 
often had to give up paid work after their child leaves full time education. Loss of 
paid employment can have a significant impact on the carer’s wellbeing and self-
esteem as well as a significant impact on the family’s financial circumstances. Taking 
a whole family approach to care and support planning that sets out a ‘five-day offer’ 
for a young person and support for a carer to manage an increased caring role 
(which ideally allows them to stay in paid work if they wish to do so) can help families 
manage the transition and save money by avoiding costly out-of-area placements. 
More information on this is provided in the Care Act Statutory Guidance. Chapter 8 
of this Code provides guidance on packages of provision across five days for young 
people with EHC plans. 

3.58 Support for carers includes any support assessed as being reasonably required by 
the learning difficulties and disabilities which result in the child or young person 
having SEN. It can include any services assessed under an early help assessment 
and/or under Section 17 or Section 47 of the Children Act 1989 or eligible needs 
identified by assessments under adult care provisions. It can also include services 
for parents and carers which will support the child’s outcomes, such as mental health 
support. 

Health services for children and young people with SEN and 
disabilities and their families 

3.59 Health services for children and young people with SEN or disabilities provide early 
identification, assessment and diagnosis, intervention and review for children and 
young people with long-term conditions and disabilities, for example chronic fatigue 
syndrome, anxiety disorders or life-threatening conditions such as inoperable heart 
disease. Services are delivered by health professionals including paediatricians, 
psychiatrists, nurses and allied health professionals such as occupational therapists, 
speech and language therapists, habilitation trainers, physiotherapists and 
psychologists. In addition, public health services for children ensure a whole 
population approach to health and wellbeing including preventative services such as 
immunisation for the whole population and targeted immunisation for the most 
vulnerable. 

Page 125



54 
 

3.60 Health services support early identification of young children who may have SEN, 
through neonatal screening programmes, the Healthy Child Programme, and 
specialist health and developmental assessment where concerns have been raised. 
Community paediatricians in conjunction with other health professionals, particularly 
therapists, are often the first people to notify young children with SEN to local 
authorities. They provide diagnostic services and health reports for EHC needs 
assessments. CCGs, NHS Trusts, and NHS Foundation Trusts must inform the 
appropriate local authority if they identify a child under compulsory school age as 
having, or probably having, a disability or SEN (Section 23 of the Children and 
Families Act 2014). 

3.61 The multi-disciplinary child health team, including paediatricians, therapists, clinical 
psychologists, dieticians and specialist nurses such as health visitors, school nurses 
and community children’s nursing teams, provide intervention and review for children 
and young people with SEN and disabilities and should contribute to supporting key 
transition points, including to adulthood. They aim to provide optimum health care for 
the children, addressing the impact of their conditions, managing consequences for 
the families and preventing further complications. 

3.62 Health professionals advise education services on managing health conditions such 
as epilepsy and diabetes, and health technologies such as tube feeding, 
tracheostomy care and ventilation in schools. They are able to provide an ongoing 
overview of health and wellbeing. They seek advice from paediatric specialists when 
necessary and facilitate training for education staff.  

3.63 Therapists have important and specific roles in supporting children and young people 
with SEN or disabilities, working directly with children and young people, advising 
and training education staff and setting programmes for implementation at home and 
in school. 

Local authorities’ role in delivering health services 

3.64 Local authorities and CCGs should consider how best to integrate the 
commissioning of services for children and young people who have SEN with the 
CCG’s broad responsibility for commissioning health services for other groups, 
including preventative services, and the local authority’s responsibility for health 
protection and health improvement for the local population. The local authority in 
particular has responsibility for securing a range of public health services which may 
be relevant for children and young people, and should consider how this can be 
aligned with the arrangements for commissioning services for children and young 
people who are disabled or who have SEN – for example, the Healthy Child 
Programme for pre-school and school-age children, including school nursing. A 
factsheet has been produced on the public health responsibilities of local authorities 

Page 126



55 
 

and is available from the GOV.UK website (see References section under Chapter 3 
for a link). 

The health commissioning duty 
3.65 As health service commissioners, CCGs have a duty under Section 3 of the NHS Act 

2006 to arrange health care provision for the people for whom they are responsible 
to meet their reasonable health needs. (NHS England may also have commissioning 
responsibility for some children and young people – for example in some secure 
children’s homes – and therefore a similar duty to meet their reasonable needs.) This 
is the fundamental basis of commissioning in the NHS. Where there is provision 
which has been agreed in the health element of an EHC plan, health commissioners 
must put arrangements in place to secure that provision. This issue is explored in 
more detail in Chapter 9. 

Schools and post-16 settings as commissioners 
3.66 Schools, including early years providers, and post-16 settings can also be 

commissioners in their own right. Schools have a notional SEN budget and many 
schools will commission services (such as speech and language therapy, pastoral 
care and counselling services) to support pupils. Schools must work with the local 
authority in developing the Local Offer, which could include school-commissioned 
services. The school must set out its SEN policy and information on its approach to 
supporting children and young people with SEN. The school’s governing body must 
ensure that arrangements are in place in schools to support pupils at school with 
medical conditions and should ensure that school leaders consult health and social 
care professionals, pupils and parents to make sure that the needs of children with 
medical conditions are effectively supported.  

3.67 Joint commissioning arrangements should reflect this local commissioning and 
should ensure services being commissioned by schools are suitably supported to 
deliver positive outcomes for children and young people.  

Regional commissioning: meeting the needs of children 
and young people with highly specialised and/or low-
incidence needs 

3.68 Partners should consider strategic planning and commissioning of services or 
placements for children and young people with high levels of need across groups of 
authorities, or at a regional level. The benefits include:  

• greater choice for parents and young people, enabling them to access a wider 
range of services or educational settings  

Page 127



56 
 

• greater continuity of support for children and young people in areas where 
there is a great deal of movement across local authorities (for example, in 
London) 

NHS England already commissions specialist health services at a regional and 
national level, so local partners will need to engage and integrate these 
arrangements to support local joint commissioning activity. 

3.69 When a health body is considering a placement that includes an education 
commitment, such as a placement in residential care, they should consult the local 
authority prior to the decision being made (see Chapter 10, paragraph 10.49). The 
Winterbourne View Concordat emphasised the need for high quality local provision – 
local authorities and CCGs should work together to consider how they will reduce 
out-of-area placements. Regional commissioning may help them to do this. Statutory 
guidance on long-term residential care is available on the GOV.UK website (see 
References section under Chapter 3 for a link). 

Local accountability  
3.70 The roles and responsibilities of bodies involved in joint commissioning 

arrangements are summarised below: 

Agency Key responsibilities for SEN or 
Disability 

Accountability  

Local authority Leading integration arrangements for 
Children and Young People with SEN or 
disabilities 

Lead Member for Children’s 
Services and Director for 
Children’s Services (DCS)  

Children’s and 
adult social 
care 

Children’s and adult social care services 
must co-operate with those leading the 
integration arrangements for children 
and young people with SEN or 
disabilities to ensure the delivery of care 
and support is effectively integrated in 
the new SEN system. 

Lead Member for Children 
and Adult Social Care, and 
Director for Children’s 
Services (DCS), Director for 
Adult Social Services 
(DASS). 

Health and 
Wellbeing 
Board 

The Health and Wellbeing Board must 
ensure a joint strategic needs 
assessment (JSNA) of the current and 
future needs of the whole local 
population is developed. The JSNA will 
form the basis of NHS and local 
authorities’ own commissioning plans, 
across health, social care, public health 

Membership of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board must 
include at least one local 
elected councillor, as well 
as a representative of the 
local Healthwatch 
organisation. It must also 
include the local DCS, 
DASS, and a senior CCG 

Page 128



57 
 

Agency Key responsibilities for SEN or 
Disability 

Accountability  

and children’s services. 

This is likely to include specific needs of 
children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities.  

 

representative and the 
Director of Public Health.  

In practice, most Health 
and Wellbeing Boards 
include more local 
councillors, and many are 
chaired by cabinet 
members. 

Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

To co-operate with the local authority in 
jointly commissioning services, ensuring 
there is sufficient capacity contracted to 
deliver necessary services, drawing the 
attention of the local authority to groups 
and individual children and young people 
with SEN or disabilities, supporting 
diagnosis and assessment, and 
delivering interventions and review. 
 

CCGs will be held to 
account by NHS England.  
CCGs are also subject to 
local accountability, for 
example, to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board for how 
well they contribute to 
delivering the local Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy.  
Each CCG has a governing 
body and an Accountable 
Officer who are responsible 
for ensuring that the CCG 
fulfils its duties to exercise 
its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically 
and to improve the quality 
of services and the health 
of the local population 
whilst maintaining value for 
money.  

NHS England NHS England commissions specialist 
services which need to be reflected in 
local joint commissioning arrangements 
(for example augmentative and 
alternative communication systems, or 
provision for detained children and 
young people in relevant youth 
accommodation).  

Secretary of State for 
Health 

Healthwatch Local Healthwatch organisations are a 
key mechanism for enabling people to 
share their views and concerns – to 
ensure that commissioners have a clear 

Local Healthwatch 
organisations represent the 
voice of people who use 
health and social care on 

Page 129



58 
 

Agency Key responsibilities for SEN or 
Disability 

Accountability  

picture of local communities’ needs and 
that this is represented in the planning 
and delivery of local services. This can 
include supporting children and young 
people with SEN or disabilities. 

the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. They are 
independent, but funded by 
local authorities. 

Maintained 
nurseries and 
schools 
(including 
academies) 

Mainstream schools have duties to use 
best endeavours to make the provision 
required to meet the SEN of children and 
young people. All schools must publish 
details of what SEN provision is 
available through the information report 
and co-operate with the local authority in 
drawing up and reviewing the Local 
Offer. 
Schools also have duties to make 
reasonable adjustments for disabled 
children and young people, to support 
medical conditions and to inform parents 
and young people if SEN provision is 
made for them. 
More information about the role of early 
years settings, schools and post-16 
institutions is given in Chapters 5 to 7.  

Accountability is through 
Ofsted and the annual 
report that schools have to 
provide to parents on their 
children’s progress. 
  

Colleges Mainstream colleges have duties to use 
best endeavours to make the provision 
required to meet the SEN of children and 
young people. Mainstream and special 
colleges must also co-operate with the 
local authority in drawing up and 
reviewing the Local Offer. 
All colleges have duties to make 
reasonable adjustments for disabled 
children and young people. 
More information about duties on the 
further education sector is in Chapter 7. 

Accountable through Ofsted 
and performance tables 
such as destination and 
progress measures. 

3.71 These arrangements do not affect the disagreement resolution and complaints 
procedures described in Chapter 11. Local authorities must include in their Local 
Offer information on how complaints can be made about services. 

Page 130



59 
 

4 The Local Offer 

What this chapter covers 
This chapter explains the statutory duties on local authorities to develop and publish 
a Local Offer setting out the support they expect to be available for local children and 
young people with special educational needs (SEN) or disabilities. It covers: 

• preparing and reviewing the Local Offer, including involving children, young 
people and parents and those providing services 

• publishing the Local Offer 

• publishing comments on the Local Offer and the action to be taken in 
response 

• what must be included in the Local Offer  

• information, advice and support 

Relevant legislation  
Primary 
Sections 27, 28, 30, 32, 41, 49, and 51-57 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

Equality Act 2010 

Regulations 
The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 (Part 4) 

What is the Local Offer? 
4.1 Local authorities must publish a Local Offer, setting out in one place information 

about provision they expect to be available across education, health and social care 
for children and young people in their area who have SEN or are disabled, including 
those who do not have Education, Health and Care (EHC) plans. In setting out what 
they ‘expect to be available’, local authorities should include provision which they 
believe will actually be available. 

4.2 The Local Offer has two key purposes: 

• To provide clear, comprehensive, accessible and up-to-date information about 
the available provision and how to access it, and 

Page 131



60 
 

• To make provision more responsive to local needs and aspirations by directly 
involving disabled children and those with SEN and their parents, and 
disabled young people and those with SEN, and service providers in its 
development and review 

4.3 The Local Offer should not simply be a directory of existing services. Its success 
depends as much upon full engagement with children, young people and their 
parents as on the information it contains. The process of developing the Local Offer 
will help local authorities and their health partners to improve provision. 

4.4 The Local Offer must include provision in the local authority’s area. It must also 
include provision outside the local area that the local authority expects is likely to be 
used by children and young people with SEN for whom they are responsible and 
disabled children and young people. This could, for example, be provision in a 
further education college in a neighbouring area or support services for children and 
young people with particular types of SEN that are provided jointly by local 
authorities. It should include relevant regional and national specialist provision, such 
as provision for children and young people with low-incidence and more complex 
SEN. 

4.5 Local authorities and those who are required to co-operate with them need to comply 
with the Equality Act 2010, including when preparing, developing and reviewing the 
Local Offer. 

4.6 The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 provide a common 
framework for the Local Offer. They specify the requirements that all local authorities 
must meet in developing, publishing and reviewing their Local Offer, and cover: 

• the information to be included 

• how the Local Offer is to be published 

• who is to be consulted about the Local Offer 

• how children with SEN or disabilities and their parents and young people with 
SEN or disabilities will be involved in the preparation and review of the Local 
Offer, and 

• the publication of comments on the Local Offer and the local authority’s 
response, including any action it intends to take in relation to those comments 
  

Page 132



61 
 

4.7 The Local Offer should be: 

• collaborative: local authorities must involve parents, children and young 
people in developing and reviewing the Local Offer. They must also  
co-operate with those providing services 

• accessible: the published Local Offer should be easy to understand, factual 
and jargon free. It should be structured in a way that relates to young people’s 
and parents’ needs (for example by broad age group or type of special 
educational provision). It should be well signposted and well publicised 

• comprehensive: parents and young people should know what support is 
expected to be available across education, health and social care from age 0 
to 25 and how to access it. The Local Offer must include eligibility criteria for 
services where relevant and make it clear where to go for information, advice 
and support, as well as how to make complaints about provision or appeal 
against decisions 

• up to date: when parents and young people access the Local Offer it is 
important that the information is up to date 

• transparent: the Local Offer should be clear about how decisions are made 
and who is accountable and responsible for them 

Preparing and reviewing the Local Offer 
Involving children and young people and parents 

4.8 Local authorities must involve children with SEN or disabilities and their parents and 
young people with SEN or disabilities in: 

• planning the content of the Local Offer 

• deciding how to publish the Local Offer 

• reviewing the Local Offer, including by enabling them to make comments 
about it 

4.9 Local authorities should do this in a way which ensures that children, young people 
and parents feel they have participated fully in the process and have a sense of co-
ownership. This is often referred to as ‘co-production’. Local authorities should take 
steps to ensure that their arrangements for involving children, young people and 
parents include a broadly representative group of the children with SEN or 
disabilities and their parents and young people with SEN or disabilities in their area. 

Page 133



62 
 

Parent Carer Forums, young people’s forums and other local groups are useful ways 
to engage families. 

4.10 Local authorities should publicise in their Local Offer the ways in which they will 
involve children, young people and parents in developing and reviewing it. Local 
authorities should ensure that they provide support that enables children, young 
people and parents to contribute to decision-making at this strategic level and the 
Local Offer should include details of this support, which should include Parent Carer 
Forums and local voluntary organisations. 

Young people 

4.11 Local authorities must engage young people directly in developing and reviewing the 
Local Offer and should consider setting up a forum, or a range of forums, to do so. 
Local authorities should make every effort to engage a cross-section of young 
people with a range of SEN and disabilities, in a variety of settings and 
circumstances and at different ages within the 16–25 age range. Local authorities 
should make every effort to establish the issues on which young people most want to 
be engaged. They should also consider using a variety of methods to engage young 
people. These could include surveys and social media or young people’s forums, 
and making existing consultation groups, such as a local youth council, accessible to 
young people with SEN or disabilities. Young people should also have opportunities 
to be engaged independently of their parents.  

4.12 When organising participation events for young people, local authorities should 
endeavour to ensure full accessibility by considering:  

• timing: holding events when young people are most likely to be free and not 
when they are likely to be in education (unless arrangements have been 
made with their education providers) 

• transport: explaining to young people how to travel to an event, with clear 
instructions, maps and, particularly in rural areas, details of a taxi service 
which is accessible to those with disabilities 

• physical accessibility: for example, access for a number of wheelchair 
users 

• accessibility of content: providing materials in different formats and 
tailored to meet different cognitive abilities and reading skills and supporting 
different communication needs, avoiding jargon and acronyms wherever 
possible and where this is not possible, explaining terms used 

Page 134



63 
 

• age appropriateness: keeping membership of young people’s forums under 
review as the participants get older, and bearing in mind the very different 
stages that young people will be at from the age of 16 to 25 

Whatever the means of consultation and engagement local authorities should let 
participants know the outcome of discussions so that they will know what will happen 
as a result of their contribution. 

Parents 

4.13 Effective parent participation can lead to a better fit between families’ needs and the 
services provided, higher satisfaction with services, reduced costs (as long-term 
benefits emerge), better value for money and better relationships between those 
providing services and those using them. Local authorities and parents should work 
together to establish the aims of parent participation, to mark progress and build 
trust. To enable effective parental participation, local authorities should consider in 
particular the timing of events and meetings – for example, organising them during 
the school day while children are at school and ensuring that parents have enough 
notice to allow them to organise childcare. 

Involving schools, colleges, health services and others  
4.14 Local authorities and their partner bodies and agencies must co-operate with each 

other in the development and review of the Local Offer. This is essential so that the 
Local Offer provides a comprehensive, transparent and accessible picture of the 
range of services available. 

4.15 The most relevant local partners who are required to co-operate with the local 
authority in relation to the Local Offer include: 

• the governing bodies of schools that the local authority maintains 

• the proprietors of academies and free schools in the local authority’s area 

• the proprietors of non-maintained special schools that are in the local 
authority’s area or provide education or training for children and young people 
in the local authority’s area 

• the governing bodies of further education colleges and sixth form colleges that 
are in the local authority’s area or are attended or likely to be attended by 
young people from their area 

• the management committees of pupil referral units that are in the local 
authority’s area or are attended or likely to be attended by young people from 
their area 

Page 135



64 
 

• the proprietors of independent specialist colleges and independent schools 
specially organised to make provision for children and young people with SEN 
which have been included on the list of institutions approved by the Secretary 
of State for the purpose of enabling parents and young people to request that 
they are named on an EHC plan and are in the local authority’s area or are 
attended or likely to be attended by children and young people in their area 

• any other person (other than a school or college) that makes special 
educational provision for children or young people for whom the local authority 
is responsible, including providers of relevant early education 

• NHS England and any relevant health bodies including: 

o clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) whose areas coincide with or fall 
within the local authority’s area or which have a duty under section 3 of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 to arrange for the provision of 
services for any children or young people for whom the local authority 
is responsible 

o an NHS Trust or NHS Foundation Trust which provides services in the 
local authority’s area or for children and young people for whom the 
authority is responsible, or 

o a Local Health Board with functions in relation to children and young 
people for whom the local authority is responsible 

4.16 The local authority should engage with the providers of relevant early years 
education, particularly those in receipt of early education funding. 

4.17 The local authority must also ensure that all its officers co-operate with each other in 
respect of the Local Offer. This must include those whose roles relate to social 
services or who will contribute to helping young people make a successful transition 
to adulthood – for example those working in housing and economic regeneration.  

Keeping the Local Offer under review 
4.18 The requirement on local authorities to publish comments on their Local Offer and 

their response to those comments is relevant to their duty to keep under review the 
educational and training provision and social care provision for children and young 
people with SEN or disabilities and their role in contributing, with their partner CCGs, 
to Joint Strategic Needs Assessments and the development of local Health and 
Wellbeing Strategies (see chapter 3). 

4.19 Local authorities must keep their educational and training provision and social care 
provision under review and this includes the sufficiency of that provision. When 

Page 136



65 
 

considering any reorganisation of SEN provision decision makers must make clear 
how they are satisfied that the proposed alternative arrangements are likely to lead 
to improvements in the standard, quality and/or range of educational provision for 
children with SEN (School organisation (maintained schools), Annex B: Guidance for 
Decision-makers, DfE 2014 – see the References section under Chapter 4 for a link). 

4.20 Local authorities should link reviews of education, health and social care provision to 
the development and review of their Local Offer and the action they intend to take in 
response to comments. This will help to identify gaps in provision and ensure that 
the Local Offer is responsive to the needs of local children and young people and 
their families. At a strategic level local authorities should share what they have 
learned from the comments they receive with local Health and Wellbeing Boards 
where appropriate, to help inform the development of Health and Wellbeing 
Strategies and the future provision of services for children and young people with or 
without EHC plans. 

Publishing comments about the Local Offer 
4.21 Local authorities must publish comments about their Local Offer received from or on 

behalf of children with SEN or disabilities and their parents and young people with 
SEN or disabilities.  

4.22 Comments must be published if they relate to: 

• the content of the Local Offer, which includes the quality of existing provision 
and any gaps in the provision 

• the accessibility of information in the Local Offer 

• how the Local Offer has been developed or reviewed 

4.23 It is up to local authorities to decide on the format for publishing comments but they 
should consult children and young people with SEN or disabilities and parents and 
representative organisations such as Parent Carer Forums and local organisations 
providing information, advice and support to parents, children and young people 
about this, including the local authority’s Information, Advice and Support Service. 
They should make clear how they have sought comments about the Local Offer.  

4.24 Local authorities must publish a summary of comments at least annually, although 
this is expected to be an ongoing process. They must ensure that comments are 
published in a form that does not enable any individual to be identified. 

4.25 Local authorities are not expected to publish responses to every comment 
individually but could, for example, adopt a ‘you said, we did’ approach. They are not 
required to publish abusive or vexatious comments or complaints about the service 

Page 137



66 
 

provided to an individual since there are established routes to bring such complaints. 
The Local Offer should make clear what these routes are and how to access them. 

Taking action in response to comments about the Local Offer 
4.26 Local authorities must publish their response to comments received within the Local 

Offer and this must include details of the action they intend to take. They should 
consult children and young people with SEN or disabilities and the parents of 
children with SEN or disabilities in relation to the action they intend to take.  

4.27 Where appropriate, local authorities should also feed back comments to 
commissioners of services and the services themselves, including those in 
neighbouring local authorities. Comments should be used to inform commissioning 
decisions and decisions about the specific nature and type of provision that local 
families want. 

4.28 Local authorities should ensure they have access to good quality data to inform their 
decisions when reviewing provision and taking action to develop their Local Offer.  

What must be included in the Local Offer? 
4.29 Local authorities must include information about all the areas specified in the 

Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014. They may wish to 
include wider information, taking account of their discussions with children with SEN 
or disabilities and their parents and young people with SEN or disabilities.  

4.30 The Local Offer must include information about: 

• special educational, health and social care provision for children and young 
people with SEN or disabilities – this should include online and blended 
learning 

• details of how parents and young people can request an assessment for an 
EHC plan 

• arrangements for identifying and assessing children and young people’s SEN  
– this should include arrangements for EHC needs assessments 

• other educational provision, for example sports or arts provision, paired 
reading schemes 

• post-16 education and training provision 

• apprenticeships, traineeships and supported internships 

Page 138



67 
 

• information about provision to assist in preparing children and young people 
for adulthood (see paragraphs 4.52 to 4.56) 

• arrangements for travel to and from schools, post-16 institutions and early 
years providers 

• support to help children and young people move between phases of 
education (for example from early years to school, from primary to secondary) 

• sources of information, advice and support in the local authority’s area relating 
to SEN and disabilities including information and advice provided under 
Section 32 of the Children and Families Act 2014, forums for parents and 
carers and support groups 

• childcare, including suitable provision for disabled children and those with 
SEN 

• leisure activities 

• support available to young people in higher education, particularly the 
Disabled Students Allowance (DSA) and the process and timescales for 
making an application for DSA 

• arrangements for resolving disagreements and for mediation, and details 
about making complaints  

• parents’ and young people’s rights to appeal a decision of the local authority 
to the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and disability) in respect of SEN and provision 

• the local authority’s accessibility strategy (under paragraph 1 Schedule 10 to 
the Equality Act 2010) 

• institutions approved under Section 41 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

4.31 The Local Offer should cover: 

• support available to all children and young people with SEN or disabilities 
from universal services such as schools and GPs 

• targeted services for children and young people with SEN or disabilities who 
require additional short-term support over and above that provided routinely 
as part of universal services 

• specialist services for children and young people with SEN or disabilities who 
require specialised, longer term support 

Page 139



68 
 

Educational, health and care provision 

Educational and training provision 

4.32 The local authority must set out in its Local Offer an authority-wide description of the 
special educational and training provision it expects to be available in its area and 
outside its area for children and young people in its area who have SEN or 
disabilities from providers of relevant early years education, maintained schools, 
non-maintained special schools, pupil referral units, independent institutions 
approved under section 41 of the Children and Families Act 2014, and the full range 
of post-16 providers. This includes information about the arrangements the local 
authority has for funding children and young people with SEN, including any 
agreements about how providers will use any budget that has been delegated to 
them. 

It includes the arrangements providers have in place for: 

• identifying the particular SEN of children and young people 

• consulting with parents of disabled children with SEN and disabled young 
people with SEN or disabilities 

• securing the services, provision and equipment required by children and 
young people with SEN or disabilities 

• supporting disabled children and young people and those with SEN in moving 
between phases of education and preparing for adulthood and independent 
living 

and information about: 

• approaches to teaching, adaptations to the curriculum and the learning 
environment  for children and young people with SEN or disabilities and 
additional learning support for those with SEN 

• enabling available facilities to be accessed by disabled children and young 
people and those with SEN (this should include ancillary aids and assistive 
technology, including Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC)) 

• assessing and reviewing pupils’ and students’ progress towards outcomes, 
including how providers work with parents and young people in doing so 

• securing expertise among teachers, lecturers or other professionals to support 
children and young people with SEN or disabilities – this should include 
professional development to secure expertise at different levels: 

Page 140



69 
 

o awareness (to give a basic awareness of a particular type of SEN, 
appropriate for all staff who will come into contact with a child or young 
person with that type of SEN) 

o enhanced (how to adapt teaching and learning to meet a particular 
type of SEN, for early years practitioners, class and subject 
teachers/lecturers and teaching assistants working directly with the 
child or young person on a regular basis), and  

o specialist (in-depth training about a particular type of SEN, for staff 
who will be advising and supporting those with enhanced-level skills 
and knowledge) 

• assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the education and training 
provision the local authority makes for children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities 

• activities that are available to disabled children and young people and those 
with SEN, including physical activities and extra-curricular activities, and 

• supporting the emotional, mental and social development of disabled children 
and young people and those with SEN (this should include extra pastoral 
support arrangements for listening to the views of pupils and students with 
SEN and measures to prevent bullying) 

4.33 The above will include arrangements for supporting children who are looked after by 
the local authority and have SEN. 

Schools 

4.34 Schools have additional duties under the Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Regulations 2014. Schools must publish more detailed information about their 
arrangements for identifying, assessing and making provision for pupils with SEN 
(see Chapter 6, Schools).  

4.35 The information must also include information about the arrangements for the 
admission of disabled pupils, the steps taken to prevent disabled pupils from being 
treated less favourably than other pupils, the facilities provided to assist access for 
disabled pupils and the schools’ accessibility plans. The school-specific information 
should relate to the schools’ arrangements for providing a graduated response to 
children’s SEN. It should elaborate on the information provided at a local authority 
wide level in the Local Offer.  

Page 141



70 
 

4.36 The Local Offer must make clear where this information can be found and must 
make clear how young people and parents can find relevant information published by 
post-16 institutions about their SEN provision (see Chapter 7).  

Early years 

4.37 When securing funded early education for two-, three- and four-year-olds local 
authorities must promote equality of opportunity for disabled children. This should 
include securing relevant expertise among early years providers and working with 
parents to ensure that appropriate provision is in place to enable each child to 
flourish. Local authorities must also secure sufficient childcare for working parents 
and must work with providers to plan and manage local provision to meet the needs 
of families and children in their area. 

4.38 Local authorities must publish in their Local Offer information about childcare 
options available to parents including the range of expertise to support children with 
SEN or disabilities and should publish information about: 

• free early education places and eligibility criteria 

• relevant services from other agencies such as Portage, Health Visitors and 
Early Support 

• arrangements for identifying and assessing children’s needs in the early years 

• support available to parents to aid their child’s development at home, and 

• arrangements for reviewing children’s progress, including progress checks 
and health and development reviews between the ages of 2 and 3 

Other educational provision 

4.39 Information about educational provision must include where to find the list of non-
maintained special schools and independent schools catering wholly or mainly for 
children with SEN, and Independent Specialist Colleges in England, including details 
of which institutions have been approved by the Secretary of State, to give parents 
and young people a statutory right to request that they are named on an EHC plan. It 
should also include: 

• the special educational provision (including Area SEN co-ordinators 
(SENCOs), and SEN support or learning support services, sensory support 
services or specialist teachers, and therapies such as speech and language 
therapy where they educate or train a child or young person) made available 
to mainstream schools, early years providers, special units, alternative 

Page 142



71 
 

provision and other settings (including home-based services), whether 
provided by the local authority or others 

• local arrangements for collaboration between institutions to support those with 
SEN (for example, cluster or partnership working between post-16 institutions 
or shared services between schools) 

• the local authority’s arrangements for providing top-up funding for children 
and young people with high needs in mainstream and specialist settings 

• support for children and young people who have been released from custody 
– this should include support offered by Youth Offending Teams in relation to 
education 

Health  

4.40 Building on the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment the Local Offer must include 
information about provision made by health professionals for children and young 
people with SEN or disabilities. This must include: 

• services assisting relevant early years providers, schools and post-16 
institutions to support children and young people with medical conditions, and 

• arrangements for making those services which are available to all children 
and young people in the area accessible to those with SEN or disabilities 

It should also include: 

• speech and language therapy and other therapies such as physiotherapy and 
occupational therapy and services relating to mental health (these must be 
treated as special educational provision where they educate or train a child or 
young person (see Chapter 9 paragraphs 9.73 to 9.76) 

• wheelchair services and community equipment, children’s community nursing, 
continence services 

• palliative and respite care and other provision for children with complex health 
needs 

• other services, such as emergency care provision and habilitation support 

• provision for children and young people’s continuing care arrangements 
(including information on how these are aligned with the local process for 
developing EHC plans, which is described in Chapter 3), and 

Page 143



72 
 

• support for young people when moving between healthcare services for 
children to healthcare services for adults 

4.41 Local authorities and their partner CCGs must work together to ensure that this 
information is available through the Local Offer.  

Social care and other provision 

4.42 The Local Offer must include information about social care services and other 
provision supporting children and young people with SEN or disabilities. This should 
include: 

• childcare 

• leisure activities  

• support for young people when moving between social care services for 
children to social care services for adults, including information on how and 
when the transfer is made 

• support for young people in living independently and finding appropriate 
accommodation and employment  

4.43 Under the Care Act 2014 local authorities must provide an information and advice 
service on the adult care and support system. This should include information on 
types of care and support, local provision and how to access it, accessing financial 
advice in relation to it and how to raise concerns. Local authorities must indicate in 
their Local Offer where this information can be found. 

4.44 Local authorities must provide a range of short breaks for disabled children, young 
people and their families, and prepare a short breaks duty statement giving details of 
the local range of services and how they can be accessed, including any eligibility 
criteria (The Breaks for Carers of Disabled Children Regulations 2011). Local 
authorities must publish a short breaks statement on their website and review it on a 
regular basis, taking account of the needs of local parents and carers. The statement 
will therefore form a core part of the Local Offer. 

4.45 Parent carers of disabled children often have significant needs for support, to enable 
them to support their children effectively. It is important that children’s and adult 
services work together to ensure needs are met. The Local Offer must set out the 
support groups and others who can support parent carers of disabled children and 
how to contact them. Part 3 of the Children Act 1989 gives individuals with parental 
responsibility for a disabled child the right to an assessment of their needs by a local 
authority. Local authorities must assess on the appearance of need, as well as on 
request, and must explicitly have regard to the wellbeing of parent carers in 

Page 144



73 
 

undertaking an assessment of their needs. Following a parent carer’s needs 
assessment, the local authority must decide whether the parent carer needs support 
to enable them to support their disabled child and, if so, decide whether to provide 
services under section 17 of the Children Act 1989. Relevant services may include 
short breaks provision and support in the home. 

Training and apprenticeships  
4.46 The Local Offer must identify training opportunities, supported employment services, 

apprenticeships, traineeships, supported internships and support available from 
supported employment services available to young people in the area to provide a 
smooth transition from education and training into employment. This should include 
information about additional support available to young people – for example via the 
Department for Work and Pensions’ Access to Work fund – such as teaching and 
learning support, job coaching in the workplace, and provision of specialist 
equipment. Local authorities should engage with providers of apprenticeships and 
traineeships and educational institutions offering supported internships to ensure that 
the information they publish is of good quality and to identify providers who have 
particular expertise relevant to young people with SEN or disabilities. 

4.47 Local authorities should include information on how young people can apply for 
these opportunities or make clear in their Local Offer where this information can be 
found. The information should include any entry requirements, including age limits 
and educational attainment. 

Transport 
4.48 Transport can be an important factor in the support for children and young people 

with SEN or disabilities. The Local Offer must include information about 
arrangements for transport provision, including for those up to age 25 with an EHC 
plan, and this should include local authorities’ policy statements. 

4.49 Local authorities must ensure that suitable travel arrangements are made where 
necessary to facilitate an eligible child’s attendance at school. Section 508B of the 
Education Act 1996 requires local authorities to make such school travel 
arrangements as they consider necessary for children within their area. Such 
arrangements must be provided free of charge. Section 508C of the Act gives local 
authorities discretionary powers to make school travel arrangements for other 
children not covered by section 508B. Such transport does not have to be provided 
free of charge.  

4.50 Local authorities must publish a transport policy statement each year setting out the 
travel arrangements they will make to support young people aged 16-19 and 
learners with learning difficulties and/or disabilities (LDD) aged up to 25, to access 

Page 145



74 
 

further education. This should include any arrangements for free or subsidised 
transport. 

4.51 Local authorities must include in their Local Offer information about: 

• any specific arrangements for specialised transport (for example, specially 
fitted buses) 

• any support available from the local authority or others with transport costs 

and should include information about: 

• any support that is offered to children and young people to help them use 
transport, including public transport, and 

• any training given to aid independent travel 

Support available to children and young people to help them 
prepare for adulthood 

4.52 Local authorities must set out in the Local Offer the support available to help 
children and young people with SEN or disabilities move into adulthood. Support 
should reflect evidence of what works in achieving good outcomes and must include 
information about preparing for and finding employment, finding somewhere to live, 
and participating in the community.  

4.53 Preparing for and finding employment should include information about: 

• pathways to employment such as apprenticeships, traineeships and 
supported internships and how to apply for them 

• support available from supported employment services, such as job coaches, 
and how to obtain that support 

• support available from employment agencies  

• support available from Year 8 to help children and young people plan their 
careers, including signposting to where they can obtain information and 
advice about setting up their own enterprise, and 

• financial support available, including from the Department for Work and 
Pensions, when people with learning difficulties or disabilities are looking for 
work or once they are employed, including ‘in work’ benefit calculations and 
specialist advice on Work Choice, Residential Training, The Work Programme 
and Access to Work  

Page 146



75 
 

4.54 Finding somewhere to live should include information about: 

• finding accommodation, including information about different housing options 
such as social housing, housing association accommodation, private renting, 
shared housing and shared ownership 

• how to apply for accommodation, and where to get financial and other support 
(such as a personal assistant, assistive technology or modifications to a 
home) and more detailed advice on accommodation 

• advice, for people eligible for social care or health support, about what 
support is available to help them personally, for example in managing their 
Personal Budget or recruiting a personal assistant, and 

• opportunities and support to learn the skills needed to live in supported, semi-
supported or independent accommodation 

4.55 Participating in the community should include information about: 

• leisure and social activities, including opportunities for influencing local 
decision-making 

• how young people can access mainstream community facilities and local 
youth services (for example, access to staff with expertise in supporting young 
people with different needs) 

• volunteering opportunities and the support available to access them 

• care support available to help young people access social opportunities (for 
example, a personal assistant or assistive technology) and develop 
friendships, and how to apply for that support, and  

• support in using the internet and social media to find information and develop 
and maintain friendships, including where they can go for guidance on using 
the internet safely and how to protect themselves against cyber-bullying and 
exploitation 

4.56 The Care Act 2014 requires local authorities to establish and maintain a service for 
providing people in its area with information and advice about the adult care and 
support system. 

  

Page 147



76 
 

Information about how to seek an EHC needs assessment 
4.57 The Local Offer must include information about how to request a needs assessment 

for an EHC plan. A request is likely to happen where special educational provision 
currently being made for them by their early years setting, school or college from 
their own resources, is not enabling the child or young person to make adequate 
progress. 

4.58 The information should include: 

• how the local authority will consider a request for an assessment and inform 
parents and young people of their decision 

• how parents, children and young people will be involved in the assessment 
process 

• what support is available to help families during the needs assessment 
process and the development of an EHC plan 

• the timescales involved in the assessment process 

• the process for making an EHC plan 

and must include: 

• information about the option of having a Personal Budget, including a local 
policy for Personal Budgets, produced with parents and young people. This 
should provide: 

o a description of the services across education, health and social care 
that currently lend themselves to the use of Personal Budgets 

o the mechanisms of control for funding available to parents and young 
people including direct payments, arrangements and third party 
arrangements (see Chapter 9, Education, Health and Care needs 
assessments and plans) 

o clear and simple statements setting out eligibility criteria and the 
decision-making processes that underpin them 

o the support available to help families manage a Personal Budget  

• arrangements for complaints, mediation, disagreement resolution and appeals 

Page 148



77 
 

Information, advice and support 
4.59 The Local Offer must provide information for children, parents and young people 

about where to get information and advice. 

4.60 All local authorities must have arrangements for information and advice and should 
ensure that advice and guidance for children and young people is tailored 
appropriately for them (see Chapter 2). 

4.61 Clear, comprehensive and accessible information should be published about the 
support available to children and young people with SEN and disabled children and 
young people and the opportunities to participate in strategic decision-making. Local 
authorities and CCGs must ensure that they publicise the availability of information 
and advice and opportunities to participate in strategic decision-making. Early years 
providers, schools, colleges, and other relevant services should tell parents and 
young people about the availability of local impartial information, advice and support. 
For young people this should include access to information, advice and support on 
preparing for adulthood, such as advice and support on securing paid employment 
and/or meaningful occupation, independent living and finding accommodation, health 
and social care and participating actively in their local communities. 

Publishing the Local Offer  
4.62 Local authorities must make their Local Offer widely accessible and on a website. 

They must publish their arrangements for enabling those without access to the 
internet to get the information. They must also enable access for different groups, 
including disabled people and those with different types of SEN. 

  

Page 149



78 
 

5 Early years providers  

What this chapter covers 
This chapter explains the action early years providers should take to meet their 
duties in relation to identifying and supporting all children with special educational 
needs (SEN), whether or not they have an Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan.  

Relevant legislation 
Primary 
The following sections of the Children and Families Act 2014: 

• Co-operating generally: governing body functions: Section 29  

• Children and young people with SEN but no EHC plan: Section 34 

• Children with SEN in maintained nurseries: Section 35 

• Using best endeavours to secure special educational provision: Section 66 

• SEN co-ordinators: Section 64 

• Informing parents and young people: Section 68 

• SEN information report: Section 69 

• Duty to support pupils with medical conditions: Section 100 

The Equality Act 2010 

Regulations 
The Statutory Framework for the Early Years Foundation Stage 

The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014  

Page 150



79 
 

Improving outcomes: high aspirations and expectations 
for children with SEN  

5.1  All children are entitled to an education that enables them to: 

• achieve the best possible educational and other outcomes, and 

• become confident young children with a growing ability to communicate 
their own views and ready to make the transition into compulsory education 

5.2 Providers of early years education, that is all early years providers in the maintained, 
private, voluntary and independent sectors that a local authority funds, are required 
to have regard to this Code including the principles set out in Chapter 1.  

5.3 The Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) is the statutory framework for children 
aged 0 to 5 years. All early years providers must follow the safeguarding and 
welfare requirements of the EYFS and the learning and development requirements, 
unless an exemption from these has been granted.  

5.4 Providers must have arrangements in place to support children with SEN or 
disabilities. These arrangements should include a clear approach to identifying and 
responding to SEN. The benefits of early identification are widely recognised – 
identifying need at the earliest point, and then making effective provision, improves 
long-term outcomes for children. 

5.5 All those who work with young children should be alert to emerging difficulties and 
respond early. In particular, parents know their children best and it is important that 
all practitioners listen and understand when parents express concerns about their 
child’s development. They should also listen to and address any concerns raised by 
children themselves.  

5.6 Maintained nursery schools must: 

• use their best endeavours to make sure that a child with SEN gets the 
support they need 

• ensure that children with SEN engage in the activities of school alongside 
children who do not have SEN 

• designate a teacher to be responsible for co-ordinating SEN provision (the 
SEN co-ordinator, or SENCO) 

• inform parents when they are making special educational provision for a 
child 

  

Page 151



80 
 

They must also prepare a report on:  

• the implementation of their SEN policy 

• their arrangements for the admission of disabled children 

• the steps being taken to prevent disabled children from being treated less 
favourably than others 

• the facilities provided to enable access to the school for disabled children, 
and  

• their accessibility plan showing how they plan to improve access over time 

5.7 Early years providers must provide information for parents on how they support 
children with SEN and disabilities, and should regularly review and evaluate the 
quality and breadth of the support they offer or can access for children with SEN or 
disabilities. Maintained nursery schools and all providers of relevant early education 
to children with SEN must co-operate with the local authority in reviewing the 
provision that is available locally (see Chapter 3), and in developing the Local Offer 
(see Chapter 4). Providers should work in partnership with other local education 
providers to explore how different types of need can be met most effectively.  

5.8 Local authorities must ensure that all providers they fund in the maintained, private, 
voluntary and independent sectors are aware of the requirement on them to have 
regard to the SEN Code of Practice and to meet the needs of children with SEN and 
disabilities. When securing funded early education for two-, three- and four-year-olds 
local authorities should promote equality and inclusion for children with disabilities or 
SEN. This includes removing barriers that prevent children accessing early 
education and working with parents to give each child support to fulfil their potential. 

5.9 Where assessment indicates that support from specialist services is required, it is 
important that children receive it as quickly as possible. Joint commissioning 
arrangements should seek to ensure that there are sufficient services to meet the 
likely need in an area (Chapter 3, Working together across Education, Health and 
Care for joint outcomes). The Local Offer should set out clearly what support is 
available from different services, including early years, and how it can be accessed. 

Equality Act 2010 
5.10 All early years providers have duties under the Equality Act 2010. In particular, they 

must not discriminate against, harass or victimise disabled children, and they must 
make reasonable adjustments, including the provision of auxiliary aids and services 
for disabled children, to prevent them being put at substantial disadvantage. This 
duty is anticipatory – it requires thought to be given in advance to what disabled 
children and young people might require and what adjustments might need to be 

Page 152



81 
 

made to prevent that disadvantage. All publicly funded early years providers must 
promote equality of opportunity for disabled children. There is further detail on the 
disability discrimination duties under the Equality Act in Chapter 1, Introduction. The 
guidance in this chapter should be read in the light of the guidance in Chapter 1 
which focuses on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning. 

Medical conditions 
5.11 All early years providers should take steps to ensure that children with medical 

conditions get the support required to meet those needs. This is set out in the EYFS 
framework.  

SEN in the early years 
5.12 All early years providers are required to have arrangements in place to identify and 

support children with SEN or disabilities and to promote equality of opportunity for 
children in their care. These requirements are set out in the EYFS framework. The 
EYFS framework also requires practitioners to review children’s progress and share 
a summary with parents. In addition, the ‘Early years outcomes’ is an aid for 
practitioners, including child minders, nurseries and others such as inspectors, to 
help them to understand the outcomes they should be working towards. Links to the 
EYFS framework and the guide to early years outcomes are provided in the 
References section under Chapter 5. 

5.13 Some children need support for SEN and disabilities at home or in informal settings 
before, or as well as, the support they receive from an early years provider. Provision 
for children who need such support should form part of the local joint commissioning 
arrangements and be included in the Local Offer. 

From birth to two – early identification 
5.14 Parents’ early observations of their child are crucial. Children with more complex 

developmental and sensory needs may be identified at birth. Health assessments, 
such as the hearing screening test, which is used to check the hearing of all new-
born babies, enable very early identification of a range of medical and physical 
difficulties. Health services, including paediatricians, the family’s general practitioner, 
and health visitors, should work with the family, support them to understand their 
child’s needs and help them to access early support.  

5.15 Where a health body is of the opinion that a young child under compulsory school 
age has, or probably has, SEN, they must inform the child’s parents and bring the 
child to the attention of the appropriate local authority. The health body must also 
give the parents the opportunity to discuss their opinion and let them know about any 
voluntary organisations that are likely to be able to provide advice or assistance. This 

Page 153



82 
 

includes the educational advice, guidance and any intervention to be put in place at 
an early point and before the child starts school.  

5.16 This support can take a number of forms, including: 

• specialist support from health visitors, educational psychologists, speech and 
language therapists or specialist teachers, such as a teacher of the deaf or vision 
impaired. These specialists may visit families at home to provide practical 
support, answering questions and clarifying needs 

• training for parents in using early learning programmes to promote play, 
communication and language development 

• home-based programmes, such as Portage, which offer a carefully structured 
system to help parents support their child’s early learning and development 

5.17 Early Support supports the better delivery and co-ordination of services for disabled 
children, and their families, including training for professional or trained independent 
volunteers providing a single point of contact or key working. (See References 
section under Chapter 2 for a link to the Early Support Programme.) 

5.18 From September 2014, 2-year-olds for whom Disability Living Allowance is paid will 
be entitled to free early education. 

5.19 Information about these services should be included in the Local Offer. 

Early years provision 
5.20 The majority of 3- and 4-year-olds, and many younger children, attend some form of 

early years provision. The EYFS framework sets the standards that all Ofsted-
registered early years providers, and schools offering early years provision, must 
meet to ensure that children learn and develop well and are kept healthy and safe. 
This includes ongoing assessment of children’s progress. Early years providers and 
educational settings should have arrangements in place that include a clear 
approach to assessing SEN. This should be part of the setting’s overall approach to 
monitoring the progress and development of all children. 

5.21 In assessing progress of children in the early years, practitioners can use the non-
statutory Early Years Outcomes guidance as a tool to assess the extent to which a 
young child is developing at expected levels for their age. The guidance sets out 
what most children do at each stage of their learning and development. These 
include typical behaviours across the seven areas of learning: 

• communication and language 

Page 154



83 
 

• physical development 

• personal, social and emotional development 

• literacy 

• mathematics 

• understanding of the world 

• expressive arts and design 

5.22 The EYFS framework includes two specific points for providing written assessments 
for parents and other professionals – when the child is aged two and at the end of 
the reception year – which are detailed below. 

Progress check at age two 

5.23 When a child is aged between two and three, early years practitioners must review 
progress and provide parents with a short written summary of their child’s 
development, focusing in particular on communication and language, physical 
development and personal, social and emotional development. This progress check 
must identify the child’s strengths and any areas where the child’s progress is 
slower than expected. If there are significant emerging concerns (or identified SEN 
or disability) practitioners should develop a targeted plan to support the child, 
involving other professionals such as, for example, the setting’s SENCO or the Area 
SENCO, as appropriate. The summary must highlight areas where: 

• good progress is being made 

• some additional support might be needed  

• there is a concern that a child may have a developmental delay (which may 
indicate SEN or disability) 

5.24 It must describe the activities and strategies the provider intends to adopt to address 
any issues or concerns. If a child moves settings between the ages of two and three 
it is expected that the progress check will be undertaken in the setting where the 
child has spent most time. 

5.25 Health visitors currently check children’s physical development milestones between 
ages two and three as part of the universal Healthy Child Programme. From 2015, it 
is proposed to introduce an integrated review that will cover the development areas 
in the Healthy Child Programme two-year review and the EYFS two-year progress 
check. The integrated review will: 

Page 155



84 
 

• identify the child’s progress, strengths and needs at this age in order to 
promote positive outcomes in health and wellbeing, learning and 
development 

• enable appropriate intervention and support for children and their families, 
where progress is less than expected, and  

• generate information which can be used to plan services and contribute to 
the reduction of inequalities in children’s outcomes 

Assessment at the end of the EYFS – the EYFS profile 

5.26 The EYFS profile provides parents, practitioners and teachers with a well-rounded 
picture of a child’s knowledge, understanding and abilities. A profile is usually 
completed for children in the final term of the year in which they turn five. It is 
particularly helpful for children with SEN and should inform plans for future learning 
and identify any additional needs for support.  

Identifying needs in the early years  
5.27 In addition to the formal checks, early years practitioners working with children 

should monitor and review the progress and development of all children throughout 
the early years.  

5.28 Where a child appears to be behind expected levels, or where a child’s progress 
gives cause for concern, practitioners should consider all the information about the 
child’s learning and development from within and beyond the setting, from formal 
checks, from practitioner observations and from any more detailed assessment of 
the child’s needs. From within the setting practitioners should particularly consider 
information on a child’s progress in communication and language, physical 
development and personal, social and emotional development. Where any specialist 
advice has been sought from beyond the setting, this should also inform decisions 
about whether or not a child has SEN. All the information should be brought together 
with the observations of parents and considered with them. 

5.29 A delay in learning and development in the early years may or may not indicate that 
a child has SEN, that is, that they have a learning difficulty or disability that calls for 
special educational provision. Equally, difficult or withdrawn behaviour does not 
necessarily mean that a child has SEN. However, where there are concerns, there 
should be an assessment to determine whether there are any causal factors such as 
an underlying learning or communication difficulty. If it is thought housing, family or 
other domestic circumstances may be contributing to the presenting behaviour, a 
multi-agency approach, supported by the use of approaches such as the Early Help 
Assessment, should be adopted. 

Page 156



85 
 

5.30 Identifying and assessing SEN for young children whose first language is not English 
requires particular care. Early years practitioners should look carefully at all aspects 
of a child’s learning and development to establish whether any delay is related to 
learning English as an additional language or if it arises from SEN or disability. 
Difficulties related solely to learning English as an additional language are not SEN. 

5.31 Where a child has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than their peers, or a 
disability that prevents or hinders a child from making use of the facilities in the 
setting and requires special educational provision, the setting should make that 
provision. In all cases, early identification and intervention can significantly reduce 
the need for more costly interventions at a later stage. 

5.32 Special educational provision should be matched to the child’s identified SEN. 
Children’s SEN are generally thought of in the following four broad areas of need 
and support – see Chapter 6, paragraph 6.28 onwards, for a fuller explanation: 

• communication and interaction 

• cognition and learning 

• social, emotional and mental health 

• sensory and/or physical needs 

5.33 These areas give an overview of the range of needs that providers should plan for. 
However, individual children often have needs that cut across all these areas and 
their needs may change over time. For instance speech, language and 
communication needs can also be a feature of a number of other areas of SEN, and 
children with an Autism Spectrum Disorder may have needs across all areas. The 
special educational provision made for a child should always be based on an 
understanding of their particular strengths and needs and should seek to address 
them all, using well-evidenced interventions targeted at areas of difficulty and, where 
necessary, specialist equipment or software. This will help to overcome barriers to 
learning and participation. Support should be family centred and should consider the 
individual family’s needs and the best ways to support them. 

5.34 Reviewing the effectiveness of interventions in enabling children to make progress 
can itself be part of the assessment of need, informing the next steps to be taken as 
part of a graduated approach to support, as described in ‘SEN support in the early 
years’ below. It may be necessary to test out interventions as part of this process, 
both to judge their effectiveness for the child and to provide further information about 
the precise nature of their needs. 

Page 157



86 
 

5.35 There is a wide range of information available on early years and early intervention 
and on different areas of need and the most effective interventions. For more 
information and links to useful resources see Annex 2: Improving practice and staff 
training in education settings. 

SEN support in the early years  
5.36 It is particularly important in the early years that there is no delay in making any 

necessary special educational provision. Delay at this stage can give rise to learning 
difficulty and subsequently to loss of self-esteem, frustration in learning and to 
behaviour difficulties. Early action to address identified needs is critical to the future 
progress and improved outcomes that are essential in helping the child to prepare for 
adult life (Chapter 8, Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years). 

5.37 Where a setting identifies a child as having SEN they must work in partnership with 
parents to establish the support the child needs. 

5.38 Where a setting makes special educational provision for a child with SEN they 
should inform the parents and a maintained nursery school must inform the parents. 
All settings should adopt a graduated approach with four stages of action: assess, 
plan, do and review. 

Assess 

5.39 In identifying a child as needing SEN support, the early years practitioner, working 
with the setting SENCO and the child’s parents, will have carried out an analysis of 
the child’s needs. This initial assessment should be reviewed regularly to ensure that 
support is matched to need. Where there is little or no improvement in the child’s 
progress, more specialist assessment may be called for from specialist teachers or 
from health, social services or other agencies beyond the setting. Where 
professionals are not already working with the setting, the SENCO should contact 
them, with the parents’ agreement. 

Plan 

5.40 Where it is decided to provide SEN support, and having formally notified the parents, 
(see 5.38 above), the practitioner and the SENCO should agree, in consultation with 
the parent, the outcomes they are seeking, the interventions and support to be put in 
place, the expected impact on progress, development or behaviour, and a clear date 
for review. Plans should take into account the views of the child. The support and 
intervention provided should be selected to meet the outcomes identified for the 
child, based on reliable evidence of effectiveness, and provided by practitioners with 
relevant skills and knowledge. Any related staff development needs should be 
identified and addressed.  

Page 158



87 
 

5.41 Parents should be involved in planning support and, where appropriate, in reinforcing 
the provision or contributing to progress at home.  

Do 

5.42 The early years practitioner, usually the child’s key person, remains responsible for 
working with the child on a daily basis. With support from the SENCO, they should 
oversee the implementation of the interventions or programmes agreed as part of 
SEN support. The SENCO should support the practitioner in assessing the child’s 
response to the action taken, in problem solving and advising on the effective 
implementation of support. 

Review 

5.43 The effectiveness of the support and its impact on the child’s progress should be 
reviewed in line with the agreed date. The impact and quality of the support should 
be evaluated by the practitioner and the SENCO working with the child’s parents and 
taking into account the child’s views. They should agree any changes to the 
outcomes and support for the child in light of the child’s progress and development. 
Parents should have clear information about the impact of the support provided and 
be involved in planning next steps. 

5.44 This cycle of action should be revisited in increasing detail and with increasing 
frequency, to identify the best way of securing good progress. At each stage parents 
should be engaged with the setting, contributing their insights to assessment and 
planning. Intended outcomes should be shared with parents and reviewed with them, 
along with action taken by the setting, at agreed times. 

5.45 The graduated approach should be led and co-ordinated by the setting SENCO 
working with and supporting individual practitioners in the setting and informed by 
EYFS materials, the Early Years Outcomes guidance and Early Support resources 
(information is available at the National Children’s Bureau website – see the 
References section under Chapter 5 for the link). 

5.46 Where a child has an EHC plan, the local authority must review that plan as a 
minimum every twelve months. As part of the review, the local authority can ask 
settings, and require maintained nursery schools, to convene and hold the annual 
review meeting on its behalf. Further information about EHC plan reviews and the 
role of early years settings is in Chapter 9, Education, Health and Care needs 
assessments and plans. 

Page 159



88 
 

Transition 

5.47 SEN support should include planning and preparing for transition, before a child 
moves into another setting or school. This can also include a review of the SEN 
support being provided or the EHC plan. To support the transition, information 
should be shared by the current setting with the receiving setting or school. The 
current setting should agree with parents the information to be shared as part of this 
planning process 

Involving specialists 

5.48 Where a child continues to make less than expected progress, despite evidence-
based support and interventions that are matched to the child’s area of need, 
practitioners should consider involving appropriate specialists, for example, health 
visitors, speech and language therapists, Portage workers, educational 
psychologists or specialist teachers, who may be able to identify effective strategies, 
equipment, programmes or other interventions to enable the child to make progress 
towards the desired learning and development outcomes.  The decision to involve 
specialists should be taken with the child’s parents. 

Requesting an Education, Health and Care needs assessment 

5.49 Where, despite the setting having taken relevant and purposeful action to identify, 
assess and meet the special educational needs of the child, the child has not made 
expected progress, the setting should consider requesting an Education, Health and 
Care needs assessment (see Chapter 9, Education, Health and Care needs 
assessments and plans).  

Record keeping 

5.50 Practitioners must maintain a record of children under their care as required under 
the EYFS framework. Such records about their children must be available to parents 
and they must include how the setting supports children with SEN and disabilities. 

Keeping provision under review 
5.51 Providers should review how well equipped they are to provide support across the 

four broad areas of SEN. Information on these areas is collected through the Early 
Years Census, and forms part of the statutory publication ‘Children and Young 
People with SEN: an analysis’ which is issued by DfE each year. 

The role of the SENCO in early years provision 
5.52 A maintained nursery school must ensure that there is a qualified teacher 

designated as the SENCO in order to ensure the detailed implementation of support 

Page 160



89 
 

for children with SEN. This individual should also have the prescribed qualification 
for SEN Co-ordination or relevant experience. 

5.53 The EYFS framework requires other early years providers to have arrangements in 
place for meeting children’s SEN. Those in group provision are expected to identify a 
SENCO. Childminders are encouraged to identify a person to act as SENCO and 
childminders who are registered with a childminder agency or who are part of a 
network may wish to share that role between them. 

5.54 The role of the SENCO involves: 

• ensuring all practitioners in the setting understand their responsibilities to 
children with SEN and the setting’s approach to identifying and meeting 
SEN 

• advising and supporting colleagues 

• ensuring parents are closely involved throughout and that their insights 
inform action taken by the setting, and 

• liaising with professionals or agencies beyond the setting 

The role of the Area SENCO 
5.55 To fulfil their role in identifying and planning for the needs of children with SEN, local 

authorities should ensure that there is sufficient expertise and experience amongst 
local early years providers to support children with SEN. Local authorities often make 
use of Area SENCOs to provide advice and guidance to early years providers on the 
development of inclusive early learning environments. The Area SENCO helps make 
the links between education, health and social care to facilitate appropriate early 
provision for children with SEN and their transition to compulsory schooling. 

5.56 Typically, the role of the Area SENCO includes: 

• providing advice and practical support to early years providers about 
approaches to identification, assessment and intervention within the SEN 
Code of Practice 

• providing day-to-day support for setting-based SENCOs in ensuring 
arrangements are in place to support children with SEN 

• strengthening the links between the settings, parents, schools, social care 
and health services 

• developing and disseminating good practice 

Page 161



90 
 

• supporting the development and delivery of training both for individual 
settings and on a wider basis 

• developing links with existing SENCO networks to support smooth 
transitions to school nursery and reception classes, and 

• informing parents of and working with local impartial Information, Advice 
and Support Services, to promote effective work with parents of children in 
the early years 

5.57 The Area SENCO plays an important part in planning for children with SEN to 
transfer between early years provision and schools. 

5.58 Where there is an Area SENCO in place, they will want to work with early years 
providers who are registered with either Ofsted or a childminder agency. They 
should consider how they work with and provide advice to childminder agencies and 
their registered providers in supporting children with SEN. 

Funding for SEN support in the early years 
5.59 Local authorities must ensure that all providers delivering funded early education 

places meet the needs of children with SEN and disabled children. In order to do this 
local authorities should make sure funding arrangements for early education reflect 
the need to provide suitable support for these children. 

5.60 Early years providers should consider how best to use their resources to support the 
progress of children with SEN.  

Page 162



91 
 

6 Schools 

What this chapter covers  
This chapter applies mostly to mainstream schools. The Equality Act duties 
described under ‘Equality and inclusion’ and the duty to publish an SEN information 
report under ‘Publishing information: SEN information report’ apply to special 
schools, as do schools’ duties in respect of EHC needs assessments and plans 
(Chapter 9 – Education, Health and Care needs assessments and plans). The 
chapter explains the action that mainstream schools should take to meet their duties 
in relation to identifying and supporting all children with special educational needs 
(SEN) whether or not they have an Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan.  

Relevant legislation 
Primary 
The following sections of the Children and Families Act 2014: 

• Co-operating generally: governing body functions: Section 29  

• Children and young people with special educational needs but no EHC 
plan: Section 29 

• Children with SEN in maintained nurseries and mainstream schools: 
Section 35 

• Using best endeavours to secure special educational provision: Section 66 

• SEN co-ordinators: Section 67 

• Informing parents and young people: Section 68 

• SEN information report: Section 69 

• Duty to support pupils with medical conditions: Section 100 

The Equality Act 2010 

Regulations 
The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014  

Page 163



92 
 

Improving outcomes: high aspirations and expectations 
for children and young people with SEN 

6.1 All children and young people are entitled to an appropriate education, one that is 
appropriate to their needs, promotes high standards and the fulfilment of potential. 
This should enable them to: 

• achieve their best 

• become confident individuals living fulfilling lives, and 

• make a successful transition into adulthood, whether into employment, 
further or higher education or training 

6.2 Every school is required to identify and address the SEN of the pupils that they 
support. Mainstream schools, which in this chapter includes maintained schools and 
academies that are not special schools, maintained nursery schools, 16 to19 
academies, alternative provision academies and Pupil Referral Units (PRUs), must: 

• use their best endeavours to make sure that a child with SEN gets the 
support they need – this means doing everything they can to meet children 
and young people’s SEN 

• ensure that children and young people with SEN engage in the activities of 
the school alongside pupils who do not have SEN 

• designate a teacher to be responsible for co-ordinating SEN provision – the 
SEN co-ordinator, or SENCO (this does not apply to 16 to 19 academies) 

• inform parents when they are making special educational provision for a 
child 

• prepare an SEN information report (see ‘Publishing information: SEN 
information report’, paragraph 6.78 onwards) and their arrangements for 
the admission of disabled children, the steps being taken to prevent 
disabled children from being treated less favourably than others, the 
facilities provided to enable access to the school for disabled children and 
their accessibility plan showing how they plan to improve access 
progressively over time 

6.3 There should be a member of the governing body or a sub-committee with specific 
oversight of the school’s arrangements for SEN and disability. School leaders should 
regularly review how expertise and resources used to address SEN can be used to 
build the quality of whole-school provision as part of their approach to school 
improvement. 

Page 164



93 
 

6.4 The quality of teaching for pupils with SEN, and the progress made by pupils, should 
be a core part of the school’s performance management arrangements and its 
approach to professional development for all teaching and support staff. School 
leaders and teaching staff, including the SENCO, should identify any patterns in the 
identification of SEN, both within the school and in comparison with national data, 
and use these to reflect on and reinforce the quality of teaching. Many aspects of this 
whole school approach have been piloted by Achievement for All – for further details 
and links to other sources of training and support materials, see Annex 2: Improving 
practice and staff training in education settings. 

6.5 The identification of SEN should be built into the overall approach to monitoring the 
progress and development of all pupils. 

6.6 A mainstream school’s arrangements for assessing and identifying pupils as having 
SEN should be agreed and set out as part of the Local Offer. A school should 
publish its arrangements as part of the information it makes available on SEN (see 
the Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014). 

6.7 In fulfilling these duties schools should have regard to the principles set out in 
Chapter 1. In particular, they should ensure that children, parents and young people 
are actively involved in decision-making throughout the approaches set out in this 
chapter.  

Equality and inclusion 
6.8 Schools support pupils with a wide range of SEN. They should regularly review and 

evaluate the breadth and impact of the support they offer or can access. Schools 
must co-operate with the local authority in reviewing the provision that is available 
locally (Chapter 3) and in developing the Local Offer (Chapter 4). Schools should 
also collaborate with other local education providers to explore how different needs 
can be met most effectively. They must have due regard to general duties to 
promote disability equality. 

6.9 All schools have duties under the Equality Act 2010 towards individual disabled 
children and young people. They must make reasonable adjustments, including the 
provision of auxiliary aids and services for disabled children, to prevent them being 
put at a substantial disadvantage. These duties are anticipatory – they require 
thought to be given in advance to what disabled children and young people might 
require and what adjustments might need to be made to prevent that disadvantage. 
Schools also have wider duties to prevent discrimination, to promote equality of 
opportunity and to foster good relations. 

Page 165



94 
 

6.10 Further duties are referred to in the Introduction. The guidance in this chapter should 
be read in the light of the principle in Chapter 1 which focuses on inclusive practice 
and removing barriers to learning. 

Medical conditions 
6.11 The Children and Families Act 2014 places a duty on maintained schools and 

academies to make arrangements to support pupils with medical conditions. 
Individual healthcare plans will normally specify the type and level of support 
required to meet the medical needs of such pupils. Where children and young people 
also have SEN, their provision should be planned and delivered in a co-ordinated 
way with the healthcare plan. Schools are required to have regard to statutory 
guidance ‘Supporting pupils at school with medical conditions’ (see the References 
section under Introduction for a link). 

Curriculum 
6.12 All pupils should have access to a broad and balanced curriculum. The National 

Curriculum Inclusion Statement states that teachers should set high expectations for 
every pupil, whatever their prior attainment. Teachers should use appropriate 
assessment to set targets which are deliberately ambitious. Potential areas of 
difficulty should be identified and addressed at the outset. Lessons should be 
planned to address potential areas of difficulty and to remove barriers to pupil 
achievement. In many cases, such planning will mean that pupils with SEN and 
disabilities will be able to study the full national curriculum. 

Careers guidance for children and young people 
6.13 Maintained schools and PRUs must ensure that pupils from Year 8 until Year 13 are 

provided with independent careers guidance. Academies are subject to this duty 
through their funding agreements. Chapter 8 provides more information about 
careers guidance for children and young people. 

Identifying SEN in schools 
6.14 All schools should have a clear approach to identifying and responding to SEN. The 

benefits of early identification are widely recognised – identifying need at the earliest 
point and then making effective provision improves long-term outcomes for the child 
or young person. 

6.15 A pupil has SEN where their learning difficulty or disability calls for special 
educational provision, namely provision different from or additional to that normally 
available to pupils of the same age. Making higher quality teaching normally 
available to the whole class is likely to mean that fewer pupils will require such 

Page 166



95 
 

support. Such improvements in whole-class provision tend to be more cost effective 
and sustainable. 

6.16 Schools should assess each pupil’s current skills and levels of attainment on entry, 
building on information from previous settings and key stages where appropriate. At 
the same time, schools should consider evidence that a pupil may have a disability 
under the Equality Act 2010 and, if so, what reasonable adjustments may need to be 
made for them. 

6.17 Class and subject teachers, supported by the senior leadership team, should make 
regular assessments of progress for all pupils. These should seek to identify pupils 
making less than expected progress given their age and individual circumstances. 
This can be characterised by progress which: 

• is significantly slower than that of their peers starting from the same 
baseline 

• fails to match or better the child’s previous rate of progress 

• fails to close the attainment gap between the child and their peers 

• widens the attainment gap 

6.18 It can include progress in areas other than attainment – for instance where a pupil 
needs to make additional progress with wider development or social needs in order 
to make a successful transition to adult life. 

6.19 The first response to such progress should be high quality teaching targeted at their 
areas of weakness. Where progress continues to be less than expected the class or 
subject teacher, working with the SENCO, should assess whether the child has SEN. 
While informally gathering evidence (including the views of the pupil and their 
parents) schools should not delay in putting in place extra teaching or other rigorous 
interventions designed to secure better progress, where required. The pupil’s 
response to such support can help identify their particular needs. 

6.20 For some children, SEN can be identified at an early age. However, for other 
children and young people difficulties become evident only as they develop. All those 
who work with children and young people should be alert to emerging difficulties and 
respond early. In particular, parents know their children best and it is important that 
all professionals listen and understand when parents express concerns about their 
child’s development. They should also listen to and address any concerns raised by 
children and young people themselves. 

Page 167



96 
 

6.21 Persistent disruptive or withdrawn behaviours do not necessarily mean that a child or 
young person has SEN. Where there are concerns, there should be an assessment 
to determine whether there are any causal factors such as undiagnosed learning 
difficulties, difficulties with communication or mental health issues. If it is thought 
housing, family or other domestic circumstances may be contributing to the 
presenting behaviour a multi-agency approach, supported by the use of approaches 
such as the Early Help Assessment, may be appropriate. In all cases, early 
identification and intervention can significantly reduce the use of more costly 
intervention at a later stage. 

6.22 Professionals should also be alert to other events that can lead to learning difficulties 
or wider mental health difficulties, such as bullying or bereavement. Such events will 
not always lead to children having SEN but it can have an impact on wellbeing and 
sometimes this can be severe. Schools should ensure they make appropriate 
provision for a child’s short-term needs in order to prevent problems escalating. 
Where there are long-lasting difficulties schools should consider whether the child 
might have SEN. Further guidance on dealing with bullying issues can be found on 
the GOV.UK website – a link is given in the References section under Chapter 6.  

6.23 Slow progress and low attainment do not necessarily mean that a child has SEN and 
should not automatically lead to a pupil being recorded as having SEN. However, 
they may be an indicator of a range of learning difficulties or disabilities. Equally, it 
should not be assumed that attainment in line with chronological age means that 
there is no learning difficulty or disability. Some learning difficulties and disabilities 
occur across the range of cognitive ability and, left unaddressed may lead to 
frustration, which may manifest itself as disaffection, emotional or behavioural 
difficulties. 

6.24 Identifying and assessing SEN for children or young people whose first language is 
not English requires particular care. Schools should look carefully at all aspects of a 
child or young person’s performance in different areas of learning and development 
or subjects to establish whether lack of progress is due to limitations in their 
command of English or if it arises from SEN or a disability. Difficulties related solely 
to limitations in English as an additional language are not SEN. 

6.25 When reviewing and managing special educational provision the broad areas of 
need and support outlined from 6.28 below may be helpful, and schools should 
review how well equipped they are to provide support across these areas. 
Information on these areas of need and support is also collected through the School 
Census and forms part of the statutory publication ‘Children and Young People with 
SEN: an analysis’ which is issued by DfE each year. 

Page 168



97 
 

6.26 There is a wide range of information available on appropriate interventions for pupils 
with different types of need, and associated training which schools can use to ensure 
they have the necessary knowledge and expertise to use them. See the References 
section under Chapter 6 for links to organisations that provide this information. 

6.27 These four broad areas give an overview of the range of needs that should be 
planned for. The purpose of identification is to work out what action the school needs 
to take, not to fit a pupil into a category. In practice, individual children or young 
people often have needs that cut across all these areas and their needs may change 
over time. For instance speech, language and communication needs can also be a 
feature of a number of other areas of SEN, and children and young people with an 
Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) may have needs across all areas, including 
particular sensory requirements. A detailed assessment of need should ensure that 
the full range of an individual’s needs is identified, not simply the primary need. The 
support provided to an individual should always be based on a full understanding of 
their particular strengths and needs and seek to address them all using well-
evidenced interventions targeted at their areas of difficulty and where necessary 
specialist equipment or software. 

Broad areas of need 

Communication and interaction 

6.28 Children and young people with speech, language and communication needs 
(SLCN) have difficulty in communicating with others. This may be because they have 
difficulty saying what they want to, understanding what is being said to them or they 
do not understand or use social rules of communication. The profile for every child 
with SLCN is different and their needs may change over time. They may have 
difficulty with one, some or all of the different aspects of speech, language or social 
communication at different times of their lives. 

6.29 Children and young people with ASD, including Asperger’s Syndrome and Autism, 
are likely to have particular difficulties with social interaction. They may also 
experience difficulties with language, communication and imagination, which can 
impact on how they relate to others. 

Cognition and learning 

6.30 Support for learning difficulties may be required when children and young people 
learn at a slower pace than their peers, even with appropriate differentiation. 
Learning difficulties cover a wide range of needs, including moderate learning 
difficulties (MLD), severe learning difficulties (SLD), where children are likely to need 
support in all areas of the curriculum and associated difficulties with mobility and 
communication, through to profound and multiple learning difficulties (PMLD), where 

Page 169



98 
 

children are likely to have severe and complex learning difficulties as well as a 
physical disability or sensory impairment. 

6.31 Specific learning difficulties (SpLD), affect one or more specific aspects of learning. 
This encompasses a range of conditions such as dyslexia, dyscalculia and 
dyspraxia.  

Social, emotional and mental health difficulties 

6.32 Children and young people may experience a wide range of social and emotional 
difficulties which manifest themselves in many ways. These may include becoming 
withdrawn or isolated, as well as displaying challenging, disruptive or disturbing 
behaviour. These behaviours may reflect underlying mental health difficulties such 
as anxiety or depression, self-harming, substance misuse, eating disorders or 
physical symptoms that are medically unexplained. Other children and young people 
may have disorders such as attention deficit disorder, attention deficit hyperactive 
disorder or attachment disorder. 

6.33 Schools and colleges should have clear processes to support children and young 
people, including how they will manage the effect of any disruptive behaviour so it 
does not adversely affect other pupils. The Department for Education publishes 
guidance on managing pupils’ mental health and behaviour difficulties in schools – 
see the References section under Chapter 6 for a link. 

Sensory and/or physical needs 

6.34 Some children and young people require special educational provision because they 
have a disability which prevents or hinders them from making use of the educational 
facilities generally provided. These difficulties can be age related and may fluctuate 
over time. Many children and young people with vision impairment (VI), hearing 
impairment (HI) or a multi-sensory impairment (MSI) will require specialist support 
and/or equipment to access their learning, or habilitation support. Children and 
young people with an MSI have a combination of vision and hearing difficulties. 
Information on how to provide services for deafblind children and young people is 
available through the Social Care for Deafblind Children and Adults guidance 
published by the Department of Health (see the References section under Chapter 6 
for a link). 

6.35 Some children and young people with a physical disability (PD) require additional 
ongoing support and equipment to access all the opportunities available to their 
peers. 

Page 170



99 
 

Special educational provision in schools 
6.36 Teachers are responsible and accountable for the progress and development of the 

pupils in their class, including where pupils access support from teaching assistants 
or specialist staff.  

6.37 High quality teaching, differentiated for individual pupils, is the first step in 
responding to pupils who have or may have SEN. Additional intervention and support 
cannot compensate for a lack of good quality teaching. Schools should regularly and 
carefully review the quality of teaching for all pupils, including those at risk of 
underachievement. This includes reviewing and, where necessary, improving, 
teachers’ understanding of strategies to identify and support vulnerable pupils and 
their knowledge of the SEN most frequently encountered. 

6.38 In deciding whether to make special educational provision, the teacher and SENCO 
should consider all of the information gathered from within the school about the 
pupil’s progress, alongside national data and expectations of progress. This should 
include high quality and accurate formative assessment, using effective tools and 
early assessment materials. For higher levels of need, schools should have 
arrangements in place to draw on more specialised assessments from external 
agencies and professionals. 

6.39 This information gathering should include an early discussion with the pupil and their 
parents. These early discussions with parents should be structured in such a way 
that they develop a good understanding of the pupil’s areas of strength and difficulty, 
the parents’ concerns, the agreed outcomes sought for the child and the next steps. 
A short note of these early discussions should be added to the pupil’s record on the 
school information system and given to the parents. Schools should also tell 
children, parents and young people about the local authority’s Information, Advice 
and Support Service. 

6.40 Consideration of whether special educational provision is required should start with 
the desired outcomes, including the expected progress and attainment and the views 
and wishes of the pupil and their parents. This should then help determine the 
support that is needed and whether it can be provided by adapting the school’s core 
offer or whether something different or additional is required. 

6.41 More detailed information on what constitutes good outcome setting is given in 
Chapter 9, Education, Health and Care needs assessments and plans (paragraphs 
9.64 to 9.69). These principles should be applied to planning for all children and 
young people with SEN. From Year 9 onwards, the nature of the outcomes will 
reflect the need to ensure young people are preparing for adulthood. 

Page 171



100 
 

6.42 The outcomes considered should include those needed to make successful 
transitions between phases of education and to prepare for adult life. Schools should 
engage with secondary schools or FE providers as necessary to help plan for these 
transitions (see Chapter 8, Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years). The 
agreed actions may also include those taken to make sure the school meets its duty 
to ensure that pupils with SEN engage in school activities together with those who do 
not have SEN. 

6.43 However support is provided, a clear date for reviewing progress should be agreed 
and the parent, pupil and teaching staff should each be clear about how they will 
help the pupil reach the expected outcomes. The overriding purpose of this early 
action is to help the pupil achieve the identified outcomes and remove any barriers to 
learning. Where it is decided that a pupil does have SEN, the decision should be 
recorded in the school records and the pupil’s parents must be formally informed 
that special educational provision is being made. Arrangements for appropriate 
support should be made through the school’s approach to SEN support.  

SEN support in schools 
6.44 Where a pupil is identified as having SEN, schools should take action to remove 

barriers to learning and put effective special educational provision in place. This SEN 
support should take the form of a four-part cycle through which earlier decisions and 
actions are revisited, refined and revised with a growing understanding of the pupil’s 
needs and of what supports the pupil in making good progress and securing good 
outcomes. This is known as the graduated approach. It draws on more detailed 
approaches, more frequent review and more specialist expertise in successive 
cycles in order to match interventions to the SEN of children and young people.  

Assess 

6.45 In identifying a child as needing SEN support the class or subject teacher, working 
with the SENCO, should carry out a clear analysis of the pupil’s needs. This should 
draw on the teacher’s assessment and experience of the pupil, their previous 
progress and attainment, as well as information from the school’s core approach to 
pupil progress, attainment, and behaviour. It should also draw on other subject 
teachers’ assessments where relevant, the individual’s development in comparison 
to their peers and national data, the views and experience of parents, the pupil’s own 
views and, if relevant, advice from external support services. Schools should take 
seriously any concerns raised by a parent. These should be recorded and compared 
to the setting’s own assessment and information on how the pupil is developing. 

6.46 This assessment should be reviewed regularly. This will help ensure that support 
and intervention are matched to need, barriers to learning are identified and 
overcome, and that a clear picture of the interventions put in place and their effect is 

Page 172



101 
 

developed. For some types of SEN, the way in which a pupil responds to an 
intervention can be the most reliable method of developing a more accurate picture 
of need. 

6.47 In some cases, outside professionals from health or social services may already be 
involved with the child. These professionals should liaise with the school to help 
inform the assessments. Where professionals are not already working with school 
staff the SENCO should contact them if the parents agree. 

Plan 

6.48 Where it is decided to provide a pupil with SEN support, the parents must be 
formally notified, although parents should have already been involved in forming the 
assessment of needs as outlined above. The teacher and the SENCO should agree 
in consultation with the parent and the pupil the adjustments, interventions and 
support to be put in place, as well as the expected impact on progress, development 
or behaviour, along with a clear date for review. 

6.49 All teachers and support staff who work with the pupil should be made aware of their 
needs, the outcomes sought, the support provided and any teaching strategies or 
approaches that are required. This should also be recorded on the school’s 
information system. 

6.50 The support and intervention provided should be selected to meet the outcomes 
identified for the pupil, based on reliable evidence of effectiveness, and should be 
provided by staff with sufficient skills and knowledge. 

6.51 Parents should be fully aware of the planned support and interventions and, where 
appropriate, plans should seek parental involvement to reinforce or contribute to 
progress at home. The information set out in 6.39 should be readily available to and 
discussed with the pupil’s parents.  

Do 

6.52 The class or subject teacher should remain responsible for working with the child on 
a daily basis. Where the interventions involve group or one-to-one teaching away 
from the main class or subject teacher, they should still retain responsibility for the 
pupil. They should work closely with any teaching assistants or specialist staff 
involved, to plan and assess the impact of support and interventions and how they 
can be linked to classroom teaching. The SENCO should support the class or 
subject teacher in the further assessment of the child’s particular strengths and 
weaknesses, in problem solving and advising on the effective implementation of 
support. 

Page 173



102 
 

Review 

6.53 The effectiveness of the support and interventions and their impact on the pupil’s 
progress should be reviewed in line with the agreed date. 

6.54 The impact and quality of the support and interventions should be evaluated, along 
with the views of the pupil and their parents. This should feed back into the analysis 
of the pupil’s needs. The class or subject teacher, working with the SENCO, should 
revise the support in light of the pupil’s progress and development, deciding on any 
changes to the support and outcomes in consultation with the parent and pupil. 

6.55 Parents should have clear information about the impact of the support and 
interventions provided, enabling them to be involved in planning next steps.  

6.56 Where a pupil has an EHC plan, the local authority must review that plan as a 
minimum every twelve months. Schools must co-operate with the local authority in 
the review process and, as part of the review, the local authority can require schools 
to convene and hold annual review meetings on its behalf. Further information about 
EHC plan reviews is given in Chapter 9, Education, Health and Care needs 
assessments and plans. 

Transition 
6.57 SEN support should include planning and preparation for the transitions between 

phases of education and preparation for adult life (see Chapter 8, Preparing for 
adulthood from the earliest years). To support transition, the school should share 
information with the school, college or other setting the child or young person is 
moving to. Schools should agree with parents and pupils the information to be 
shared as part of this planning process. Where a pupil is remaining at the school for 
post-16 provision, this planning and preparation should include consideration of how 
to provide a high quality study programme, as set out in paragraph 8.32. 

Involving specialists 
6.58 Where a pupil continues to make less than expected progress, despite evidence-

based support and interventions that are matched to the pupil’s area of need, the 
school should consider involving specialists, including those secured by the school 
itself or from outside agencies. 

6.59 Schools may involve specialists at any point to advise them on early identification of 
SEN and effective support and interventions. A school should always involve a 
specialist where a pupil continues to make little or no progress or where they 
continue to work at levels substantially below those expected of pupils of a similar 
age despite evidence-based SEN support delivered by appropriately trained staff. 
The pupil’s parents should always be involved in any decision to involve specialists. 

Page 174



103 
 

The involvement of specialists and what was discussed or agreed should be 
recorded and shared with the parents and teaching staff supporting the child in the 
same way as other SEN support. 

6.60 Where assessment indicates that support from specialist services is required, it is 
important that children and young people receive it as quickly as possible. Joint 
commissioning arrangements should seek to ensure that there are sufficient services 
to meet the likely need in an area. The Local Offer should set out clearly what 
support is available from different services and how it may be accessed. 

6.61 Schools should work closely with the local authority and other providers to agree the 
range of local services and clear arrangements for making appropriate requests. 
This might include schools commissioning specialist services directly. Such 
specialist services include, but are not limited to: 

• educational psychologists 

• Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

• specialist teachers or support services, including specialist teachers with a 
mandatory qualification for children with hearing and vision impairment , 
including multi-sensory impairment, and for those with a physical disability. 
(Those teaching classes of children with sensory impairment must hold an 
appropriate qualification approved by the Secretary of State. Teachers 
working in an advisory role to support such pupils should also hold the 
appropriate qualification.) 

• therapists (including speech and language therapists, occupational therapists 
and physiotherapists) 

6.62 The SENCO and class teacher, together with the specialists, and involving the 
pupil’s parents, should consider a range of evidence-based and effective teaching 
approaches, appropriate equipment, strategies and interventions in order to support 
the child’s progress. They should agree the outcomes to be achieved through the 
support, including a date by which progress will be reviewed. 

Requesting an Education, Health and Care needs assessment 
6.63 SEN support should be adapted or replaced depending on how effective it has been 

in achieving the agreed outcomes. Where, despite the school having taken relevant 
and purposeful action to identify, assess and meet the SEN of the child or young 
person, the child or young person has not made expected progress, the school or 
parents should consider requesting an Education, Health and Care needs 

Page 175



104 
 

assessment (see Chapter 9). To inform its decision the local authority will expect to 
see evidence of the action taken by the school as part of SEN support. 

Involving parents and pupils in planning and reviewing progress 

6.64 Schools must provide an annual report for parents on their child’s progress. Most 
schools will want to go beyond this and provide regular reports for parents on how 
their child is progressing. 

6.65 Where a pupil is receiving SEN support, schools should talk to parents regularly to 
set clear outcomes and review progress towards them, discuss the activities and 
support that will help achieve them, and identify the responsibilities of the parent, the 
pupil and the school. Schools should meet parents at least three times each year.  

6.66 These discussions can build confidence in the actions being taken by the school, but 
they can also strengthen the impact of SEN support by increasing parental 
engagement in the approaches and teaching strategies that are being used. Finally, 
they can provide essential information on the impact of SEN support outside school 
and any changes in the pupil’s needs. 

6.67 These discussions should be led by a teacher with good knowledge and 
understanding of the pupil who is aware of their needs and attainment. This will 
usually be the class teacher or form tutor, supported by the SENCO. It should 
provide an opportunity for the parent to share their concerns and, together with the 
teacher, agree their aspirations for the pupil. 

6.68 Conducting these discussions effectively involves a considerable amount of skill. As 
with other aspects of good teaching for pupils with SEN, schools should ensure that 
teaching staff are supported to manage these conversations as part of professional 
development. 

6.69 These discussions will need to allow sufficient time to explore the parents’ views and 
to plan effectively. Meetings should, wherever possible, be aligned with the normal 
cycle of discussions with parents of all pupils. They will, however, be longer than 
most parent-teacher meetings. 

6.70 The views of the pupil should be included in these discussions. This could be 
through involving the pupil in all or part of the discussion itself, or gathering their 
views as part of the preparation. 

6.71 A record of the outcomes, action and support agreed through the discussion should 
be kept and shared with all the appropriate school staff. This record should be given 
to the pupil’s parents. The school’s management information system should be 
updated as appropriate.  

Page 176



105 
 

Use of data and record keeping 
6.72 It is for schools to determine their own approach to record keeping in line with the 

requirements of the Data Protection Act 1998. The provision made for pupils with 
SEN should be recorded accurately and kept up to date. As part of any inspection, 
Ofsted will expect to see evidence of pupil progress, a focus on outcomes and a 
rigorous approach to the monitoring and evaluation of any SEN support provided. 
Ofsted publish more detail about their expectations in their inspection guidelines. 

6.73 Schools should particularly record details of additional or different provision made 
under SEN support. This should form part of regular discussions with parents about 
the child’s progress, expected outcomes from the support and planned next steps. 
They should ensure that they have accurate information to evidence the SEN 
support that has been provided over the pupil’s time in the school, as well as its 
impact. A local authority that is considering or is carrying out an assessment of the 
pupil’s needs will wish to review such information (see Chapter 9). For children and 
young people detained in custody, a Youth Offending Team will seek information 
from the school to support their initial assessments. The school should respond to 
such requests as soon as possible (see Chapter 10). 

6.74 Schools use information systems to monitor the progress and development of all 
pupils. Details of SEN, outcomes, teaching strategies and the involvement of 
specialists should be recorded as part of this overall approach. 

6.75 As outlined in ‘Involving parents and pupils in planning and reviewing progress’ from 
paragraph 6.63 above, the school should readily share this information with parents. 
It should be provided in a format that is accessible (for example, a note setting out 
the areas of discussion following a regular SEN support meeting or tracking data 
showing the pupil’s progress together with highlighted sections of a provision map 
that enables parents to see the support that has been provided). 

6.76 Provision maps are an efficient way of showing all the provision that the school 
makes which is additional to and different from that which is offered through the 
school’s curriculum. The use of provision maps can help SENCOs to maintain an 
overview of the programmes and interventions used with different groups of pupils 
and provide a basis for monitoring the levels of intervention. 

6.77 Provision management can be used strategically to develop special educational 
provision to match the assessed needs of pupils across the school, and to evaluate 
the impact of that provision on pupil progress. Used in this way provision 
management can also contribute to school improvement by identifying particular 
patterns of need and potential areas of development for teaching staff. It can help 
the school to develop the use of interventions that are effective and to remove those 

Page 177



106 
 

that are less so. It can support schools to improve their core offer for all pupils as the 
most effective approaches are adopted more widely across the school. 

6.78 The Department for Education publishes a helpful range of further information and 
resources about provision mapping (see the References section under Chapter 6 for 
a link). 

Publishing information: SEN information report 
6.79 The governing bodies of maintained schools and maintained nursery schools and the 

proprietors of academy schools must publish information on their websites about the 
implementation of the governing body’s or the proprietor’s policy for pupils with SEN. 
The information published should be updated annually and any changes to the 
information occurring during the year should be updated as soon as possible. The 
information required is set out in the Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Regulations 2014 and must include information about: 

• the kinds of SEN that are provided for 

• policies for identifying children and young people with SEN and assessing 
their needs, including the name and contact details of the SENCO 
(mainstream schools) 

• arrangements for consulting parents of children with SEN and involving 
them in their child’s education 

• arrangements for consulting young people with SEN and involving them in 
their education 

• arrangements for assessing and reviewing children and young people’s 
progress towards outcomes. This should include the opportunities available 
to work with parents and young people as part of this assessment and 
review 

• arrangements for supporting children and young people in moving between 
phases of education and in preparing for adulthood. As young people 
prepare for adulthood outcomes should reflect their ambitions, which could 
include higher education, employment, independent living and participation 
in society 

• the approach to teaching children and young people with SEN 

•  how adaptations are made to the curriculum and the learning environment 
of children and young people with SEN 

Page 178



107 
 

• the expertise and training of staff to support children and young people with 
SEN, including how specialist expertise will be secured 

• evaluating the effectiveness of the provision made for children and young 
people with SEN 

• how children and young people with SEN are enabled to engage in 
activities available with children and young people in the school who do not 
have SEN 

• support for improving emotional and social development. This should 
include extra pastoral support arrangements for listening to the views of 
children and young people with SEN and measures to prevent bullying 

• how the school involves other bodies, including health and social care 
bodies, local authority support services and voluntary sector organisations, 
in meeting children and young people’s SEN and supporting their families 

• arrangements for handling complaints from parents of children with SEN 
about the provision made at the school 

6.80 The above should include arrangements for supporting children and young people 
who are looked after by the local authority and have SEN.  

6.81 Schools should ensure that the information is easily accessible by young people and 
parents and is set out in clear, straightforward language. It should include 
information on the school’s SEN policy and named contacts within the school for 
situations where young people or parents have concerns. It should also give details 
of the school’s contribution to the Local Offer and must include information on where 
the local authority’s Local Offer is published. 

6.82 In setting out details of the broad and balanced curriculum provided in each year, 
schools should include details of how the curriculum is adapted or made accessible 
for pupils with SEN. 

6.83 Schools should also make data on the levels and types of need within the school 
available to the local authority. This data will be required to inform local strategic 
planning of SEN support, and to enable the local authority to identify pupils who have 
or may have SEN. Such data, collected through the School Census, is also required 
to produce the national SEN information report. 

  

Page 179



108 
 

The role of the SENCO in schools 
6.84 Governing bodies of maintained mainstream schools and the proprietors of 

mainstream academy schools (including free schools) must ensure that there is a 
qualified teacher designated as SENCO for the school. 

6.85 The SENCO must be a qualified teacher working at the school. A newly appointed 
SENCO must be a qualified teacher and, where they have not previously been the 
SENCO at that or any other relevant school for a total period of more than twelve 
months, they must achieve a National Award in Special Educational Needs Co-
ordination within three years of appointment. 

6.86 A National Award must be a postgraduate course accredited by a recognised higher 
education provider. The National College for Teaching and Leadership has worked 
with providers to develop a set of learning outcomes (see the References section 
under Chapter 6 for a link). When appointing staff or arranging for them to study for a 
National Award schools should satisfy themselves that the chosen course will meet 
these outcomes and equip the SENCO to fulfil the duties outlined in this Code. Any 
selected course should be at least equivalent to 60 credits at postgraduate study.  

6.87 The SENCO has an important role to play with the headteacher and governing body, 
in determining the strategic development of SEN policy and provision in the school. 
They will be most effective in that role if they are part of the school leadership team. 

6.88 The SENCO has day-to-day responsibility for the operation of SEN policy and co-
ordination of specific provision made to support individual pupils with SEN, including 
those who have EHC plans. 

6.89 The SENCO provides professional guidance to colleagues and will work closely with 
staff, parents and other agencies. The SENCO should be aware of the provision in 
the Local Offer and be able to work with professionals providing a support role to 
families to ensure that pupils with SEN receive appropriate support and high quality 
teaching.  

6.90 The key responsibilities of the SENCO may include:  

• overseeing the day-to-day operation of the school’s SEN policy 

• co-ordinating provision for children with SEN 

• liaising with the relevant Designated Teacher where a looked after pupil 
has SEN 

• advising on the graduated approach to providing SEN support 

Page 180



109 
 

• advising on the deployment of the school’s delegated budget and other 
resources to meet pupils’ needs effectively 

• liaising with parents of pupils with SEN 

• liaising with early years providers, other schools, educational psychologists, 
health and social care professionals, and independent or voluntary bodies 

• being a key point of contact with external agencies, especially the local 
authority and its support services 

• liaising with potential next providers of education to ensure a pupil and their 
parents are informed about options and a smooth transition is planned 

• working with the headteacher and school governors to ensure that the 
school meets its responsibilities under the Equality Act (2010) with regard 
to reasonable adjustments and access arrangements 

• ensuring that the school keeps the records of all pupils with SEN up to date 

6.91 The school should ensure that the SENCO has sufficient time and resources to carry 
out these functions. This should include providing the SENCO with sufficient 
administrative support and time away from teaching to enable them to fulfil their 
responsibilities in a similar way to other important strategic roles within a school. 

6.92 It may be appropriate for a number of smaller primary schools to share a SENCO 
employed to work across the individual schools, where they meet the other 
requirements set out in this chapter of the Code. Schools can consider this 
arrangement where it secures sufficient time away from teaching and sufficient 
administrative support to enable the SENCO to fulfil the role effectively for the total 
registered pupil population across all of the schools involved. 

6.93 Where such a shared approach is taken the SENCO should not normally have a 
significant class teaching commitment. Such a shared SENCO role should not be 
carried out by a headteacher at one of the schools. 

6.94 Schools should review the effectiveness of such a shared SENCO role regularly and 
should not persist with it where there is evidence of a negative impact on the quality 
of SEN provision, or the progress of pupils with SEN. 

Funding for SEN support 
6.95 All mainstream schools are provided with resources to support those with additional 

needs, including pupils with SEN and disabilities. Most of these resources are 
determined by a local funding formula, discussed with the local schools forum, which 

Page 181



110 
 

is also applied to local academies. School and academy sixth forms receive an 
allocation based on a national funding formula.  

6.96 Schools have an amount identified within their overall budget, called the notional 
SEN budget. This is not a ring-fenced amount, and it is for the school to provide high 
quality appropriate support from the whole of its budget.  

6.97 It is for schools, as part of their normal budget planning, to determine their approach 
to using their resources to support the progress of pupils with SEN. The SENCO, 
headteacher and governing body or proprietor should establish a clear picture of the 
resources that are available to the school. They should consider their strategic 
approach to meeting SEN in the context of the total resources available, including 
any resources targeted at particular groups, such as the pupil premium. 

6.98 This will enable schools to provide a clear description of the types of special 
educational provision they normally provide and will help parents and others to 
understand what they can normally expect the school to provide for pupils with SEN.  

6.99 Schools are not expected to meet the full costs of more expensive special 
educational provision from their core funding. They are expected to provide 
additional support which costs up to a nationally prescribed threshold per pupil per 
year. The responsible local authority, usually the authority where the child or young 
person lives, should provide additional top-up funding where the cost of the special 
educational provision required to meet the needs of an individual pupil exceeds the 
nationally prescribed threshold. 

  

Page 182



111 
 

7 Further education  

What this chapter covers 
This chapter explains and provides guidance on the statutory duties on further 
education colleges, sixth form colleges, 16-19 academies and some independent 
specialist colleges approved under Section 41 of the Children and Families Act 2014 
to identify, assess and provide support for young people with special educational 
needs (SEN). 

Relevant legislation 
Primary  
The following sections of the Children and Families Act 2014: 

• Co-operating generally: local authority functions: Section 28 

• Co-operating generally: governing body function: Section 29 

• Children and young people with SEN but no plan: Section 34 

• Independent specialist schools and special post-16 institutions – approval: 
Section 41 

• Schools and other institutions named in EHC plan: duty to admit: Section 
43 

• Using best endeavours to secure special educational provision: Section 66 

• Code of Practice: Section 77 

The Equality Act 2010 

Regulations 
The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 

Introduction 
7.1 The post-16 education and training landscape is very diverse. It encompasses 

school sixth forms (both mainstream and special schools), sixth form colleges, 
general further education (FE) colleges, 16-19 academies, special post-16 
institutions, and vocational learning and training providers in the private or voluntary 
sector. The range of available study programmes is broad and includes AS/A-levels, 
vocational qualifications at all levels, apprenticeships, traineeships, supported 
internships and bespoke packages of learning. School provision is covered in 
Chapter 6.  

Page 183



112 
 

7.2 Mainstream providers include school sixth forms, general FE colleges, sixth form 
colleges, specialist art and design and land-based colleges and 16-19 academies. 
Colleges are usually very much larger than schools, and offer an extensive breadth 
of courses to young people and adults of all ages. Special school sixth forms, 
independent specialist colleges and many general FE colleges specialise in 
provision for students with SEN. Post-16 provision is also offered by not-for-profit 
and voluntary sector, independent and private training and employment services. 
Unless stated otherwise, the use of ‘college’ throughout this chapter encompasses 
general FE colleges, specialist art and design and land-based colleges, sixth form 
colleges, 16-19 academies and special post-16 institutions approved under section 
41 of the Children and Families Act 2014. 

Statutory duties on post-16 institutions 
7.3 FE colleges, sixth form colleges, 16-19 academies and independent specialist 

colleges approved under Section 41 of the Children and Families Act 2014 (the Act) 
have the following specific statutory duties:  

• The duty to co-operate with the local authority on arrangements for 
children and young people with SEN. This is a reciprocal duty. It means 
that, in carrying out their functions under this part of the Act, a local 
authority must co-operate with the named bodies who, in turn, must co-
operate with the local authority. 

• The duty to admit a young person if the institution is named in an 
Education Health and Care (EHC) plan. Young people have the right to 
request that an institution is named in their EHC plan, and local authorities 
have a duty to name that institution in the EHC plan unless, following 
consultation with the institution, the local authority determines that it is 
unsuitable for the young person’s age, ability, aptitude or SEN, or that to 
place the young person there would be incompatible with the efficient use 
of resources or the efficient education of others.  

• The duty to have regard to this Code of Practice 

• The duty to use their best endeavours to secure the special 
educational provision that the young person needs. This duty applies to 
further education colleges, sixth form colleges and 16-19 academies. Its 
purpose is to ensure that providers give the right support to their students 
with SEN. It does not apply to independent specialist colleges or special 
schools, as their principal purpose is to provide for young people with SEN. 
They must fulfil this duty for students with SEN whether or not the students 
have EHC plans. This duty applies in respect of students with SEN up to 
age 25 in further education, including those aged between 14 and 16 

Page 184



113 
 

recruited directly by colleges. The duty encompasses students on a wide 
variety of study programmes (including some on short programmes) and at 
every level from entry level upwards. It does not apply to any students on 
higher education courses, who can access the Disabled Students 
Allowance (DSA). Much of this section will also be relevant for independent 
specialist colleges.  

7.4 A young person has SEN if he or she has a learning difficulty or disability which calls 
for special educational provision to be made for them. Special educational provision 
is support which is additional or different to support usually available to young people 
of the same age in mainstream colleges. For more detailed information on the 
definition of SEN, see the Introduction. Colleges should offer an inclusive approach 
to learning and teaching, with high quality teaching which is differentiated for 
individuals. This approach should be embedded in their provision in all subject areas 
and at all levels, and support the teaching of all students, including those with SEN. 

7.5 Colleges should be ambitious for young people with SEN, whatever their needs and 
whatever their level of study. They should focus on supporting young people so they 
can progress and reach positive destinations in adult life. These destinations include 
higher education or further training or employment, independent living (which means 
having choice and control over the support received), good health and participating 
in the community. Further information on support for young people in preparing for 
adult life is set out in Chapter 8, Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years.  

7.6 All students aged 16-19 (and students up to the age of 25 where they have an EHC 
plan) should follow a coherent study programme which provides stretch and 
progression and enables them to achieve the best possible outcomes in adult life. 
Further detail on study programmes and pathways to employment is given in 
Chapter 8, Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years, paragraphs 8.32 to 8.40. 
More detailed information on what constitutes good outcome setting is given in 
Chapter 9, Education, Health and Care needs assessments and plans, paragraphs 
9.64 to 9.69). These principles should be applied to planning for all young people. 

Equality Act 2010 
7.7 FE colleges, sixth form colleges, 16-19 academies and independent special schools 

approved under Section 41 of the Children and Families Act 2014 have duties under 
the Equality Act 2010. In particular, they must not discriminate against, harass or 
victimise disabled children or young people and they must make reasonable 
adjustments to prevent them being placed at a substantial disadvantage. This duty is 
anticipatory – it requires thought to be given in advance to what disabled young 
people might require and what adjustments might need to be made to prevent that 
disadvantage. 

7.8 Providers have wider duties to prevent discrimination, to promote equality of 
opportunity and to foster good relations. Chapter 1, Principles, provides further 

Page 185



114 
 

details on the disability discrimination duties in the Equality Act 2010. The guidance 
in this chapter should be read in the light of the principles in Chapter 1 which focus 
on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning. 

Careers guidance for young people 
7.9 FE colleges and sixth form colleges are required through their funding agreements to 

secure access to independent careers guidance for all students up to and including 
age 18 and for 19- to 25-year-olds with EHC plans. Chapter 8 provides more 
information about careers guidance for children and young people. 

Identifying SEN 
7.10 Colleges should be involved in transition planning between school and college so 

that they can prepare to meet the student’s needs and ensure a successful transition 
into college life. Chapter 8, paragraphs 8.22 to 8.28, gives guidance to schools and 
colleges on how they should work together to smooth that transition. Colleges should 
give all applicants an opportunity before or at entry and at subsequent points, to 
declare whether they have a learning need, a disability or a medical condition which 
will affect their learning. If a student makes a declaration the college should discuss 
with the student how they will provide support. Any screenings and assessments 
should be differentiated and proportionate to the likely level of SEN. 

7.11 Some needs may emerge after a student has begun a programme. Teaching staff 
should work with specialist support to identify where a student may be having 
difficulty which may be because of SEN.  

7.12 Students who fell behind at school, or who are studying below level 2, should have 
their needs identified and appropriate support should be provided. It should not be 
assumed that they have SEN just because they have lower attainment levels than 
the majority of their peers. They may do, but this should be identified specifically and 
supported. Equally it should not be assumed that students working on higher level 
courses do not have any learning difficulty or disability that may need special 
educational provision. 

SEN support in college 
7.13 Where a student has a learning difficulty or disability that calls for special educational 

provision, the college must use its best endeavours to put appropriate support in 
place. Young people should be supported to participate in discussions about their 
aspirations, their needs, and the support that they think will help them best. Support 
should be aimed at promoting student independence and enabling the young person 
to make good progress towards employment and/or higher education, independent 
living, good health and participating in the community. Chapter 8 provides guidance 
on preparing young people for adult life.  

Page 186



115 
 

7.14 Support should be evidence based. This means that colleges should be aware of 
effective practice in the sector and elsewhere, and personalise it for the individual. 
They should keep the needs of students with SEN or disabilities under regular 
review. Colleges should take a cyclical approach to assessing need, planning and 
providing support, and reviewing and evaluating that support so that it can be 
adjusted where necessary. They should involve the student and, particularly for 
those aged 16 to 18, their parents, closely at all stages of the cycle, planning around 
the individual, and they should ensure that staff have the skills to do this effectively. 

Assessing what support is needed 
7.15 Where a student is identified as having SEN and needing SEN support, colleges 

should bring together all the relevant information from the school, from the student, 
from those working with the student and from any screening test or assessment the 
college has carried out. This information should be discussed with the student. The 
student should be offered support at this meeting and might be accompanied by a 
parent, advocate or other supporter. This discussion may identify the need for a 
more specialist assessment from within the college or beyond. 

Planning the right support 
7.16 Where the college decides a student needs SEN support, the college should discuss 

with the student their ambitions, the nature of the support to be put in place, the 
expected impact on progress and a date for reviewing the support. Plans should be 
developed with the student. The support and intervention provided should be 
selected to meet the student’s aspirations, and should be based on reliable evidence 
of effectiveness and provided by practitioners with the relevant skills and knowledge. 

7.17 Special educational support might include, for example:  

• assistive technology  

• personal care (or access to it)  

• specialist tuition  

• note takers  

• interpreters  

• one-to-one and small group learning support 

• habilitation/independent living training 

• accessible information such as symbol based materials 

• access to therapies (for example, speech and language therapy) 

Page 187



116 
 

Putting the provision in place 
7.18 Colleges should ensure that the agreed support is put in place, and that 

appropriately qualified staff provide the support needed. The college should, in 
discussion with the student, assess the impact and success of the intervention. 

Keeping support under review 
7.19 The effectiveness of the support and its impact on the student’s progress should be 

reviewed regularly, taking into account the student’s progress and any changes to 
the student’s own ambitions and aspirations, which may lead to changes in the type 
and level of their support. The college and the student together should plan any 
changes in support. Colleges should revisit this cycle of action, refining and revising 
their decisions about support as they gain a richer understanding of the student, and 
what is most effective in helping them secure good outcomes. Support for all 
students with SEN should be kept under review, whether or not a student has an 
EHC plan.  

7.20 Where a student has an EHC plan, the local authority must review that plan as a 
minimum every twelve months, including a review of the student’s support. The 
college must co-operate with the local authority in the review process. As part of the 
review, the local authority can ask the college to convene and hold the annual review 
meeting on its behalf. Further information about EHC plan reviews and the role of 
colleges is given in Chapter 9, Education, Health and Care needs assessments and 
plans. From the age of thirteen onwards, annual reviews focus on preparing for 
adulthood. Further information on pathways to employment and on support for young 
people in preparing for adult life is set out in Chapter 8, Preparing for adulthood from 
the earliest years. 

7.21 Colleges should also keep under review the reasonable adjustments they make 
under the Equality Act 2010 to ensure they have removed all the barriers to learning 
that they reasonably can. Colleges should also ensure that students with SEN or 
disabilities know who to go to for support.  

Expertise within and beyond the college 
7.22 The governing bodies of colleges should ensure that all staff interact appropriately 

and inclusively with students who have SEN or a disability and should ensure that 
they have appropriate expertise within their workforce. They should also ensure that 
curriculum staff are able to develop their skills, are aware of effective practice and 
keep their knowledge up to date. Colleges should make sure they have access to 
specialist skills and expertise to support the learning of students with SEN. This can 
be through partnerships with other agencies such as adult social care or health 
services, or specialist organisations, and/or by employing practitioners directly. They 
should ensure that there is a named person in the college with oversight of SEN 
provision to ensure co-ordination of support, similar to the role of the SEN Co-

Page 188



117 
 

ordinator (SENCO) in schools. This person should contribute to the strategic and 
operational management of the college. Curriculum and support staff in a college 
should know who to go to if they need help in identifying a student’s SEN, are 
concerned about their progress or need further advice. In reviewing and managing 
support for students with SEN, colleges and 16-19 academies may find the broad 
areas of need and support outlined in Chapter 6 helpful (paragraph 6.28 onwards). 

7.23 Colleges should ensure they have access to external specialist services and 
expertise. These can include, for example, educational psychologists, Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), specialist teachers and support 
services, supported employment services and therapists. They can be involved at 
any point for help or advice on the best way to support a student with SEN or a 
disability. Specialist help should be involved where the student’s needs are not being 
met by the strong, evidence-based support provided by the college. Where, despite 
the college having taken relevant and purposeful action to identify, assess and meet 
the needs of the student, the student is still not making the expected progress, the 
college or young person should consider requesting an EHC needs assessment (see 
Chapter 9). 

7.24 More guidance on the advice and support colleges should give students with SEN or 
disabilities to enable them to prepare for adult life, including the transition out of 
college, is in Chapter 8, Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years.  

Record keeping 
7.25 Colleges should keep a student’s profile and record of support up to date to inform 

discussions with the student about their progress and support. This should include 
accurate information to evidence the SEN support that has been provided over a 
student’s time in college and its effectiveness. They should record details of what 
additional or different provision they make to meet a student’s SEN and their 
progress towards specified outcomes. This should include information about the 
student’s SEN, interventions and the support of specialists. The information should 
be used as part of regular discussions with the student and, where appropriate, the 
family, about the student’s progress, the expected outcomes and planned next steps. 
For young people detained in custody, a Youth Offending Team will seek information 
from the college to support their initial assessments. The college should respond to 
such requests as soon as possible (see Chapter 10). 

7.26 As with schools, colleges will determine their own approach to record keeping but 
should ensure that Individualised Learner Record (ILR) data is recorded accurately 
and in a timely manner in line with funding rules. Where students have EHC plans, 
colleges should provide the local authority with regular information about the 
progress that student is making towards the agreed outcomes set out in their EHC 
plan. Where a student has support from the local authority’s high needs funding but 
does not have an EHC plan, colleges should also provide information on the 
student’s progress to the local authority to inform its commissioning. 

Page 189



118 
 

7.27 Further information on support to help children and young people prepare for 
adulthood, including pathways to employment and the transition to adult services, is 
in Chapter 8. Information about seeking needs assessments and about EHC plans is 
in Chapter 9. 

Funding for SEN support 
7.28 All school and academy sixth forms, sixth form colleges, further education colleges 

and 16-19 academies are provided with resources to support students with additional 
needs, including young people with SEN and disabilities. 

7.29 These institutions receive an allocation based on a national funding formula for their 
core provision. They also have additional funding for students with additional needs, 
including those with SEN. This funding is not ring-fenced and is included in their 
main allocation in a ‘single line’ budget. Like mainstream schools, colleges are 
expected to provide appropriate, high quality SEN support using all available 
resources.  

7.30 It is for colleges, as part of their normal budget planning, to determine their approach 
to using their resources to support the progress of young people with SEN. The 
principal or a senior leader should establish a clear picture of the resources available 
to the college and consider their strategic approach to meeting SEN in the context of 
the total resources available. 

7.31 This will enable colleges to provide a clear description of the types of special 
educational provision they normally provide. This will help parents and others 
understand what they can normally expect the college to provide for young people 
with SEN.  

7.32 Colleges are not expected to meet the full costs of more expensive support from 
their core and additional funding in their main allocation. They are expected to 
provide additional support which costs up to a nationally prescribed threshold per 
student per year. The responsible local authority, usually the authority where the 
young person lives, should provide additional top-up funding where the cost of the 
special educational provision required to meet the needs of an individual young 
person exceeds the nationally prescribed threshold. This should reflect the cost of 
providing the additional support that is in excess of the nationally prescribed 
threshold. There is no requirement for an EHC plan for a young person for whom a 
college receives additional top-up funding except in the case of a young person who 
is over 19. But where the local authority considers it is necessary for special 
educational provision to be made through an EHC plan it should carry out an EHC 
needs assessment. Local authorities should be transparent about how they will make 
decisions about high needs funding and education placements. They should share 
the principles and criteria which underpin those decisions with schools and colleges 
and with parents and young people.  

Page 190



119 
 

7.33 It should be noted that colleges are funded by the Education Funding Agency (EFA) 
for all 16-18 year olds and for those aged 19-25 who have EHC plans, with support 
from the home local authority for students with high needs. Colleges must not 
charge tuition fees for these young people. Further information on funding can be 
found on the GOV.UK website – see the References section under Chapter 7 for a 
link. 

7.34 Colleges are funded by the Skills Funding Agency (SFA) for all students aged 19 and 
over who do not have an EHC plan (including those who declare a learning difficulty 
or disability). Colleges are able to charge fees for these students. However, students 
who meet residency and eligibility criteria will have access to Government funding. 
Further information on funding eligibility is available on the SFA’s website – see the 
References section under Chapter 7 for a link. Colleges also receive funding from 
HEFCE for their higher education (HE) students, but this Code does not apply to HE 
students. 

7.35 Further information on funding places for 19-25 year olds is given in Chapter 8, 
Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years. 

  

Page 191



120 
 

8 Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years 

What this chapter covers 
This chapter is relevant for everyone working with children and young people with 
SEN or disabilities and is particularly relevant for those working with children and 
young people aged 14 and over. It sets out how professionals across education 
(including early years, schools, colleges and 16-19 academies), health and social 
care should support children and young people with special educational needs 
(SEN) or disabilities to prepare for adult life, and help them go on to achieve the best 
outcomes in employment, independent living, health and community participation. 
The principles set out in this chapter apply to all young people with SEN or 
disabilities, except where it states they are for those with Education, Health and Care 
(EHC) plans only. The term ‘colleges’ in this chapter includes all post-16 institutions 
with duties under the Children and Families Act 2014 (further education (FE) 
colleges, sixth form colleges, 16-19 academies and independent specialist colleges 
approved under Section 41 of the Act). 

High aspirations are crucial to success – discussions about longer term goals should 
start early and ideally well before Year 9 (age 13-14) at school. They should focus on 
the child or young person’s strengths and capabilities and the outcomes they want to 
achieve. This chapter includes both the transition into post-16 education, and the 
transition from post-16 education into adult life. It covers: 

• how local authorities and health services should plan strategically for the 
support children and young people will need to prepare for adult life 

• how early years providers, schools and colleges should enable children and 
young people to have the information and skills they need to help them gain 
independence and prepare for adult life 

• support from Year 9, including the content of preparing for adulthood 
reviews for children and young people with EHC plans 

• planning the transition into post-16 education 

• how post-16 institutions can design study programmes and create 
pathways to employment  

• how young people should be supported to make decisions for themselves 

• Packages of provision for children and young people with EHC plans 
across five days a week 

Page 192



121 
 

• transition to higher education 

• young people aged 19-25  

• transition to adult health services  

• transition to adult social care 

• leaving education and training and progressing into employment 

Relevant legislation 
Primary 
This chapter cross-references a wide range of duties under the Children and 
Families Act 2014 and regulations. Some, but not all, of the main duties are as 
follows: 

• Local authority functions: supporting and involving children and young 
people, Section 19 

• Joint commissioning arrangements: Section 26 

• Duty to keep education and care provision under review: Section 27 

• Co-operating generally: local authority functions: Section 28 

• Co-operating generally: governing body functions: Section 29 

• Local offer: Section 30 

• Advice and information: Section 32 

• Assessment of education, health and care needs: Section 36 

• Preparation of EHC plans: draft plan: Section 38 

• Personal Budgets and direct payments: Section 49 

• Continuation of services under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989:  
Section 50 

• Appeals: Section 51 

Regulations 
The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 

Page 193



122 
 

The Special Educational Needs (Personal Budgets) Regulations 2014 

Introduction 
7.37 Being supported towards greater independence and employability can be life-

transforming for children and young people with SEN. This support needs to start 
early, and should centre around the child or young person’s own aspirations, 
interests and needs. All professionals working with them should share high 
aspirations and have a good understanding of what support is effective in enabling 
children and young people to achieve their ambitions. 

7.38 Preparing for adulthood means preparing for: 

• higher education and/or employment – this includes exploring different 
employment options, such as support for becoming self-employed and help 
from supported employment agencies 

• independent living – this means young people having choice, control and 
freedom over their lives and the support they have, their accommodation 
and living arrangements, including supported living 

• participating in society, including having friends and supportive 
relationships, and participating in, and contributing to, the local community 

• being as healthy as possible in adult life 

Strategic planning for the best outcomes in adult life 
8.1 Local authorities must place children, young people and families at the centre of 

their planning, and work with them to develop co-ordinated approaches to securing 
better outcomes, as should clinical commissioning groups (CCGs). They should 
develop a shared vision and strategy which focuses on aspirations and outcomes, 
using information from EHC plans and other planning to anticipate the needs of 
children and young people with SEN and ensure there are pathways into 
employment, independent living, participation in society and good health. Where 
pathways need further development, local authorities and CCGs should set out clear 
responsibilities, timescales and funding arrangements for that work. This strategic 
planning will contribute to their  

• joint commissioning 

• Local Offer, which must include support in preparing for adulthood (see 
paragraphs 4.52 to 4.56 in Chapter 4, The Local Offer) 

• preparation of EHC plans and support for children and young people to 
achieve the outcomes in their plan 

Page 194



123 
 

8.2 This planning and support will bring enormous benefits to individuals. The National 
Audit Office report ‘Oversight of special education for young people aged 16-25’ 
published in November 2011, estimates that supporting one person with a learning 
disability into employment could, in addition to improving their independence and 
self-esteem, increase that person’s income by between 55 and 95 per cent. The 
National Audit Office also estimates that equipping a young person with the skills to 
live in semi-independent rather than fully supported housing could, in addition to 
quality of life improvements, reduce lifetime support costs to the public purse by 
around £1 million.  

Duties on local authorities  
8.3 Local authorities have a range of duties which are particularly relevant to this 

chapter. They are: 

• when carrying out their functions, to support and involve the child and his or 
her parent, or the young person, and to have regard to their views, wishes 
and feelings (see Chapter 1, Principles). This includes their aspirations for 
adult life 

• to offer advice and information directly to children and young people (see 
Chapter 2, Impartial information, advice and support). This includes 
information and advice which supports children and young people to 
prepare for adult life 

• together with health services, to make joint commissioning arrangements 
about the education, health and care provision of children and young 
people to secure positive adult outcomes for young people with SEN (see 
Chapter 3, Working together across Education, Health and Care for joint 
outcomes) 

• to keep education and care provision under review including the duty to 
consult young people directly, and to consult schools, colleges and other 
post-16 providers (see Chapter 3, Working together across Education, 
Health and Care for joint outcomes) 

• to co-operate with FE colleges, sixth-form colleges, 16-19 academies and 
independent specialist colleges approved under Section 41 of the Children 
and Families Act 2014  

• to include in the Local Offer provision which will help children and young 
people prepare for adulthood and independent living, to consult children 
and young people directly about the Local Offer and to publish those 
comments including details of any actions to be taken (Chapter 4, The 
Local Offer) 

Page 195



124 
 

• to consider the need for EHC needs assessments, prepare EHC plans 
where needed, and maintain and review them, including the duty to ensure 
that all reviews of EHC plans from Year 9 (age 13-14) onwards include a 
focus on preparing for adulthood and, for 19-25 year olds, to have regard to 
whether educational or training outcomes specified in the EHC plan have 
been achieved 

• to make young people aware through their Local Offer of the kind of 
support available to them in higher education and, where a higher 
education place has been confirmed for a young person with an EHC plan, 
to pass a copy of the EHC plan to the relevant institution and to the 
assessor for Disabled Students Allowance with the young person’s 
permission 

8.4 This is not a comprehensive list of local authority duties under the Children and 
Families Act 2014 or of regulations made under it. It is included to provide an 
overview, not detailed guidance on local authority duties. 

Starting early 
8.5 When a child is very young, or SEN is first identified, families need to know that the 

great majority of children and young people with SEN or disabilities, with the right 
support, can find work, be supported to live independently, and participate in their 
community. Health workers, social workers, early years providers and schools 
should encourage these ambitions right from the start. They should seek to 
understand the interests, strengths and motivations of children and young people 
and use this as a basis for planning support around them. 

8.6 Early years providers and schools should support children and young people so that 
they are included in social groups and develop friendships. This is particularly 
important when children and young people are transferring from one phase of 
education to another (for example, from nursery to primary school). Maintained 
nurseries and schools must ensure that, subject to certain conditions, pupils with 
SEN engage in the activities of the nursery or school together with those who do not 
have SEN, and are encouraged to participate fully in the life of the nursery or school 
and in any wider community activity. 

Support from Year 9 onwards (age 13-14) 
8.7 High aspirations about employment, independent living and community participation 

should be developed through the curriculum and extra-curricular provision. Schools 
should seek partnerships with employment services, businesses, housing agencies, 
disability organisations and arts and sports groups, to help children understand what 
is available to them as they get older, and what it is possible for them to achieve. It 
can be particularly powerful to meet disabled adults who are successful in their work 

Page 196



125 
 

or who have made a significant contribution to their community. For children with 
EHC plans, Personal Budgets can be used to help children and young people with 
SEN to access activities that promote greater independence and learn important life 
skills. Local authorities must ensure that the relevant services they provide co-
operate in helping children and young people to prepare for adulthood. This may 
include, for example, housing services, adult social care and economic regeneration. 

8.8 For teenagers, preparation for adult life needs to be a more explicit element of their 
planning and support. Discussions about their future should focus on what they want 
to achieve and the best way to support them to achieve. Considering the right post-
16 option is part of this planning. Chapter 9 includes more detail about the process of 
developing an EHC plan. Children and young people’s aspirations and needs will not 
only vary according to individual circumstances, but will change over time as they get 
older and approach adult life. 

Children and young people with EHC plans: preparing for 
adulthood reviews 

8.9 Local authorities must ensure that the EHC plan review at Year 9, and every review 
thereafter, includes a focus on preparing for adulthood. It can be helpful for EHC 
plan reviews before Year 9 to have this focus too. Planning must be centred around 
the individual and explore the child or young person’s aspirations and abilities, what 
they want to be able to do when they leave post-16 education or training and the 
support they need to achieve their ambition. Local authorities should ensure that 
children and young people have the support they need (for example, advocates) to 
participate fully in this planning and make decisions. Transition planning must be 
built into the revised EHC plan and should result in clear outcomes being agreed that 
are ambitious and stretching and which will prepare young people for adulthood. 

8.10 Preparing for adulthood planning in the review of the EHC plan should include:  

• support to prepare for higher education and/or employment. This should 
include identifying appropriate post-16 pathways that will lead to these 
outcomes. Training options such as supported internships, apprenticeships 
and traineeships should be discussed, or support for setting up your own 
business. The review should also cover support in finding a job, and 
learning how to do a job (for example, through work experience 
opportunities or the use of job coaches) and help in understanding any 
welfare benefits that might be available when in work 

• support to prepare for independent living, including exploring what 
decisions young people want to take for themselves and planning their role 
in decision making as they become older. This should also include 
discussing where the child or young person wants to live in the future, who 

Page 197



126 
 

they want to live with and what support they will need. Local housing 
options, support in finding accommodation, housing benefits and social 
care support should be explained 

• support in maintaining good health in adult life, including effective planning 
with health services of the transition from specialist paediatric services to 
adult health care. Helping children and young people understand which 
health professionals will work with them as adults, ensuring those 
professionals understand the young person’s learning difficulties or 
disabilities and planning well-supported transitions is vital to ensure young 
people are as healthy as possible in adult life 

• support in participating in society, including understanding mobility and 
transport support, and how to find out about social and community 
activities, and opportunities for engagement in local decision-making. This 
also includes support in developing and maintaining friendships and 
relationships 

8.11 The review should identify the support the child or young person needs to achieve 
these aspirations and should also identify the components that should be included in 
their study programme to best prepare them for adult life. It should identify how the 
child or young person wants that support to be available and what action should be 
taken by whom to provide it. It should also identify the support a child or young 
person may need as they prepare to make more decisions for themselves. 

8.12 Further guidance on preparing for the transition to post-16 education is given in 
paragraphs 8.22 to 8.28. Further guidance on transition to higher education is 
provided in paragraphs 8.45 to 8.50, and on leaving education and training in 
paragraphs 8.77 to 8.80. 

Young people preparing to make their own decisions 
8.13 As young people develop, and increasingly form their own views, they should be 

involved more and more closely in decisions about their own future. After compulsory 
school age (the end of the academic year in which they turn 16) the right to make 
requests and decisions under the Children and Families Act 2014 applies to them 
directly, rather than to their parents. Parents, or other family members, can continue 
to support young people in making decisions, or act on their behalf, provided that the 
young person is happy for them to do so, and it is likely that parents will remain 
closely involved in the great majority of cases.  

8.14 The specific decision-making rights about EHC plans (see Chapter 9) which apply to 
young people directly from the end of compulsory school age are: 

Page 198



127 
 

• the right to request an assessment for an EHC plan (which they can do at 
any time up to their 25th birthday) 

• the right to make representations about the content of their EHC plan 

• the right to request that a particular institution is named in their EHC plan 

• the right to request a Personal Budget for elements of an EHC plan 

• the right to appeal to the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) about 
decisions concerning their EHC plan 

8.15 Local authorities, schools, colleges, health services and other agencies should 
continue to involve parents in discussions about the young person’s future. In 
focusing discussions around the individual young person, they should support that 
young person to communicate their needs and aspirations and to make decisions 
which are most likely to lead to good outcomes for them, involving the family in most 
cases. A decision by a young person in respect of an EHC plan will typically involve 
discussion with their family and others, but the final decision rests with the young 
person.  

8.16 A young person can ask a family member or friend to support them in any way they 
wish, including, for example, receiving correspondence on their behalf, filling in 
forms, attending meetings, making telephone calls and helping them to make 
decisions. Local authorities and other agencies working with young people should 
work flexibly to accommodate these arrangements. They should also be flexible 
about accommodating any changes in those arrangements over time, since the 
nature of the family’s involvement may alter as the young person becomes older and 
more independent. 

16- to 17-year-olds 
8.17 Where a young person is under 18, the involvement of parents is particularly 

important and local authorities should continue to involve them in the vast majority of 
decisions. Schools and colleges normally involve the parents or family members of 
students under 18 where they have concerns about a young person’s attendance, 
behaviour or welfare and they should continue to do so. They should also continue to 
involve parents or family members in discussions about the young person’s studies 
where that is their usual policy. Child safeguarding law applies to children and young 
people up to the age of 18. The fact that the Children and Families Act 2014 gives 
rights directly to young people from the end of compulsory school age does not 
necessitate any change to a local authority’s, school’s or college’s safeguarding or 
welfare policy.  

Page 199



128 
 

Support for young people 
8.18 Some young people will need support from an independent skilled supporter to 

ensure that their views are acknowledged and valued. They may need support in 
expressing views about their education, the future they want in adult life, and how 
they prepare for it, including their health, where they live, their relationships, control 
of their finances, how they will participate in the community and how they will 
achieve greater autonomy and independence. Local authorities should ensure young 
people who need it have access to this support. 

The Mental Capacity Act 
8.19 The right of young people to make a decision is subject to their capacity to do so as 

set out in the Mental Capacity Act 2005. The underlying principle of the Act is to 
ensure that those who lack capacity are empowered to make as many decisions for 
themselves as possible and that any decision made or action taken on their behalf is 
done so in their best interests. Decisions about mental capacity are made on an 
individual basis, and may vary according to the nature of the decision. Someone who 
may lack capacity to make a decision in one area of their life may be able to do so in 
another. There is further guidance on the Mental Capacity Act and how it applies 
both to parents and to young people in relation to the Act in Annex 1, Mental 
Capacity.  

Planning the transition into post-16 education and training 
8.20 Young people entering post-16 education and training should be accessing provision 

which supports them to build on their achievements at school and which helps them 
progress towards adulthood. Young people with EHC plans are likely to need more 
tailored post-16 pathways. 

8.21 As children approach the transition point, schools and colleges should help children 
and their families with more detailed planning. For example, in Year 9, they should 
aim to help children explore their aspirations and how different post-16 education 
options can help them meet them. FE colleges and sixth form colleges can now 
recruit students directly from age 14, and so this will be an option in some cases. In 
Year 10 they should aim to support the child and their family to explore more specific 
courses or places to study (for example, through taster days and visits) so they can 
draw up provisional plans. In Year 11 they should aim to support the child and their 
family to firm up their plans for their post-16 options and familiarise themselves with 
the expected new setting. This should include contingency planning and the child 
and their family should know what to do if plans change (because of exam results for 
example). 

Page 200



129 
 

8.22 It is important that information about previous SEN provision is shared with the 
further education or training provider. Schools should share information before the 
young person takes up their place, preferably in the spring term prior to the new 
course, so that the provider can develop a suitable study programme and prepare 
appropriate support. Where a change in education setting is planned, in the period 
leading up to that transition schools should work with children and young people and 
their families, and the new college or school, to ensure that their new setting has a 
good understanding of what the young person’s aspirations are and how they would 
like to be supported. This will enable the new setting to plan support around the 
individual. Some children and young people will want a fresh start when leaving 
school to attend college and any sharing of information about their SEN should be 
sensitive to their concerns and done with their agreement. 

8.23 Schools and colleges should work in partnership to provide opportunities such as 
taster courses, link programmes and mentoring which enable young people with 
SEN to familiarise themselves with the college environment and gain some 
experience of college life and study. This can include, for example, visits and taster 
days so that young people can become familiar with the size of the college, and how 
their studies will be structured, including how many days a week their programme 
covers. These will enable them to make more informed choices, and help them make 
a good transition into college life. Schools and colleges should agree a ‘tell us once’ 
approach so that families and young people do not have to repeat the same 
information unnecessarily. 

8.24 For children and young people with EHC plans, discussions about post-16 options 
will be part of the preparing for adulthood focus of ECH plan reviews, which must be 
included as part of the review from Year 9 (age 13-14). The local authority must 
ensure these reviews take place, and schools and colleges must co-operate with the 
local authority in these reviews. If it is clear that a young person wants to attend a 
different school (sixth form) or a college, then that school or college must co-
operate, so that it can help to shape the EHC plan, help to define the outcomes for 
that young person and start developing a post-16 study programme tailored to their 
needs. 

8.25 Where SEN has been identified at school, colleges should use any information they 
have from the school about the young person. In some cases, SEN may have been 
identified at school, and information passed to the college in advance, and colleges 
should use this information, and seek clarification and further advice when needed 
from the school (or other agencies where relevant), to ensure they are ready to meet 
the needs of the student and that the student is ready for the move to college. 

8.26 Under statutory guidance accompanying the Autism Strategy, SEN Co-ordinators 
(SENCOs) should inform young people with autism of their right to a community care 

Page 201



130 
 

assessment and their parents of the right to a carer’s assessment. This should be 
built into preparing for adulthood review meetings for those with EHC plans. (See 
8.61 to 8.66, Transition assessments for young people with EHC plans.) 

Careers advice for children and young people 
8.27 Maintained schools and pupil referral units (PRUs) have a statutory duty under 

section 42A of the Education Act 1997 to ensure pupils from Year 8 until Year 13 are 
provided with independent careers guidance. Academies, including 16-19 
academies, and free schools are subject to this duty through their Funding 
Agreements. FE colleges also have equivalent requirements in their Funding 
Agreements – their duty applies for all students up to and including age 18 and will 
apply to 19- to 25-year-olds with EHC plans. 

8.28 Schools and colleges should raise the career aspirations of their SEN students and 
broaden their employment horizons. They should use a wide range of imaginative 
approaches, such as taster opportunities, work experience, mentoring, exploring 
entrepreneurial options, role models and inspiring speakers. 

8.29 Local authorities have a strategic leadership role in fulfilling their duties concerning 
the participation of young people in education and training. They should work with 
schools, colleges and other post-16 providers, as well as other agencies, to support 
young people to participate in education or training and to identify those in need of 
targeted support to help them make positive and well-informed choices. Statutory 
guidance for local authorities on the participation of young people in education, 
employment and training is available from the GOV.UK website – a link is given in 
the Reference section under Chapter 8.  

High quality study programmes for students with SEN 
8.30 All students aged 16 to 19 (and, where they will have an EHC plan, up to the age of 

25) should follow a coherent study programme which provides stretch and 
progression and enables them to achieve the best possible outcomes in adult life. 
Schools and colleges are expected to design study programmes which enable 
students to progress to a higher level of study than their prior attainment, take 
rigorous, substantial qualifications, study English and maths, participate in 
meaningful work experience and non-qualification activity. They should not be 
repeating learning they have already completed successfully. For students who are 
not taking qualifications, their study programme should focus on high quality work 
experience, and on non-qualification activity which prepares them well for 
employment, independent living, being healthy adults and participating in society. 
Full guidance about study programmes is available on the GOV.UK website – a link 
is given in the Reference section under Chapter 8.  

Page 202



131 
 

Pathways to employment  
8.31 All young people should be helped to develop the skills and experience, and achieve 

the qualifications they need, to succeed in their careers. The vast majority of young 
people with SEN are capable of sustainable paid employment with the right 
preparation and support. All professionals working with them should share that 
presumption. Colleges that offer courses which are designed to provide pathways to 
employment should have a clear focus on preparing students with SEN for work. 
This includes identifying the skills that employers value, and helping young people to 
develop them.  

8.32 One of the most effective ways to prepare young people with SEN for employment is 
to arrange work-based learning that enables them to have first-hand experience of 
work, such as:  

• Apprenticeships: These are paid jobs that incorporate training, leading to 
nationally recognised qualifications. Apprentices earn as they learn and 
gain practical skills in the workplace. Many lead to highly skilled careers. 
Young people with EHC plans can retain their plan when on an 
apprenticeship.  

• Traineeships: These are education and training programmes with work 
experience, focused on giving young people the skills and experience they 
need to help them compete for an apprenticeship or other jobs. 
Traineeships last a maximum of six months and include core components 
of work preparation training, English and maths (unless GCSE A*-C 
standard has already been achieved) and a high quality work experience 
placement. They are currently open to young people aged 16 to 24, 
including those with EHC plans. Young people with EHC plans can retain 
their plan when undertaking a traineeship.   

• Supported internships: These are structured study programmes for 
young people with an EHC plan, based primarily at an employer. 
Internships normally last for a year and include extended unpaid work 
placements of at least six months. Wherever possible, they support the 
young person to move into paid employment at the end of the programme. 
Students complete a personalised study programme which includes the 
chance to study for relevant substantial qualifications, if suitable, and 
English and maths to an appropriate level. Young people with EHC plans 
will retain their plan when undertaking a supported internship. 

8.33 When considering a work placement as part of a study programme, such as a 
supported internship, schools or colleges should match students carefully with the 
available placements. A thorough understanding of the student’s potential, abilities, 

Page 203



132 
 

interests and areas they want to develop should inform honest conversations with 
potential employers. This is more likely to result in a positive experience for the 
student and the employer. 

8.34 Schools and colleges should consider funding from Access to Work, available from 
the Department for Work and Pensions, as a potential source of practical support for 
people with disabilities or health (including mental health) conditions on entering 
work and apprenticeships, as well as the in-work elements of traineeships or 
supported internships. More information is available from the GOV.UK website and 
the Preparing for Adulthood website – links to both are given in the Reference 
section under Chapter 8. 

8.35 In preparing young people for employment, local authorities, schools and colleges 
should be aware of the different employment options for disabled adults. This should 
include ‘job-carving’ – tailoring a job so it is suitable for a particular worker and their 
skills. This approach not only generates employment opportunities for young people 
with SEN, but can lead to improved productivity in the employer organisation. 

8.36 Help to support young people with SEN into work is available from supported 
employment services. These can provide expert, individualised support to secure 
sustainable, paid work. This includes support in matching students to suitable work 
placements, searching for a suitable job and providing training (for example, from job 
coaches) in the workplace when a job has been secured. Local authorities should 
include supported employment services in their Local Offer (see Chapter 4, The 
Local Offer). 

8.37 Education and training should include help for students who need it to develop skills 
which will prepare them for work, such as communication and social skills, using 
assistive technology, and independent travel training. It can also include support for 
students who may want to be self-employed, such as setting up a micro-enterprise.  

8.38 It helps young people to know what support they may receive from adult services, 
when considering employment options. Where a young person may need support 
from adult services, local authorities should consider undertaking a transition 
assessment to aid discussions around pathways to employment (see paragraph 8.59 
below under ‘Transition to adult social care’). 

Packages of support across five days a week 
8.39 Where young people have EHC plans, local authorities should consider the need to 

provide a full package of provision and support across education, health and care 
that covers five days a week, where that is appropriate to meet the young person’s 
needs. 

Page 204



133 
 

8.40 Five-day packages of provision and support do not have to be at one provider and 
could involve amounts of time at different providers and in different settings. It may 
include periods outside education institutions with appropriate support, including time 
and support for independent study. A package of provision can include non-
educational activities such as: 

• volunteering or community participation 

• work experience 

• opportunities that will equip young people with the skills they need to make a 
successful transition to adulthood, such as independent travel training, and/or 
skills for living in semi-supported or independent accommodation, and 

• training to enable a young person to develop and maintain friendships and/or 
support them to access facilities in the local community. 

It can also include health and care related activities such as physiotherapy. Full-time 
packages of provision and support set out in the EHC plan should include any time 
young people need to access support for their health and social care needs.  

8.41 When commissioning provision, local authorities should have regard to how young 
people learn and the additional time and support they may need to undertake 
coursework and homework as well as time to socialise with their college peers within 
the college environment. In some cases, courses normally offered over three days 
may need to be spread over four or five days where that is likely to lead to better 
outcomes. Local authorities will need to work with providers and young people to 
ensure there is a range of opportunities that can be tailored to individual needs, 
including the use of Personal Budgets. 

8.42 In making decisions about packages of support, local authorities should take into 
account the impact on the family and the effect this impact is likely to have on the 
young person’s progress. 

Transition to higher education 
8.43 Securing a place in higher education is a positive outcome for many young people 

with SEN. Where a young person has this ambition, the right level of provision and 
support should be provided to help them to achieve that goal, wherever possible. 

8.44 The local authority must make young people aware through their local offer of the 
support available to them in higher education and how to claim it, including the 
Disabled Students Allowance (DSA). DSAs are available to help students in higher 
education with the extra costs they may incur on their course because of a disability. 
This can include an ongoing health condition, mental health condition or specific 

Page 205



134 
 

learning difficulty such as dyslexia. Students need to make an application to Student 
Finance England (for students domiciled in England), providing accompanying 
medical evidence. A link to further information on DSAs is given in the Reference 
section under Chapter 7. 

8.45 Applications for DSA can be made as soon as the student finance application service 
opens. This varies from year to year, but is generally at least six months before the 
start of the academic year in which a young person is expecting to take up a place in 
higher education. Local authorities should encourage young people to make an early 
claim for DSA so that support is in place when their course begins. Where a young 
person with an EHC plan makes a claim for DSA, the local authority must pass a 
copy of their plan to the relevant DSA assessor, to support and inform the application 
as soon as possible, where they are asked to do so by the young person. This 
should include relevant supporting diagnostic and medical information and 
assessments where the young person agrees. 

8.46 Local authorities should plan a smooth transition to the higher education (and, where 
applicable, to the new local authority area) before ceasing to maintain a young 
person’s EHC plan. Once the young person’s place has been confirmed at a higher 
education institution, the local authority must pass a copy of their EHC plan to the 
relevant person in that institution at the earliest opportunity, where they are asked to 
do so by the young person. 

8.47 The local authority should also plan how social care support will be maintained, 
where the young person continues to require it, and whether this will continue to be 
provided by the home local authority or by the authority in the area they are moving 
to. This should include consideration of how the student will be supported if they 
have a dual location, for example, if they live close to the higher education institution 
during term time and at home during vacations.  

8.48 For most young people, their home local authority will continue to provide their care 
and support but this will depend on the circumstances of their case. The Ordinary 
Residence guidance published by the Department of Health provides a number of 
examples to help local authorities in making these decisions. The guidance is 
available on the GOV.UK website and a link is given in the Reference section under 
Chapter 8. Under the Care Act 2014, young people have the right to request 
transition assessments for adult care that will enable them to see whether they are 
likely to have eligible needs that will be met by adult services once they turn 18. 
Local authorities should use these assessments to help plan for support that will be 
provided by the local authority while a young person is in higher education. 

Page 206



135 
 

Young people aged 19 to 25 
8.49 Local authorities should be ambitious for children and young people with SEN, 

raising their aspirations and promoting high expectations about what they can 
achieve in school, college and beyond. Local authorities should ensure children and 
young people have access to the right support and opportunities that will prepare 
them successfully for adulthood by helping them achieve the agreed outcomes in 
their EHC plan. This will enable many more young people with SEN to complete their 
formal education. 

8.50  Local authorities must set out in their Local Offer the support and provision that 19- 
to 25-year-olds with SEN can access regardless of whether they have an EHC plan 
(see Chapter 4, The Local Offer). Further education colleges must continue to use 
their best endeavours to secure the special educational provision needed by all 
young people aged 19 to 25 with SEN attending their institution. For guidance on 
EHC plans for young people aged 19 to 25, see Chapter 9. 

Funding places for 19- to 25-year-olds 
8.51 19- to 25-year-olds with EHC plans should have free access to further education in 

the same way as 16- to18-year-olds. Colleges or training providers must not charge 
young people tuition fees for such places as the funding will be provided by the local 
authority and the Education Funding Agency (EFA). Further information on funding is 
available from the EFA pages on GOV.UK – a link is provided in the References 
section under Chapter 7. 

8.52 Apprentices aged 19 to 25 with EHC plans are fully funded on the same terms and 
funding rates as 16- to 18-year-old apprentices. The Local Offer should include 
apprenticeships for this age group and full details of apprenticeship funding are 
available from the Skills Funding Agency (SFA) website – a link is given in the 
References section under Chapter 7. 

8.53 19- to 25-year-olds with SEN but without EHC plans can choose to remain in further 
education. Colleges are funded by the SFA for all students aged 19 and over who do 
not have an EHC plan (including those who declare a learning difficulty or disability). 
Colleges are able to charge fees for these students, but must use their best 
endeavours to secure the necessary special educational provision that they need. 
However, students who meet residency and eligibility criteria will have access to 
Government funding. Information on funding eligibility is available on the SFA’s 
website – see the References section under Chapter 7 for a link. Local authorities 
are not responsible for securing or funding education and training opportunities for 
young people aged 19 to 25 who do not have EHC plans.  

Page 207



136 
 

Transition to adult health services 
8.54 Support to prepare young people for good health in adulthood should include 

supporting them to make the transition to adult health services. A child with 
significant health needs is usually under the care of a paediatrician. As an adult, they 
might be under the care of different consultants and teams. Health service and other 
professionals should work with the young person and, where appropriate, their 
family. They should gain a good understanding of the young person’s individual 
needs, including their learning difficulties or disabilities, to co-ordinate health care 
around those needs and to ensure continuity and the best outcomes for the young 
person. This means working with the young person to develop a transition plan, 
which identifies who will take the lead in co-ordinating care and referrals to other 
services. The young person should know who is taking the lead and how to contact 
them.  

8.55 For young people with EHC plans, the plan should be the basis for co-ordinating the 
integration of health with other services. Where young people are moving to adult 
health services, the local authority and health services must co-operate, working in 
partnership with each other and the young person to ensure that the EHC plan and 
the care plan for the treatment and management of the young person’s health are 
aligned. The clinical commissioning group (CCG) must co-operate with the local 
authority in supporting the transition to adult services and must jointly commission 
services that will help meet the outcomes in the EHC plan. 

8.56 In supporting the transition from Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
(CAMHS) to adult mental health services, clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) and 
local authorities should refer to The Mental Health Action Plan, Closing the Gap: 
Priorities for essential change in mental health (see References section under 
Chapter 8 for a link). This action plan identifies transition from CAMHS to adult 
services as a priority for action. CCGs and local authorities should have regard to 
any published service specification for transition from CAMHS. They should use the 
specification to build person-centred services that take into account the 
developmental needs of the young person as well as the need for age- appropriate 
services.  

Transition to adult social care 
8.57 Young people with SEN turning 18, or their carers, may become eligible for adult 

care services, regardless of whether they have an EHC plan or whether they have 
been receiving care services under section 17 of the Children Act 1989. Under the 
Care Act 2014, the local authority must carry out an adult care transition 
assessment where there is significant benefit to a young person or their carer in 
doing so and they are likely to have needs for care or support after turning 18. 
Transition assessments for adult care must take place at the right time for the 

Page 208



137 
 

individual. There is no set age when young people reach this point and as such 
transition assessments should take place when it is of ‘significant benefit’ to them.  

8.58 The statutory guidance ‘Transition Guidance for the Care Act 2014’ explains ‘likely 
need’ and ‘significant benefit’ in more detail (see References section under Chapter 
8 for a link). It also provides further information on local authorities’ roles and 
responsibilities for carrying out transition assessments for those turning 18 and, 
where relevant, carers who may be eligible for adult assessments. 

Transition assessments for young people with EHC plans 
8.59 For a young person with an EHC plan, the local authority should ensure that the 

transition to adult care and support is well planned, is integrated with the annual 
reviews of the EHC plans and reflects existing special educational and health 
provision that is in place to help the young person prepare for adulthood. 

8.60 As with EHC plan development in general, transition assessments for adult care and 
support must involve the young person and anyone else they want to involve in the 
assessment. They must also include the outcomes, views and wishes that matter to 
the young person – much of which will already be set out in their EHC plan. 

8.61 Assessments for adult care or support must consider: 

• current needs for care and support 

• whether the young person is likely to have needs for care and support after 
they turn 18, and 

• if so, what those needs are likely to be and which are likely to be eligible 
needs 

8.62 Local authorities can meet their statutory duties around transition assessment 
through an annual review of a young person’s EHC plan that includes the above 
elements. Indeed, EHC plans must include provision to assist in preparing for 
adulthood from Year 9 (age 13 to14).  

8.63 Having carried out a transition assessment, the local authority must give an 
indication of which needs are likely to be regarded as eligible needs so the young 
person understands the care and support they are likely to receive once children’s 
services cease. Where a young person’s needs are not eligible for adult services, 
local authorities must provide information and advice about how those needs may 
be met and the provision and support that young people can access in their local 
area. Local authorities should ensure this information is incorporated into their Local 
Offer. 

Page 209



138 
 

8.64 Statutory guidance accompanying the Autism Strategy places a duty on SENCOs in 
schools and a named person within a college with SEN oversight to inform young 
people with autism of their right to a community care assessment and their parents 
of a right to a carer’s assessment. Where a young person has an EHC plan, this 
should be built into their preparing for adulthood reviews. 

Continuity of provision 
8.65 Under no circumstances should young people find themselves suddenly without 

support and care as they make the transition to adult services. Very few moves from 
children’s to adult services will or should take place on the day of someone’s 18th 
birthday. For the most part, transition to adult services for those with EHC plans 
should begin at an appropriate annual review and in many cases should be a staged 
process over several months or years. 

8.66 Under the Care Act 2014 local authorities must continue to provide a young person 
with children’s services until they reach a conclusion about their situation as an adult, 
so that there is no gap in provision. Reaching a conclusion means that, following a 
transition assessment, the local authority concludes that the young person: 

• does not have needs for adult care and support, or 

• does have such needs and begins to meet some or all of them, or 

• does have such needs but decides it is not going to meet them (either 
because they are not eligible needs or because they are already being met) 

8.67 The local authority can also decide to continue to provide care and support from 
children’s services after the young person has turned 18. This can continue until the 
EHC plan is no longer maintained but when the EHC plan ceases or a decision is 
made that children’s services are no longer appropriate, the local authority must 
continue the children’s services until they have reached a conclusion about their 
need for support from adult services. 

EHC plans and statutory care and support plans 
8.68 Local authorities must put in place a statutory care and support plan for young 

people with eligible needs for adult care and support. Local authorities must meet 
the needs of the young person set out in their care and support plan. 

8.69 Where young people aged 18 or over continue to have EHC plans, and are receiving 
care and support, this will be provided under the Care Act 2014. The statutory adult 
care and support plan should form the ‘care’ element of the young person’s EHC 
plan. While the care part of the EHC plan must meet the requirements of the Care 
Act 2014 and a copy should be kept by adult services, it is the EHC plan that should 

Page 210



139 
 

be the overarching plan that is used with these young people to ensure they receive 
the support they need to enable them to achieve agreed outcomes.  

8.70 Local authorities must set out in section H2 of the EHC plan any adult care and 
support that is reasonably required by the young person’s learning difficulties or 
disabilities. For those over 18, this will be those elements of their statutory care and 
support plan that are directly related to their learning difficulties or disabilities. EHC 
plans may also specify other adult care and support in the young person’s care and 
support plan where appropriate, but the elements directly related to learning 
difficulties and disabilities should always be included as they will be of particular 
relevance to the rest of the EHC plan.  

8.71 Local authorities should ensure that local systems and processes for assessment 
and review of EHC plans and care and support plans are fully joined up for young 
people who will have both. Every effort should be made to ensure that young people 
with both EHC plans and care and support plans do not have to attend multiple 
reviews held by different services, provide duplicate information, or receive support 
that is not joined up and co-ordinated. 

8.72 When a young person’s EHC plan is due to come to an end, local authorities should 
put in place effective plans for the support the young person will be receiving across 
adult services. Where a care and support plan is in place, this will remain as the 
young person’s statutory plan for care and support. Local authorities should review 
the provision of adult care and support at this point as the young person’s 
circumstances will be changing significantly as they leave the formal education and 
training system.  

8.73 Where a safeguarding issue arises for someone over 18 with an EHC plan, the 
matter should be dealt with as a matter of course by the adult safeguarding team. 
They should involve the local authority’s child safeguarding colleagues where 
appropriate as well as any relevant partners (for example, the police or NHS) or 
other persons relevant to the case. The same approach should apply for complaints 
or appeals. 

Personal Budgets 
8.74 Where a transition assessment identifies needs that are likely to be eligible, local 

authorities should consider providing an indicative Personal Budget so that young 
people have an idea of how much their care and support will cost when they enter 
the adult system. This is particularly important if young people with EHC plans are 
already exercising their statutory right to a Personal Budget as any adult with eligible 
needs will have a care and support plan which must include a Personal Budget. 
Young people with EHC plans may also consider the transition to adult services a 
good opportunity to start exercising their right to start receiving their Personal Budget 

Page 211



140 
 

as a direct payment. Local authorities must follow the guidance on Personal 
Budgets set out in Chapter 9 of this Code of Practice and the Personal Budget 
Guidance for the Care Act 2014 (see References section under Chapter 8 for a link).   

Leaving education or training 
8.75 All young people with SEN should be supported to make the transition to life beyond 

school or college, whether or not they have an EHC plan. As well as preparing them 
for adulthood generally, schools and colleges should ensure that young people with 
SEN have the information they need to make the final steps in this transition. This 
includes information about local employers, further training, and where to go for 
further advice or support. 

8.76 For young people with EHC plans, where it is known that a young person will soon 
be completing their time in education and training, the local authority should use the 
annual review prior to ceasing the EHC plan to agree the support and specific steps 
needed to help the young person to engage with the services and provision they will 
be accessing once they have left education. 

8.77 Some young people will be moving into employment or going on to higher education. 
Others will primarily require ongoing health and/or care support and/or access to 
adult learning opportunities. They may be best supported by universal health 
services and adult social care and support, alongside learning opportunities in the 
adult skills sector. For those who have just completed an apprenticeship, traineeship 
or supported internship the best option may be for them to leave formal education or 
training and either begin some sort of paid employment resulting from their work 
placement, or to access further support and training available to help them secure a 
job through Jobcentre Plus. 

8.78 This transition should be planned with timescales and clear responsibilities and the 
young person should know what will happen when their EHC plan ceases. During 
this planning process, the local authority must continue to maintain the young 
person’s EHC plan as long as the young person needs it and remains in education or 
training.  

Page 212



141 
 

9 Education, Health and Care needs assessments 
and plans 

What the chapter covers  
This chapter covers all the key stages in statutory assessment and planning and 
preparing the Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan, and guidance on related 
topics.  

It includes: 

• when a local authority must carry out an EHC needs assessment, including 

in response to a request 

• who must be consulted and provide advice 

• the statutory steps required by the process of EHC needs assessment and 

EHC plan development, including timescales 

• how to write an EHC plan 

• requesting a particular school, college or other institution 

• requesting and agreeing Personal Budgets, including sources of funding 

• finalising and maintaining an EHC plan 

• transferring an EHC plan 

• reviews and re-assessments of an EHC plan  

• ceasing an EHC plan 

• disclosing an EHC plan 

Relevant legislation  
Primary 
Sections 36 – 50 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

The Care Act 2014 

Section 2 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 

Sections 17, 20 and 47 of the Children Act 1989 

Regulations  
The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 

The Special Educational Needs (Personal Budgets) Regulations 2014 

Page 213



142 
 

Special Educational Needs (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2014 

The Community Care Services for Carers and Children’s Services (Direct Payments) 
Regulations 2009 

The National Health Service (Direct Payments) Regulations 2013 

The Special Educational Needs and Disability (Detained Persons) Regulations 2015 

Introduction 
9.1 The majority of children and young people with SEN or disabilities will have their 

needs met within local mainstream early years settings, schools or colleges (as set 
out in the information on identification and support in Chapters 5, 6 and 7). Some 
children and young people may require an EHC needs assessment in order for the 
local authority to decide whether it is necessary for it to make provision in 
accordance with an EHC plan.  

9.2 The purpose of an EHC plan is to make special educational provision to meet the 
special educational needs of the child or young person, to secure the best possible 
outcomes for them across education, health and social care and, as they get older, 
prepare them for adulthood. To achieve this, local authorities use the information 
from the assessment to: 

• establish and record the views, interests and aspirations of the parents and 
child or young person 

• provide a full description of the child or young person’s special educational 
needs and any health and social care needs 

• establish outcomes across education, health and social care based on the 
child or young person’s needs and aspirations 

• specify the provision required and how education, health and care services 
will work together to meet the child or young person’s needs and support 
the achievement of the agreed outcomes 

9.3 A local authority must conduct an assessment of education, health and care needs 
when it considers that it may be necessary for special educational provision to be 
made for the child or young person in accordance with an EHC plan. The factors a 
local authority should take into account in deciding whether it needs to undertake an 
EHC needs assessment are set out in paragraphs 9.14 to 9.15, and the factors a 
local authority should take into account in deciding whether an EHC plan is 
necessary are set out in paragraphs 9.53 to 9.56. The EHC needs assessment 
should not normally be the first step in the process, rather it should follow on from 

Page 214



143 
 

planning already undertaken with parents and young people in conjunction with an 
early years provider, school, post-16 institution or other provider. In a very small 
minority of cases children or young people may demonstrate such significant 
difficulties that a school or other provider may consider it impossible or inappropriate 
to carry out its full chosen assessment procedure. For example, where its concerns 
may have led to a further diagnostic assessment or examination which shows the 
child or young person to have severe sensory impairment or other impairment which, 
without immediate specialist intervention beyond the capacity of the school or other 
provider, would lead to increased learning difficulties. 

9.4 During the transition period local authorities will transfer children and young people 
with statements onto the new system (see paragraphs x and xi of the Introduction 
and paragraph 1.17 in Chapter 1, Principles, for more information on transition and 
transfer of statements). No-one should lose their statement and not have it replaced 
with an EHC plan simply because the system is changing.  

9.5 EHC plans should be forward-looking documents that help raise aspirations and 
outline the provision required to meet assessed needs to support the child or young 
person in achieving their ambitions. EHC plans should specify how services will be 
delivered as part of a whole package and explain how best to achieve the outcomes 
sought across education, health and social care for the child or young person.  

9.6 An EHC needs assessment will not always lead to an EHC plan. The information 
gathered during an EHC needs assessment may indicate ways in which the school, 
college or other provider can meet the child or young person’s needs without an 
EHC plan. 

9.7 The statutory processes and timescales set out in this chapter must be followed by 
local authorities. Local authorities should conduct assessments and prepare and 
maintain EHC plans in the most efficient way possible, working collaboratively with 
children and young people and their parents. It should be possible to complete the 
process more quickly than the statutory timescales permit, except in more complex 
cases or where there is disagreement. It is vital that a timely process is supported by 
high quality engagement with the child and his or her parents or the young person 
throughout the assessment, planning and review process. 

Requesting an EHC needs assessment 
Relevant legislation: Section 36 of the Children and Families Act 2014  

9.8 The following people have a specific right to ask a local authority to conduct an 
education, health and care needs assessment for a child or young person aged 
between 0 and 25: 

Page 215



144 
 

• the child’s parent 

• a young person over the age of 16 but under the age of 25, and 

• a person acting on behalf of a school or post-16 institution (this should 
ideally be with the knowledge and agreement of the parent or young person 
where possible) 

9.9 In addition, anyone else can bring a child or young person who has (or may have) 
SEN to the attention of the local authority, particularly where they think an EHC 
needs assessment may be necessary. This could include, for example, foster carers, 
health and social care professionals, early years practitioners, youth offending teams 
or probation services, those responsible for education in custody, school or college 
staff or a family friend. Bringing a child or young person to the attention of the local 
authority will be undertaken on an individual basis where there are specific concerns. 
This should be done with the knowledge and, where possible, agreement of the 
child’s parent or the young person. 

9.10 Children and young people under 19 in youth custodial establishments also have the 
right to request an assessment for an EHC plan. The child’s parent, the young 
person themselves or the professionals working with them can ask the home local 
authority to conduct an EHC needs assessment while they are still detained. The 
process and principles for considering and carrying out an EHC needs assessment 
and maintaining an EHC plan for children and young people in youth custody are set 
out in Chapter 10, Children and young people in specific circumstances. 

Considering whether an EHC needs assessment is 
necessary 
Relevant legislation: Section 36 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 3, 4, and 5 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.11 Following a request for an EHC needs assessment, or the child or young person 
having otherwise been brought to its attention, the local authority must determine 
whether an EHC needs assessment is necessary. The local authority must make a 
decision and communicate the decision to the child’s parent or to the young person 
within 6 weeks of receiving the request. The local authority does not have to 
consider whether an EHC needs assessment is necessary where it has already 
undertaken an EHC needs assessment for the child or young person during the 
previous six months, although the local authority may choose to do so if it thinks it is 
appropriate. 

9.12 The local authority must notify the child’s parent or the young person that it is 
considering whether an EHC assessment is necessary, and must consult the child’s 

Page 216



145 
 

parent or the young person as soon as practicable following a request for an EHC 
needs assessment (or having otherwise become responsible). This is particularly 
important where the request was not made by the child’s parent or the young person, 
so they have sufficient time to provide their views. In considering whether an EHC 
needs assessment is necessary, local authorities must have regard to the views, 
wishes and feelings of the child and his or her parent, or the young person. At an 
early stage, the local authority should establish how the child and his or her parent or 
the young person can best be kept informed and supported to participate as fully as 
possible in decision-making. The local authority must arrange for the child and his or 
her parent or the young person to be provided with advice and information relevant 
to the child or young person’s SEN, (for more information, see paragraph 9.21 and 
Chapter 2). 

9.13 Where the local authority considers that special educational provision may need to 
be made in accordance with an EHC plan and is considering whether an EHC needs 
assessment is necessary, it must notify: 

• the child’s parent or the young person (and must inform them of their right 
to express written or oral views and submit evidence to the local authority) 

• the health service (the relevant Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) or 
NHS England where it has responsibility for a child or young person) 

• local authority officers responsible for social care for children or young 
people with SEN 

• where a child attends an early years setting, the manager of that setting 

• where a child or young person is registered at a school, the head teacher 
(or equivalent) 

• where the young person attends a post-16 institution, the principal (or 
equivalent)  

9.14 In considering whether an EHC needs assessment is necessary, the local authority 
should consider whether there is evidence that despite the early years provider, 
school or post-16 institution having taken relevant and purposeful action to identify, 
assess and meet the special educational needs of the child or young person, the 
child or young person has not made expected progress. To inform their decision the 
local authority will need to take into account a wide range of evidence, and should 
pay particular attention to: 

• evidence of the child or young person’s academic attainment (or 
developmental milestones in younger children) and rate of progress 

Page 217



146 
 

• information about the nature, extent and context of the child or young 
person’s SEN 

• evidence of the action already being taken by the early years provider, 
school or post-16 institution to meet the child or young person’s SEN 

• evidence that where progress has been made, it has only been as the 
result of much additional intervention and support over and above that 
which is usually provided 

• evidence of the child or young person’s physical, emotional and social 
development and health needs, drawing on relevant evidence from 
clinicians and other health professionals and what has been done to meet 
these by other agencies, and 

• where a young person is aged over 18, the local authority must consider 
whether the young person requires additional time, in comparison to the 
majority of others of the same age who do not have special educational 
needs, to complete their education or training. Remaining in formal 
education or training should help young people to achieve education and 
training outcomes, building on what they have learned before and preparing 
them for adult life. 

9.15 A young person who was well supported through the Local Offer while at school may 
move to a further education (FE) college where the same range or level of support is 
not available. An EHC plan may then be needed to ensure that support is provided 
and co-ordinated effectively in the new environment. It may also be the case that 
young people acquire SEN through illness or accident, or have an existing condition 
that requires increasing support as they get older. 

9.16 Local authorities may develop criteria as guidelines to help them decide when it is 
necessary to carry out an EHC needs assessment (and following assessment, to 
decide whether it is necessary to issue an EHC plan). However, local authorities 
must be prepared to depart from those criteria where there is a compelling reason to 
do so in any particular case and demonstrate their willingness to do so where 
individual circumstances warrant such a departure. Local authorities must not apply 
a ‘blanket’ policy to particular groups of children or certain types of need, as this 
would prevent the consideration of a child’s or young person’s needs individually and 
on their merits. 

9.17 The local authority must decide whether or not to proceed with an EHC needs 
assessment, and must inform the child’s parent or the young person of their decision 
within a maximum of six weeks from receiving a request for an EHC needs 

Page 218



147 
 

assessment (or having otherwise become responsible). The local authority must 
give its reasons for this decision where it decides not to proceed. The local authority 
must also notify the other parties listed in section 9.13 above of its decision. 

9.18 If the local authority intends to conduct an EHC needs assessment, it must ensure 
the child’s parent or the young person is fully included from the start and made 
aware of opportunities to offer views and information. 

9.19 If the local authority decides not to conduct an EHC needs assessment it must 
inform the child’s parents or the young person of their right to appeal that decision 
and the time limit for doing so, of the requirement for them to consider mediation 
should they wish to appeal, and the availability of information, advice and support 
and disagreement resolution services. The local authority should also provide 
feedback collected during the process of considering whether an EHC needs 
assessment is necessary, including evidence from professionals, which the parent, 
young person, early years provider, school or post-16 institution may find useful. 

Principles underpinning co-ordinated assessment and 
planning 
Relevant legislation: Section 19 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 7 and 9 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.20 Children, young people and families should experience well co-ordinated 
assessment and planning leading to timely, well informed decisions. The following 
general principles underpin effective assessment and planning processes: 

Involving children, young people and parents in decision-making 
9.21 Local authorities must consult the child and the child’s parent or the young person 

throughout the process of assessment and production of an EHC plan. They should 
also involve the child as far as possible in this process. The needs of the individual 
child and young person should sit at the heart of the assessment and planning 
process. Planning should start with the individual and local authorities must have 
regard to the views, wishes and feelings of the child, child’s parent or young person, 
their aspirations, the outcomes they wish to seek and the support they need to 
achieve them. It should enable children, young people and parents to have more 
control over decisions about their support including the use of a Personal Budget for 
those with an EHC plan. 

9.22 The assessment and planning process should: 

• focus on the child or young person as an individual 

Page 219



148 
 

• enable children and young people and their parents to express their views, 
wishes and feelings 

• enable children and young people and their parents to be part of the 
decision-making process 

• be easy for children, young people and their parents or carers to 
understand, and use clear ordinary language and images rather than 
professional jargon 

• highlight the child or young person’s strengths and capabilities 

• enable the child or young person, and those that know them best to say 
what they have done, what they are interested in and what outcomes they 
are seeking in the future 

• tailor support to the needs of the individual 

• organise assessments to minimise demands on families 

• bring together relevant professionals to discuss and agree together the 
overall approach, and 

• deliver an outcomes-focused and co-ordinated plan for the child or young 
person and their parents 

9.23 This approach is often referred to as a person-centred approach. By using this 
approach within a family context, professionals and local authorities can ensure that 
children, young people and parents are involved in all aspects of planning and 
decision-making.  

9.24 Local authorities should support and encourage the involvement of children, young 
people and parents or carers by: 

• providing them with access to the relevant information in accessible formats 

• giving them time to prepare for discussions and meetings, and 

• dedicating time in discussions and meetings to hear their views 

9.25 In addition, some children and young people will require support from an advocate 
where necessary (this could be a family member or a professional) to ensure that 
their views are heard and acknowledged. They may need support in expressing 
views about their education, their health, the future and how to prepare for it, 
including where they will live, relationships, control of their finances, how they will 

Page 220



149 
 

participate in the community and how they will achieve greater autonomy and 
independence. Local authorities should ensure that children and young people who 
need it have access to this support. 

9.26 Practitioners in all services involved in the assessment and planning process need to 
be skilled in working with children, parents and young people to help them make 
informed decisions. All practitioners should have access to training so they can do 
this effectively. 

Support for children, young people and parents  
9.27 Local authorities should have early discussions with parents or the young person 

about what the EHC needs assessment process and development of an EHC plan 
will involve, and the range of options that will be available, such as different types of 
educational institution and options for Personal Budgets and how these may differ 
depending on the type of educational institution for which the parents or young 
person express a preference. 

9.28 Local authorities must work with parents and children and young people to 
understand how best to minimise disruption for them and their family life. For 
example, multiple appointments should be co-ordinated or combined where possible 
and appropriate. 

9.29 Local authorities must provide all parents, children and young people with impartial 
information, advice and support in relation to SEN to enable them to take part 
effectively in the assessment and planning process. This will include the EHC needs 
assessment process, EHC plans and Personal Budgets (including the take-up and 
ongoing management of direct payments). This should include information on key 
working and independent supporters as appropriate. (See Chapter 2 for more 
information.) 

Co-ordination 
9.30 Local authorities are responsible for ensuring that there is effective co-ordination of 

the assessment and development process for an EHC plan. The co-ordination 
should include:  

• planning the process to meet the needs of children, parents and young 
people 

• timing meetings to minimise family disruption  

• keeping the child’s parent or young person informed through a single point 
of contact wherever possible and 

Page 221



150 
 

• ensuring relevant professionals have sufficient notice to be able to 
contribute to the process 

9.31 The EHC needs assessment and plan development process should be supported by 
senior leadership teams monitoring the quality and sufficiency of EHC needs 
assessments through robust quality assurance systems. Families should have 
confidence that those overseeing the assessment process will be impartial and act in 
their best interests. 

Sharing information 
9.32 Information sharing is vital to support an effective assessment and planning process 

which fully identifies needs and outcomes and the education, health and care 
provision needed by the child or young person. Local authorities with their partners 
should establish local protocols for the effective sharing of information which 
addresses confidentiality, consent and security of information (see the References 
section under Chapter 9 for a link to the DfE advice ‘Information sharing for 
practitioners and managers’). Agencies should work together to agree local protocols 
for information collection and management so as to inform planning of provision for 
children and young people with SEN or disabilities at both individual and strategic 
levels. 

9.33 As far as possible, there should be a ‘tell us once’ approach to sharing information 
during the assessment and planning process so that families and young people do 
not have to repeat the same information to different agencies, or different 
practitioners and services within each agency. 

9.34 Local authorities must discuss with the child and young person and their parents 
what information they are happy for the local authority to share with other agencies. 
A record should be made of what information can be shared and with whom. (See 
paragraphs 9.211 to 9.213 for further information on confidentiality and disclosing 
EHC plans.) 

Timely provision of services  
9.35 Where particular services are assessed as being needed, such as those resulting 

from statutory social care assessments under the Children Act 1989 or adult social 
care legislation, their provision should be delivered in line with the relevant statutory 
guidance and should not be delayed until the EHC plan is complete. For social care, 
help and support should be given to the child and family as soon as a need is 
identified and not wait until the completion of an EHC needs assessment. 

Page 222



151 
 

Cross-agency working 
9.36 Joint working between local authorities and CCGs in the development of an EHC 

plan supports the provision of effective services for children and young people with 
SEN. (See Chapter 3, Working together across Education, Health and Care for joint 
outcomes, for guidance on services working together, and the section later in this 
chapter on agreeing the health provision in EHC plans.) 

9.37 Consideration should be given to: 

• the range of professionals across education, health and care who need to 
be involved and their availability 

• flexibility for professionals to engage in a range of ways and to plan their 
input as part of forward planning 

• providing opportunities for professionals to feed back on the process, and 
its implementation, to support continuous improvement 

Looked after children 
9.38 Local authorities should be particularly aware of the need to avoid any delays for 

looked after children and carry out the EHC needs assessment in the shortest 
possible timescale. Addressing a looked after child’s special educational needs will 
be a crucial part of avoiding breakdown in their care placement. 

Timescales for EHC needs assessment and preparation of 
an EHC plan 
Relevant legislation: Sections 36, 37, 38, 39 and 40 of the Children and Families Act 
2014 and Regulations 4, 5, 8, 10, and 13 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.39 The process of EHC needs assessment and EHC plan development must be carried 
out in a timely manner. The time limits set out below are the maximum time allowed. 
However, steps must be completed as soon as practicable. Local authorities should 
ensure that they have planned sufficient time for each step of the process, so that 
wherever possible, any issues or disagreements can be resolved within the statutory 
timescales. Where the child’s parent or the young person agrees, it may be possible 
to carry out steps much more quickly and flexibly. For example, a child’s parent or 
the young person might be happy to agree changes to an EHC plan following a 
review while at the review meeting, where all parties are content. Under no 
circumstances should the child’s parent or the young person be put under pressure 
to agree things more quickly than they feel comfortable with, and where there is any 
doubt or the child’s parent or the young person requests more time, local authorities 
must follow the steps and timescales set out in this guidance. 

Page 223



152 
 

9.40 The whole process of EHC needs assessment and EHC plan development, from the 
point when an assessment is requested (or a child or young person is brought to the 
local authority’s attention) until the final EHC plan is issued, must take no more than 
20 weeks (subject to exemptions set out below). 

9.41 The following specific requirements apply: 

• Local authorities must give their decision in response to any request for an 
EHC needs assessment within a maximum of 6 weeks from when the 
request was received or the point at which a child or young person was 
brought to the local authority’s attention 

• When local authorities request information as part of the EHC needs 
assessment process, those supplying the information must respond in a 
timely manner and within a maximum of 6 weeks from the date of the 
request 

• If a local authority decides, following an EHC needs assessment, not to 
issue an EHC plan, it must inform the child’s parent or the young person 
within a maximum of 16 weeks from the request for a EHC needs 
assessment, and 

• The child’s parent or the young person must be given 15 calendar days to 
consider and provide views on a draft EHC plan and ask for a particular 
school or other institution to be named in it 

9.42 Where there are exceptional circumstances, it may not be reasonable to expect local 
authorities and other partners to comply with the time limits above. The Special 
Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 set out specific exemptions. 
These include where: 

• appointments with people from whom the local authority has requested 
information are missed by the child or young person (this only applies to the 
duty on partners to comply with a request under the EHC needs 
assessment process within six weeks) 

• the child or young person is absent from the area for a period of at least 4 
weeks 

• exceptional personal circumstances affect the child or his/her parent, or the 
young person, and 

• the educational institution is closed for at least 4 weeks, which may delay 
the submission of information from the school or other institution (this does 

Page 224



153 
 

not apply to the duty on partners to comply with a request under the EHC 
needs assessment process within six weeks) 

9.43 The child’s parent or the young person should be informed if exemptions apply so 
that they are aware of, and understand, the reason for any delays. Local authorities 
should aim to keep delays to a minimum and as soon as the conditions that led to an 
exemption no longer apply the local authority should endeavour to complete the 
process as quickly as possible. All remaining elements of the process must be 
completed within their prescribed periods, regardless of whether exemptions have 
delayed earlier elements. 

9.44 The diagram on the following page sets out the statutory timescales and decision 
points for the process of EHC needs assessment and EHC plan development that 
local authorities must adhere to, subject to the specific exemptions set out in 
paragraph 9.42. Throughout the statutory process for EHC needs assessment and 
EHC plan development, local authorities must work in partnership with the child and 
his or her parent or the young person. There is more information earlier in this 
chapter on the principles of working with parents and young people, and relevant 
statutory requirements.  

Page 225



154 
 

Statutory timescales for EHC needs assessment and EHC plan development 
 

 
  

Page 226



155 
 

Advice and information for EHC needs assessments 
Relevant legislation: Section 36 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 6, 7, and 8 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.45 When carrying out an EHC needs assessment the local authority should seek views 
and information from the child using appropriate methods, which might include 
observation for a very young child, or the use of different methods of communication 
such as the Picture Exchange Communication System. 

9.46 The local authority must gather advice from relevant professionals about the child or 
young person’s education, health and care needs, desired outcomes and special 
educational, health and care provision that may be required to meet identified needs 
and achieve desired outcomes.  

9.47 The local authority should consider with the child’s parent or the young person and 
the parties listed under paragraph 9.49 the range of advice required to enable a full 
EHC needs assessment to take place. The principle underpinning this is ‘tell us 
once’, avoiding the child’s parent or the young person having to provide the same 
information multiple times. The child’s parent or the young person should be 
supported to understand the range of assessments available so they can take an 
informed decision about whether existing advice is satisfactory. The local authority 
must not seek further advice if such advice has already been provided (for any 
purpose) and the person providing the advice, the local authority and the child’s 
parent or the young person are all satisfied that it is sufficient for the assessment 
process. In making this decision, the local authority and the person providing the 
advice should ensure the advice remains current. 

9.48 Decisions about the level of engagement and advice needed from different parties 
will be informed by knowledge of the child or young person held by the early years 
provider, school or post-16 institution they attend. For example, if the educational 
provider believes there are signs of safeguarding or welfare issues, a statutory social 
care assessment may be necessary. If there are signs of an underlying health 
difficulty, a specialist health assessment may be necessary.  

9.49 In seeking advice and information, the local authority should consider with 
professionals what advice they can contribute to ensure the assessment covers all 
the relevant education, health and care needs of the child or young person. Advice 
and information must be sought as follows (subject to para 9.47 above): 

• Advice and information from the child’s parent or the young person. The 
local authority must take into account his or her views, wishes and feelings 

Page 227



156 
 

• Educational advice and information from the manager, headteacher or 
principal of the early years setting, school or post-16 or other institution 
attended by the child or young person. Where this is not available the 
authority must seek advice from a person with experience of teaching 
children or young people with SEN, or knowledge of the provision which 
may meet the child’s or young person’s needs. Where advice from a person 
with relevant teaching experience or knowledge is not available and the 
child or young person does not attend an educational institution, the local 
authority must seek educational advice and information from a person 
responsible for educational provision for the child or young person 

• If the child or young person is either vision or hearing impaired, or both, the 
educational advice and information must be given after consultation with a 
person who is qualified to teach pupils or students with these impairments 

• Medical advice and information from health care professionals with a role in 
relation to the child’s or young person’s health (see the section later in this 
chapter on agreeing the health provision in EHC plans) 

• Psychological advice and information from an educational psychologist who 
should normally be employed or commissioned by the local authority. The 
educational psychologist should consult any other psychologists known to 
be involved with the child or young person 

• Social care advice and information from or on behalf of the local authority, 
including, if appropriate, children in need or child protection assessments, 
information from a looked after child’s care plan, or adult social care 
assessments for young people over 18. In some cases, a child or young 
person may already have a statutory child in need or child protection plan, 
or an adult social care plan, from which information should be drawn for the 
EHC needs assessment 

• From Year 9 onwards, advice and information related to provision to assist 
the child or young person in preparation for adulthood and independent 
living 

• Advice and information from any person requested by the child’s parent or 
young person, where the local authority considers it reasonable to do so. 
For example, they may suggest consulting a GP or other health 
professional 

• Advice from a youth offending team, where the child or young person is 
detained in a Young Offender Institution.  Where the young person is 

Page 228



157 
 

serving their sentence in the community the local authority should seek 
such advice where it considers it appropriate 

• Any other advice and information which the local authority considers 
appropriate for a satisfactory assessment, for example: 

o Early Help Assessments 

o in the case of children of members of the Armed Forces, from the 
Children’s Education Advisory Service 

o in the case of a looked after child, from the Virtual School Head in the 
authority that looks after the child and the child’s Designated Teacher 
and the Designated Doctor or Nurse for looked after children 

9.50 The local authority must give to those providing advice copies of any 
representations made by the child’s parent or the young person, and any evidence 
submitted by or at the request of the child’s parent or the young person.  

9.51 The evidence and advice submitted by those providing it should be clear, accessible 
and specific. They should provide advice about outcomes relevant for the child or 
young person’s age and phase of education and strategies for their achievement. 
The local authority may provide guidance about the structure and format of advice 
and information to be provided. Professionals should limit their advice to areas in 
which they have expertise. They may comment on the amount of provision they 
consider a child or young person requires and local authorities should not have 
blanket policies which prevent them from doing so. 

9.52 Advice and information requested by the local authority must be provided within six 
weeks of the request, and should be provided more quickly wherever possible, to 
enable a timely process. (This is subject to the exemptions set out in paragraph 
9.42.) 

Deciding whether to issue an EHC plan 
Relevant legislation: Sections 36 and 37 of the Children and Families Act 2014  

9.53 Where, in the light of an EHC needs assessment, it is necessary for special 
educational provision to be made in accordance with an EHC plan, the local authority 
must prepare a plan. Where a local authority decides it is necessary to issue an 
EHC plan, it must notify the child’s parent or the young person and give the reasons 
for its decision. The local authority should ensure it allows enough time to prepare 
the draft plan and complete the remaining steps in the process within the 20-week 
overall time limit within which it must issue the finalised EHC plan. 

Page 229



158 
 

9.54 In deciding whether to make special educational provision in accordance with an 
EHC plan, the local authority should consider all the information gathered during the 
EHC needs assessment and set it alongside that available to the local authority prior 
to the assessment. Local authorities should consider both the child or young 
person’s SEN and the special educational provision made for the child or young 
person and whether:  

• the information from the EHC needs assessment confirms the information 
available on the nature and extent of the child or young person’s SEN prior 
to the EHC needs assessment, and whether 

• the special educational provision made prior to the EHC needs assessment 
was well matched to the SEN of the child or young person  

9.55 Where, despite appropriate assessment and provision, the child or young person is 
not progressing, or not progressing sufficiently well, the local authority should 
consider what further provision may be needed. The local authority should take into 
account: 

• whether the special educational provision required to meet the child or 
young person’s needs can reasonably be provided from within the 
resources normally available to mainstream early years providers, schools 
and post-16 institutions, or 

• whether it may be necessary for the local authority to make special 
educational provision in accordance with an EHC plan 

9.56 Where a local authority carries out an EHC needs assessment for a child or young 
person and  

• their circumstances have changed significantly, or  

• the child or young person has recently been placed in a new setting, or 

• their special educational needs were identified shortly before the EHC 
needs assessment,  

and no comparable special educational provision was being made for the child or 
young person prior to the EHC needs assessment, then the local authority should 
consider what new special educational provision is needed, taking into account the 
points in 9.55 above.  

Page 230



159 
 

Decision not to issue an EHC plan 
Relevant legislation: Section 36 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulation 10 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.57 Following the completion of an EHC needs assessment, if the local authority decides 
that an EHC plan is not necessary, it must notify the child’s parent or the young 
person, the early years provider, school or post-16 institution currently attended, and 
the health service and give the reasons for its decision. This notification must take 
place as soon as practicable and at the latest within 16 weeks of the initial request or 
of the child or young person having otherwise been brought to the local authority’s 
attention. The local authority must also inform the child’s parent or the young person 
of their right to appeal that decision and the time limit for doing so, of the requirement 
for them to consider mediation should they wish to appeal, and the availability of 
information, advice and support and disagreement resolution services.  

9.58 The local authority should ensure that the child’s parent or the young person are 
aware of the resources available to meet SEN within mainstream provision and other 
support set out in the Local Offer. 

9.59 The local authority should provide written feedback collected during the EHC needs 
assessment process, which the child’s parent, the young person, early years 
provider, school or post-16 institution can understand and may find useful, including 
evidence and reports from professionals. This information can then inform how the 
outcomes sought for the child or young person can be achieved through special 
educational provision made by the early years provider, school or post-16 institution 
and co-ordinated support from other agencies. 

Transparent and consistent decision-making 
9.60 It is helpful for local authorities to set up moderating groups to support transparency 

in decision-making. Such groups can improve the consistency of decision-making 
about whether to carry out an EHC needs assessment and whether to issue an EHC 
plan. Through sampling and retrospective comparison, moderating groups can also 
help local authority practice to become more robust and clearly understood by 
schools, early years settings, post-16 institutions, young people and parents. 

  

Page 231



160 
 

Writing the EHC plan 
Relevant legislation: Section 37 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 11 and 12 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.61 The following principles and requirements apply to local authorities and those 
contributing to the preparation of an EHC plan:  

• Decisions about the content of EHC plans should be made openly and 
collaboratively with parents, children and young people. It should be clear 
how the child or young person has contributed to the plan and how their 
views are reflected in it 

• EHC plans should describe positively what the child or young person can 
do and has achieved 

• EHC plans should be clear, concise, understandable and accessible to 
parents, children, young people, providers and practitioners. They should 
be written so they can be understood by professionals in any local authority 

• In preparing the EHC plan the local authority must consider how best to 
achieve the outcomes sought for the child or young person. The local 
authority must take into account the evidence received as part of the EHC 
needs assessment 

• EHC plans must specify the outcomes sought for the child or young 
person. Outcomes in EHC plans should be SMART (specific, measurable, 
achievable, realistic, time-bound). See the section on ‘Outcomes’ 
(paragraph 9.64 onwards) for detailed guidance on outcomes. 

• Where a young person or parent is seeking an innovative or alternative way 
to receive their support services – particularly through a Personal Budget, 
but not exclusively so – then the planning process should include the 
consideration of those solutions with support and advice available to assist 
the parent or young person in deciding how best to receive their support  

• EHC plans should show how education, health and care provision will be 
co-ordinated wherever possible to support the child or young person to 
achieve their outcomes. The plan should also show how the different types 
of provision contribute to specific outcomes 

• EHC plans should be forward looking – for example, anticipating, planning 
and commissioning for important transition points in a child or young 
person’s life, including planning and preparing for their transition to adult life 

Page 232



161 
 

• EHC plans should describe how informal (family and community) support 
as well as formal support from statutory agencies can help in achieving 
agreed outcomes  

• EHC plans should have a review date (which should link to other regular 
reviews, including the child in need plan or child protection plan reviews if 
appropriate) 

Content of EHC plans 
Relevant legislation: Section 37 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulation 12 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.62 The format of an EHC plan will be agreed locally, and it is expected that the plan will 
reflect the principles set out in Chapter 1 of this document. However, as a statutory 
minimum, EHC plans must include the following sections, which must be separately 
labelled from each other using the letters below. The sections do not have to be in 
the order below and local authorities may use an action plan in tabular format to 
include different sections and demonstrate how provision will be integrated, as long 
as the sections are separately labelled.  

Section A: The views, interests and aspirations of the child and his or her parents or 
the young person. 

Section B: The child or young person’s special educational needs. 

Section C: The child or young person’s health needs which are related to their SEN. 

Section D: The child or young person’s social care needs which are related to their 
SEN or to a disability. 

Section E: The outcomes sought for the child or the young person. This should 
include outcomes for adult life. The EHC plan should also identify the arrangements 
for the setting of shorter term targets by the early years provider, school, college or 
other education or training provider. 

Section F: The special educational provision required by the child or the young 
person. 

Section G: Any health provision reasonably required by the learning difficulties or 
disabilities which result in the child or young person having SEN. Where an 
Individual Health Care Plan is made for them, that plan should be included. 

Page 233



162 
 

Section H1: Any social care provision which must be made for a child or young 
person under 18 resulting from section 2 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled 
Persons Act 1970. 

Section H2: Any other social care provision reasonably required by the learning 
difficulties or disabilities which result in the child or young person having SEN. This 
will include any adult social care provision being provided to meet a young person’s 
eligible needs (through a statutory care and support plan) under the Care Act 2014. 

Section I: The name and type of the school, maintained nursery school, post-16 
institution or other institution to be attended by the child or young person and the 
type of that institution (or, where the name of a school or other institution is not 
specified in the EHC plan, the type of school or other institution to be attended by the 
child or young person). 

Section J: Where there is a Personal Budget, the details of how the Personal 
Budget will support particular outcomes, the provision it will be used for including any 
flexibility in its usage and the arrangements for any direct payments for education, 
health and social care. The special educational needs and outcomes that are to be 
met by any direct payment must be specified. 

Section K: The advice and information gathered during the EHC needs assessment 
must be attached (in appendices). There should be a list of this advice and 
information. 

9.63 In addition, where the child or young person is in or beyond Year 9, the EHC plan 
must include (in sections F, G, H1 or H2 as appropriate) the provision required by 
the child or young person to assist in preparation for adulthood and independent 
living, for example, support for finding employment, housing or for participation in 
society. 

Outcomes 
Relevant legislation: Section 37 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 11 and 12 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.64 EHC plans must specify the outcomes sought for the child or young person in 
Section E. EHC plans should be focused on education and training, health and care 
outcomes that will enable children and young people to progress in their learning 
and, as they get older, to be well prepared for adulthood. EHC plans can also include 
wider outcomes such as positive social relationships and emotional resilience and 
stability. Outcomes should always enable children and young people to move 
towards the long-term aspirations of employment or higher education, independent 

Page 234



163 
 

living and community participation. (See Chapter 8 for more details on preparing for 
adulthood.)  

9.65 Long-term aspirations are not outcomes in themselves – aspirations must be 
specified in Section A of the EHC plan. A local authority cannot be held accountable 
for the aspirations of a child or young person. For example, a local authority cannot 
be required to continue to maintain an EHC plan until a young person secures 
employment. However, the EHC plan should continue to be maintained where the 
young person wants to remain in education and clear evidence shows that special 
educational provision is needed to enable them to achieve the education and training 
outcomes required for a course or programme that moves them closer to 
employment. For example, by accessing a supported internship or apprenticeship. 

9.66 An outcome can be defined as the benefit or difference made to an individual as a 
result of an intervention. It should be personal and not expressed from a service 
perspective; it should be something that those involved have control and influence 
over, and while it does not always have to be formal or accredited, it should be 
specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and time bound (SMART). When an 
outcome is focused on education or training, it will describe what the expected 
benefit will be to the individual as a result of the educational or training intervention 
provided. Outcomes are not a description of the service being provided – for 
example the provision of three hours of speech and language therapy is not an 
outcome. In this case, the outcome is what it is intended that the speech and 
language therapy will help the individual to do that they cannot do now and by when 
this will be achieved. 

9.67 When agreeing outcomes, it is important to consider both what is important to the 
child or young person – what they themselves want to be able to achieve – and what 
is important for them as judged by others with the child or young person’s best 
interests at heart. In the case of speech and language needs, what is important to 
the child may be that they want to be able to talk to their friends and join in their 
games at playtime. What is important for them is that their behaviour improves 
because they no longer get frustrated at not being understood.   

9.68 Outcomes underpin and inform the detail of EHC plans. Outcomes will usually set 
out what needs to be achieved by the end of a phase or stage of education in order 
to enable the child or young person to progress successfully to the next phase or 
stage. An outcome for a child of secondary school age might be, for example, to 
make sufficient progress or achieve a qualification to enable him or her to attend a 
specific course at college. Other outcomes in the EHC plan may then describe what 
needs to be achieved by the end of each intervening year to enable him or her to 
achieve the college place. From Year 9 onwards, the nature of the outcomes will 
reflect the need to ensure young people are preparing for adulthood. In all cases, 

Page 235



164 
 

EHC plans must specify the special educational provision required to meet each of 
the child or young person’s special educational needs. The provision should enable 
the outcomes to be achieved. 

9.69 The EHC plan should also specify the arrangements for setting shorter term targets 
at the level of the school or other institution where the child or young person is 
placed. Professionals working with children and young people during the EHC needs 
assessment and EHC plan development process may agree shorter term targets that 
are not part of the EHC plan. These can be reviewed and, if necessary, amended 
regularly to ensure that the individual remains on track to achieve the outcomes 
specified in their EHC plan. Professionals should, wherever possible, append these 
shorter term plans and targets to the EHC plan so that regular progress monitoring is 
always considered in the light of the longer term outcomes and aspirations that the 
child or young person wants to achieve. In some exceptional cases, progress against 
these targets may well lead to an individual outcome within the EHC plan being 
amended at times other than following the annual review. 

What to include in each section of the EHC plan 

Section Information to include 

(A) The views, 
interests and 
aspirations of the 
child and their 
parents, or of the 
young person 

• Details about the child or young person’s aspirations and 
goals for the future (but not details of outcomes to be 
achieved – see section above on outcomes for guidance). 
When agreeing the aspirations, consideration should be 
given to the child or young person’s aspirations for paid 
employment, independent living and community 
participation 

• Details about play, health, schooling, independence, 
friendships, further education and future plans including 
employment (where practical) 

• A summary of how to communicate with the child or 
young person and engage them in decision-making. 

• The child or young person’s history 

• If written in the first person, the plan should make clear 
whether the child or young person is being quoted 
directly, or if the views of parents or professionals are 
being represented 
 

(B) The child or 
young person’s 
special educational 
needs (SEN) 

• All of the child or young person’s identified special 
educational needs must be specified 

• SEN may include needs for health and social care 
provision that are treated as special educational provision 

Page 236



165 
 

Section Information to include 

because they educate or train the child or young person 
(see paragraphs 9.73 onwards) 

(C) The child or 
young person’s 
health needs which 
relate to their SEN 

• The EHC plan must specify any health needs identified 
through the EHC needs assessment which relate to the 
child or young person’s SEN. Some health care needs, 
such as routine dental health needs, are unlikely to be 
related 

• The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) may also 
choose to specify other health care needs which are not 
related to the child or young person’s SEN (for example, 
a long-term condition which might need management in a 
special educational setting) 

(D) The child or 
young person’s 
social care needs 
which relate to their 
SEN 

• The EHC plan must specify any social care needs 
identified through the EHC needs assessment which 
relate to the child or young person’s SEN or which require 
provision for a child or young person under 18 under 
section 2 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons 
Act 1970 

• The local authority may also choose to specify other 
social care needs which are not linked to the child or 
young person’s SEN or to a disability. This could include 
reference to any child in need or child protection plan 
which a child may have relating to other family issues 
such as neglect. Such an approach could help the child 
and their parents manage the different plans and bring 
greater co-ordination of services. Inclusion must only be 
with the consent of the child and their parents 
 

(E) The outcomes 
sought for the child 
or the young 
person 

• A range of outcomes over varying timescales, covering 
education, health and care as appropriate but recognising 
that it is the education and training outcomes only that will 
help determine when a plan is ceased for young people 
aged over 18. Therefore, for young people aged over 17, 
the EHC plan should identify clearly which outcomes are 
education and training outcomes. See paragraph 9.64 
onwards for more detail on outcomes 

• A clear distinction between outcomes and provision. The 
provision should help the child or young person achieve 
an outcome, it is not an outcome in itself 

• Steps towards meeting the outcomes 

• The arrangements for monitoring progress, including 
review and transition review arrangements and the 
arrangements for setting and monitoring shorter term 

Page 237



166 
 

Section Information to include 

targets by the early years provider, school, college or 
other education or training provider 

• Forward plans for key changes in a child or young 
person’s life, such as changing schools, moving from 
children’s to adult care and/or from paediatric services to 
adult health, or moving on from further education to 
adulthood 

• For children and young people preparing for the transition 
to adulthood, the outcomes that will prepare them well for 
adulthood and are clearly linked to the achievement of the 
aspirations in section A 

(F) The special 
educational 
provision required 
by the child or the 
young person 

• Provision must be detailed and specific and should 
normally be quantified, for example, in terms of the type, 
hours and frequency of support and level of expertise, 
including where this support is secured through a 
Personal Budget 

• Provision must be specified for each and every need 
specified in section B. It should be clear how the provision 
will support achievement of the outcomes 

• Where health or social care provision educates or trains a 
child or young person, it must appear in this section (see 
paragraph 9.73) 

• There should be clarity as to how advice and information 
gathered has informed the provision specified. Where the 
local authority has departed from that advice, they should 
say so and give reasons for it 

• In some cases, flexibility will be required to meet the 
changing needs of the child or young person including 
flexibility in the use of a Personal Budget 

• The plan should specify:  
o any appropriate facilities and equipment, staffing 

arrangements and curriculum 
o any appropriate modifications to the application of 

the National Curriculum, where relevant 
o any appropriate exclusions from the application of 

the National Curriculum or the course being 
studied in a post-16 setting, in detail, and the 
provision which it is proposed to substitute for any 
such exclusions in order to maintain a balanced 
and broadly based curriculum 

o where residential accommodation is appropriate, 

Page 238



167 
 

Section Information to include 

that fact 
o where there is a Personal Budget, the outcomes to 

which it is intended to contribute (detail of the 
arrangements for a Personal Budget, including any 
direct payment, must be included in the plan and 
these should be set out in section J) 

• See paragraph 9.131 onwards for details of duties on the 
local authority to maintain the special educational 
provision in the EHC plan 

(G) Any health 
provision 
reasonably required 
by the learning 
difficulties or 
disabilities which 
result in the child or 
young person 
having SEN 

• Provision should be detailed and specific and should 
normally be quantified, for example, in terms of the type 
of support and who will provide it 

• It should be clear how the provision will support 
achievement of the outcomes, including the health needs 
to be met and the outcomes to be achieved through 
provision secured through a personal (health) budget 

• Clarity as to how advice and information gathered has 
informed the provision specified 

• Health care provision reasonably required may include 
specialist support and therapies, such as medical 
treatments and delivery of medications, occupational 
therapy and physiotherapy, a range of nursing support, 
specialist equipment, wheelchairs and continence 
supplies. It could include highly specialist services 
needed by only a small number of children which are 
commissioned centrally by NHS England (for example 
therapeutic provision for young offenders in the secure 
estate) 

• The local authority and CCG may also choose to specify 
other health care provision reasonably required by the 
child or young person, which is not linked to their learning 
difficulties or disabilities, but which should sensibly be co-
ordinated with other services in the plan 

• See paragraph 9.141 for details of duties on the health 
service to maintain the health care provision in the EHC 
plan 

(H1) Any social care 
provision which 
must be made for a 
child or young 
person under 18 
resulting from 

• Provision should be detailed and specific and should 
normally be quantified, for example, in terms of the type 
of support and who will provide it (including where this is 
to be secured through a social care direct payment) 

• It should be clear how the provision will support 
achievement of the outcomes, including any provision 

Page 239



168 
 

Section Information to include 

section 2 of the 
Chronically Sick 
and Disabled 
Persons Act 1970 
(CSDPA) 

secured through a Personal Budget. There should be 
clarity as to how advice and information gathered has 
informed the provision specified 

• Section H1 of the EHC plan must specify all services 
assessed as being needed for a disabled child or young 
person under 18, under section 2 of the CSDPA. These 
services include: 

o practical assistance in the home 
o provision or assistance in obtaining recreational 

and educational facilities at home and outside the 
home 

o assistance in travelling to facilities 
o adaptations to the home 
o facilitating the taking of holidays 
o provision of meals at home or elsewhere 
o provision or assistance in obtaining a telephone 

and any special equipment necessary 
o non-residential short breaks (included in Section 

H1 on the basis that the child as well as his or her 
parent will benefit from the short break) 

• This may include services to be provided for parent 
carers of disabled children, including following an 
assessment of their needs under sections 17ZD-17ZF of 
the Children Act 1989 

• See paragraph 9.137 onwards for details of duties on 
local authorities to maintain the social care provision in 
the EHC plan 
 

(H2) Any other 
social care 
provision 
reasonably required 
by the learning 
difficulties or 
disabilities which 
result in the child or 
young person 
having SEN 

• Social care provision reasonably required may include 
provision identified through early help and children in 
need assessments and safeguarding assessments for 
children. Section H2 must only include services which 
are not provided under Section 2 of the CSDPA. For 
children and young people under 18 this includes 
residential short breaks and services provided to children 
arising from their SEN but unrelated to a disability. This 
should include any provision secured through a social 
care direct payment. See chapter 10 for more information 
on children’s social care assessments 

• Social care provision reasonably required will include any 
adult social care provision to meet eligible needs for 

Page 240



169 
 

Section Information to include 

young people over 18 (set out in an adult care and 
support plan) under the Care Act 2014. See Chapter 8 for 
further detail on adult care and EHC plans 

• The local authority may also choose to specify in section 
H2 other social care provision reasonably required by the 
child or young person, which is not linked to their learning 
difficulties or disabilities. This will enable the local 
authority to include in the EHC plan social care provision 
such as child in need or child protection plans, or 
provision meeting eligible needs set out in an adult care 
plan where it is unrelated to the SEN but appropriate to 
include in the EHC plan 

• See paragraph 9.137 onwards for details of duties on 
local authorities to maintain the social care provision in 
the EHC plan 

(I) Placement 
 

• The name and type of the school, maintained nursery 
school, post-16 institution or other institution to be 
attended by the child or young person and the type of that 
institution (or, where the name of a school or other 
institution is not specified in the EHC plan, the type of 
school or other institution to be attended by the child or 
young person) 

• These details must be included only in the final EHC 
plan, not the draft EHC plan sent to the child’s parent or 
to the young person 

• See paragraph 9.78 onwards for more details 

(J) Personal Budget 
(including 
arrangements for 
direct payments) 

• This section should provide detailed information on any 
Personal Budget that will be used to secure provision in 
the EHC plan 

• It should set out the arrangements in relation to direct 
payments as required by education, health and social 
care regulations 

• The special educational needs and outcomes that are to 
be met by any direct payment must be specified 

(K) Advice and 
information 

• The advice and information gathered during the EHC 
needs assessment must be set out in appendices to the 
EHC plan. There should be a list of this advice and 
information 

Page 241



170 
 

Agreeing the health provision in EHC plans 
Relevant legislation: Sections 26 and 37 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulation 12 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.70 Each CCG will determine which services it will commission to meet the reasonable 
health needs of the children and young people with SEN or disabilities for whom it is 
responsible. These services should be described in the Local Offer. Relevant local 
clinicians, such as community paediatricians, will participate in the development of 
the child’s or young person’s EHC plan, advising on the child’s needs and the 
provision appropriate to meet them. CCGs must ensure that commissioned services 
are mobilised to participate in the development of EHC plans. The CCG as 
commissioner will often have a limited involvement in the process (as this will be led 
by clinicians from the services they commission) but must ensure that there is 
sufficient oversight to provide assurance that the needs of children with SEN are 
being met in line with their statutory responsibility. The CCG will have a more direct 
role in considering the commissioning of a service that does not appear in the Local 
Offer to meet the complex needs of a specific individual, or in agreeing a Personal 
Budget.  

9.71 The health care provision specified in section G of the EHC plan must be agreed by 
the CCG (or where relevant, NHS England) and any health care provision should be 
agreed in time to be included in the draft EHC plan sent to the child’s parent or to the 
young person. As part of the joint commissioning arrangements, partners must have 
clear disagreement resolution procedures where there is disagreement on the 
services to be included in an EHC plan.  

9.72 For children and young people in youth custody, the arrangements for carrying out 
the health part of EHC needs assessments and arranging for the health provision in 
EHC plans to be made will be slightly different and further guidance for CCGs and 
relevant health commissioners is set out in Chapter 10. 

Responsibility for provision 
Relevant legislation: Section 21 of the Children and Families Act 2014  

9.73 Health or social care provision which educates or trains a child or young person 
must be treated as special educational provision and included in Section F of the 
EHC plan. 

9.74 Decisions about whether health care provision or social care provision should be 
treated as special educational provision must be made on an individual basis. 
Speech and language therapy and other therapy provision can be regarded as either 
education or health care provision, or both. It could therefore be included in an EHC 
plan as either educational or health provision. However, since communication is so 

Page 242



171 
 

fundamental in education, addressing speech and language impairment should 
normally be recorded as special educational provision unless there are exceptional 
reasons for not doing so. 

9.75 Agreement should be reached between the local authority and health and social care 
partners about where provision will be specified in an EHC plan.  

9.76 In cases where health care provision or social care provision is to be treated as 
special educational provision, ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the provision is 
made rests with the local authority (unless the child’s parent has made suitable 
arrangements) and the child’s parent or the young person will have the right to 
appeal to the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) where they disagree with the 
provision specified.  

The draft EHC plan 
Relevant legislation: Section 38 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulation 13 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.77 The local authority must send the draft EHC plan (including the appendices 
containing the advice and information gathered during the EHC needs assessment) 
to the child’s parent or to the young person and give them at least 15 days to give 
views and make representations on the content. During this period, the local 
authority must make its officers available for a meeting with the child’s parent or the 
young person on request if they wish to discuss the content of the draft EHC plan. 
When the local authority sends the draft EHC plan to the child’s parent or the young 
person the following apply: 

• The local authority must notify the child’s parent or the young person that 
during this period they can request that a particular school or other 
institution, or type of school or other institution, be named in the plan. The 
draft plan must not contain the name of the school, maintained nursery 
school, post-16 institution or other institution or the type of school or other 
institution to be attended by the child or young person (see below) 

• The local authority must advise the child’s parent or the young person 
where they can find information about the schools and colleges that are 
available for the child or young person to attend, for example through the 
Local Offer 

• The local authority should also seek agreement of any Personal Budget 
specified in the draft plan (see paragraph 9.95 onwards for more 
information on Personal Budgets) 

Page 243



172 
 

Requests for a particular school, college or other 
institution  
Relevant legislation: Sections 33 and 39 of the Children and Families Act 2014  

9.78 The child’s parent or the young person has the right to request a particular school, 
college or other institution of the following type to be named in their EHC plan:  

• maintained nursery school 

• maintained school and any form of academy or free school (mainstream or 
special) 

• non-maintained special school 

• further education or sixth form college 

• independent school or independent specialist colleges (where they have 
been approved for this purpose by the Secretary of State and published in 
a list available to all parents and young people) 

9.79 If a child’s parent or a young person makes a request for a particular nursery, school 
or post-16 institution in these groups the local authority must comply with that 
preference and name the school or college in the EHC plan unless: 

• it would be unsuitable for the age, ability, aptitude or SEN of the child or 
young person, or 

• the attendance of the child or young person there would be incompatible 
with the efficient education of others, or the efficient use of resources 

Efficient education means providing for each child or young person a suitable, 
appropriate education in terms of their age, ability, aptitude and any special 
educational needs they may have. Where a local authority is considering the 
appropriateness of an individual institution, ‘others’ is intended to mean the children 
and young people with whom the child or young person with an EHC plan will directly 
come into contact on a regular day-to-day basis. 

9.80 The local authority must consult the governing body, principal or proprietor of the 
school or college concerned and consider their comments very carefully before 
deciding whether to name it in the child or young person’s EHC plan, sending the 
school or college a copy of the draft plan. If another local authority maintains the 
school, they too must be consulted. 

Page 244



173 
 

9.81 The local authority must also seek the agreement of the nursery, school or post-16 
institution where the draft plan sets out any provision to be delivered on their 
premises which is secured through a direct payment. (See paragraph 9.119 onwards 
for more information on direct payments). Where this includes a direct payment for 
SEN provision, it must include formal written notice of the proposal specifying: 

• the name of the child or young person in respect of whom direct payments 
are to be made 

• the qualifying goods and services which are to be secured by direct 
payments 

• the proposed amount of direct payments 

• any conditions on how the direct payments may be spent 

• the dates for payments into a bank account approved by the local authority, 
and 

• any conditions of receipt that recipients must agree to before any direct 
payment can be made 

9.82 Advice from schools, colleges and other education or training providers will 
contribute to the development of an EHC plan to ensure that it meets the child or 
young person’s needs, the outcomes they want to achieve and the aspirations they 
are aiming for.  

9.83 The nursery, school or college and, where relevant, the other local authority, should 
respond within 15 days. Where a nursery, school or college identified at 9.78 above 
is named on an EHC plan they must admit the child or young person. 

9.84 The child’s parent or the young person may also make representations for places in 
non-maintained early years provision or at independent schools or independent 
specialist colleges or other post-16 providers that are not on the list mentioned at 
9.78 above and the local authority must consider their request. The local authority is 
not under the same conditional duty to name the provider but must have regard to 
the general principle in section 9 of the Education Act 1996 that children should be 
educated in accordance with their parents’ wishes, so long as this is compatible with 
the provision of efficient instruction and training and does not mean unreasonable 
public expenditure. The local authority should be satisfied that the institution would 
admit the child or young person before naming it in a plan since these providers are 
not subject to the duty to admit a child or young person even if named in their plan. 

Page 245



174 
 

9.85 Children with EHC plans can attend more than one school under a dual placement. 
Dual placements enable children to have support from a mainstream and a special 
school. This can help to prepare children for mainstream education and enable 
mainstream and special schools to share and develop their expertise in supporting 
children with different types of SEN. In order for a child with SEN who is being 
supported by a dual placement to be deemed as being educated at a mainstream 
school they should spend the majority of their time there. 

9.86 Where appropriate, a young person with an EHC plan can attend a dual placement 
at an institution within the further education sector and a special post-16 institution. 
The local authority should work with the young person, post-16 provider and 
independent specialist college to commission such a placement where that will 
achieve the best possible outcome for the young person. To be deemed as being 
educated in a mainstream further education institution, young people should spend 
the majority of their time there. 

9.87 The local authority should consider very carefully a request from a parent for a 
denominational school, but denominational considerations cannot override the 
requirements of the Children and Families Act 2014. 

Where no request is made for a particular school or 
college or a request for a particular school or college has 
not been met 
Relevant legislation: Sections 33 and 40 of the Children and Families Act 2014  

9.88 Where a parent or young person does not make a request for a particular nursery, 
school or college, or does so and their request is not met, the local authority must 
specify mainstream provision in the EHC plan unless it would be: 

• against the wishes of the parent or young person, or 

• incompatible with the efficient education of others 

9.89 Mainstream education cannot be refused by a local authority on the grounds that it is 
not suitable. A local authority can rely on the exception of incompatibility with the 
efficient education of others in relation to maintained nursery schools, mainstream 
schools or mainstream post-16 institutions taken as a whole only if it can show that 
there are no reasonable steps it could take to prevent that incompatibility. Where a 
parent’s or young person’s request for a particular mainstream school or mainstream 
post-16 institution has not been met, the school or post-16 institution in question 
becomes a possible candidate for consideration by the local authority according to 
the conditions in the above paragraph. 

Page 246



175 
 

9.90 Where the local authority considers a particular mainstream place to be incompatible 
with the efficient education of others it must demonstrate, in relation to maintained 
nursery schools, mainstream schools or mainstream post-16 institutions in its area 
taken as a whole, that there are no reasonable steps that it, or the school or college, 
could take to prevent that incompatibility. Efficient education means providing for 
each child or young person a suitable, appropriate education in terms of their age, 
ability, aptitude and any special educational needs they may have. Where a local 
authority is considering whether mainstream education is appropriate (as opposed to 
considering the appropriateness of an individual institution) the term ‘others’ means 
the children or young people with whom the child or young person with an EHC plan 
would be likely to come into contact on a regular day-to-day basis. Where a parent or 
young person wants mainstream education and it would not be incompatible with the 
efficient education of others, the local authority has a duty to secure that provision. 

Reasonable steps 
9.91 What constitutes a reasonable step will depend on all the circumstances of the 

individual case. The following are some of the factors that may be taken into 
account: 

• Whether taking the step would be effective in removing the incompatibility 

• The extent to which it is practical for the early years provider, school, 
college or local authority to take the step 

• The extent to which steps have already been taken in relation to a 
particular child or young person and their effectiveness 

• The financial and other resource implications of taking the step, and 

• The extent of any disruption that taking the step would cause 

9.92 The following are examples of reasonable steps that might be taken in different 
circumstances: 

• Reasonable steps to ensure that the inclusion of a child with challenging 
behaviour in a mainstream primary school setting is not incompatible with 
the efficient education of others may include: 

o addressing factors within the class that may exacerbate the problem, 
for example using circle time to discuss difficult relationships and 
identify constructive responses 

o teaching the child alternative behaviour, for example by taking quiet 
time in a specially designated area at times of stress 

Page 247



176 
 

o providing the child with a channel of communication, for example use of 
peer support 

o using a carefully designed system of behaviour targets drawn up with 
the child and linked to a reward system which, wherever possible, 
involves parents or carers 

o ensuring that all staff coming into contact with the child are briefed on 
potential triggers for outbursts and effective ways of heading off trouble 
at an early stage 

o drawing up a contingency plan if there is an outburst in class, for 
example, identifying with the child a key helper who can be called to 
remove the child from the situation, and 

o ensuring that if there is any possibility that positive handling may need 
to be used to prevent injury to the child, young person or others or 
damage to property, relevant staff have had training in appropriate 
techniques, that these have been carefully explained to the child and 
that the circumstances in which they will be used are recorded in a 
written plan agreed with and signed by the child and their parents or 
carers 

• Reasonable steps taken to ensure that the inclusion of a child with autistic 
spectrum disorder who is distracting and constantly moves around in a 
mainstream secondary school is not incompatible with the efficient 
education of others may include: 

o ensuring all possible steps are taken to provide structure and 
predictability to the child’s day, for example by the use of visual 
timetables, careful prior explanation of changes to routines and clear 
instructions for tasks 

o ensuring that the child is taught a means of communicating wants and 
needs using sign, symbol or spoken language 

o working with a member of staff on a structured programme of activities 
designed to prepare him or her for joining in class or group activities, 
for example by using ‘social scripts’ to rehearse appropriate behaviour 

o having an individual workstation within a teaching space where 
distractions can be kept to a minimum and everything needed for the 
work to be done can be organised in sequence, and  

Page 248



177 
 

o ensuring that all staff are briefed on the warning signs which may 
indicate potential behaviour challenge and on a range of activities 
which provide effective distraction if used sufficiently early 

• Reasonable steps taken to ensure that the inclusion of a young person with 
a learning disability who does not use verbal communication in a 
mainstream course at a further education college is not incompatible with 
the efficient education of others may include: 

o the involvement of staff from the college’s learning support team in the 
school-based transition reviews 

o an orientation period during the summer holidays, to enable the student 
to find his or her way around the college campus and meet the learning 
support staff 

o opportunities to practise travelling to and from college 

o the development of an individual learning programme outlining longer 
term outcomes covering all aspects of learning and development, with 
shorter term targets to meet the outcomes 

o supported access to taster sessions over a first year in college 

o a more detailed assessment of the young person’s needs and wishes 
provided by learning support tutors during a ‘taster’ year 

o staff development to ensure an understanding of the student’s 
particular method of communication 

o use of expertise in access technology to identify appropriate switches 
or communication boards to facilitate the student’s involvement in an 
entry-level course, and 

o courses normally covered in one year planned over two years to meet 
the young person’s learning needs 

9.93 There may be a range of reasons why it may not always be possible to take 
reasonable steps to prevent a mainstream place from being incompatible with the 
efficient education of others – for example, where the child or young person’s 
behaviour systematically, persistently or significantly threatens the safety and/or 
impedes the learning of others. 

9.94 A decision not to educate a child or young person in a mainstream setting against 
the wishes of the child’s parent or the young person should not be taken lightly. It is 

Page 249



178 
 

important that all decisions are taken on the basis of the circumstances of each case 
and in consultation with the parents or young person, taking account of the child or 
young person’s views. Local authorities should consider reasonable steps that can 
be taken for mainstream schools and mainstream post-16 institutions generally to 
provide for children and young people with SEN and disabled children and young 
people. 

Requesting a Personal Budget 
Relevant legislation: Section 49 of the Children and Families Act 2014, the Special 
Educational Needs (Personal Budgets) Regulations 2014, the Community Care, 
services for Carers and Children’s Services (Direct Payments) Regulations 2009 (the 
2009 regulations will be replaced by those made under the Care Act 2014), and the 
National Health Service (Direct Payments) Regulations 2013 

9.95 A Personal Budget is an amount of money identified by the local authority to deliver 
provision set out in an EHC plan where the parent or young person is involved in 
securing that provision (see ‘Mechanisms for delivery of a Personal Budget’ below). 

9.96 Local authorities must provide information on Personal Budgets as part of the Local 
Offer. This should include a policy on Personal Budgets that sets out a description of 
the services across education, health and social care that currently lend themselves 
to the use of Personal Budgets, how that funding will be made available, and clear 
and simple statements of eligibility criteria and the decision-making processes. 

9.97 Personal Budgets are optional for the child’s parent or the young person but local 
authorities are under a duty to prepare a budget when requested. Local authorities 
must provide information about organisations that may be able to provide advice 
and assistance to help parents and young people to make informed decisions about 
Personal Budgets. Local authorities should use the information on Personal Budgets 
set out in the Local Offer to introduce the idea of Personal Budgets to parents and 
young people within the person-centred approach described in paragraphs 9.21 to 
9.26. 

9.98 The child’s parent or the young person has a right to request a Personal Budget, 
when the local authority has completed an EHC needs assessment and confirmed 
that it will prepare an EHC plan. They may also request a Personal Budget during a 
statutory review of an existing EHC plan. 

9.99 Personal Budgets should reflect the holistic nature of an EHC plan and can include 
funding for special educational, health and social care provision. They should be 
focused to secure the provision agreed in the EHC plan and should be designed to 
secure the outcomes specified in the EHC plan. 

Page 250



179 
 

9.100 Further resources on Personal Budgets are available through the DfE-funded 
‘Making it Personal’ project. This includes guidance for parents, commissioners and 
suppliers and is available on the Kids website – a link is provided in the References 
section under Chapter 3. 

Mechanisms for delivery of a Personal Budget 
9.101 There are four ways in which the child’s parent and/or the young person can be 

involved in securing provision: 

• Direct payments – where individuals receive the cash to contract, purchase 
and manage services themselves 

• An arrangement – whereby the local authority, school or college holds the 
funds and commissions the support specified in the plan (these are 
sometimes called notional budgets) 

• Third party arrangements – where funds (direct payments) are paid to and 
managed by an individual or organisation on behalf of the child’s parent or 
the young person 

• A combination of the above 

Setting and agreeing the Personal Budget 
9.102 The child’s parent or the young person should be given an indication of the level of 

funding that is likely to be required to make the provision specified, or proposed to be 
specified in the EHC plan. An indicative figure can be identified through a resource 
allocation or banded funding system. As part of a person-centred approach to the 
development of the EHC plan, the local authority should agree the provision to be 
made in the plan and help the parent or young person to decide whether they want 
to take up a Personal Budget. Local authorities should be clear that any figure 
discussed at this stage is indicative and is a tool to support the planning process 
including the development of the draft EHC plan. The final allocation of funding 
budget must be sufficient to secure the agreed provision specified in the EHC plan 
and must be set out as part of that provision.  

9.103 Details of the proposed Personal Budget should be included in section J of the draft 
EHC plan and, where the proposed budget includes direct payments for special 
educational provision, this section must include the SEN and outcomes to be met by 
the payment. Local authorities must also provide written notice of the conditions for 
receipt of any direct payment for special educational provision and can do this 
alongside the draft EHC plan. The child's parent or the young person should confirm 
their decision and agreement of the budget. Where appropriate, this must include 
their agreement, in writing, of the conditions for receipt of the direct payment, 

Page 251



180 
 

alongside any request for a particular school, college or other institution to be named 
in the EHC plan. Where the child's parent or the young person has nominated a 
person to receive payments on their behalf, the agreement must come from the 
proposed recipient.  

9.104 Where a direct payment is proposed for special educational provision, local 
authorities must secure the agreement of the early years setting, school or college, if 
any of the provision is to be delivered on that institution's premises. Local authorities 
should usually do this when they consult the institution about naming it on the child 
or young person's EHC plan. The local authority should also seek assurance from 
the child's parent, young person or nominee that any person employed by the child's 
parent or young person, but working on early years, school or college premises, will 
conform to the policies and procedures of that institution and may write such an 
assurance into the conditions for receipt of the direct payment. 

9.105 Where agreement cannot be reached with the early years setting, school or college, 
the local authority must not go ahead with the direct payment. However, they should 
continue to work with the child's parent or the young person and the school, college 
or early years setting to explore other opportunities for the personalisation of 
provision in the EHC plan. Local authorities may wish to discuss the potential for 
arrangements whereby the local authority, the early years setting, school or college, 
holds a notional budget with a view to involving the child's parent or the young 
person in securing the provision. The broader purpose of such arrangements is to 
increase the participation of children, their parents and young people in decision-
making in relation to special educational provision 

9.106 Local authorities must consider each request for a Personal Budget on its individual 
merits and prepare a Personal Budget in each case unless the sum is part of a larger 
amount and disaggregation of the funds for the Personal Budget: 

• would have an adverse impact on services provided or arranged by the 
local authority for other EHC plan holders, or 

• where it should not be an efficient use of the local authority’s resources 

In these circumstances, the local authority should inform the child’s parent or the 
young person of the reasons it is unable to identify a sum of money and work with 
them to ensure that services are personalised through other means. Demand from 
parents and young people for funds that cannot, at present, be disaggregated 
should inform joint commissioning arrangements for greater choice and control (see 
Chapter 3, Working together across education, health and care for joint outcomes, 
paragraphs 3.38 and 3.39). 

Page 252



181 
 

9.107 If the local authority refuses a request for a direct payment for special educational 
provision on the grounds set out in regulations (see paragraphs 9.119 to 9.124 
below) the local authority must set out their reasons in writing and inform the child’s 
parent or the young person of their right to request a formal review of the decision. 
The local authority must consider any subsequent representation made by the 
child’s parent or the young person and notify them of the outcome, in writing, setting 
out the reasons for their decision.  

9.108 Where the disagreement relates to the special educational provision to be secured 
through a Personal Budget the child’s parent or the young person can appeal to the 
First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability), as with any other disagreement about 
provision to be specified in an EHC plan. 

9.109 Decisions in relation to the health element (Personal Health Budget) remain the 
responsibility of the CCG or other health commissioning bodies and where they 
decline a request for a direct payment, they must set out the reasons in writing and 
provide the opportunity for a formal review. Where more than one body is unable to 
meet a request for a direct payment, the local authority and partners should consider 
sending a single letter setting out the reasons for the decisions. 

Scope of Personal Budgets 
9.110 The Personal Budget can include funding from education, health and social care. 

However, the scope of that budget will vary depending on the needs of the individual, 
the eligibility criteria for the different components and the mechanism for delivery. It 
will reflect local circumstances, commissioning arrangements and school preference. 
The scope of Personal Budgets should increase over time as local joint 
commissioning arrangements provide greater opportunity for choice and control over 
local provision. 

9.111 Local authority commissioners and their partners should seek to align funding 
streams for inclusion in Personal Budgets and are encouraged to establish 
arrangements that will allow the development of a single integrated fund from which 
a single Personal Budget, covering all three areas of additional and individual 
support, can be made available. EHC plans can then set out how this budget is to be 
used including the provision to be secured, the outcomes it will deliver and how 
health, education and social care needs will be met. 

Education  

9.112 The special educational provision specified in an EHC plan can include provision 
funded from the school’s budget share (or in colleges from their formula funding) and 
more specialist provision funded wholly or partly from the local authority’s high needs 
funding. It is this latter funding that is used for Personal Budgets, although schools 

Page 253



182 
 

and colleges should be encouraged to personalise the support they provide and they 
can choose to contribute their own funding to a Personal Budget (this will usually be 
an organised arrangement managed by the setting, but some schools and colleges, 
including specialist settings, have made innovative arrangements with young people, 
giving them direct (cash) payments). 

9.113 High needs funding can also be used to commission services from schools and 
colleges, including from special schools. In practice, this will mean the funding from 
the local authority’s high needs budget for the SEN element of a Personal Budget 
will vary depending on how services are commissioned locally and what schools and 
colleges are expected to provide as part of the Local Offer. The child’s parent or the 
young person should be made aware that the scope for a Personal Budget varies 
depending on their school preference. For example, as part of their core provision, 
special schools and colleges make some specialist provision available that is not 
normally available at mainstream schools and colleges. The particular choice of a 
special school, with integrated specialist provision, might reduce the scope for a 
Personal Budget, whereas the choice of a place in a mainstream school that does 
not make that particular provision could increase the opportunity for a Personal 
Budget. 

Health 

9.114 Personal Health Budgets for healthcare are not appropriate for all of the aspects of 
NHS care an individual may require. Full details of excluded services are set out in 
guidance provided by NHS England and include primary medical (i.e. GP services) 
and emergency services. 

9.115 In principle, other than excluded services a Personal Health Budget could be given 
to anyone who needs to receive healthcare funded by the NHS where the benefits of 
having the budget for healthcare outweigh any additional costs associated with 
having one.  

9.116 Since April 2014, everyone receiving NHS Continuing Healthcare (including 
children’s continuing care) has had the right to ask for a Personal Health Budget, 
including a direct payment. From October 2014 this group will benefit from ‘a right to 
have’ a Personal Health Budget.  

9.117 The mandate to NHS England sets an objective that from April 2015 Personal Health 
Budgets including direct payments should be an option for people with long-term 
health needs who could benefit from one. This includes people who use NHS 
services outside NHS Continuing Healthcare. 

Page 254



183 
 

Social Care 

9.118 The Care Act 2014 mandates, for the first time in law, a Personal Budget as part of 
the care and support plan for people over 18 with eligible care and support needs, or 
where the local authority decides to meet needs. The Act also clarifies people’s right 
to request a direct payment to meet some or all of their care and support needs, and 
covers people with and without capacity to request a direct payment. For children 
and young people under 18, local authorities are under a duty to offer direct 
payments (see paragraph 9.123 below) for services which the local authority may 
provide to children with disabilities, or their families, under section 17 of the Children 
Act 1989. 

Use of direct payments  
9.119 Direct payments are cash payments made directly to the child’s parent, the young 

person or their nominee, allowing them to arrange provision themselves. They must 
be set at a level that will secure the provision specified in the EHC plan. If a direct 
payment is not set at a suitable level, it must be reviewed and adjusted. Local 
authorities must not make direct payments for the purpose of funding a school place 
or post-16 institution. 

9.120 Local authority and health commissioning body duties to secure or arrange the 
provision specified in EHC plans are discharged through a direct payment only when 
the provision has been acquired for, or on behalf of, the child’s parent or the young 
person and this has been done in keeping with regulations. Funding must be set at a 
level to secure the agreed provision in the EHC plan and meet health needs agreed 
in the Personal Health Budget Care Plan (see paragraph 9.124 below for the 
additional information that needs to be included in an EHC plan to meet the 
requirements for a Care Plan). 

9.121 Direct payments for special educational provision, health care and social care 
provision are subject to separate regulations. These are: 

• The Community Care, services for Carers and Children’s Services (Direct 
Payments) Regulations 2009 (the 2009 regulations will be replaced by 
those made under the Care Act 2014) 

• The National Health Service (Direct Payments) Regulations 2013 

• The Special Educational Needs (Personal Budgets) Regulations 2014 

9.122 The regulations have many common requirements including those covering consent, 
use of nominees, conditions for receipt, monitoring and review of direct payments 
and persons to whom direct payments must not be made (such as those subject to 

Page 255



184 
 

certain rehabilitation orders). Detailed arrangements for direct payments should be 
set out in section J of the EHC plan. 

9.123 Local authorities must offer direct payments for social care services. For both 
education and social care the local authority must be satisfied that the person who 
receives the direct payments will use them in an appropriate way and that they will 
act in the best interests of the child or young person. Regulations governing the use 
of direct payments for special educational provision place a number of additional 
requirements on both local authorities and parents before a direct payment can be 
agreed. These include requirements to consider the impact on other service users 
and value for money and to seek agreement from educational establishments where 
a service funded by a direct payment is delivered on their premises.  

9.124 Direct payments for health require the agreement of a Care Plan between the CCG 
and the recipient. This requirement can be fulfilled by sections G and J of the EHC 
plan as long as it includes the following information: 

• the health needs to be met and the outcomes to be achieved through the 
provision in the plan 

• the things that the direct payment will be used to purchase, the size of the 
direct payment, and how often it will be paid 

• the name of the care co-ordinator responsible for managing the Care Plan 

• who will be responsible for monitoring the health condition of the person 
receiving care 

• the anticipated date of the first review, and how it is to be carried out 

• the period of notice that will apply if the CCG decides to reduce the amount 
of the direct payment 

• where necessary, an agreed procedure for discussing and managing any 
significant risk, and 

• where people lack capacity or are more vulnerable, the plan should 
consider safeguarding, promoting liberty and where appropriate set out any 
restraint procedures 

  

Page 256



185 
 

Finalising and maintaining the EHC plan 
Relevant legislation: Sections 39, 40 and 43 of the Children and Families Act 2014 
and Regulations 13 and 14 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.125 When changes are suggested to the draft EHC plan by the child’s parent or the 
young person and agreed by the local authority, the draft plan should be amended 
and issued as the final EHC plan as quickly as possible. The final EHC plan can 
differ from the draft EHC plan only as a result of any representations made by the 
child’s parent or the young person (including a request for a Personal Budget) and 
decisions made about the school or other institution (or type of school or other 
institution) to be named in the EHC plan. The local authority must not make any 
other changes – if the local authority wishes to make other changes it must re-issue 
the draft EHC plan to the child’s parent or the young person (see paragraph 9.77). 
The final EHC plan should be signed and dated by the local authority officer 
responsible for signing off the final plan. 

9.126 Where changes suggested by the child’s parent or the young person are not agreed, 
the local authority may still proceed to issue the final EHC plan. In either case the 
local authority must notify the child’s parent or the young person of their right to 
appeal to the Tribunal and the time limit for doing so, of the requirement for them to 
consider mediation should they wish to appeal, and the availability of information, 
advice and support and disagreement resolution services. The local authority should 
also notify the child’s parent or the young person how they can appeal the health and 
social care provision in the EHC plan. 

9.127 The child’s parent or the young person may appeal to the Tribunal against the 
description of SEN in the EHC plan, the special educational provision, and the 
school or other provider named, or the fact that no school or other provider is named. 

9.128 Mediation and appeals for children and young people whose EHC plans are finalised 
while they remain in custody are covered in Chapter 10. 

9.129 As well as the child’s parent or the young person, the final EHC plan must also be 
issued to the governing body, proprietor or principal of any school, college or other 
institution named in the EHC plan, and to the relevant CCG (or where relevant, NHS 
England). 

9.130 Where a nursery, school or college (of a type identified in paragraph 9.78) is named 
in an EHC plan, they must admit the child or young person. The headteacher or 
principal of the school, college or other institution named in the EHC plan should 
ensure that those teaching or working with the child or young person are aware of 
their needs and have arrangements in place to meet them. Institutions should also 
ensure that teachers and lecturers monitor and review the child or young person’s 

Page 257



186 
 

progress during the course of a year. Formal reviews of the EHC plan must take 
place at least annually. If a child or young person’s SEN change, the local authority 
should hold a review as soon as possible to ensure that provision specified in the 
EHC plan is appropriate. 

Maintaining special educational provision in EHC plans 
Relevant legislation: Section 42 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

9.131 When an EHC plan is maintained for a child or young person the local authority 
must secure the special educational provision specified in the plan. If a local 
authority names an independent school or independent college in the plan as special 
educational provision it must also meet the costs of the fees, including any boarding 
and lodging where relevant.  

9.132 The local authority is relieved of its duty to secure the special educational provision 
in the EHC plan, including securing a place in a school or college named in the plan, 
if the child’s parent or the young person has made suitable alternative arrangements 
for special educational provision to be made, say in an independent school or 
college or at home. 

9.133 Where the child’s parent or the young person makes alternative arrangements, the 
local authority must satisfy itself that those arrangements are suitable before it is 
relieved of its duty to secure the provision. It can conclude that those arrangements 
are suitable only if there is a realistic possibility of them being funded for a 
reasonable period of time. If it is satisfied, the authority need not name its nominated 
school or college in the EHC plan and may specify only the type of provision. This is 
to avoid the school or other institution having to keep a place free that the child’s 
parent or the young person has no intention of taking up. 

9.134 If the local authority is not satisfied that the alternative arrangements made by the 
child’s parent or the young person are suitable, it could either conclude that the 
arrangements are not suitable and name another appropriate school or college, or it 
could choose to assist the child’s parent or the young person in making their 
arrangements suitable, including through a financial contribution. But the local 
authority would be under no obligation to meet the costs of those arrangements.  

9.135 Where the child’s parent or the young person makes suitable alternative 
arrangements for educational provision the health commissioning body is still 
responsible for arranging the health care specified in the child or young person’s 
EHC plan. If the child’s parent or the young person makes alternative arrangements 
for health care provision then the health commissioning body would need to satisfy 
itself that those arrangements are suitable. If the arrangements are not suitable the 
health commissioning body would arrange the provision specified in the plan or, if 

Page 258



187 
 

they felt it appropriate, assist the child’s parent or the young person in making their 
own arrangements suitable. 

9.136 These arrangements ensure that local authorities meet their fundamental 
responsibility to ensure that children and young people with EHC plans get the 
support they need whilst enabling flexibility to accommodate alternative 
arrangements made by the child’s parent or the young person.  

Maintaining social care provision in EHC plans 
9.137 For social care provision specified in the plan, existing duties on social care services 

to assess and provide for the needs of disabled children and young people under the 
Children Act 1989 continue to apply. Where the local authority decides it is 
necessary to make provision for a disabled child or young person under 18 pursuant 
to Section 2 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Person Act (CSDPA) 1970, the 
local authority must identify which provision is made under section 2 of the CSDPA. 
The local authority must specify that provision in section H1 of the EHC plan. It 
must secure that provision because under Section 2 of the CSDPA there is a duty to 
provide the services assessed by the local authority as being needed.   

9.138 Where the young person is over 18, the care element of the EHC plan will usually be 
provided by adult services. Under the Care Act 2014, local authorities must meet 
eligible needs set out in an adult care and support plan (as set out in the Care Act 
2014). Local authorities should explain how the adult care and support system 
works, and support young people in making the transition to adult services. Local 
authorities should have in place arrangements to ensure that young people with 
social care needs have every opportunity to lead as independent a life as possible 
and that they are not disadvantaged by the move from children’s to adult services. 

9.139 However, where it will benefit a young person with an EHC plan, local authorities 
have the power to continue to provide children’s services past a young person’s 18th 
birthday for as long as is deemed necessary. This will enable the move to adult 
services to take place at a time that avoids other key changes in the young person’s 
life such as the move from special school sixth form to college.  

9.140 The Care Act 2014 requires local authorities to ensure there is no gap in support 
while an individual makes the transition from children’s to adult services on or after 
their 18th birthday. Children’s services must be maintained until a decision on adult 
provision is reached and where it is agreed that adult services will be provided, 
children’s services must continue until the adult support begins. Young people will 
also be able to request an assessment for adult care in advance of their 18th 
birthday so they can plan ahead knowing what support will be received. See Chapter 
8 for further details on young adults over 18 with social care needs, and Chapter 10 
for further details on children and young people with social care needs.  

Page 259



188 
 

Maintaining health provision in EHC plans 
Relevant legislation: Section 42 of the Children and Families Act 2014 

9.141 For health care provision specified in the EHC plan, the CCG (or where relevant 
NHS England) must ensure that it is made available to the child or young person. 
The joint arrangements underpinning the plan will include agreement between the 
partners of their respective responsibilities for funding the arrangements, to ensure 
that the services specified are commissioned. CCGs will need therefore to satisfy 
themselves that the arrangements they have in place for participating in the 
development of EHC plans include a mechanism for agreeing the health provision, 
which would usually be delegated to the relevant health professionals commissioned 
by the CCG. CCGs may however wish to have more formal oversight arrangements 
for all EHC plans to which they are a party. 

Specific age ranges 
All children under compulsory school age 

9.142 Children under compulsory school age are considered to have SEN if they have a 
learning difficulty or disability which calls for special educational provision to be 
made and when they reach compulsory school age are likely to have greater 
difficulty in learning than their peers, or have a disability which prevents or hinders 
them from making use of the facilities that are generally provided. There is an 
additional precautionary consideration, that they are considered to have a learning 
difficulty or disability if they would be likely to have a learning difficulty or disability 
when they are of compulsory school age if no special educational provision were 
made for them. The majority of children with SEN are likely to receive special 
educational provision through the services set out in the Local Offer. A local authority 
must conduct an EHC needs assessment for a child under compulsory school age 
when it considers it may need to make special educational provision in accordance 
with an EHC plan (see paragraphs 9.11 to 9.19 for details of the process for deciding 
whether to undertake an EHC needs assessment). Where an EHC plan may be 
needed, the local authority should involve fully the child’s parent and any early years 
or school setting attended by the child in making decisions about undertaking an 
EHC needs assessment and whether provision may need to be made in accordance 
with an EHC plan.  

Children aged under 2 
9.143 Parents, health services, childcare settings, Sure Start Children’s Centres or others 

may identify young children as having or possibly having SEN. For most children 
under two whose SEN are identified early, their needs are likely to be best met from 
locally available services, particularly the health service, and for disabled children, 
social care services provided under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989. The Local 

Page 260



189 
 

Offer should set out how agencies will work together to provide integrated support for 
young children with SEN, and how services will be planned and commissioned jointly 
to meet local needs. 

9.144 For very young children local authorities should consider commissioning the 
provision of home-based programmes such as Portage, or peripatetic services for 
children with hearing or vision impairment. Parents should be fully involved in making 
decisions about the nature of the help and support that they would like to receive – 
some may prefer to attend a centre or to combine home-based with centre-based 
support. Children and their parents may also benefit from Early Support, which 
provides materials and resources on co-ordinated support. Further information about 
the programme can be found on the GOV.UK website – a link is given in the 
References section under Chapter 2. 

9.145 Special educational provision for a child aged under two means educational 
provision of any kind. Children aged under two are likely to need special educational 
provision in accordance with an EHC plan where they have particularly complex 
needs affecting learning, development and health and are likely to require a high 
level of special educational provision which would not normally be available in 
mainstream settings. A decision to issue an EHC plan may be made in order to allow 
access to a particular specialist service that cannot otherwise be obtained, such as 
home-based teaching. The factors a local authority should take into account in 
deciding whether an EHC plan is necessary are set out in paragraphs 9.53 to 9.56. 

Children aged 2 to 5 
9.146 Where young children are attending an early years setting, the local authority should 

seek advice from the setting in making decisions about undertaking an EHC needs 
assessment and preparing an EHC plan. Local authorities should consider whether 
the child’s current early years setting can support the child’s SEN, or whether they 
need to offer additional support through an EHC plan, which may include a 
placement in an alternative early years setting. Chapter 5 sets out more detail on 
SEN support for children in early years settings. 

9.147 Where a child is not attending an early years setting the local authority should collect 
as much information as possible before deciding whether to assess. The local 
authority will then consider the evidence and decide whether the child’s difficulties or 
developmental delays are likely to require special educational provision through an 
EHC plan. The local authority must decide this in consultation with the child’s parent, 
taking account of the potential for special educational provision made early to 
prevent or reduce later need. 

9.148 Following an assessment, the local authority must decide whether to make special 
educational provision in accordance with an EHC plan. For children within one to two 

Page 261



190 
 

years of starting compulsory education who are likely to need an EHC plan in 
primary school, it will often be appropriate to prepare an EHC plan during this period 
so the EHC plan is in place to support the transition to primary school. 

9.149 Parents of children under compulsory school age can ask for a particular maintained 
nursery school to be named in their child’s plan. The local authority must name the 
school unless it would be unsuitable for the age, ability, aptitude or SEN of the child, 
or the attendance of the child there would be incompatible with the efficient 
education of others or the efficient use of resources. The child’s parents may also 
make representations in favour of an independent, private or voluntary early years 
setting for their child. If the local authority considers such provision appropriate, it is 
entitled to specify this in the plan and if it does, it must fund the provision. However, 
it cannot require an independent, private or voluntary setting to admit a child, unless 
the setting agrees. The local authority should ensure that parents have full 
information on the range of provision available within the authority’s area and may 
wish to offer parents the opportunity to visit such provision. 

Young people aged 19 to 25 

9.150 It is important to ensure young people are prepared effectively for adulthood and the 
decision to provide or continue an EHC plan should take this into account, including 
the need to be ambitious for young people (see paragraph 8.51). The outcomes 
specified in the EHC plan should reflect the need to be ambitious, showing how they 
will enable the young person to make progress towards their aspirations. The local 
authority, in collaboration with the young person, his or her parent where 
appropriate, and relevant professionals should use the annual review process to 
consider whether special educational provision provided through an EHC plan will 
continue to enable young people to progress towards agreed outcomes that will 
prepare them for adulthood and help them meet their aspirations. 

Young people turning 19 who have EHC plans 

9.151 In line with preparing young people for adulthood, a local authority must not cease 
an EHC plan simply because a young person is aged 19 or over. Young people with 
EHC plans may need longer in education or training in order to achieve their 
outcomes and make an effective transition into adulthood. However, this position 
does not mean that there is an automatic entitlement to continued support at age 19 
or an expectation that those with an EHC plan should all remain in education until 
age 25. A local authority may cease a plan for a 19- to 25-year-old if it decides that it 
is no longer necessary for the EHC plan to be maintained. Such circumstances 
include where the young person no longer requires the special educational provision 
specified in their EHC plan. In deciding that the special educational provision is no 
longer required, the local authority must have regard to whether the educational or 

Page 262



191 
 

training outcomes specified in the plan have been achieved (see the section on 
Outcomes, paragraphs 9.64 to 9.69).  

9.152 The local authority should also consider whether remaining in education or training 
would enable the young person to progress and achieve those outcomes, and 
whether the young person wants to remain in education or training so they can 
complete or consolidate their learning. In both cases, this should include 
consideration of access to provision that will help them prepare for adulthood. Young 
people who no longer need to remain in formal education or training will not require 
special educational provision to be made for them through an EHC plan. 

Reviewing and re-assessing EHC plans 

9.153 Where an EHC plan will still be maintained for a young person aged 19 or over, it 
must continue to be reviewed at least annually. The plan must continue to contain 
outcomes which should enable the young person to complete their education and 
training successfully and so move on to the next stage of their lives, including 
employment or higher education and independent living. This will happen at different 
stages for individual young people and EHC plans extended beyond age 19 will not 
all need to remain in place until age 25. 

9.154  Local authorities should ensure that young people are given clear information about 
what support they can receive, including information about continuing study in adult 
or higher education, and support for health and social care, when their plan ceases. 
See paragraphs 9.199 to 9.210 for guidance on the process for ceasing an EHC 
plan. 

New requests for EHC needs assessments for 19- to 25-year-olds 

9.155 Young people who do not already have an EHC plan continue to have the right to 
request an assessment of their SEN at any point prior to their 25th birthday (unless 
an assessment has been carried out in the previous six months).  

9.156 Where such a request is made, or the young person is otherwise brought to the 
attention of the local authority as being someone who may have SEN, the local 
authority must follow the guidance earlier in this chapter for carrying out EHC needs 
assessments. In addition, when making decisions about whether a plan needs to be 
made for a 19- to 25-year-old, local authorities must consider whether the young 
person requires additional time, in comparison to the majority of others of the same 
age who do not have SEN, to complete his or her education or training. 

  

Page 263



192 
 

Transfer of EHC plans 
Relevant legislation: Section 47 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 15 and 16 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

Transfers between local authorities 
9.157 Where a child or young person moves to another local authority, the ‘old’ authority 

must transfer the EHC plan to the ‘new’ authority. The old authority must transfer 
the EHC plan to the new authority on the day of the move, unless the following 
condition applies. Where the old authority has not been provided with 15 working 
days’ notice of the move, the old authority must transfer the EHC plan within 15 
working days beginning with the day on which it did become aware.  

9.158 The old authority should also transfer any opinion they have received under the 
Disabled Persons (Services, Consultation and Representation) Act 1986 that the 
child or young person is disabled. Upon the transfer of the EHC plan, the new 
authority becomes responsible for maintaining the plan and for securing the special 
educational provision specified in it. 

9.159 The requirement for the child or young person to attend the educational institution 
specified in the EHC plan continues after the transfer. However, where attendance 
would be impractical, the new authority must place the child or young person 
temporarily at an appropriate educational institution other than that specified – for 
example, where the distance between the child or young person’s new home and the 
educational institution would be too great – until the EHC plan is formally amended. 
The new authority may not decline to pay the fees or otherwise maintain the child at 
an independent or non-maintained special school or a boarding school named in an 
EHC plan unless and until they have amended the EHC plan. 

9.160 The new authority may, on the transfer of the EHC plan, bring forward the 
arrangements for the review of the plan, and may conduct a new EHC needs 
assessment regardless of when the previous EHC needs assessment took place. 
This will be particularly important where the plan includes provision that is secured 
through the use of a direct payment, where local variations may mean that 
arrangements in the original EHC plan are no longer appropriate. The new authority 
must tell the child’s parent or the young person, within six weeks of the date of 
transfer, when they will review the plan (as below) and whether they propose to 
make an EHC needs assessment. 

  

Page 264



193 
 

9.161 The new authority must review the plan before one of the following deadlines, 
whichever is the later:  

• within 12 months of the plan being made or being previously reviewed by 
the old authority, or  

• within 3 months of the plan being transferred 

9.162 Some children and young people will move between local authority areas while they 
are being assessed for a plan. The new authority in such cases should decide 
whether it needs to carry out an EHC needs assessment themselves and it must 
decide whether to undertake an EHC needs assessment if it receives a request from 
the child’s parent or the young person. The new authority should take account of the 
fact that the old authority decided to carry out an EHC needs assessment when 
making its decision. If it decides to do so then it should use the information already 
gathered as part of its own EHC needs assessment. Depending on how far the 
assessment had progressed, this information should help the new authority complete 
the assessment more quickly than it would otherwise have done.  

Transfers between clinical commissioning groups 
9.163 Where the child or young person’s move between local authority areas also results in 

a new CCG becoming responsible for the child or young person, the old CCG must 
notify the new CCG on the day of the move or, where it has not become aware of the 
move at least 15 working days prior to that move, within 15 working days beginning 
on the day on which it did become aware. Where for any other reason a new CCG 
becomes responsible for the child or young person, for example on a change of GP 
or a move within the local authority’s area, the old CCG must notify the new CCG 
within 15 working days of becoming aware of the move. Where it is not practicable 
for the new CCG to secure the health provision specified in the EHC plan, the new 
CCG must, within 15 working days of becoming aware of the change of CCG, 
request the (new) local authority to make an EHC needs assessment or review the 
EHC plan. The (new) local authority must comply with any request. 

9.164 For looked after children moving between local authorities, the old CCG retains 
responsibility for provision in the new local authority – for example, commissioning 
the provision from the new CCG as required. 

9.165 Where a child or young person with an EHC plan moves to Northern Ireland, Wales 
or Scotland, the old authority should send a copy of the child or young person’s EHC 
plan to the new authority or board, although there will be no obligation on the new 
authority or board to continue to maintain it. 

Page 265



194 
 

Reviewing an EHC plan 
Relevant legislation: Section 44 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 2, 18, 19, 20, and 21 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.166 EHC plans should be used to actively monitor children and young people’s progress 
towards their outcomes and longer term aspirations. They must be reviewed by the 
local authority as a minimum every 12 months. Reviews must focus on the child or 
young person’s progress towards achieving the outcomes specified in the EHC plan. 
The review must also consider whether these outcomes and supporting targets 
remain appropriate. 

9.167 Reviews should also:  

• gather and assess information so that it can be used by early years 
settings, schools or colleges to support the child or young person’s 
progress and their access to teaching and learning  

• review the special educational provision made for the child or young person 
to ensure it is being effective in ensuring access to teaching and learning 
and good progress 

• review the health and social care provision made for the child or young 
person and its effectiveness in ensuring good progress towards outcomes  

• consider the continuing appropriateness of the EHC plan in the light of the 
child or young person’s progress during the previous year or changed 
circumstances and whether changes are required including any changes to 
outcomes, enhanced provision, change of educational establishment or 
whether the EHC plan should be discontinued 

• set new interim targets for the coming year and where appropriate, agree 
new outcomes 

• review any interim targets set by the early years provider, school or college 
or other education provider  

9.168 Reviews must be undertaken in partnership with the child and their parent or the 
young person, and must take account of their views, wishes and feelings, including 
their right to request a Personal Budget.  

9.169 The first review must be held within 12 months of the date when the EHC plan was 
issued, and then within 12 months of any previous review, and the local authority’s 
decision following the review meeting must be notified to the child’s parent or the 
young person within four weeks of the review meeting (and within 12 months of the 

Page 266



195 
 

date of issue of the EHC plan or previous review). Professionals across education, 
health and care must co-operate with local authorities during reviews. The review of 
the EHC plan should include the review of any existing Personal Budget 
arrangements including the statutory requirement to review any arrangements for 
direct payments. For looked after children the annual review should, if possible and 
appropriate, coincide with one of the reviews in their Care Plan and in particular the 
personal education plan (PEP) element of the Care Plan. 

9.170 Local authorities must also review and maintain an EHC plan when a child or young 
person has been released from custody. The responsible local authority must 
involve the child’s parent or the young person in reviewing whether the EHC plan still 
reflects their needs accurately and should involve the youth offending team in 
agreeing appropriate support and opportunities. 

9.171 When reviewing an EHC plan for a young person aged over 18, the local authority 
must have regard to whether the educational or training outcomes specified in the 
EHC plan have been achieved.  

9.172 The local authority should provide a list of children and young people who will require 
a review of their EHC plan that term to all headteachers and principals of schools, 
colleges and other institutions attended by children or young people with EHC plans, 
at least two weeks before the start of each term. The local authority should also 
provide a list of all children and young people with EHC plan reviews in the 
forthcoming term to the CCG (or, where relevant, NHS England) and local authority 
officers responsible for social care for children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities. This will enable professionals to plan attendance at review meetings 
and/or provide advice or information about the child or young person where 
necessary. These lists should also indicate which reviews must be focused on 
transition and preparation for adulthood. 

Reviews where a child or young person attends a school or other 
institution 

9.173 As part of the review, the local authority and the school, further education college or 
section 41 approved institution attended by the child or young person must co-
operate to ensure a review meeting takes place. This includes attending the review 
when requested to do so. The local authority can require the following types of 
school to convene and hold the meeting on the local authority’s behalf: 

• maintained schools 

• maintained nursery schools 

• academy schools 

Page 267



196 
 

• alternative provision academies 

• pupil referral units 

• non-maintained special schools 

• independent educational institutions approved under Section 41 of the 
Children and Families Act 2014 

9.174 Local authorities can request (but not require) that the early years setting, further 
education college or other post-16 institution convene and hold the meeting on their 
behalf. There may be a requirement on the post-16 institution to do so as part of the 
contractual arrangements agreed when the local authority commissioned and funded 
the placement. 

9.175 In most cases, reviews should normally be held at the educational institution 
attended by the child or young person. Reviews are generally most effective when 
led by the educational institution. They know the child or young person best, will 
have the closest contact with them and their family and will have the clearest 
information about progress and next steps. Reviews led by the educational institution 
will engender the greatest confidence amongst the child, young person and their 
family. There may be exceptional circumstances where it will be appropriate for the 
review meeting to be held by the local authority in a different location, for example 
where a young person attends programmes of study at more than one institution. 

9.176 The following requirements apply to reviews where a child or young person attends a 
school or other institution: 

• The child’s parents or young person, a representative of the school or other 
institution attended, a local authority SEN officer, a health service 
representative and a local authority social care representative must be 
invited and given at least two weeks’ notice of the date of the meeting. 
Other individuals relevant to the review should also be invited, including 
youth offending teams and job coaches where relevant 

• The school (or, for children and young people attending another institution, 
the local authority) must seek advice and information about the child or 
young person prior to the meeting from all parties invited, and send any 
advice and information gathered to all those invited at least two weeks 
before the meeting 

• The meeting must focus on the child or young person’s progress towards 
achieving the outcomes specified in the EHC plan, and on what changes 
might need to be made to the support that is provided to help them achieve 

Page 268



197 
 

those outcomes, or whether changes are needed to the outcomes 
themselves. Children, parents and young people should be supported to 
engage fully in the review meeting 

• The school (or, for children and young people attending another institution, 
the local authority) must prepare and send a report of the meeting to 
everyone invited within two weeks of the meeting. The report must set out 
recommendations on any amendments required to the EHC plan, and 
should refer to any difference between the school or other institution’s 
recommendations and those of others attending the meeting 

• Within four weeks of the review meeting, the local authority must decide 
whether it proposes to keep the EHC plan as it is, amend the plan, or cease 
to maintain the plan, and notify the child’s parent or the young person and 
the school or other institution attended 

• If the plan needs to be amended, the local authority should start the 
process of amendment without delay (see paragraph 9.193 onwards) 

• If the local authority decides not to amend the plan or decides to cease to 
maintain it, they must notify the child’s parent or the young person of their 
right to appeal that decision and the time limits for doing so, of the 
requirements for them to consider mediation should they wish to appeal, 
and the availability of information, advice and support and disagreement 
resolution services 

Reviews where a child or young person does not attend a school or 
other institution 

9.177 The following requirements apply to review meetings where a child or young person 
does not attend a school or other institution: 

• The child’s parent or the young person, a local authority SEN officer, a 
health service representative and a local authority social care 
representative must be invited and given at least two weeks’ notice of the 
date of the meeting. Other individuals relevant to the review should also be 
invited, including youth offending teams and job coaches where relevant, 
and any other person whose attendance the local authority considers 
appropriate 

• The local authority must seek advice and information about the child or 
young person prior to the meeting from all parties invited and send any 
advice and information gathered to all those invited at least two weeks 
before the meeting 

Page 269



198 
 

• The meeting must focus on the child or young person’s progress towards 
achieving the outcomes specified in the EHC plan, and on what changes 
might need to be made to the support provided to help them achieve those 
outcomes, or whether changes are needed to the outcomes themselves. 
Children, parents and young people should be supported to engage fully in 
the review meeting 

• The local authority must prepare and send a report of the meeting to 
everyone invited within two weeks of the meeting. The report must set out 
recommendations on any amendments required to the EHC plan, and 
should refer to any difference between the local authority’s 
recommendations, and those of others attending the meeting 

• Within four weeks of the review meeting, the local authority must decide 
whether it proposes to keep the plan as it is, amend the plan, or cease to 
maintain the plan, and notify the child’s parent or the young person 

• If the plan needs to be amended, the local authority should start the 
process of amendment without delay (see paragraph 9.193 onwards) 

• If the local authority decides not to amend the plan or decides to cease to 
maintain it, they must notify the child’s parent or young person of their right 
to appeal that decision and the time limit for doing so, of the requirement for 
them to consider mediation should they wish to appeal, and the availability 
of information, advice and support, and disagreement resolution services 

Reviews of EHC plans for children aged 0 to 5 
9.178 Local authorities should consider reviewing an EHC plan for a child under five at 

least every three to six months to ensure that the provision continues to be 
appropriate. Such reviews would complement the duty to carry out a review at least 
annually but may be streamlined and not necessarily require the attendance of the 
full range of professionals, depending on the needs of the child. The child’s parent 
must be fully consulted on any proposed changes to the EHC plan and made aware 
of their right to appeal to the Tribunal. 

Transfer between phases of education 
9.179 An EHC plan must be reviewed and amended in sufficient time prior to a child or 

young person moving between key phases of education, to allow for planning for 
and, where necessary, commissioning of support and provision at the new institution. 

The review and any amendments must be completed by 15 February in the calendar 
year of the transfer at the latest for transfers into or between schools. The key 
transfers are:  

Page 270



199 
 

• early years provider to school 

• infant school to junior school 

• primary school to middle school 

• primary school to secondary school, and 

• middle school to secondary school 

9.180 For young people moving from secondary school to a post-16 institution or 
apprenticeship, the review and any amendments to the EHC plan – including 
specifying the post-16 provision and naming the institution – must be completed by 
the 31 March in the calendar year of the transfer.  

9.181 For young people moving between post-16 institutions, the review process should 
normally be completed by 31 March where a young person is expected to transfer to 
a new institution in the new academic year. However, transfers between post-16 
institutions may take place at different times of the year and the review process 
should take account of this. In all cases, where it is proposed that a young person is 
to transfer between one post-16 institution and another within the following 12 
months, the local authority must review and amend, where necessary, the young 
person’s EHC plan at least five months before the transfer takes place. 

9.182 In some cases, young people may not meet the entry requirements for their chosen 
course or change their minds about what they want to do after the 31 March or five-
month deadline. Where this is the case, local authorities should review the EHC plan 
with the young person as soon as possible, to ensure that alternative options are 
agreed and new arrangements are in place as far in advance of the start date as 
practicable.  

9.183 Note: For those moving from secondary school to a post-16 institution or 
apprenticeship starting in September 2015, any amendments to the EHC plan – 
including specifying the post-16 provision and naming the institution – must be 
completed by 31 May 2015. For those moving between post-16 institutions at other 
times of year prior to March 2016, these amendments must be made three months 
before the transfer takes place. Thereafter, the deadlines set out above must be 
adhered to in all cases. 

Preparing for adulthood in reviews 
9.184 All reviews taking place from Year 9 at the latest and onwards must include a focus 

on preparing for adulthood, including employment, independent living and 
participation in society. This transition planning must be built into the EHC plan and 
where relevant should include effective planning for young people moving from 

Page 271



200 
 

children’s to adult care and health services. It is particularly important in these 
reviews to seek and to record the views, wishes and feelings of the child or young 
person. The review meeting organiser should invite representatives of post-16 
institutions to these review meetings, particularly where the child or young person 
has expressed a desire to attend a particular institution. Review meetings taking 
place in Year 9 should have a particular focus on considering options and choices for 
the next phase of education.  

9.185 As the young person is nearing the end of their time in formal education and the plan 
is likely to be ceased within the next 12 months, the annual review should consider 
good exit planning. Support, provision and outcomes should be agreed that will 
ensure the young person is supported to make a smooth transition to whatever they 
will be doing next – for example, moving on to higher education, employment, 
independent living or adult care. For further guidance on preparing for adulthood 
reviews, see Chapter 8, Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years. 

Re-assessments of EHC plans 
Relevant legislation: Section 44 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 23, 24, 25, 26 and 27 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.186 The review process will enable changes to be made to an EHC plan so it remains 
relevant to the needs of the child or young person and the desired outcomes. There 
may be occasions when a re-assessment becomes appropriate, particularly when a 
child or young person’s needs change significantly. 

Requesting a re-assessment 
9.187 Local authorities must conduct a re-assessment of a child or young person’s EHC 

plan if a request is made by the child’s parent or the young person, or the governing 
body, proprietor or principal of the educational institution attended by the child or 
young person, or the CCG (or NHS England where relevant). A local authority may 
also decide to initiate a re-assessment without a request if it thinks one is necessary. 
A re-assessment may be necessary when a young person with care support 
specified in their EHC plan turns 18. Adult care services will need to carry out an 
assessment to identify what support adult services may need to provide, and ensure 
the assessment is timely so that services are in place when needed. 

9.188 A local authority can refuse a request for a re-assessment (from the child’s parent, 
young person or educational institution attended) if less than 6 months have passed 
since the last EHC needs assessment was conducted. However the local authority 
can re-assess sooner than this if they think it is necessary. A local authority may also 
decide to refuse a request for re-assessment (from the child’s parent, young person 
or educational institution attended) if it thinks that a further EHC needs assessment 

Page 272



201 
 

is not necessary, for example because it considers the child or young person’s 
needs have not changed significantly. 

9.189 When deciding whether to re-assess an EHC plan for a young person aged 19 or 
over, the local authority must have regard to whether the educational or training 
outcomes specified in the EHC plan have been achieved. 

9.190 The local authority must notify the child’s parent or the young person of its decision 
as to whether or not it will undertake a re-assessment within 15 calendar days of 
receiving the request to re-assess. If the local authority decides not to re-assess, it 
must notify the child’s parent or the young person of their right to appeal that 
decision and the time limit for doing so, of the requirement for them to consider 
mediation should they wish to appeal and the availability of information, advice and 
support and disagreement resolution services. 

The re-assessment process 
9.191 The process for re-assessment will be the same as the process for a first 

assessment (once the decision to carry out an assessment has been taken). 
Re-assessments must follow the same process as for the first EHC needs 
assessment and drawing up of the EHC plan, set out earlier in this chapter, with the 
same timescales and rights of appeal for the child’s parent or the young person. 

9.192 The overall maximum timescale for a re-assessment is 14 weeks from the decision 
to re-assess to the issuing of the final EHC plan, subject to the exemptions set out in 
paragraph 9.42. However, the local authority must aim to complete the process as 
soon as practicable. Following a re-assessment, the EHC plan must be reviewed 
within 12 months of the date that the finalised EHC plan is sent to the child’s parent 
or the young person and subsequently reviewed every twelve months from the date 
the EHC plan was last reviewed. 

Amending an existing plan  
Relevant legislation: Sections 37 and 44 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 22 and 28 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.193 This section applies to amendments to an existing EHC plan following a review, or at 
any other time a local authority proposes to amend an EHC plan other than as part 
of a re-assessment. EHC plans are not expected to be amended on a very frequent 
basis. However, an EHC plan may need to be amended at other times where, for 
example, there are changes in health or social care provision resulting from minor or 
specific changes in the child or young person’s circumstances, but where a full 
review or re-assessment is not necessary. 

Page 273



202 
 

9.194 Where the local authority proposes to amend an EHC plan, it must send the child’s 
parent or the young person a copy of the existing (non-amended) plan and an 
accompanying notice providing details of the proposed amendments, including 
copies of any evidence to support the proposed changes. The child’s parent or the 
young person should be informed that they may request a meeting with the local 
authority to discuss the proposed changes. 

9.195 The parent or young person must be given at least 15 calendar days to comment 
and make representations on the proposed changes, including requesting a 
particular school or other institution be named in the EHC plan, in accordance with 
paragraphs 9.78 to 9.94 of this chapter. 

9.196 Following representations from the child’s parent or the young person, if the local 
authority decides to continue to make amendments, it must issue the amended EHC 
plan as quickly as possible and within 8 weeks of the original amendment notice. If 
the local authority decides not to make the amendments, it must notify the child’s 
parent or the young person, explaining why, within the same time limit. 

9.197 When the EHC plan is amended, the new plan should state that it is an amended 
version of the EHC plan and the date on which it was amended, as well as the date 
of the original plan. Additional advice and information, such as the minutes of a 
review meeting and accompanying reports which contributed to the decision to 
amend the plan, should be appended in the same way as advice received during the 
original EHC needs assessment. The amended EHC plan should make clear which 
parts have been amended. Where an EHC plan is amended, the following review 
must be held within 12 months of the date of issue of the original EHC plan or 
previous review (not 12 months from the date the amended EHC plan is issued). 

9.198 When sending the final amended EHC plan, the local authority must notify the 
child’s parent or the young person of their right to appeal and the time limit for doing 
so, of the requirement for them to consider mediation should they wish to appeal, 
and the availability of information, advice and support and disagreement resolution 
services. 

Ceasing an EHC plan  
Relevant legislation: Section 45 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and 
Regulations 29, 30 and 31 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.199 A local authority may cease to maintain an EHC plan only if it determines that it is no 
longer necessary for the plan to be maintained, or if it is no longer responsible for the 
child or young person. As set out in the Introduction (paragraph xi.), the legal 
definition of when a child or young person requires an EHC plan remains the same 
as that for a statement under the Education Act 1996. The circumstances in which a 

Page 274



203 
 

statement can be ceased or not replaced with an EHC plan during the transition 
period are the same as that for ceasing an EHC plan. 

9.200 The circumstances where a local authority may determine that it is no longer 
necessary for the EHC plan to be maintained include where the child or young 
person no longer requires the special educational provision specified in the EHC 
plan. When deciding whether a young person aged 19 or over no longer needs the 
special educational provision specified in the EHC plan, a local authority must take 
account of whether the education or training outcomes specified in the EHC plan 
have been achieved. Local authorities must not cease to maintain the EHC plan 
simply because the young person is aged 19 or over.  

9.201 The circumstances where a local authority is no longer responsible for the child or 
young person include where any of the following conditions apply (subject to 
paragraphs 9.202 and 9.203 below: 

• A young person aged 16 or over leaves education to take up paid 
employment (including employment with training but excluding 
apprenticeships) 

• The young person enters higher education 

• A young person aged 18 or over leaves education and no longer wishes to 
engage in further learning 

• The child or young person has moved to another local authority area 

9.202 Where a young person of compulsory school or participation age – i.e. under the age 
of 18 – is excluded from their education or training setting or leaves voluntarily, the 
local authority must not cease their EHC plan, unless it decides that it is no longer 
necessary for special educational provision to be made for the child or young person 
in accordance with an EHC plan. The focus of support should be to re-engage the 
young person in education or training as soon as possible and the local authority 
must review the EHC plan and amend it as appropriate to ensure that the young 
person continues to receive education or training.  

9.203 Where a young person aged 18 or over leaves education or training before the end 
of their course, the local authority must not cease to maintain the EHC plan unless it 
has reviewed the young person’s EHC plan to determine whether the young person 
wishes to return to education or training, either at the educational institution specified 
in the EHC plan or somewhere else. If the young person does wish to return to 
education or training, and the local authority thinks it is appropriate, then the local 
authority must amend the EHC plan as necessary and it must maintain the plan. 

Page 275



204 
 

The local authority should seek to re-engage the young person in education or 
training as soon as possible. 

9.204 A local authority will not be able to cease an EHC plan because a child or young 
person has been given a custodial sentence. The local authority will have to keep the 
plan while the child or young person is in custody. Details of the local authority’s 
duties in those circumstances are set out in Chapter 10, Children and young people 
in specific circumstances. 

9.205 Where a local authority is considering ceasing to maintain a child or young person’s 
EHC plan it must:  

• inform the child’s parent or the young person that it is considering this 

• consult the child’s parent or the young person 

• consult the school or other institution that is named in the EHC plan 

9.206 Where, following the consultation, the local authority decides to cease to maintain 
the child or young person’s EHC plan, it must notify the child’s parent or the young 
person, the institution named in the child or young person’s EHC plan and the 
responsible CCG of that decision. The local authority must also notify the child’s 
parent or the young person of their right to appeal that decision and the time limit for 
doing so, of the requirement for them to consider mediation should they wish to 
appeal, and the availability of information, advice and support, and disagreement 
resolution services. 

9.207 Support should generally cease at the end of the academic year, to allow young 
people to complete their programme of study. In the case of a young person who 
reaches their 25th birthday before their course has ended, the EHC plan can be 
maintained until the end of the academic year in which they turn 25 (or the day the 
apprenticeship or course ends, or the day before their 26th birthday if later). It is 
important that a child or young person’s exit from an EHC plan is planned carefully, 
to support smooth transitions and effective preparation for adulthood. See 
paragraphs 8.77 to 8.80 of Chapter 8 on ‘Leaving education or training’ for more 
information. 

9.208 Where a young person aged 18 or over is in receipt of adult services, the local 
authority should ensure that adult services are involved in and made aware of the 
decision to cease the young person’s EHC plan. 

9.209 Where the child’s parent or the young person disagrees with the local authority’s 
decision to cease their EHC plan, they may appeal to the Tribunal. Local authorities 

Page 276



205 
 

must continue to maintain the EHC plan until the time has passed for bringing an 
appeal or, when an appeal has been registered, until it has been concluded. 

9.210 Where the care part of an EHC plan is provided by adult services under the Care Act 
2014 because the person is 18 or over, the Care Plan will remain in place when the 
other elements of the EHC plan cease. There will be no requirement for the young 
person to be re-assessed at this point, unless there is reason to re-assess him or her 
for health and social care because their circumstances have changed. 

Disclosure of an EHC plan  
Relevant legislation: Regulations 17 and 47 of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.211 A child or young person’s EHC plan must be kept securely so that unauthorised 
persons do not have access to it, so far as reasonably practicable (this includes any 
representations, evidence, advice or information related to the EHC plan). An EHC 
plan must not be disclosed without the consent of the child or the young person, 
except for specified purposes or in the interests of the child or young person. If a 
child does not have sufficient age or understanding to allow him or her to consent to 
such disclosure, the child’s parent may give consent on the child’s behalf. The 
specified purposes include: 

• disclosure to the Tribunal when the child’s parent or the young person 
appeals, and to the Secretary of State if a complaint is made to him or her 
under the 1996 Act 

• disclosure on the order of any court or for the purpose of any criminal 
proceedings 

• disclosure for the purposes of investigations of maladministration under the 
Local Government Act 1974 

• disclosure to enable any authority to perform duties arising from the 
Disabled Persons (Services, Consultation and Representation) Act 1986, or 
from the Children Act 1989 relating to safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children 

• disclosure to Ofsted inspection teams as part of their inspections of schools 
or other educational institutions and local authorities 

• disclosure to any person in connection with the young person’s application 
for a Disabled Students Allowance in advance of taking up a place in higher 
education, when requested to do so by the young person 

Page 277



206 
 

• disclosure to the principal (or equivalent position) of the institution at which 
the young person is intending to start higher education, when requested to 
do so by the young person, and 

• disclosure to persons engaged in research on SEN on the condition that 
the researchers do not publish anything derived from, or contained in, the 
plan which would identify any individual, particularly the child, young person 
or child’s parent. Disclosure in the interests of research should be in 
accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998 and wherever possible 
should be with the knowledge and consent of the child and his or her parent 
or the young person 

9.212 The interests of the child or young person include the provision of information to the 
child or young person’s educational institution. It is important that teachers or other 
educational professionals working closely with the child or young person should have 
full knowledge of the child or young person’s EHC plan. School governing bodies 
should have access to a child or young person’s EHC plan. Disclosure in the 
interests of the child or young person also includes disclosure to any agencies other 
than the local authority which may be referred to in the plan as making educational, 
health or social care provision.  

9.213 Disclosure of the EHC plan, where the local authority considers this necessary in the 
interests of the child or young person, can be in whole or in part. Local authorities 
should consider carefully when disclosing an EHC plan whether there are parts of 
the EHC plan that do not need to be disclosed in the interests of the child or young 
person, for example sensitive health or social care information. All those who have 
access to the EHC plan should always bear in mind the need to maintain 
confidentiality about the child or young person in question. 

Transport costs for children and young people with EHC 
plans 
Relevant legislation: Section 30 of the Children and Families Act 2014 and Schedule 
2(14) of the SEND Regulations 2014  

9.214 The parents’ or young person’s preferred school or college might be further away 
from their home than the nearest school or college that can meet the child or young 
person’s SEN. In such a case, the local authority can name the nearer school or 
college if it considers it to be appropriate for meeting the child or young person’s 
SEN. If the parents prefer the school or college that is further away, the local 
authority may agree to this but is able to ask the parents to provide some or all of the 
transport funding. 

Page 278



207 
 

9.215 Transport should be recorded in the EHC plan only in exceptional cases where the 
child has particular transport needs. Local authorities must have clear general 
arrangements and policies relating to transport for children and young people with 
SEN or disabilities that must be made available to parents and young people, and 
these should be included in the Local Offer. Such policies must set out the transport 
arrangements which are over and above those required by section 508B of the 
Education Act 1996. 

9.216 Where the local authority names a residential provision at some distance from the 
family’s home, the local authority must provide reasonable transport or travel 
assistance. The latter might be reimbursement of public transport costs, petrol costs 
or provision of a travel pass. 

9.217 Transport costs may be provided as part of a Personal Budget where one is agreed 
and included in the EHC plan as part of the special educational provision. 

  

Page 279



208 
 

10 Children and young people in specific 
circumstances 

What this chapter covers  
This chapter highlights particular groups of children and young people whose 
specific circumstances require additional consideration by those who work with them 
and support their special educational needs (SEN). It sets out information about 
managing their circumstances in order to achieve effective joined-up service 
provision that can help achieve good outcomes for them. 

These groups include: 

• looked after children 

• care leavers 

• children and young people with SEN and social care needs, including 
children in need 

• children and young people educated out of area 

• children and young people with SEN who are educated at home 

• children and young people in alternative provision 

• children and young people who have SEN and are in hospital 

• children of service personnel 

• children and young people in youth custody 

Relevant legislation 
Primary 
The Children and Families Act 2014 

The Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 

The Children Act 1989 

The Education Act 1996 

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

Section 20 of the Children and Young Persons Act 2008 

Page 280



209 
 

The Apprenticeship, Skills and Learning Act 2009 

The Equality Act 2010 

The National Health Service Act 2006 

Regulations 
The Children Act 1989 – Guidance and Regulations Volume 3: Planning Transitions 
to Adulthood for Care Leavers 

Education (Pupil Information) Regulations 2005 

The Designated Teacher (Looked after Pupils etc) Regulations 2009 

The Special Educational Needs and Disability (Detained Persons) Regulations 2015 

The National Health Service Commissioning Board and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (Responsibilities and Standing Rules) Regulations 2012 

Looked-after children 
10.1 Children who are being accommodated, or who have been taken into care, by a local 

authority (i.e. under Section 20, or Sections 31 or 38 of the Children Act 1989) are 
legally defined as being ‘looked after’ by the local authority. Around 70% of looked 
after children have some form of SEN, and it is likely that a significant proportion of 
them will have an Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan. Children and young 
people on remand to youth detention accommodation are treated as looked after by 
their designated local authority under the terms of the Legal Aid, Sentencing and 
Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 (section 104(1)). Further information is provided 
in paragraphs 10.142 to 10.145. 

10.2 Local authorities will have particular responsibilities for these children and will act as 
a ‘corporate parent’. The local authority must safeguard and promote the welfare of 
all children they are looking after. 

10.3 All maintained schools and academies and free schools must appoint a Designated 
Teacher for looked after children. Where that role is carried out by a person other 
than the SEN Co-ordinator (SENCO), Designated Teachers should work closely with 
the SENCO to ensure that the implications of a child being both looked after and 
having SEN are fully understood by relevant school staff. 

10.4 Local authorities must promote the educational achievement of the children they 
look after, regardless of where they are placed. The Children and Families Act 2014 
requires every local authority to appoint an officer who is an employee of that or 
another authority to discharge that duty. This officer, often known as a Virtual School 
Head (VSH), will lead a virtual school team which tracks the progress of children 

Page 281



210 
 

looked after by the authority as if they attended a single school. Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities departments should work closely with the VSH as well as 
social workers to ensure that local authorities have effective and joined-up processes 
for meeting the SEN of looked after children.  

10.5 Local authorities are required to act under care planning statutory guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State when exercising their social services functions with regard 
to the children they look after. This is set out in volume 2 of the Children Act 1989 
guidance. 

10.6 This means that a considerable amount of planning will be done around the care, 
health and education needs of looked after children. They will have a Care Plan, 
which sets out how the local authority will meet the care needs of the child, 
addressing all important dimensions of a child’s developmental needs. These include 
health, education, emotional and behavioural development, identity, family and social 
relationships, social presentation and self-care skills. The Care Plan will specifically 
include a Personal Education Plan (PEP) and a Health Plan (both are a statutory 
requirement) which will particularly assess and set out the child’s education and 
health needs. It may be through making these assessments that a child’s SEN will 
be identified. 

10.7 Where a looked after child is being assessed for SEN it is vital to take account of 
information set out in the Care Plan. SEN professionals must work closely with other 
relevant professionals involved in the child’s life as a consequence of his/her being 
looked after. These include the social worker, Designated Doctor or Nurse, 
Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO), VSH and Designated Teacher in school. This 
will ensure that the child’s EHC plan works in harmony with his/her Care Plan and 
adds to, but does not duplicate, information about how education, health and care 
needs will be met. It is essential to involve the child, their carers and, where 
appropriate, their parents in the planning process. When referencing information 
contained within the Care Plan only information relevant to meeting the child’s SEN 
should be included in the EHC plan. If in any doubt SEN professionals should 
discuss this with the social worker and, where appropriate, the child and their carers. 

10.8 A significant proportion of looked after children live with foster carers or in a 
children’s home and attend schools in a different local authority area to the local 
authority that looks after them. Local authorities who place looked after children in 
another authority need to be aware of that authority’s Local Offer if the children have 
SEN. Where an assessment for an EHC plan has been triggered, the authority that 
carries out the assessment is determined by Section 24 of the Children and Families 
Act 2014. This means that the assessment must be carried out by the authority 
where the child lives (i.e. is ordinarily resident), which may not be the same as the 
authority that looks after the child. If a disagreement arises, the authority that looks 

Page 282



211 
 

after the child, will act as the ‘corporate parent’ in any disagreement resolution, as 
described in Chapter 11. 

10.9 It is the looked after child’s social worker (in close consultation with the VSH in the 
authority that looks after the child) that will ultimately make any educational decision 
on the child’s behalf. However, the day-to-day responsibility for taking these 
decisions should be delegated to the carer who will advocate for the looked after 
child and make appeals to the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) as necessary. 

10.10 For a child in a stable, long-term foster placement it may well be appropriate for the 
carer to take on the responsibility of managing a Personal Budget but this will need 
careful case-by-case consideration. (See Chapter 9). 

10.11 The Care Planning Regulations specify the frequency with which Care Plans are 
reviewed. It is important to ensure the annual review of an EHC plan coincides with 
one of the child’s Care Plan reviews. This could be done as part of the review of a 
child’s PEP which feeds into the review of the wider Care Plan. Social workers and 
SEN teams will need to work closely together to ensure that transitions from being 
looked after to returning home are managed effectively, to ensure continuing 
provision. 

Care leavers 
10.12 Some children will cease to be looked after at 16 or 17 and others will continue to be 

looked after until their 18th birthday. (Some care leavers will remain living with their 
former foster carers past their 18th birthday in ‘Staying Put’ arrangements, but they 
are no longer looked after). Local authorities continue to have responsibilities to 
provide a Personal Adviser and to prepare a Pathway Plan. The Personal Adviser is 
there to ensure that care leavers are provided with the right kind of personal support, 
for example by signposting them to services and providing advice. The Pathway Plan 
plots transition from care to adulthood for care leavers up to the age of 25 if they 
remain in education and/or training or are not in employment, education or training 
and plan to return to education and/or training. In reviewing their arrangements for 
EHC needs assessment and EHC plan development local authorities should ensure 
good advanced planning involving the young person and Personal Adviser. 

SEN and social care needs, including children in need 
Children’s social care  

10.13 There is a statutory duty, under Section 17 of the Children Act 1989, for local 
authorities to safeguard and promote the welfare of ‘children in need’ in their area, 
including disabled children, by providing appropriate services to them. Services for 
disabled children provided under Section 17 will typically include short breaks for 
parent carers, equipment or adaptations to the home, and support for parents from 

Page 283



212 
 

social workers, for example in support of parenting capacity. If a local authority 
determines that a disabled child needs support under Section 17, it must consider 
whether such support is of the type outlined in Section 2 of the Chronically Sick and 
Disabled Persons Act (CSDPA) 1970. Where it is, the local authority must provide 
that support. Where an EHC plan is being prepared for a disabled child or young 
person under the age of 18, any services to be provided under Section 2 of the 
CSDPA must be included in section H1 of the EHC plan. All other social care 
services, including services provided under Section 17 of the Children Act but not 
under Section 2 of the CSDPA must be included in Section H2 of the EHC plan. 
Chapter 9 gives further details on what to include in Sections H1 and H2 of the EHC 
plan, in the table after paragraph 9.69. 

10.14 Following acceptance of a referral by the local authority children’s social care 
service, a social worker should lead a multi-agency assessment under section 17 of 
the Children Act 1989. Local authorities have a duty to ascertain the child’s wishes 
and feelings and take account of them when planning the provision of services. 

10.15 The purposes of social care assessments are: 

• to gather important information about a child and family 

• to analyse their needs and/or the nature and level of any risk or harm being 
suffered by a child 

• to decide whether the child is a child in need (Section 17 of the Children Act 
1989) and/or is suffering significant harm (Section 47 of the Children Act 
1989), and 

• to provide support to address those needs to improve the child’s outcomes 

10.16 A good social care assessment supports professionals to understand whether a child 
has needs relating to their care or a disability and/or is suffering or likely to suffer 
significant harm. Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013 sets out the process 
for managing individual cases which are referred to and accepted by children’s social 
care. All assessments should be child centred, focused on outcomes, transparent, 
timely and proportionate to the needs of each child. The maximum timeframe for a 
social care assessment to conclude that a decision can be taken on next steps is 45 
working days from the point of referral. 

10.17 Local authorities with their partners should develop and publish local protocols for 
assessment which should set out how the needs of disabled children will be 
addressed in the assessment process and clarify how statutory social care 
assessments will be informed by and inform other specialist assessments including 
EHC needs assessments leading to an EHC plan. 

Page 284



213 
 

10.18 Where there is an EHC needs assessment, it should be an holistic assessment of 
the child or young person’s education, health and social care needs. EHC needs 
assessments should be combined with social care assessments under Section 17 of 
the Children Act 1989 where appropriate. This is explicit in Working Together to 
Safeguard Children 2013, which can be found on the GOV.UK website – a link is 
given in the References section under Introduction, and a webtext version is also 
available. 

10.19 For all children who have social care plans the social worker should co-ordinate any 
outward facing plan with other professionals. Where there are specific child 
protection concerns resulting in action under Section 47 of the Children Act, careful 
consideration should be given to how closely the assessment processes across 
education, health and care can be integrated, in order to ensure that the needs of 
vulnerable children are put first. 

10.20 EHC plan reviews should be synchronised with social care plan reviews, and must 
always meet the needs of the individual child. 

Power to continue children’s social care services to those aged 18 
to 25 

10.21 Where a local authority has been providing children’s social care services to a young 
person under the age of 18, and they have an EHC plan in place, local authorities 
can continue to provide these services on the same basis after the age of 18. 

10.22 The local authority retains discretion over how long it chooses to provide these 
services, so long as an EHC plan remains in place. Where the young person no 
longer has an EHC plan, the local authority no longer has the power to extend the 
provision of these services to young people over 18. 

10.23 This will enable local authorities to agree with young people when the most 
appropriate time for transition to adult services will be, avoiding key pressure points 
such as exams or a move from school to college. Poorly timed and planned 
transition to adult services will have a detrimental effect on achievement of outcomes 
and may result in young people requiring far longer to complete their education or 
leaving education altogether. This can have a negative impact on their health and 
care needs and it is essential that the transition between children’s and adult’s 
services is managed and planned carefully.  

10.24 As part of transition planning, the needs of carers should also be assessed or 
reviewed to explore the impact of changing circumstances on the carer. More 
guidance on planning the transition from children’s to adult services can be found in 
Chapter 8, Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years. 

Page 285



214 
 

10.25 Information on adult social care can be found in Chapters 8 and 9. Further 
information about preparing for transition can be found in the Preparing for 
Adulthood factsheet ‘The Links Between the Children and Families Act 2014 and the 
Care Act’. A web link for this is given in the References section under Chapter 10. 

Children and young people educated out of area 
10.26 Where a child or young person being educated out of the local authority’s area is 

brought to the local authority’s attention as potentially having SEN, the home local 
authority (where the child normally lives) should decide whether to assess the child 
or young person and decide whether an EHC plan is required. 

10.27 Where a child or young person being educated out of area has an EHC plan, the 
home local authority must ensure that the special educational provision set out in 
the plan is being made. They must review the EHC plan annually. Local authorities 
can make reciprocal arrangements to carry out these duties on each other’s behalf.  

10.28 If the child or young person is placed by a local authority at an independent special 
school, non-maintained special school or independent specialist provider, the local 
authority must pay the appropriate costs.  

10.29 If it is a residential placement, so far as reasonably practicable, those placing the 
child or young person should try to secure a placement that is near to the child’s 
home. However, in making this decision they must have regard for the views, wishes 
and feelings of the child or young person and their families about the placement. 
Where the local authority names a residential provision at some distance from the 
family’s home the local authority must provide reasonable transport or travel 
assistance. The latter might be reimbursement of public transport costs, petrol costs 
or provision of a travel pass. 

Children and young people with SEN educated at home 
10.30 Under Section 7 of the Education Act 1996 parents have the right to educate 

children, including children with SEN, at home. Home education must be suitable to 
the child’s age, ability, aptitude and SEN. Local authorities should work in 
partnership with, and support, parents to ensure that the SEN of these children are 
met where the local authority already knows the children have SEN or the parents 
have drawn the children’s special needs to the authority’s attention. Local authorities 
do not have a duty under section 22 of the Children and Families Act 2014 to assess 
every home educated child to see whether or not they have SEN. The high needs 
block of the Dedicated Schools Grant is intended to fund provision for all relevant 
children and young people in the authority’s area, including home-educated children.  
Local authorities should fund the SEN needs of home-educated children where it is 
appropriate to do so. Guidance is available to local authorities from the Department 

Page 286



215 
 

for Education on funding provision for home-educated children.   

10.31 In cases where local authorities and parents agree that home education is the right 
provision for a child or young person with an EHC plan, the plan should make clear 
that the child or young person will be educated at home. If it does then the local 
authority, under Section 42(2) of the Children and Families Act 2014, must arrange 
the special educational provision set out in the plan, working with the parents. Under 
Section 19 of the Act, a local authority must have regard to the views, wishes and 
feelings of the child and his or her parents, or the young person. 

10.32 In cases where the EHC plan gives the name of a school or type of school where the 
child will be educated and the parents decide to educate at home, the local authority 
is not under a duty to make the special educational provision set out in the plan 
provided it is satisfied that the arrangements made by the parents are suitable. The 
local authority must review the plan annually to assure itself that the provision set 
out in it continues to be appropriate and that the child’s SEN continue to be met (see 
Chapter 9). Where the local authority has decided that the provision is appropriate, it 
should amend the plan to name the type of school that would be suitable but state 
that parents have made their own arrangements under Section 7 of the Education 
Act 1996.  

10.33 Where a child or young person is a registered pupil and the parent decides to home 
educate, the parent must notify the school in writing that the child or young person is 
receiving education otherwise than at school and the school must then remove the 
pupil's name from the admission register. If the school is a special school, the local 
authority must give consent for the child's name to be removed, but this should not 
be a lengthy or complex process. There is no provision in law for a ‘trial period’ of 
home education. 

10.34 Local authorities do not have the right of entry to the family home to check that the 
provision being made by the parents is appropriate and may only enter the home at 
the invitation of the parents. Parents should be encouraged to see this process as 
part of the authority’s overall approach to home education of pupils with SEN, 
including the provision of appropriate support, rather than an attempt to undermine 
the parents’ right to home educate.   

10.35 Local authorities should not assume that because the provision being made by 
parents is different from that which was being made or would have been made in 
school that the provision is necessarily unsuitable. Local authorities should also 
consider using their power to help parents make suitable provision. 

10.36 In some cases a local authority will conclude that, even after considering its power to 
provide support to home-educating parents, the provision that is or could be made 

Page 287



216 
 

for a child or young person with an EHC plan does not meet the child or young 
person’s needs. The local authority is required to intervene through the school 
attendance order framework ‘if it appears…that a child of compulsory school age is 
not receiving suitable education’. The serving of a school attendance order is a last 
resort if all attempts to improve provision are unsuccessful. ‘Suitable education’ 
means efficient full-time education suitable to the child or young person’s age, ability 
and aptitude and to any SEN he or she may have.   

10.37 Parents may also home educate children who have SEN but do not have EHC plans. 
As with children and young people with EHC plans, local authorities should work with 
parents and consider whether to provide support in the home to help the parents 
make suitable provision. Information about the right to request an EHC needs 
assessment and the right to appeal should be available to all parents including those 
who are considering home education because they feel that the special educational 
support being provided in the school is insufficient to meet the child or young 
person's needs.  

10.38 Young people may also be educated at home in order to meet the requirement to 
participate in education and training until the age of 18. Local authorities should 
involve parents, as appropriate, in the reviews of EHC plans of home-educated 
young people who are over compulsory school age. 

Children with SEN who are in alternative provision 
10.39 Local authorities must make arrangements where, for any reason, a child of 

compulsory school age would not otherwise receive suitable education. Suitable 
education means efficient education suitable to a child or young person’s age, ability 
and aptitude and to any SEN he or she may have. This education must be full time, 
unless the local authority determines that, for reasons relating to the physical or 
mental health of the child, a reduced level of education would be in the child’s best 
interests. 

10.40 Where this education is arranged elsewhere than at a school it is commonly referred 
to as alternative provision. Alternative provision includes pupil referral units, 
alternative provision academies and alternative provision free schools. Local 
authorities must have regard to statutory guidance on alternative provision and on 
the education of children unable to attend school because of health needs. This 
guidance specifies that the education provided should be on a par with mainstream 
schools. The guidance is available on the GOV.UK website – see the References 
section under Chapter 10 for a link.  

10.41 Local authorities, schools and post-16 education providers may commission 
alternative provision for other children and young people who face barriers to 
participation in mainstream education or training.  

Page 288



217 
 

10.42 Alternative provision must be arranged in line with a child or young person’s EHC 
plan. Local authorities may need to amend a plan where, for example, a child or 
young person is no longer attending the institution named on it. They should also 
consider whether the EHC plan needs to be reviewed to ensure that the child or 
young person’s SEN will be appropriately supported. Where alternative provision is 
specified in a child or young person’s EHC plan the local authority must arrange that 
provision.  

10.43 Where a child or young person in alternative provision has SEN that are not 
specified in an EHC plan then the alternative provider should employ a graduated 
response to these needs, as set out in Chapter 6.  

10.44 The support that will be provided for children and young people with SEN, with or 
without an EHC plan, should be agreed as part of the commissioning process. To 
allow for continuity of support, mainstream and alternative providers should promptly 
share appropriate information on a child or young person’s SEN. Commissioners of 
alternative provision should ensure that there is a clear plan for pupils’ progression 
and keep the arrangements under regular review so that they can be adapted in 
response to the needs of the child or young person. Where an alternative provider 
has concerns that a child or young person may have SEN that are not being 
appropriately supported then they should raise their concerns with the commissioner 
and agree how these potential needs will be assessed and supported. 

10.45 Alternative provision includes providers of online learning. Whilst it will not be 
appropriate in every case, online learning can offer certain benefits where there are 
significant barriers to a child or young person physically attending an educational 
institution. For example, online learning can provide for real-time teaching support, 
allow access to a broader curriculum and offer opportunities for students to interact 
with each other. Decisions on whether to arrange online learning are for the local 
authority or institution commissioning the provision to make, although they should 
take into account the views of professionals, parents or carers and the child or young 
person.  

10.46 In making this decision, commissioners should give particular consideration to the 
support that will be provided for children or young people’s SEN, as well as their 
social, emotional and physical development. Where feasible, online learning should 
be accompanied by opportunities for face-to-face contact with peers. Any decision to 
use online learning from a child or young person’s own home should include an 
assessment of his or her suitability for independent learning and home 
circumstances.  

Page 289



218 
 

Children and young people in alternative provision because of 
health needs 

10.47 In line with local authorities’ duty to arrange suitable education as set out above, 
children and young people who are in hospital or placed in other forms of alternative 
provision because of their health needs should have access to education that is on a 
par with that of mainstream provision, including appropriate support to meet the 
needs of those with SEN. The education they receive should be good quality and 
prevent them from slipping behind their peers. It should involve suitably qualified 
staff who can help pupils progress and enable them to successfully reintegrate back 
into school as soon as possible. This includes children and young people admitted to 
hospital under Section 2 of the Mental Health Act 2007. 

10.48 Young people with health needs who are over the school leaving age should also be 
encouraged to continue learning. Under Raising the Participation Age legislation, 
local authorities have duties to promote effective participation in education or training 
for 16- and 17-year-olds. Useful information on Raising the Participation Age can be 
found on the GOV.UK website – a link is given in the References section under 
Chapter 10.  

10.49 When a child or young person with an EHC plan is admitted to hospital, the local 
authority that maintains the plan should be informed so that they can ensure the 
provision set out in the plan continues to be provided. If necessary, the EHC plan 
may be reviewed and amended to ensure it remains appropriate and the child’s SEN 
continue to be met.  

10.50 Where children or young people with health needs are returning to mainstream 
education then the local authority should work with them, their family, the current 
education provider and the new school or post-16 provider to produce a reintegration 
plan. This will help ensure that their educational, health and social care needs 
continue to be met. Where relevant, a reintegration plan should be linked to a child 
or young person’s EHC plan or individual healthcare plan. 

10.51 It is important that medical commissioners and local authorities work together to 
minimise the disruption to children and young people’s education. In order for local 
authorities to meet their duties, medical commissioners should notify them as soon 
as possible about any need to arrange education, ideally in advance of the hospital 
placement. For example, where a child of compulsory school age is normally 
resident in a local authority but is receiving medical treatment elsewhere, it is still the 
duty of the ‘home’ local authority to arrange suitable education if it would not 
otherwise be received. 

10.52 In certain circumstances, local authorities’ duties may require them to commission 
independent educational provision. Such providers would need to be funded directly 

Page 290



219 
 

by the home local authority. Local authorities’ duties do not specifically require them 
to commission a particular educational provider. Medical commissioners should, 
therefore, avoid making commitments to fund education without the local authority’s 
agreement. Decisions about educational provision should not, however, 
unnecessarily disrupt a child or young person’s education or treatment. 

Children of Service personnel 
10.53 The Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS) within the Ministry of Defence 

provides advice and guidance to Service parents, educational establishments and 
local authorities on educational issues relating to Service children, including issues 
relating to SEN. Service Children’s Education (SCE) provides mainstream education 
for Service children in some overseas locations. As the education, health and social 
care resources available overseas are different from the UK, MoD services complete 
an MoD Assessment of Supportability Overseas (MASO) for all Service children with 
complex needs before an overseas posting is agreed. Personal Budgets agreed in 
the UK cannot be transferred to SCE locations overseas. 

10.54 Children whose parent(s) are Service personnel may face difficulties that are unique 
to the nature of their serving parent’s employment. These needs may arise from: 

• service induced mobility: Service personnel may relocate more often 
than the rest of the population and, sometimes, at short notice. Such 
transitions should be well managed to avoid Service children with SEN 
experiencing delays in having their needs assessed and met  

• the deployment of serving parents to operational arenas, while not 
constituting SEN in itself, may result in a Service child experiencing anxiety, 
dips in educational performance and/or emotional difficulties. Children may 
also be affected similarly by siblings’ deployment 

Action to take in respect of Service children with SEN 
10.55 In having regard to this Code of Practice and in meeting the aspirations of the Armed 

Forces Covenant, which attempts to eliminate or mitigate some of the potential 
disadvantages faced by Service families, all those with statutory responsibilities 
towards Service children with SEN should ensure that the impact of their policies, 
administrative processes and patterns of provision do not disadvantage such 
children because of their Service-related lifestyle. 

10.56 In respect of Service children, schools and other education providers should: 

• ensure that mechanisms are in place to enable effective and timely receipt 
and dispatch of all relevant records for Service children with SEN moving 
between schools in the UK and overseas, to enable effective planning, 

Page 291



220 
 

ideally in advance of the child’s arrival in school. Maintained schools must 
transfer information, including SEN information, about pupils to other 
schools in the UK (maintained or independent) in accordance with the 
Education (Pupil Information) Regulations 2005. To support the transfer of 
information on Service children with SEN the MoD has developed the Pupil 
Information Profile for Service children, which includes details of a child’s 
SEN. It is available for use by schools across the UK and overseas and is 
available from the Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS) on the 
GOV.UK website (see the References section under Chapter 10 for a link) 

• ensure that all reviews for Service children with SEN explicitly consider 
those Service-related issues (for example, Service-induced mobility) 
relevant to the outcomes of those reviews 

• ensure that access to appropriate assessments, interventions and provision 
is determined solely on the nature, severity and complexity of the needs 
presented by Service children with SEN and not related to the amount of 
time they have left in a particular school 

• consider how any funds received through the Service Pupils’ Premium 
might be used to improve their overall approaches to meeting the SEN of 
Service children 

10.57 Local authorities should: 

• when commissioning services for children and young people with SEN, 
take account, with their partners (for example, Health and Social Care), of 
the particular needs of any Service communities within their boundaries for 
a Service child with SEN, consider the likely impact on the child’s needs 
and the provision made to meet them of any relevant Service-related issue. 
When carrying out an assessment of a Service child’s needs or making an 
EHC plan, local authorities must seek advice from CEAS, acting on behalf 
of the Secretary of State for Defence 

• when children move home across local authority boundaries, transfer the 
EHC plan from the ‘old’ local authority to the ‘new’ local authority within 15 
days from when they first become aware of the move. The new local 
authority will have to tell the parents within 6 weeks of the transfer of the 
EHC plan whether the authority will bring forward the annual review of the 
plan and whether it intends to reassess the child. From the transfer of the 
plan the new local authority must arrange the special educational provision 
set out in it, although a child may have to be placed in a school other than 
the one named on the plan if the distance of the move makes it impractical 

Page 292



221 
 

to send the child to the named school  

• work with each other, particularly those which have bases within their 
areas, and CEAS, so that special educational provision can be made as 
soon as a child arrives in the new authority. Anticipated moves should not 
be used to delay the provision of appropriate support for children or the 
carrying out of needs assessments  

• when considering provision for Service children with SEN or disabilities, 
use all relevant evidence, including statements made for Service children in 
Wales and Northern Ireland, as well as Co-ordinated Support Plans made 
for them in Scotland and the Service Children’s Assessment of Need 
(SCAN) completed for them by SCE 

• when Personal Budgets are agreed with mobile Service parents, work with 
sending/receiving local authorities and the parents concerned to ensure 
that adequate, appropriate and timely arrangements are made in the 
receiving authority to ensure continuity of those elements of the overall 
provision purchased for Service children with SEN by the Personal Budgets 
allocated 

First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) 
10.58 In reaching decisions about appeals from Service parents, the First-tier Tribunal 

(SEN and Disability) should consider, on the basis of the evidence available to them, 
the extent to which Service-induced mobility has had, is having and will have an 
impact on the appropriateness and effectiveness of the provision offered by local 
authorities and that requested by the parents. 

Further information  
10.59 Further information and advice about the education of Service children with SEN, in 

England or elsewhere in the world, including the public funds available for boarding 
placements and the services available in SCE schools overseas, is available from 
the Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS) information page on the GOV.UK 
website – see the References section under Chapter 10 for a link. 

  

Page 293



222 
 

Children and young people with SEN who are in youth 
custody 
Relevant legislation 

Primary 

Sections 70-75 of the Children and Families Act 2014, together with sections 28, 31, 
and 77 

The National Health Service Act 2006 

The Equality Act 2010 

Section 2 of the Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970  

Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 

Section 39A of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998  

Section 562B of the Education Act 1996 

Regulations 

The Special Educational Needs and Disability (Detained Persons) Regulations 2015  

The Special Education Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 

The National Health Service Commissioning Board and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (Responsibilities and Standing Rules) Regulations 2012 (Part 3 and 
Schedule 3) 

What this section covers 
10.60 This section outlines roles and responsibilities in relation to children and young 

people aged 18 and under who have been remanded or sentenced by the Courts to 
relevant youth accommodation in England. Relevant Youth Accommodation refers to 
a Young Offender Institution, Secure Training Centre, Secure Children’s Home or 
Secure College. The term ‘detained person’ is used throughout to describe these 
children and young people and includes those who are voluntarily detained in a 
Secure Children’s Home. The term ‘appropriate person’ is used throughout this 
section to describe either the detained person’s parent, where the detained person is 
a child, or the young person, where the detained person is a young person. ‘Parent’ 
includes any person who is not a parent of the child but has parental responsibility or 
who cares for him or her (see Glossary). 
 

Page 294



223 
 

10.61 This section does not apply to children and young people serving their sentence in 
the community, to persons detained in a Young Offenders Institution for 18- to 21- 
year-olds or to persons detained in the adult estate. 

10.62 Unless otherwise stated a reference to ‘a local authority’ means the home local 
authority. For a detained person with an EHC plan this is the local authority which 
maintained their EHC plan when they were in the community. In custody a request 
for an assessment of post-detention EHC needs must be made to the home local 
authority, meaning where the detained person is ‘ordinarily resident’.  

10.63 ‘The person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation’ includes the Governor, 
Director or Principal in charge of the accommodation. 

Introduction 
10.64 Local authorities, Youth Offending Teams (YOTs), health commissioners and those 

in charge of the relevant youth accommodation must have regard to this Code of 
Practice and this section should be read alongside the guidance in other chapters. 

10.65 The principles underpinning the Code (see Chapter 1) are relevant when supporting 
detained persons to achieve the best possible educational and other outcomes and 
to prepare for adulthood and independent living. They support: 

• the participation of the detained person and the child’s parents in 
decisions relating to their individual support. Local authorities must 
have regard to their views, wishes and feelings and must provide them 
with information, advice and support to enable them to participate 

• the timely identification and assessment of special educational needs 
and provision of high quality support at the earliest opportunity whether 
they have an EHC plan or not 

• greater collaboration between education, health and social care with a 
focus on continuity of provision both when a detained person enters 
custody and after their release. Custodial sentences are often short, it 
is therefore important for decisions to be made as soon as possible to 
ensure appropriate provision is put in place without delay 

Summary of statutory requirements 
10.66 The statutory requirements relating to children and young people detained in youth 

custody are: 

• Local authorities must not cease an EHC plan when a child or young person 
enters custody. They must keep it while the detained person is detained and 

Page 295



224 
 

they must maintain and review it when the detained person is released (see 
paragraphs 10.121 to 10.122 and paragraph 10.136) 

• If a detained person has an EHC plan before being detained (or one is 
completed while the detained person is in the relevant youth accommodation) 
the local authority must arrange appropriate special educational provision for 
the detained person while he or she is detained (see paragraphs 10.123 to 
10.127) 

• If the EHC plan for a detained person specifies health care provision, the 
health services commissioner for the relevant youth accommodation must 
arrange appropriate health care provision for the detained person (see 
paragraph 10.128 to 10.131). (The NHS Commissioning Board and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (Responsibilities and Standing Rules) Regulations 
confer responsibility on the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England) for 
commissioning health services in prisons and custodial establishments.) 

10.67 For a detained person with an EHC plan, appropriate special educational and health 
care provision is the provision specified in the plan. If it is not practicable to arrange 
the provision specified in the EHC plan, special educational and health provision 
corresponding as closely as possible to that in the EHC plan must be arranged. If it 
appears to the local authority that the special educational provision in the EHC plan 
is no longer appropriate, the local authority must arrange provision it considers 
appropriate. Likewise, if it appears to the health care commissioner for the relevant 
youth accommodation that the health care provision in the EHC plan is no longer 
appropriate, that commissioner must arrange health care provision that appears 
appropriate to it. Local authorities should also consider whether any social care 
needs identified in the EHC plan will remain while the detained person is in custody 
and provide appropriate provision if necessary.  For example, if a detained child is 
looked after, the existing relationship with their social worker should continue and the 
detained child should continue to access specific services and support where 
needed. 

10.68 Where a detained person does not have an EHC plan, the appropriate person or the 
person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation can request an assessment 
of the detained person’s post-detention EHC needs from the local authority. The 
appropriate person can appeal to the First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) if they 
disagree with the decisions of the local authority about certain matters. 

10.69 Anyone else, including YOTs and the education provider in custody, has a right to 
bring the detained person to the notice of the local authority as someone who may 
have special educational needs and the local authority must consider whether an 
assessment of their post-detention EHC needs is necessary. 

Page 296



225 
 

10.70 YOTs and those in charge of the relevant youth accommodation must co-operate 
with the local authority to ensure that these duties can be fulfilled and must have 
regard to this Code of Practice. 

Sharing information 

10.71 All detained persons entering the youth justice system are assessed by the YOT 
using the approved Youth Justice Board (YJB) assessment tool. As part of the 
assessment process, YOTs will seek information from a number of sources, 
including local authorities, education institutions and health providers. The local 
authority, education institution and health provider should respond to this request as 
soon as possible.  

10.72 The YOT must notify the local authority when a child or young person aged 18 and 
under is detained. If the detained person has an EHC plan the local authority must 
send it to the YOT, the person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation and 
the detained person’s health commissioner within five working days of becoming 
aware of the detention. Information from the EHC plan will feed into the YOT 
assessment. The information sharing protocols described in the section in Chapter 9 
(9.32 to 9.34), on ‘Sharing information’ and the protocols on disclosure of EHC plans 
(9.211 to 9.213) apply in the same way to EHC plans which are kept for detained 
persons (under Regulation 17 of the Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(Detained Persons) Regulations 2012). 

10.73 If a detained person has SEN and this is known to the local authority, the local 
authority should provide all available information to the YOT, including details of any 
assessments the detained person has had and any needs which have been 
identified. The YOT will then share this information with the detained person’s 
custodial case manager (using the established information sharing process via the 
YJB's placements team) to inform the work of key personnel (such as the health 
provider or SENCO for the relevant youth accommodation) who will be involved in 
delivering the detained person’s sentence plan. Information about a detained 
person's educational history, including any SEN, should be reflected in the pre-
sentence report if deemed relevant to the court case. The court may ask for sight of 
the detained person’s EHC plan. 

Education for children and young people in youth custody  

10.74 The local authority must promote the fulfilment of the detained person’s learning 
potential while they are in custody and on their release, whether they have an EHC 
plan or not. 

10.75 The detained person’s YOT will remain the key point of contact between the person 
in charge of the relevant youth accommodation and the local authority, although the 

Page 297



226 
 

local authority may also need to discuss the provision directly with the person in 
charge of the relevant youth accommodation (as well as the education provider).  

10.76 Each detained person entering custody will undergo an educational assessment, 
including an assessment of literacy, numeracy and, where necessary, a screening to 
identify whether further assessments to identify SEN are required. This assessment 
also relies on information from the local authority provided by the YOT and will 
include any current EHC plan for the detained person (which the local authority must 
send to both the YOT and to the person in charge of the relevant youth 
accommodation). The results of assessments should enable the education provider 
to develop an individual learning plan for the delivery of education for each detained 
person.   

10.77 Special educational provision should be put in place as soon as possible. Providers 
in relevant youth accommodation should: 

• meet the educational needs of all detained persons, including those 
with SEN, whether they have an EHC plan or not 

• ensure SEN provision, identification and support of SEN follows the 
model (for schools and colleges) set out in Chapters 6 and 7 of this 
Code 

• have staff who are suitably qualified to support this (such as SENCOs), 
and make referrals to other specialist support where this is appropriate 

• liaise and co-operate with the local authority where a detained person 
has an EHC plan 

Healthcare for children and young people in youth custody 
10.78 NHS England is the commissioner of healthcare services in prisons and custodial 

establishments (with the exception of some emergency care, ambulance, out of 
hours and 111 services) and manages contracts with healthcare providers to ensure 
the delivery of agreed services for detained persons. 

10.79 Standards for the healthcare of detained persons in secure settings are available 
from the website of the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health (see the 
References section under Chapter 10 for a link). These standards include guidance 
on entry and assessment, care planning, physical and mental health, transfer and 
continuity of care and multi-agency working. The relevant NHS England 
provider/secure establishment is expected to consider these standards when 
organising health care for those under 18 years old in secure settings. 
 

Page 298



227 
 

10.80 All children and young people entering custody will be screened and assessed using 
the Comprehensive Health Assessment Tool (CHAT) which includes a screening for 
speech, language and communication needs. If a detained person has an EHC plan 
when they enter custody, the information in the plan as well as information from the 
local authority provided by the YOT, should inform or supplement this assessment. 
This should lead to an individual health care plan for each detained person.  

Requesting an EHC needs assessment for a detained person 

10.81 Appropriate support after release will help the resettlement process. Therefore, if the 
detained person has SEN, the appropriate person, or the person in charge of the 
relevant youth accommodation, has a right to ask the local authority to arrange an 
assessment of the detained person’s post-detention education, health and care 
needs. 

10.82 In addition, anyone can bring a detained person to the attention of their local 
authority if they are concerned that the detained person has or may have SEN and 
the local authority must determine whether an assessment of their post-detention 
needs is necessary. This could include, for example, carers, health and social care 
professionals, YOTs and those responsible for education in custody. YOTs, for 
example, should consider bringing a detained person to the attention of the local 
authority if the approved YJB assessment tool raises concerns about a detained 
person who may have SEN. This should be done with the knowledge and, where 
possible, the agreement of the appropriate person.  

10.83 The purpose of assessing a detained person’s post-detention education, health and 
care needs is to consider whether they may need support from an EHC plan on their 
release from custody. EHC needs assessments can take up to 20 weeks to 
complete, so enabling the assessment to begin in custody will help ensure that 
appropriate support is in place as soon as possible after the detained person has 
been released, in addition to ensuring support is in place in custody if the EHC plan 
is finalised while they are detained. 

Considering whether an assessment of post-detention education, 
health and care needs is necessary 

10.84 Following a request for an assessment of post-detention education, health and care 
needs, or if the detained person has been brought to its attention, the local authority 
must determine whether an assessment is necessary. When considering a request 
the local authority must consult the appropriate person and the person in charge of 
the relevant youth accommodation. 

10.85 Where a local authority considers that the detained person may have SEN and is 
considering whether an assessment of their post-detention EHC needs is necessary, 

Page 299



228 
 

it must notify: 

• the appropriate person (and must inform them of their right to express 
written or oral views and submit evidence to the local authority) 

• the person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation (informing them 
of their right to express written or oral views and submit evidence to the 
local authority, including evidence from the education provider) 

• the home Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) (with responsibility for 
commissioning the detained person’s health services before he or she 
entered the relevant youth accommodation)  

• NHS England (since it has commissioning responsibility for health services 
for detained persons while they are in the relevant youth accommodation) 

• local authority officers responsible for social care for children or young 
people with SEN 

• where a detained person is registered at a school, the headteacher (or 
equivalent) 

• where the detained young person is registered at a post-16 institution, the 
principal (or equivalent)  

• where a detained person is registered at a Pupil Referral Unit, the principal 
(or equivalent) 

• the YOT responsible for the detained person 

10.86 The local authority must secure an assessment of post-detention needs if the 
detained person has or may have SEN and it may be necessary for special 
educational provision to be made in accordance with an EHC plan on their release 
from detention. 

10.87 To inform their decision the local authority will need to take into account a wide 
range of evidence, and should pay particular attention to: 

• evidence of the detained person’s academic attainment, rate of progress 
and engagement with education (such as exclusions and absence) 

• information about the nature, extent and context of the detained person’s 
SEN 

• evidence of the action already being taken by the school or post-16 
institution the detained person was attending prior to detention to meet their 
SEN 

Page 300



229 
 

• evidence that where progress has been made, it has only been as the 
result of much additional intervention and support over and above that 
which is usually provided, and 

• evidence of the detained person’s physical, emotional and social 
development and health needs, drawing on relevant evidence from 
clinicians and other health professionals and what has been done to meet 
these by other agencies including healthcare professionals in the relevant 
youth accommodation 

10.88 Local authorities may develop criteria to guide them in deciding whether it is 
necessary to carry out an assessment of post-detention EHC needs and following 
this whether to issue an EHC plan. However, local authorities must not apply a 
‘blanket’ policy, for example, refusing to assess where a detained person has a 
relatively long sentence or where they have not been engaged in education for a 
number of years. The local authority must consider cases individually and be 
prepared to depart from any local criteria where it is appropriate. 

Advice and information for an assessment of post-detention 
education, health and care needs 

10.89 As with EHC needs assessments for children and young people in the community, 
an assessment of post-detention education, health and care needs should be based 
on a co-ordinated assessment and planning process which puts the detained person, 
and the child’s parent, at the centre. Unless otherwise stated the principles and 
timescales for assessing detained persons mirror those in the community, as 
detailed in Chapter 9. 

10.90 When securing a detained person’s needs assessment the local authority must 
consult the detained person, and where they are a child, the child’s parent. The local 
authority must take into account their views, wishes and feelings and must ensure 
that they are fully able to participate in the decision making process.  

10.91 Advice and information must be sought as follows:  

• Educational advice and information from: 

o The head teacher or principal of the school or post-16 or other 
institution which the detained person attended prior to detention 

o Where this is not available the authority must seek advice from 
a person with experience of teaching children or young people 
with SEN, or knowledge of the provision which may meet the 
detained person’s needs 

Page 301



230 
 

o Where advice from a person with relevant teaching experience 
or knowledge is not available and the detained person did not 
attend an educational institution prior to entering detention, the 
local authority must seek educational advice and information 
from a person who was responsible for educational provision for 
the detained person prior to detention 

o If the detained person is either vision or hearing impaired, or 
both, the educational advice and information must be given 
after consultation with a person who is qualified to teach pupils 
or students with these impairments 

• Medical advice and information from a health care professional identified by 
the home CCG. This should include advice and information gathered from 
professionals with a role in relation to the detained person’s health, 
including the custodial healthcare provider  

• Psychological advice and information from an educational psychologist. 
The educational psychologist should consult any other psychologists known 
to be involved with the detained person 

• Advice from the person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation, 
including advice and information from the education provider in that 
accommodation 

• Advice from the YOT responsible for the detained person 

• Social care advice and information from or on behalf of the local authority, 
including, if appropriate, children in need or child protection assessments, 
or information from a looked after child’s care plan. In some cases, a 
detained person may already have a child in need assessment or a child 
protection plan from which information should be drawn for the EHC needs 
assessment 

• Advice and information in relation to preparation for adulthood and 
independent living where the young person would have been in or beyond 
Year 9 (if not for their detention) 

• From any person requested by the appropriate person, where the local 
authority considers it reasonable to do so (for example, they may suggest 
consulting a GP or other health professional) 

• Any other advice and information which the local authority considers 
appropriate for a satisfactory assessment (for example, in the case of a 

Page 302



231 
 

looked after child, from the Virtual School Head in the authority that looks 
after the child) 

10.92 The local authority must give those providing advice copies of any representations 
made by the appropriate person, and any evidence submitted by or at the request of 
the appropriate person. The local authority may also pass on the representations 
and evidence provided from the person in charge of the relevant youth 
accommodation, where the person in charge consents to this.  

10.93 The whole process, from the point when an assessment is requested (or a detained 
person is brought to the local authority’s attention) until the final EHC plan is issued, 
must take no more than 20 weeks (subject to the exemptions set out paragraph 
10.97). 

10.94 The following specific requirements also apply: 

• Local authorities must give their decision in response to any request for an 
EHC needs assessment within 6 weeks from when the request was received 
or the point at which a detained person was brought to the their attention 

• When local authorities request information as part of the EHC needs 
assessment process, those supplying the information must respond in a 
timely manner and within 6 weeks from the date of the request 

• If a local authority decides, following an EHC needs assessment, not to issue 
an EHC plan, it must inform the appropriate person within 16 weeks from the 
request for an EHC needs assessment. It must also notify those listed in 
paragraph 10.71 

10.95 When notifying the appropriate person of a decision not to issue an EHC plan, the 
local authority must also notify them of their right to appeal that decision and the 
time limit for doing so. It must also provide information concerning mediation and the 
availability of SEN information and advice. The local authority should ensure that the 
appropriate person is made aware of the resources available to meet SEN and 
disability in the community within mainstream provision and through other support as 
set out in the Local Offer. 

10.96 If, following an EHC needs assessment, a local authority decides to issue an EHC 
plan, the appropriate person must be given 15 days, beginning with the day on 
which the plan was served, to consider and provide views on a draft EHC plan, to 
ask for a particular school or other institution to be named in it and to request a 
meeting with the local authority to discuss the plan, if they wish. 
 

Page 303



232 
 

10.97 The whole process should be completed within 20 weeks from the date of the 
request. There may be instances where it may not be reasonable to expect local 
authorities and other partners to comply with the 20 week time limit. The Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (Detained Persons) Regulations (2015) set out 
specific exemptions. These include where: 

• the educational institution is closed for at least 4 weeks, (which may delay 
the submission of information from the school or other institution) 

• exceptional personal circumstances affect the detained person or the 
child’s parent. Being detained in youth custody in itself is not an exceptional 
personal circumstance 

• the child’s parent is absent from the area for a period of at least 4 weeks 

10.98 The appropriate person should be informed if exemptions apply so that they are 
aware of, and understand, the reason for any delays. All remaining elements of the 
process should be completed within their prescribed periods wherever possible, 
regardless of whether exemptions have delayed earlier elements. 

10.99 In deciding whether an EHC plan is necessary for the detained person on release 
from custody, the local authority should take into account whether the special 
educational provision required to meet their needs can reasonably be provided from 
within the resources normally available to schools and post-16 institutions or whether 
an EHC plan may be needed to ensure that support is provided and co-ordinated 
effectively for them on release from custody. Where, in the light of an assessment of 
the detained person’s EHC needs, it is necessary for special educational provision to 
be made in accordance with an EHC plan, the local authority must prepare a plan.  

10.100 Local authorities should take into account that NHS England is the commissioner of 
health services for detained persons, whereas on release the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) where the detained person is ordinarily resident will 
have responsibility for commissioning the health care element of the EHC plan.   

10.101 The views of the home CCG will be crucial to finalising the health content of the EHC 
plan. The commissioning of the healthcare element of the plan and the duty to 
ensure it is delivered falls on that CCG after the detained person is released from 
custody. Although the home CCG does not have statutory commissioning 
responsibility while the detained person is in the relevant youth accommodation, as a 
local partner the home CCG must co-operate with the local authority that is carrying 
out an assessment of the detained person’s post-detention EHC needs. The views of 
the home CCG must inform the final plan. The local authority and the home CCG 
should work together with the providers of healthcare in the secure setting to ensure 
any relevant healthcare information is available to inform the assessment process. 

Page 304



233 
 

Preparing an EHC plan for a detained person in custody 
10.102 In preparing a detained person’s EHC plan, local authorities and those contributing 

to the preparation of the plan should follow the principles and requirements set out in 
paragraph 9.61.  

10.103 As in the community, the format of an EHC plan will be agreed locally. However, as a 
statutory minimum, EHC plans must include the sections set out below, which must 
be separately labelled from each other using the letters below. The content of each 
is covered in detail in Chapter 9: 

Section A: The views, interests and aspirations of the detained person and the 
child’s parent. 

Section B: The detained person’s special educational needs. 

Section C: The detained person’s health needs which are related to their SEN. 

Section D: The detained person’s social care needs which are related to their SEN 
or to a disability. 

Section E: The outcomes sought for the detained person on release. This should 
include outcomes for adult life. The EHC plan should also identify the arrangements 
for the setting of shorter term targets by the school, college or other education or 
training provider. 

Section F: The special educational provision required by the detained person on 
release. 

Section G: Any health provision reasonably required on release by the learning 
difficulties or disabilities which result in the detained person having SEN. Where an 
Individual Health Care Plan is made for them, that plan should be included. 

Section H1: Any social care provision which must be made on release for a 
detained person under 18 resulting from section 2 of the Chronically Sick and 
Disabled Persons Act 1970. 

Section H2: Any other social care provision reasonably required on release by the 
learning difficulties or disabilities which result in the detained person having SEN. 
This will include any adult social care provision being provided on release to meet a 
young person’s eligible needs (through a statutory care and support plan) under the 
Care Act 2014. 

Section I: The name and type of the school, post-16 institution or other institution to 
be attended by the detained person on release and the type of that institution (or, 

Page 305



234 
 

where the name of a school or other institution is not specified in the EHC plan, the 
type of school or other institution to be attended by the detained person on release). 

Section J: Where any provision is to be secured by a Personal Budget post-
detention, the details of how the Personal Budget will support particular outcomes, 
the provision it will be used for including any flexibility in its usage and the 
arrangements for any direct payments for education, health and social care. The 
special educational needs and outcomes that are to be met by any direct payment 
must be specified. 

Section K: The advice and information gathered during the EHC needs assessment 
must be attached (in appendices). There should be a list of this advice and 
information. 

10.104 In addition, where the detained person would have been in or beyond Year 9, the 
EHC plan must include (in sections F, G, H1 or H2 as appropriate) the provision 
required by the detained person to assist in preparation for adulthood and 
independent living, for example, support for finding employment, housing or for 
participation in society. 

10.105 The appropriate person’s right to request a particular school, college or other 
institution in the EHC plan and the process for doing so are the same as set out from 
paragraph 9.78. The local authority should ensure information is accessible for the 
detained person. 

Provision of information, advice and support 
10.106 When securing a detained person’s EHC needs assessment the local authority must 

consider whether the child or the appropriate person requires any information, advice 
and support in order to enable them to take part effectively in the assessment. If it 
considers that such information, advice or support is necessary the local authority 
must provide it. 

10.107 Further guidance on the provision of information, advice and support is covered in 
Chapter 2.  

Finalising the EHC plan 

10.108 On completion, the local authority must send the finalised EHC plan to the 
appropriate person, the person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation, the 
YOT, the governing body, proprietor or principal of any school or other institution 
named in the EHC plan, the home CCG and NHS England. The YOT should share 
the plan with the detained person’s custodial case manager to inform the work of key 
personnel who will be involved in delivering the detained person’s sentence plan 

Page 306



235 
 

including the health and education providers. Where the EHC needs assessment 
process is completed after release, the local authority must send the finalised EHC 
plan to the appropriate person, the governing body, proprietor or principal of any 
school or other institution named in the EHC plan and the CCG, and should send the 
finalised plan to the YOT. 

10.109 Where an EHC plan has been issued while the detained person is still in custody the 
local authority must keep the EHC plan while they remain in custody and arrange 
the provision in the plan (as set out in paragraphs 10.123 to 10.127). Whilst 
undertaking these duties they should ensure the least possible disruption to the 
detained person’s education and health support, given that they will already be 
taking part in a learning programme and receiving any necessary health care that will 
be based on their assessed needs when they entered into custody.  

10.110 When the detained person is released the local authority must maintain the EHC 
plan and review it as soon as possible following the guidance in the section on 
‘Review on release from youth custody’ see (paragraphs 10.134 to 10.138). 

Partial assessment on entry to or exit from custody 
10.111 Where a detained person is part way through an assessment of special educational 

needs or the development of an EHC plan on entry to custody, the local authority 
must continue and complete the process following the guidance set out in this 
section.  

10.112 The majority of children and young people in custody will be serving short sentences. 
In most cases the EHC needs assessment process and plan will not have been 
completed before the detained person is released. The local authority must continue 
and complete the process in the community following the guidance in Chapter 9 
(separate provisions apply if the person is released to a new authority – these are 
addressed in paragraphs 10.139 to 10.141). 

10.113 The timeframes and process for completing an incomplete assessment do not start 
afresh because a detained person is released or a child or young person is 
detained. For example, the local authority must ensure that any EHC plan is 
finalised with 20 weeks. It must also ensure that a decision on whether or not to 
secure an EHC needs assessment is made within 6 weeks and that any decision not 
to secure an EHC plan is made with 16 weeks. 

10.114 To achieve this, the Regulations allow a local authority to treat steps taken in respect 
of an EHC needs assessment in the community as satisfying steps which are 
required to be taken for a detained persons EHC needs assessment. (Regulation 
15(2) and (5) of the Special Educational Needs and Disability (Detained Persons) 
Regulations 2015.)  This is referred to in the Special Educational Needs and 

Page 307



236 
 

Disability Regulations 2015 ‘the 2015 Regulations’ as ‘comparable 
requirements’.  This is intended to provide local authorities with flexibility.  For 
instance, where a local authority has provided notification to the relevant bodies that 
it intends to carry out an assessment (under Regulation 4(2) of the Special 
Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 ‘the 2014 Regulations’) there 
may be no need to do so again under the 2015 Regulations, where the local 
authority is satisfied that this is reasonable. Where a local authority has consulted a 
parent or young person at the outset of the process (under Regulation 3 of the 2014 
Regulations) there may be no need to do so again following a detention, where the 
local authority considers this reasonable. A local authority may decide that, given the 
change in circumstances, it would be better to repeat a step. For example, the 
authority would like to have input from the youth offending team and the person in 
charge of the relevant youth accommodation. It is essential that detained persons 
are assessed as promptly as possible (in detention or upon release) to ensure that 
any required provision is in place as soon as possible.  

Transfer between places of relevant youth accommodation 
10.115 The YOT must notify the local authority when a detained person has been 

transferred from one place of relevant youth accommodation to another. If the 
detained person has an EHC plan the local authority must send it to the person in 
charge of the new relevant youth accommodation within five working days of them 
becoming aware of the transfer. NHS England should ensure that the new custodial 
healthcare provider receives the EHC plan. 

10.116 If the detained person is part way through an assessment or the development of an 
EHC plan when they transfer from one place of relevant youth accommodation to 
another, the local authority and the appropriate CCG must continue and complete 
the process following the guidance set out in this section. The local authority must 
ensure that any EHC plan is finalised within 20 weeks. Anything already completed 
in relation to an EHC needs assessment by the person in charge of the relevant 
youth accommodation, including information and advice received, may be treated as 
having been completed in relation to the new relevant youth accommodation. 

Appeals and mediation 
10.117 The appropriate person during the period of detention can appeal to the First-tier 

Tribunal (SEN and Disability) about: 

• a decision by a local authority not to carry out an EHC needs assessment  

• a decision by a local authority that it is not necessary to issue an EHC plan 
following an assessment 

Page 308



237 
 

• the school or other institution or type of school or other institution (such as 
mainstream school/college) specified in the plan as appropriate for the 
detained person on their release from custody or that no school or other 
institution is specified 

10.118 Before registering an SEN appeal with the Tribunal the appropriate person must 
consider mediation unless an exemption applies. Further information on mediation 
and the Tribunal is set out in Chapter 11 on Resolving Disagreements. 

10.119 The local authority should work with the YOT and the person in charge of the 
relevant youth accommodation to ensure that the mediation information session can 
take place and that the detained person is able to participate in mediation if they 
choose to go to mediation. When a parent is a party to the mediation, the child (with 
the agreement of the parent, the mediator and the person in charge of the relevant 
youth accommodation) may also attend. Young persons placed in relevant youth 
accommodation may not be able to leave the establishment due to security risks. 
Most mediation sessions should therefore take place in the relevant youth 
accommodation and in some cases it may be appropriate for mediation to take place 
via a video link. However, in such cases, careful consideration should be given as to 
whether this is accessible for the detained person. The person in charge of the 
relevant youth accommodation must co-operate and support this process by 
providing local authorities with access to the detained person for the purpose of 
mediation sessions. The reasonable expenses of the detained person’s parent 
attending mediation must be met by the local authority. 

10.120 The person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation should also ensure 
arrangements are in place to enable the young person to attend a Tribunal where an 
appeal is made. Again, there may be security considerations involved and in some 
cases a Tribunal hearing could take place via a video link but only where this is 
accessible the young person.  

Keeping an EHC plan and arranging special educational provision  
10.121 Where a detained person has an EHC plan at the time of entering custody, or where 

an EHC plan is finalised in custody, local authorities must keep the plan while the 
detained person is in custody and must arrange appropriate special educational 
provision while they are in custody. They should work closely with the person in 
charge of the relevant youth accommodation who must co-operate with the local 
authority to enable them to fulfil this duty.  

10.122 While the detained person is in custody the local authority must not amend the EHC 
plan, carry out a reassessment or cease to maintain the EHC plan. 
 

Page 309



238 
 

10.123 The local authority must arrange the special educational provision specified in the 
EHC plan. In practice the educational provision in relevant youth accommodation, 
including for additional support that detained persons may need as part of an EHC 
plan, will be delivered by an education provider under contractual arrangements with 
the YJB or custodial operator and commissioned and funded centrally. Local 
authorities should work closely with providers to arrange the provision. The local 
authority should seek to do this as soon as possible on the detained person entering 
custody, using the custodial establishment’s and  YOT’s existing planning 
procedures wherever possible.  

10.124 It may not always be practicable to deliver the exact provision set out in the EHC 
plan, for example, if the EHC plan specifies a named individual in the detained 
person’s home area to provide a service. Where provision is not currently available 
within the relevant youth accommodation it does not necessarily mean that it is 
impracticable for it to be arranged. Where it is not practicable to arrange specified 
provision in the EHC plan, the local authority must arrange provision as close as 
possible to it and should work with the person in charge of the relevant youth 
accommodation and the education provider to identify how to do so, focusing on the 
outcomes in the plan. Local authorities should ensure that the appropriate person is 
fully involved in the process. 

10.125 If it appears to the local authority that the special educational provision specified in 
the plan is no longer appropriate for the person, where for example the detained 
person’s needs have changed since their last EHC plan review or they have 
previously unidentified needs, the local authority must arrange special educational 
provision that is appropriate for the detained person. Before deciding that the 
educational provision set out in the EHC plan is no longer appropriate, local 
authorities should seek appropriate professional advice and work with the custodial 
case manager, the YOT, the person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation 
(as well as the education provider) and the appropriate person to review the detained 
person’s needs taking into account the information in the EHC plan, the literacy and 
numeracy assessment and any other assessment of the detained person’s needs. 
On release, the local authority must review the EHC plan and if the special 
educational provision specified in the plan is no longer appropriate this should also 
trigger a reassessment of the child or young person’s needs. 

10.126 Speech and language therapy is usually recorded as education provision in section F 
of EHC plans (see paragraph 9.74 for further information) and where it is, it must be 
arranged by the local authority. However in practice, when undertaking this duty in 
relevant youth accommodation, the local authority should work with NHS England, 
and any providers of speech and language therapy who are contracted and funded 
centrally by NHS England, to deliver it within the framework of services already 
provided to the establishment.    

Page 310



239 
 

10.127 Custodial sentences for detained persons are often short. It is therefore important for 
decisions to be made as soon as possible to enable the provision to be put in place 
without delay. Local authorities and the person in charge of the relevant youth 
accommodation should also ensure that the process for making decisions is clear, 
robust and transparent. Local authorities should keep records of the decisions they 
have made and the reasons for those decisions and make those records available to 
the appropriate person, the YOT and the education or training institution the detained 
person will be attending upon release.  

Arranging health care provision for detained children and young 
people with EHC plans   

10.128 Where a detained person has an EHC plan that specifies healthcare provision, NHS 
England must arrange appropriate health care provision while the detained person is 
in custody. In practice this will be carried out by a health services provider under its 
contractual arrangements with NHS England. NHS England should make the 
arrangements below when commissioning health services in the relevant youth 
accommodation. 

10.129 It may not always be practicable to deliver the exact provision as set out in the EHC 
plan if, for example, the plan is specific to local health professionals or services. 
Where it appears impracticable to provide exactly what is in the plan, NHS England’s 
commissioning arrangements must ensure that the health care provider arranges 
provision as close as possible to that in the plan, if it is still appropriate. In practice, 
although the judgment about what is practical falls to NHS England, its views will be 
influenced by the advice from the provider. 

10.130 If it appears that the health care support specified in the plan is no longer 
appropriate, NHS England’s commissioning arrangements must ensure that the 
health care provider arranges appropriate alternative healthcare support for the 
detained person. This may be the case if, for example, the health needs have 
changed since the detained person’s last EHC plan review. Again, the assessment 
of what is no longer appropriate will be informed by the provider’s views, although 
the judgment ultimately falls to NHS England. If it appears that the health care 
support specified in the plan is no longer appropriate this should trigger a 
reassessment of the detained person’s EHC needs upon release.  

10.131 The Comprehensive Health Assessment Tool should remain key when identifying 
what health provision in the plan can and should continue to be provided for detained 
persons with an EHC plan in custody. It may also pick up additional health needs. 
The process for making decisions about health provision should be clear, robust and 
transparent taking into account the information in the EHC plan, the CHAT 
assessment and any other assessment of the detained person’s needs.  

Page 311



240 
 

Monitoring provision in custody 
10.132 The local authority must promote the fulfilment of the detained person’s learning 

potential whilst they are in custody and on their release. Local authorities should use 
the EHC plan to actively monitor progress towards these and other long term 
outcomes. 

10.133 Where a detained person is in custody within a year of the last review of their EHC 
plan, the local authority should conduct a monitoring meeting and continue to do so, 
as a minimum, every 12 months. The monitoring meeting should consider the special 
educational and health provision arranged for the detained person in custody and the 
appropriateness of the provision in the EHC plan in light of the detained person’s 
progress or changed circumstances. If the provision in the EHC plan appears 
inappropriate the local authority should follow the guidance set out in paragraph 
10.125. The local authority can request that the person in charge of the relevant 
youth accommodation or YOT convenes the monitoring meeting. Further guidance 
on best practice is given in Chapter 9, Education, health and care needs 
assessments and plans. 

Review on release from youth custody 
10.134 To support a detained person’s transition from custody, the local authority and YOT 

should seek to review the detained person’s educational progress and their 
continuing special educational and health needs in preparation for their release, 
using the YOT’s existing release planning procedures wherever possible. 

10.135 The YOT must notify the local authority that a detained person is due to be released 
from the relevant youth accommodation in order to inform the resettlement process 
and should ensure all external agencies are aware of their responsibilities under the 
proposed release plan, and condition of licence or Notice of Supervision. The local 
authority should inform any relevant community services that the detained person is 
due to be released. 

10.136 If the detained person had an EHC plan before entering custody or was issued with 
an EHC plan while they were in custody, the responsible local authority must keep 
the plan while the detained person is in custody and must review it as soon as 
possible on release. The review must focus on the detained person’s progress 
towards achieving the outcomes specified in the EHC plan and local authorities 
must follow the process set out in Chapter 9, Education, Health and Care needs 
assessments and plans. Local authorities should work with the YOT to take account 
of the condition of licence or Notice of Supervision when reviewing the EHC plan. If 
the EHC plan was issued while the detained person was in custody the review 
should specifically consider sections I and J of the EHC plan. 

Page 312



241 
 

10.137 Professionals across education, health and social care are expected to co-operate 
with local authorities during reviews and the relevant healthcare commissioner must 
agree the healthcare provision to be included in a revised plan.  

10.138 Local authorities, CCGs and NHS England must co-operate to ensure the health 
needs of detained persons whilst in custody and on release are considered in 
developing the local Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

Moving to a new local authority on release 
10.139 If the detained person is due to be released to a new local authority the YOT must 

notify the local authority where the detained person is ordinarily resident (the old 
local authority) and the new local authority in whose area the YOT expects the 
detained person to live on release from the relevant youth accommodation. The old 
authority must send the EHC plan to the new authority within 5 working days of 
being informed of the move. The new authority will become responsible for 
maintaining the plan and for securing the special educational provision specified in it.  

10.140 Where the detained person’s move results in a new CCG becoming responsible for 
the detained person, the new local authority must send the EHC plan to the new 
CCG within 5 working days of becoming responsible for maintaining the plan. Where 
it is not practicable for the new CCG to secure the health provision specified in the 
EHC plan, the new CCG must, within 15 working days of receiving a copy of the 
EHC plan, request the new local authority to make an EHC needs assessment or 
review the EHC plan. The new local authority must comply with any request. 

10.141 If the detained person is released to a new local authority before the EHC needs 
assessment process has been completed the new local authority should consider 
whether it needs to carry out an EHC needs assessment. The new authority should 
take account of the fact that the old authority decided to carry out an EHC needs 
assessment (and should seek information concerning the assessment from the old 
local authority) when making its decision. The new local authority is not bound by the 
requirements specified in paragraph 10.113. The new local authority should draw on 
the expertise and knowledge of the YOT to continue the assessment process. (See 
Chapter 9 for more information about children and young people moving between 
local authorities). 

Looked after children remanded or sentenced to custody 
10.142 For the purposes of this section a looked after child refers to a child or young person 

who is under 18. 

10.143 Under the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012, children 
remanded to relevant youth accommodation become looked after children for the 

Page 313



242 
 

period for which they are remanded. This includes those who had previously been 
accommodated under the Children Act 1989. However, if a looked after child, who 
has previously been accommodated by a local authority under section 20 of the 
Children Act, is remanded to relevant youth accommodation he or she will no longer 
be looked after under section 20 as they are no longer voluntarily accommodated by 
the local authority. (A child who is looked after by a local authority as defined by 
Section 22 of the Children Act 1989 means a child who is voluntarily accommodated 
by a local authority or who is subject to a care order or interim care order.) Children 
who offend and receive a custodial sentence remain looked after if they were under 
a care order immediately prior to conviction. 

10.144 If a looked after child is living in an out-of-authority placement prior to going into 
custody, the request for an assessment must be carried out by the local authority 
where the child lived before entering custody (i.e. where they are ordinarily resident), 
which may not be the same as the local authority that looks after the child. The CCG 
where the child is ordinarily resident has responsibility for the health element of the 
EHC needs assessment and the development of the health content of the plan. If a 
disagreement arises, the local authority that looks after the child, will act as the 
‘corporate parent’ in any disagreement resolution, as described in Chapter 11.  

10.145 If a looked after child was placed out of authority before going into custody and 
enters custody with an EHC plan, or one is finalised while they are in custody, the 
local authority where the child lived before entering custody (i.e. where they are 
ordinarily resident), must arrange appropriate special educational provision for the 
detained person while he or she is detained. Further information on support for 
looked after children is set out at the beginning of this chapter. 

Transition from youth justice to a custodial establishment for 
adults 

10.146 When a detained person is transferred to an adult custodial establishment the 
person in charge of the relevant youth accommodation should ensure that all 
relevant SEN information, including the EHC plan, is passed to the receiving 
establishment prior to transfer taking place, so that any additional support needs can 
be taken into account by the receiving establishment. The SEN duties in the Children 
and Families Act 2014 no longer apply once a young person is transferred to the 
adult secure estate.  

Education on release for those in a custodial establishment for 
adults 

10.147 If a detained person in an adult custodial establishment had an EHC plan 
immediately before custody, or if they were issued with a plan while in relevant youth 
accommodation, and if they are still under the age of 25 when they are released from 

Page 314



243 
 

custody, the local authority must maintain and review the EHC plan if the young 
person plans to stay in education. When reviewing the plan local authorities must 
follow the processes set out in Chapter 9, in particular the section on 19- to 25-year-
olds. 

10.148 If the young person plans to continue their education on release, the Offenders' 
Learning and Skills Service provider and the National Careers Service provider 
should liaise to ensure the responsible local authority can review the EHC plan as 
soon as possible. 

Cross-border detention 
10.149 Local authorities in England should support detained persons with EHC plans whose 

home authority is in England but who are detained in Wales in the same way that 
they support detained persons whose home authority is in England and who are 
placed in England. Local authorities in England should work with the person in 
charge of relevant youth accommodation and the Local Health Board to meet the 
needs of detained persons with EHC plans whose home authority is in England 
when they are detained in Wales.  

10.150 Until the SEN legal framework is changed in Wales, host local authorities in England 
will be obliged to fulfill their best endeavors duty for detained persons with 
statements under Section 562C of the Education Act 1996 whose home authority is 
in Wales but who are detained in Young Offender Institutions in England. 

  

Page 315



244 
 

11 Resolving disagreements 

What this chapter covers 
This chapter is primarily about resolving disagreements between parents or young 
people and early years providers, schools, colleges, local authorities or health 
commissioners. It:  

• supports early resolution of disagreements at the local level 

• explains the independent disagreement resolution arrangements which local 
authorities must make available for disagreements across special educational 
provision, and health and care provision in relation to Education, Health and 
Care (EHC) plans 

• also explains the independent mediation arrangements which parents and 
young people can use before deciding whether to appeal to the First-tier 
Tribunal (Special Educational Needs (SEN) and Disability) (‘the Tribunal’) and 
for health and social care complaints in relation to EHC plans 

•  goes on to describe the conditions for appealing to the Tribunal or making 
disability discrimination claims. It finishes by describing other complaints 
procedures and health and social services complaints procedures 

Relevant legislation 
Primary 
The Children and Families Act 2014 Sections 51 – 57 and 60 

The Children Act 1989, section 26 

The Education Act 1996, Section 496 and 497 

The Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007  

The Equality Act 2010 

The Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 

Regulations 
The Special Educational Needs Regulations 2014 

The Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure Regulations 2006 

The Tribunal Procedure (First-tier Tribunal) (Health, Education and Social Care 
Chamber) Rules 2008 

Page 316



245 
 

The Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints 
Regulations 2009 

The Education (Independent School Standards) Regulations 2010 

Principles for resolving disagreements 
11.1 The guidance in this chapter on resolving disagreements is based on the following 

principles: 

• Decisions about provision for children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities should be made jointly by providers, parents, and children and 
young people themselves, taking a person-centred approach, with the views 
of children, young people and parents taken into account when those 
decisions are made  

• Relations between education, health and social care services and parents and 
young people should be marked by open communication so that parents and 
young people know where they are in the decision-making process, their 
knowledge and experience can be used to support good decision-making and 
they know the reasons why decisions have been made 

• Parents and young people should be given information and, where necessary, 
support so that they can take part in decision-making and complaints 
processes. Support can be provided by statutory or voluntary organisations 

• Local authorities must make known to parents and young people the 
possibility of resolving disagreements across education, health and social 
care through disagreement resolution and mediation procedures and 
education, health and social care providers (such as those listed in paragraph 
iv. in the Introduction) should have complaints procedures which, along with 
details about appealing to the Tribunal, should be made known to parents and 
young people through the local authority’s Information, Advice and Support 
Service (see Chapter 2, Impartial information, advice and support) 

11.2 The following table gives a summary of the people and bodies which can consider 
complaints about decisions and provision in relation to children and young people 
with education, health and care needs. Text in the rest of this chapter gives more 
detail about who can deal with complaints. Parents and young people should use the 
complaints procedures of local providers (schools, colleges etc) before raising their 
complaints with others.  

Page 317



246 
 

Children and young people with education, health and care needs – avenues for complaint and redress 

 Early years/ 
school/ 
college 

provision 

Provision 
for 

individual 
CYP incl 

those with 
SEN but no 

plan 

Decision 
not to 
assess 

Undergoing 
EHC 

assessment 

Decision 
not to issue 

EHC plan 

EHC plan Disability 
discrimination 

Health 
complaints 

Social care 
complaints 

Early years 
provider 

            

School             
College             
DfE/School 
Complaints 
Unit 

  
(LA maintained 

schools) 

  
(LA 

maintained 
schools) 

       

EFA   
(Academies, 

sixth form 
colleges) 

  
(Academies,  

sixth form 
colleges) 

       

SFA   
(General FE 

colleges) 

  
(General FE 

colleges) 

       

Secretary 
of State 

  
(Independent 

Schools) 

            
(in LA 

maintained 
schools) 

  

Ofsted   
(Early years & 
LA maintained 
schools and 

academies as a 
whole) 

        

Local 
authority 

  
(LA maintained 

schools) 

         
(about non-
provision of 
education & 
social care) 

    

P
age 318



247 
 

 Early years/ 
school/ 
college 

provision 

Provision 
for 

individual 
CYP incl 

those with 
SEN but no 

plan 

Decision 
not to 
assess 

Undergoing 
EHC 

assessment 

Decision 
not to issue 

EHC plan 

EHC plan Disability 
discrimination 

Health 
complaints 

Social care 
complaints 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

    
(maladmini- 

stration, 
delay etc) 

  
(maladmini- 

stration) 

  
(maladmini- 

stration) 

  
(about non 
provision of 
education & 
social care) 

    

Disagreement 
resolution 
services 

  
(how providers 

carry out duties) 

          
(about 

sections E, 
H and C in 
the plan) 

   

Mediation          
(about 

sections E, 
H and C in 
the plan) 

   

First-tier 
Tribunal 
(SEND) 

         
(about 

education in 
the plan) 

  
(in schools) 

  

County Court         
(in early years, 
post-16, LAs) 

  

NHS 
complaints 

       
(about health 
provision in 

plan) 

    

Parliamentary 
and Health 
Service 
Ombudsman 

       
(with the 

LGO) 

    

P
age 319



 

248 

Early resolution of disagreements 
11.3 Decisions about provision for children and young people with SEN should be 

made as soon as possible. In most cases this will be achieved by early years 
providers, schools, colleges, local authorities and clinical commissioning groups 
(CCGs) working closely together and agreeing what should be provided with 
parents and young people. 

11.4 However, where agreement cannot be reached, early resolution of disagreements 
benefits parents and young people and can avoid unnecessary stress and 
expense. The local Information, Advice and Support Service, described in Chapter 
2, can provide access to support for parents and young people in arranging and 
attending meetings. 

Disagreement resolution arrangements and mediation 
11.5 While ‘disagreement resolution’ and ‘mediation’ are often used interchangeably, 

under the Children and Families Act 2014 they refer to different processes. 
Disagreement resolution arrangements apply more widely and are distinct from 
the mediation arrangements set out in paragraphs 11.13 to 11.38 below which 
apply specifically to parents and young people who are considering appealing to 
the Tribunal about EHC needs assessments and the special educational element 
of an EHC plan or who want mediation on the health and social care elements of 
an EHC plan. However, local authorities may contract disagreement resolution 
services and mediation from the same providers. Whereas parents and young 
people must contact a mediation adviser before registering an appeal about EHC 
needs assessments or the SEN element of an EHC plan they do not have to 
engage with the disagreement resolution services at any time, including before 
registering an appeal. 

Disagreement resolution services 
11.6 Local authorities must make disagreement resolution services available to parents 

and young people. Use of the disagreement resolution services is voluntary and 
has to be with the agreement of all parties. The service, while commissioned by it, 
must be independent of the local authority – no-one who is directly employed by a 
local authority can provide disagreement resolution services. Parents and young 
people can also access informal support in resolving disagreements through the 
local impartial Information, Advice and Support Service and, between 2014 and 
2016, with the help of independent supporters. 

11.7 Disagreement resolution arrangements cover all children and young people with 
SEN, not just those who are being assessed for or have an EHC plan, and a 
range of disagreements, as set out in paragraph 11.8. They are available to 

Page 320



 

249 

parents and young people to resolve disagreements about any aspect of SEN 
provision, and health and social care disagreements during the processes related 
to EHC needs assessments and EHC plans set out in Chapter 9. They can 
provide a quick and non-adversarial way of resolving disagreements. Used early in 
the process of EHC needs assessment and EHC plan development they can 
prevent the need for mediation, once decisions have been taken in that process, 
and appeals to the Tribunal. 

11.8 The disagreement resolution service is to help resolve four types of disagreement 
or to prevent them from escalating further:  

• The first is between parents or young people and local authorities, the 
governing bodies of maintained schools and maintained nursery schools, 
early years providers, further education institutions or the proprietors of 
academies (including free schools), about how these authorities, bodies 
or proprietors are carrying out their education, health and care duties for 
children and young people with SEN, whether they have EHC plans or 
not. These include duties on the local authority to keep their education 
and care provision under review, the duties to assess needs and draw up 
EHC plans and the duty on governing bodies and proprietors to use their 
best endeavours to meet children and young people’s SEN  

• The second is disagreements between parents or young people and 
early years providers, schools or post-16 institutions about the special 
educational provision made for a child or young person, whether they 
have EHC plans or not 

• The third is disagreements between parents or young people and CCGs 
or local authorities about health or social care provision during EHC 
needs assessments, while EHC plans are being drawn up, reviewed or 
when children or young people are being reassessed. Disagreement 
resolution services can also be used to resolve disagreements over 
special educational provision throughout assessments, the drawing up of 
EHC plans, while waiting for Tribunal appeals and at review or during 
re-assessments  

• the fourth is disagreements between local authorities and health 
commissioning bodies during EHC needs assessments or 
re-assessments, the drawing up of EHC plans or reviews of those plans 
for children and young people with SEN. In relation to EHC plans, this 
includes the description of the child or young person’s education, health 
and care needs and any education, health and care provision set out in 
the plan. These disagreements do not involve parents and young people. 

Page 321



 

250 

11.9 Local authorities must make the availability of disagreement resolution services 
known to parents, young people, headteachers, governing bodies, proprietors and 
principals of schools and post-16 institutions in their areas and should make them 
known to others they think appropriate. Details of the disagreement resolution 
arrangements must be set out in the Local Offer. 

11.10 A decision by parents and young people not to use disagreement resolution 
services has no effect on their right to appeal to the Tribunal and no inference will 
be drawn by the Tribunal if the parties to a disagreement have not used the 
disagreement resolution services. Disagreement resolution meetings are 
confidential and without prejudice to the Tribunal process and the Tribunal will 
disregard any offers or comments made during them. Partial agreement achieved 
by use of disagreement resolution services can help to focus on the remaining 
areas of disagreement in any subsequent appeals to the Tribunal.  

Contracting disagreement resolution services 
11.11 In contracting an effective disagreement resolution service, local authorities 

should: 

• take responsibility for the overall standard of the service 

• have clear funding and budgeting plans for the service – parents and 
young people should not be charged for the use of the service and 
schools, colleges and early years providers should be clear about how 
the service can be accessed and how it will be funded 

• ensure that the service is impartial 

• ensure that the service has a development plan which sets out clear 
targets and is regularly reviewed  

• ensure that the independent persons appointed as facilitators:  

o have the appropriate skills, knowledge and expertise in 
disagreement resolution 

o have an understanding of SEN processes, procedures and 
legislation 

o have no role in the decisions taken about a particular case, nor any 
vested interest in the terms of the settlement 

o maintain confidentiality 

Page 322



 

251 

o carry out the process quickly and to the timetable decided by the 
parties 

• establish protocols and mechanisms for referring parents and young 
people to disagreement resolution and, where necessary, provide 
advocacy support to help them take part 

• establish a service level agreement for delivering the service which sets 
out the appropriate standards expected of, and the responsibilities 
delegated to, the provider. There should be appropriate arrangements for 
overseeing, regularly monitoring and reviewing the performance of the 
service, taking account of local and national best practice, and  

• seek feedback from the service to inform and influence local authority 
and provider decisions on SEN policies, procedures and practices 

11.12 Parents and young people can also use the complaints procedures set out in 
paragraphs 11.67 to 11.111 in addition to these disagreement resolution 
arrangements. There is no requirement to have used the disagreement resolution 
services before using those other complaints procedures, and disagreement 
resolution services can be used before, at the same time or after those 
procedures. 

Mediation  
11.13 As paragraph 11.5 points out, the Children and Families Act 2014 makes a 

distinction between disagreement resolution arrangements and mediation.  If 
parents or young people want it to, mediation can take place following decisions 
by a local authority not to carry out an EHC needs assessment, not to draw up an 
EHC plan, after they receive a final EHC plan or amended plan, following a 
decision not to amend an EHC plan or a decision to cease to maintain an EHC 
plan. These mediation arrangements complement the disagreement resolution 
arrangements set out in paragraphs 11.5 to 11.10. The disagreement resolution 
arrangements are designed to resolve disagreements about the performance of 
duties, SEN provision, disagreements over health and social care provision and 
disagreements between health commissioners and local authorities and are 
voluntary for both parties (see paragraph 11.8). The mediation arrangements are 
specifically linked to decisions about EHC needs assessments and plans. 
Disagreement resolution services can be used at any time, if both parties agree, 
including while an EHC needs assessment is being conducted, while the plan is 
being drawn up, after the plan is finalised or while an appeal is going through the 
Tribunal process.  

Page 323



 

252 

Contracting services for mediation and mediation information 
11.14 Local authorities must make arrangements for parents and young people to 

receive information about mediation so that they can take part in mediation if they 
so choose before a possible appeal to the Tribunal.  

11.15 Local authorities and relevant health commissioners are free to choose how they 
make arrangements to provide mediation information and mediation, whether that 
is by contracting a mediation provider or providers or otherwise. Any mediation 
provision – by a mediation adviser (providing information) or mediator (conducting 
mediation) – must be independent of local authorities in England and/or relevant 
health commissioners. No one who is directly employed by a local authority in 
England can be a mediation adviser and no one who is directly employed by a 
local authority in England or a relevant health commissioner can act as a 
mediator. People who are contracted to act as mediators should have received 
accredited mediation training. The guidance on arranging effective disagreement 
resolution services (paragraph 11.11) provides a good guide for the arrangements 
which should be made for mediation services. 

11.16 Local authorities must set out the arrangements they have made for securing 
mediation information services and mediation itself in the Local Offer. 

Routes to mediation  
11.17 The Children and Families Act 2014 sets out two pathways for going to mediation 

depending on whether the parent or young person wants to go to mediation about 
the matters which can be appealed to the Tribunal (see paragraph 11.45) or 
whether they want to go to mediation about the health and social care elements of 
EHC plans. 

Mediation on matters which can be appealed to the Tribunal 
11.18 Parents and young people who wish to make an appeal to the Tribunal (see 

paragraphs 11.39 to 11.52) may do so only after they have contacted an 
independent mediation adviser and discussed whether mediation might be a 
suitable way of resolving the disagreement. 

11.19 When the local authority sends the parent or young person notice of a decision 
which can be appealed to the Tribunal it must tell the parent or young person of 
their right to go to mediation and that they must contact a mediation adviser 
before registering an appeal with the Tribunal. The notice must give the contact 
details of a mediation adviser, contain the timescales for requesting mediation and 
the contact details of any person acting on behalf of the local authority who the 
parent or young person should contact if they wish to pursue mediation.  The 

Page 324



 

253 

notice should also make clear that parents’ and young people’s right to appeal is 
not affected by entering into mediation. 

11.20 If the parent or young person is considering registering an appeal and has 
contacted the mediation adviser, the adviser will provide information on mediation 
and answer any questions which the parent or young person may have.  The 
information will normally be provided on the telephone, although information can 
be provided in written form, through face-to-face meetings or through other means 
if the parent or young person prefers.   

Mediation advice before mediation  
11.21 The mediation information which is given to parents and young people:  

• should be factual and unbiased, and  

• should not seek to pressure them into going to mediation. Where there is 
more than one available, the mediation adviser should not try to persuade 
the parents or young people to use any particular mediator 

11.22 The mediation adviser should be ready to answer any questions from the parent or 
young person and explain:  

• that mediation is an informal, non-legalistic, accessible and simple 
disagreement settlement process run by a trained third party and designed 
to bring two parties together to clarify the issues, and reach a resolution  

• that the parent or young person’s use of mediation is voluntary  

• the timescales which must be met and the certificate, and  

• that the local authority will pay reasonable travel expenses and other 
expenses to the parent or young person taking part in mediation 

11.23 Once the information has been provided it is for the parent or young person to 
decide whether they want to go to mediation before any appeal they might make 
to the Tribunal. Parents and young people have the right to appeal to the Tribunal 
but are not able to register an appeal without a certificate and the local authority 
must tell them this in the notice referred to in paragraph 11.19. Where the parent 
or young person decides not to go to mediation during or following contact with the 
mediation adviser the adviser will issue a certificate, within three working days of 
the parent or young person telling them that they do not want to go to mediation, 
confirming that information has been provided. The certificate will enable the 
parent or young person to lodge their appeal, either within two months of the 
original decision being sent by the local authority or within one month of receiving 
the certificate whichever is the later.  

Page 325



 

254 

Exceptions to the requirement to contact a mediation adviser  
11.24 Parents and young people do not have to contact the mediation adviser prior to 

registering their appeal with the Tribunal if their appeal is solely about the name of 
the school, college or other institution named on the plan, the type of school, 
college or other institution specified in the plan or the fact that no school or other 
institution is named. Parents and young people will already have had the 
opportunity to request a school, college or other institution and to discuss this in 
detail with the local authority. The disagreement resolution arrangements, as set 
out in paragraphs 11.5 to 11.10, would be available if parents or young people and 
local authorities wanted to attempt to resolve the dispute about the placement by 
making use of these arrangements.  

11.25 The mediation advice arrangements do not apply to disability discrimination 
claims.  

Going to mediation about matters which can be appealed to the 
Tribunal 

11.26 If the parent or young person decides to proceed with mediation then the local 
authority must ensure that a mediation session takes place within 30  days of the 
mediation adviser informing the local authority that the parent or young person 
wants to go to mediation, although it may delegate the arrangement of the session 
to the mediator. Parents or young people do not have to pay for the mediation 
session(s). The local authority must attend the mediation. 

11.27 If the parent or young person wants to go to mediation then the local authority  
must also take part. If the local authority is unable to arrange mediation in a case 
which involves a disagreement on a matter which can be appealed to the Tribunal 
within 30 days it must tell the mediator. The mediation adviser must then issue a 
certificate within three days. On receipt of the certificate the parent or young 
person could decide whether to appeal immediately or to wait for mediation to take 
place. If the parent or young person initially indicates that they want to go to 
mediation about a matter which can be appealed to the Tribunal but changes their 
mind, they can contact the mediation adviser who can then issue a certificate with 
which an appeal can be registered. 

11.28 A mediation session or sessions which arise out of these arrangements must be 
conducted by independent mediators. Once mediation is completed about a 
matter which can be appealed to the Tribunal the mediation adviser must issue a 
certificate to the parent or young person within three working days confirming that 
it has concluded. Mediation will not always lead to complete agreement between 
the parties and if the parent or young person still wants to appeal to the Tribunal 

Page 326



 

255 

following mediation they must send the certificate to the Tribunal when they 
register their appeal. 

11.29 Parents and young people have one month from receiving the certificate to 
register an appeal with the Tribunal or two months from the original decision by 
the local authority whichever is the later. The certificate will not set out any details 
about what happened in the mediation – it will simply state the mediation was 
completed at a given date. When cases are registered with the Tribunal following 
mediation the Tribunal will deal with the appeal on the facts of the case. The 
Tribunal may cover similar ground to that explored in the mediation but will reach 
its own independent findings and conclusions. Mediation meetings are confidential 
and without prejudice to the Tribunal process and the Tribunal will disregard any 
offers or comments made during them. Partial agreement achieved through 
mediation can help to focus any subsequent appeals to the Tribunal on the 
remaining areas of disagreement.  

11.30 The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 set out time limits 
for local authorities to implement agreements made at mediation. If the local 
authority does not implement the agreements within the set time limits, or ones 
which have been agreed with the parents or young people instead, the parents or 
young person can appeal to the Tribunal if it is a matter which can be appealed 
(see paragraphs 11.45 and 11.46). 

Mediation on the health and social care elements of an EHC plan  
11.31 Parents and young people can also go to mediation about the health and social 

care elements of an EHC plan. However, unlike matters which can be appealed to 
the Tribunal, parents and young people do not have to receive mediation advice 
before going to mediation. (Health and social care provision which educates or 
trains a child or young person is treated as special educational provision, rather 
than health and social care provision, and can be appealed to the Tribunal and the 
parent or young person would have to contact a mediation adviser before 
appealing about that provision.)  

11.32 The notice which is sent to the parent or young person by the local authority with 
the final EHC plan or the final amended plan must tell the parent or young person 
that they can go to mediation about the health and care aspects of the plan and 
give contact details of someone acting on behalf of the local authority who the 
parent or young person should contact if they want to go to mediation.  When 
contacting the local authority the parent or young person must tell the local 
authority about the matters they wish to go to mediation about. In particular, they 
must inform the local authority if they want to go to mediation about the fact that 
no health care provision or no health care provision of a particular kind, is 

Page 327



 

256 

specified in the plan and they must also inform the local authority of the health 
care provision which he or she wishes to be specified in the plan. 

11.33 If the parent or young person wants to go to mediation about the health care 
matters set out in paragraph 11.32 then the local authority must inform each 
relevant commissioning body within three working days about those matters. 

11.34 If the parent or young person has told the local authority that they disagree with 
either the education and social care element of the plan or the health and one or 
both of the education and social care elements then the local authority must 
arrange the mediation, after the parent or young person has contacted the 
mediation adviser in a case involving the education element of the plan. If the 
parent or young person only wants to appeal about the health care aspect of the 
plan then the responsible health commissioning body or bodies must arrange for 
mediation between them and the parent or young person, ensure that the 
mediation is conducted by an independent person who is not employed by a 
clinical commissioning group or the National Health Service Commissioning 
Board, and take part in the mediation. The health commissioning body or bodies 
must also take part in the mediation arranged by the local authority if the 
mediation is about the health care element of the plan and either or both of the 
education or social care parts of the plan. They must pay the reasonable 
expenses of the parent or young person where they arrange the mediation.  

11.35 If the responsible health commissioning body or bodies are responsible for 
arranging a mediation which is solely about the health care elements of the plan 
then they must do so within 30 days of being informed by the local authority.  

11.36 Mediation offers a relatively quick way of resolving disagreements about the health 
and social care elements of an EHC plan. It may not resolve those disagreements 
or may not resolve all of them. If there is no resolution of the parent’s or young 
person’s disagreement with the health and/or social care elements of the plan 
then they cannot appeal to the Tribunal. Parents and young people could at this 
point request that the responsible commissioning body in the case of the health 
care element of the plan or the local authority in the case of the social care 
element goes to disagreement resolution, although the health commissioning body 
and the local authority would be under no duty to do so and given that the 
disagreements have not been resolved at mediation the health commissioning 
body and the local authority are unlikely to agree. The mediation arrangements for 
the health and social care elements of an EHC plan lie alongside the health and 
social care arrangements set out in paragraphs 11.101 to 11.111. Going to 
mediation about the health and social care elements of an EHC plan does not 
prevent a parent or young person also complaining via the routes set out in 

Page 328



 

257 

paragraphs 11.101 to 11.111 and vice versa nor does going to mediation prevent 
a parent or young person subsequently complaining via those routes. 

11.37 Despite there being two routes to mediation the right to go to mediation about the 
education, health and social care elements of an EHC plan provides an 
opportunity for disagreements about a plan to be dealt with at one venue and dealt 
with holistically. Where parents or young people have disagreements about more 
than one element of the plan, including the educational element, the local authority 
should not arrange the mediation until the parent or young person has contacted 
the mediation adviser and decided whether they want to go to mediation about the 
educational element of the plan, so that one mediation can be arranged covering 
all areas of disagreement.   

Effective mediation  
11.38 For mediation to work well:  

• the mediation session should be arranged, in discussion with the parents 
or young people, at a place and a time which is convenient for the parties 
to the disagreement. The body (or bodies) arranging the mediation must 
inform the parent or young person of the date and place of the mediation 
at least 5 working days before the mediation unless the parent or young 
person consents to this period of time being reduced 

• the mediator should play a key role in clarifying the nature of the 
disagreement and ensuring that both sides are ready for the mediation 
session. The mediator should agree with the parties on who needs to be 
there  

• mediators must have sufficient knowledge of the legislation relating to 
SEN, health and social care to be able to conduct the mediation 

• the local authority and health commissioner representative(s) should be 
sufficiently senior and have the authority to be able to make decisions 
during the mediation session  

• the parents or young person may be accompanied by a friend, adviser or 
advocate and, in the case of parents, the child, where the parent 
requests this and the local authority has no reasonable objection. In 
cases where parents are the party to the mediation and it is not 
appropriate for the child to attend in person the mediator should take 
reasonable steps (within terms of time, difficulty, expense etc) to obtain 
the views of the child. Young people with learning difficulties, in 
particular, may need advocacy support when taking part in mediation  

Page 329



 

258 

• both parties should be open about all the aspects of the disagreement 
and not hold anything back for a possible appeal to the Tribunal on the 
SEN aspects of EHC plans  

• where a solicitor has acted as the mediator, under the Solicitors’ Code of 
Conduct (rule 3 Conflict of interests), he or she should not also represent 
either party at the Tribunal  

• generally, legal representation should not be necessary at the mediation, 
but this will be a matter for the parties and the mediator to agree. If either 
party does have legal representation they will have to pay for it 
themselves 

Children and young people in youth custody 
Please see Chapter 10, paragraphs 10.76 to 10.78.  

Registering an appeal with the Tribunal 
11.39 Parents and young people have two months to register an SEN appeal with the 

Tribunal, from the date when the local authority sent the notice containing a 
decision which can be appealed or one month from the date of a certificate which 
has been issued following mediation or the parent or young person being given 
mediation information, whichever is the later. In some cases parents and young 
people will not register the appeal within the two-month limit. Where it is fair and 
just to do so the Tribunal has the power to use its discretion to accept appeals 
outside the two-month time limit. 

11.40 The Tribunal will not take account of the fact that mediation has taken place, or 
has not been taken up, nor will it take into account the outcome of any mediation. 
Parents and young people will not be disadvantaged at the Tribunal because they 
have chosen not to go to mediation.  

Parents’ and young people’s right to appeal to the 
Tribunal about EHC needs assessments and EHC plans 
The First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability) 

11.41 The Tribunal forms part of the First-tier Tribunal (Health, Education and Social 
Care Chamber). Tribunals are overseen by Her Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals 
Service. 

  

Page 330



 

259 

The role and function of the Tribunal 
11.42 The Tribunal hears appeals against decisions made by the local authorities in 

England in relation to children's and young people’s EHC needs assessments and 
EHC plans. It also hears disability discrimination claims against schools and 
against local authorities when the local authority is the responsible body for a 
school. 

11.43 The Tribunal seeks to ensure that the process of appealing is as user friendly as 
possible, and to avoid hearings that are overly legalistic or technical. It is the 
Tribunal’s aim to ensure that a parent or young person should not need to engage 
legal representation when appealing a decision. Parents and young people may 
find it helpful to have support from a voluntary organisation or friend at a hearing.  

Who can appeal to the Tribunal about EHC needs assessments 
and plans 

11.44 Parents (in relation to children from 0 to the end of compulsory schooling) and 
young people (over compulsory school age until they reach age 25) can appeal to 
the Tribunal about EHC needs assessments and EHC plans, following contact 
with a mediation adviser in most cases (see paragraph 11.18). Young people can 
register an appeal in their name but can also have their parents’ help and support 
if needed. Chapter 8, paragraphs 8.15 to 8.18 , gives further guidance on the 
rights of young people under the Children and Families Act 2014 and the 
involvement and support of parents. 

What parents and young people can appeal about 
11.45 Parents and young people can appeal to the Tribunal about:  

• a decision by a local authority not to carry out an EHC needs 
assessment or re-assessment 

• a decision by a local authority that it is not necessary to issue an EHC 
plan following an assessment  

• the description of a child or young person’s SEN specified in an EHC 
plan, the special educational provision specified, the school or other 
institution or type of school or other institution (such as a mainstream 
school/college) specified in the plan or that no school or other institution 
is specified  

• an amendment to these elements of the EHC plan 

Page 331



 

260 

• a decision by a local authority not to amend an EHC plan following a 
review or re-assessment 

• a decision by a local authority to cease to maintain an EHC plan 

The Tribunal does not hear appeals about Personal Budgets, but will hear appeals 
about the special educational provision to which a Personal Budget may apply 
(see paragraph 9.108).  

11.46 Parents and young people who are unhappy with decisions about the health and 
social care elements of an EHC plan can go to mediation (see paragraphs 11.31 
to 11.35). They can also complain through the health and social care complaints 
procedures, set out in paragraphs 11.101 to 11.104 and 11.105 to 11.111. 

Conditions related to appeals 
11.47 The following conditions apply to appeals:  

• the parent or young person can appeal to the Tribunal when the EHC 
plan is initially finalised, following an amendment or a replacement of the 
plan 

• appeals must be registered with the Tribunal within two months of the 
local authority sending a notice to the parent or young person of the 
decision about one of the matters that can be appealed to the Tribunal or 
within one month of a certificate being issued following mediation or the 
parent or young person being given mediation information 

• the right to appeal a refusal of an EHC needs assessment will be 
triggered only where the local authority has not carried out an 
assessment in the previous six months 

• when the parent or young person is appealing about a decision to cease 
to maintain the EHC plan the local authority has to maintain the plan until 
the Tribunal’s decision is made  

Decisions the Tribunal can make 
11.48 The Tribunal has prescribed powers under the Children and Families Act 2014 to 

make certain decisions in relation to appeals. The Tribunal can dismiss the 
appeal, order the local authority to carry out an assessment, or to make and 
maintain an EHC plan, or to maintain a plan with amendments. The Tribunal can 
also order the local authority to reconsider or correct a weakness in the plan, for 
example, where necessary information is missing. Local authorities have time 

Page 332



 

261 

limits within which to comply with decisions of the Tribunal (see the Special 
Educational Needs Regulations 2014). 

11.49 In making decisions about whether the special educational provision specified in 
the EHC plan is appropriate, the Tribunal should take into account the education 
and training outcomes specified in Section E of the EHC plan and whether the 
special educational provision will enable the child or young person to make 
progress towards their education and training outcomes. The Tribunal can 
consider whether the education and training outcomes specified are sufficiently 
ambitious for the child or young person. When the Tribunal orders the local 
authority to reconsider the special educational provision in an EHC plan, the local 
authority should also review whether the outcomes remain appropriate.  

How parents and young people can appeal  
11.50 When appealing to the Tribunal parents and young people must supply a copy of 

the decision that they are appealing against and the date when the local 
authority’s decision was made, or the date of the mediation certificate. The parent 
or young person who is appealing (the appellant) will be required to give the 
reasons why they are appealing. The reasons do not have to be lengthy or written 
in legal language but should explain why the appellant disagrees with the 
decision. Parents and young people have to send all relevant documents, such as 
copies of assessments, to the Tribunal. 

11.51 Once the appeal is registered the local authority will be sent a copy of the papers 
filed and will be given a date by which they must respond and asked to provide 
details of witnesses – this will apply to all parties. The parties will also be told of 
the approximate hearing date. Hearings are heard throughout the country at Her 
Majesty's Courts and Tribunals Service buildings. The Tribunal will try to hold 
hearings as close to where the appellant lives as possible. Appeals are heard by a 
judge and a panel of Tribunal members who have been appointed because of 
their knowledge and experience of children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities. The local authority will provide a bundle of papers for each of the 
panel members and the parent, including any document requested by the parent. 
Advice on making SEN appeals to the Tribunal is available from the Ministry of 
Justice website – a link is given in the References section under General.  

  

Page 333



 

262 

11.52 A video is available from the Ministry of Justice website which gives appellants 
some guidance on what happens at a hearing – a link to it is given in the 
References section under Chapter 11. A DVD of this video can be requested from 
the Tribunal by writing to:  
 
First-tier Tribunal (Special Educational Needs and Disability) 
Darlington Magistrates Court 
Parkgate 
Darlington 
DL1 1RU 

Disability discrimination claims 
11.53 The parents of disabled children and disabled young people in school have the 

right to make disability discrimination claims to the Tribunal if they believe that 
their children or the young people themselves have been discriminated against by 
schools or local authorities when they are the responsible body for a school. 
Claims must be made within six months of the alleged instance of discrimination. 
The parents of disabled children, on behalf of their children, and disabled young 
people in school can make a claim against any school about alleged 
discrimination in the matters of exclusions, the provision of education and 
associated services and the making of reasonable adjustments, including the 
provision of auxiliary aids and services. They can also make claims to the Tribunal 
about admissions to independent and non-maintained special schools. Claims 
about admissions to state-funded schools are made to local admissions panels.  

11.54 Disability discrimination claims by young people against post-16 institutions, and 
by parents about early years provision and about their treatment as a parent in 
being provided with an education service for their child, are made to the county 
courts. Claims by parents and young people against local authorities about the 
policies the authorities have adopted also go to the county courts. 

11.55 Guidance on how to make a disability discrimination claim to the Tribunal is 
available from the Ministry of Justice website, via the link to information about the 
Tribunal given in the References section under General. 

Exclusion 
11.56 The Government issues statutory guidance on school exclusion, which can be 

found on the GOV.UK website – a link is given in the References section under 
Chapter 11. 

11.57 The guidance sets out details of the permanent exclusion review panel process, 
including parents’ right to ask for an SEN expert to attend. In addition, claims for 

Page 334



 

263 

disability discrimination in relation to permanent and fixed-period exclusions may 
be made to the Tribunal.  

11.58 Local authorities have a duty to arrange suitable, full-time education for pupils of 
compulsory school age who would not otherwise receive such education, including 
from the sixth day of a permanent exclusion. Schools have a duty to arrange 
suitable, full-time education from the sixth day of a fixed period exclusion (see 
Chapter 10, paragraphs 10.47 to 10.52 on alternative provision). Suitable 
education means efficient education suitable to a child’s age, ability and aptitude 
and to any SEN the child may have.  

Please note that the following figure shows the maximum time it would take to 
register an appeal at the Tribunal both with and without mediation and have the 
appeal heard. Most registrations of an appeal, even where the case goes to 
mediation will take a far shorter time than this. The top half the diagram is for 
appeals after receipt of a finalised EHC plan. 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Timescales following the hearing 

Notice of 
decision 
received 
from LA. 

1 month 2 months 3 months 

2 months available to contact 
mediation adviser, decide not 
to go to mediation and register 
an appeal, with certificate 
issued within 3 working days 

4 months 

Appeal  

Copy of 
Tribunal 
decisions 
and 
reasons by 
post 
(should be 
sent within 
10 working 
days).   

Scenario 1: Tribunal appeal with mediation 

Notice of 
decision 
received 
from LA. 

2 months available for parent/YP to 
contact the LA and say whether they want 
to go to mediation about EHC plan.  If 
considering an appeal on SEN element of 
plan have to contact mediation adviser. 
 

Decision made to 
proceed with 
mediation. 
Mediation adviser 
contacts LA  

LA-arranged 
mediation session 
(must be arranged 
within 30 calendar 
days) 

When mediation is  
complete a 
certificate to confirm 
conclusion must 
come from  
mediation adviser 
within 3 working 
days. 

If young person or 
parent wishes to 
register an appeal 
following mediation 
this is dependent on 
the discretion of the 
Tribunal to accept 
appeals outside of 
the two month time 
limit/or within 1 
month of a 
certificate. If 
accepted the appeal 
process would then 
be the same as in 
Scenario 2. 

Appeals take 20 weeks to be heard once 
registered 
 

Scenario 2: Tribunal appeal without mediation 

1 
2 

3 

4 

5 

1 6/2 

 

7/3 

Page 335



 

264 

11.59 The young person or parent making the appeal and the local authority should both 
receive a copy of the Tribunal's decision and reasons by post within 10 working 
days of the hearing. Along with the decision notice the Tribunal will send a leaflet 
which will explain the application process for permission to appeal the Tribunal 
decision to the Upper Tribunal, if the appellant considers that the decision made 
was wrong in law. Local authorities can also appeal to the Upper Tribunal on the 
same grounds. 

11.60 Step-by-step guidance on the process of appealing to the Tribunal and what it 
involves can be found at the Ministry of Justice website – a link is given in the 
References section under General. 

Legal aid 
11.61  If a parent or young person has decided to appeal, legal aid may be available to 

assist with that appeal. Legal aid can fund legal advice and assistance in 
preparing an appeal to the Tribunal, but not representation at the Tribunal.  

11.62 Before someone can be granted legal aid they must pass a financial means 
assessment. The case must also satisfy a merits test of whether it has a 
reasonable chance of succeeding.  

11.63 If the parent or young person’s appeal to the Tribunal is unsuccessful, and they 
wish to mount a further appeal to the Upper Tribunal (or beyond to the Court of 
Appeal or Supreme Court), then legal aid can provide advice, assistance and 
representation, subject to the means and merits tests being met. 

11.64 Legal aid for disability discrimination cases may also be available on the same 
basis set out above.  

11.65 A parent or young person seeking access to legal aid for an SEN case or disability 
discrimination case should go to the legal aid checker on the GOV.UK website to 
find out if they are eligible or contact the Civil Legal Advice (CLA) service on 0845 
345 4 345. A link to the checker is given in the References section under Chapter 
11. If a person is eligible, the CLA will provide legal advice, normally by phone, 
online or by post unless the specialist advice provider assesses them as 
unsuitable to receive advice in this way. Decisions are taken by the Director of 
Legal Aid Casework on a case-by-case basis. As a civil servant, the Director acts 
independently of the Lord Chancellor. 

  

Page 336



 

265 

11.66 The following groups do not have to apply via CLA – they can seek advice directly 
from a face- to-face provider:  

• young people under 18, and  

• those assessed by the CLA in the previous 12 months as requiring face-
to-face advice, who have a further linked problem, and are seeking 
further help from the same face-to-face provider 

Complaints procedures 
Early education providers’ and schools’ complaints procedures 

11.67 The Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) Statutory Framework requires all 
registered childcare providers to have a complaints procedure.  

11.68 For childcare provision registered with Ofsted concerns should be raised directly 
with the manager or provider in the first instance. For complaints in writing the 
nursery provider must respond within 28 days. Where the childcare provision is 
run by a school, the school's complaints procedure should be used.  

11.69 All state-funded schools are required to have a procedure to deal with complaints 
and to publish details of their procedure. The governing bodies of maintained 
schools should make efforts to ensure that anyone who wishes to make a 
complaint, including a complaint in relation to children and young people with 
SEN, whether they have EHC plans or not, is treated fairly, given the chance to 
state their case, provided with a written response (including the rationale for any 
decisions) and informed of their appeal rights. If the complainant remains 
concerned after following the local complaints procedure, he or she could ask the 
Department for Education’s School Complaints Unit to take up the matter.  

11.70 Further details on making complaints to the Department about schools are 
available from the GOV.UK website – a link is given in the References section 
under Chapter 11. 

11.71 The proprietors of academies, free schools and independent schools must, under 
the Education (Independent School Standards) Regulations 2010,ensure that a 
complaints procedure is drawn up which is in writing and is made available to 
parents. The procedure must allow for a complaint to be considered informally in 
the first instance and then, if the parent remains dissatisfied, there should be a 
formal procedure for the complaint to be made in writing. If the parent is still 
dissatisfied the complaint can then be heard in front of a panel of at least three 
people one of whom must be independent of the management and running of the 
school. Should the parent still not be satisfied they can complain, in the case of 
academies and free schools, to the Education Funding Agency (EFA) acting on 

Page 337



 

266 

behalf of the Secretary of State, or, in the case of independent schools, to the 
Secretary of State directly. Both the EFA and the Secretary of State will look at 
whether the school handled the complaint properly, rather than the substance of 
the complaint. Further details on making a complaint to the EFA about academies 
and free schools are also available at the website address given in the previous 
paragraph. 

11.72 Early years and schools complaints procedures are available for use in relation to 
children and young people who have SEN but without EHC plans.  

Complaints to the Secretary of State 
11.73 If disagreements have not been resolved at the local level, under sections 496 and 

497 of the Education Act 1996 complaints can be made to the Secretary of State 
for Education that either the governing body of a maintained school or a local 
authority has acted unreasonably or has failed to carry out one of its duties under 
the Education Acts, including their SEN duties. The Secretary of State can also 
consider complaints about disability discrimination in relation to a pupil at a school 
by virtue of Section 87 of the Equality Act 2010. Sections 496 and 497 of the 
Education Act 1996 apply only to maintained schools, not other state-funded 
schools or independent schools. 

11.74 Unreasonableness has been defined by the Courts as acting in a way in which no 
reasonable governing body or local authority would have acted in the 
circumstances.  

11.75 The Secretary of State can issue directions about the exercise of a power or the 
performance of a duty by the governing body of a maintained school or a local 
authority. Any directions the Secretary of State issues must be ‘expedient’ – that 
is, the direction can make a material difference in remedying the matter. The 
Secretary of State would not intervene in a case where there is another avenue of 
redress, such as the Tribunal.  

Complaints to Ofsted 
11.76 Ofsted can consider complaints from parents and others about early years 

providers and schools, but only where the complaint is about the early years 
provision or the school as a whole rather than in relation to individual children, and 
where the parent or other complainant has tried to resolve the complaint through 
the early years provider’s or school’s own complaints procedure.  

11.77 Further information about complaints to Ofsted about early years or childcare 
provision can be found at Ofsted’s website – a link is given in the References 
section under Chapter 11. 

Page 338



 

267 

11.78 Further details about school complaints can be found at Ofsted’s website – a link 
is given in the References section under Chapter 11. 

11.79 Examples of circumstances where complaints might relate to the school as a 
whole include: 

• the school not providing a good enough education 

• the pupils not achieving as much as they should, or their different needs 
not being met 

• the school not being well led and managed, or wasting money 

• the pupils’ personal development and wellbeing being neglected 

11.80 Ofsted can respond to a complaint that relates to the whole school by bringing 
forward an inspection, or it could decide to look at the matters raised when next 
inspecting the school. 

11.81 Complainants can contact Ofsted on 08456 404045 or by email 
enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

11.82 Complainants can make a formal complaint by writing to: 

Enquiries 
National Business Unit 
Ofsted 
Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 
Manchester M1 2WD 

Post-16 institution complaints  
11.83 Complaints at general further education colleges can be made informally to the 

teacher or the Principal, or through the college’s formal complaints procedure. If 
the complainant is dissatisfied after going through the college’s own procedure 
they can take this up with the Skills Funding Agency. A copy of the Skills Funding 
Agency’s procedure for handling complaints made against colleges is available on 
their website – a link is given in the References section under Chapter 11. 

11.84 Complaints at sixth form colleges and some other Education Funding Agency 
(EFA)-funded providers can be made informally to the teacher or the Principal, or 
through the college’s formal complaints process. If the complainant is dissatisfied 
after going through the provider’s own procedure they can take this up with the 
EFA. A copy of the EFA’s procedure for handling complaints is available on the 
GOV.UK website – a link is given in the References section under Chapter 11. 

Page 339

mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk


 

268 

Local Authority complaints procedures 
11.85 Some, but not all, local authorities offer a service that investigates the way in 

which a complaint was handled by a local authority maintained school. This may 
form part of a school’s complaints procedure. 

11.86  All local authorities have responsibility to consider complaints about decisions 
made in relation to the following:  

• admission to schools (except in Voluntary Aided Schools) 

• EHC needs assessments 

• exclusion of pupils from schools  

• child protection/allegations of child abuse 

• complaints about the action of the Governing Body, and  

• school transport 

11.87 The Local Offer will make clear whether a particular local authority offers this 
service. 

11.88 The Local Government Ombudsman provides ‘top tips’ for making a complaint to a 
local authority on its website – a link is provided in the References section under 
Chapter 11. 

Local Government Ombudsman 
11.89 The Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) can investigate complaints against 

local authorities where the complaint has not been resolved by the local authority’s 
complaints procedure. The LGO investigates the process by which local authority 
decisions were made and whether there has been maladministration, rather than 
examining the merits of a decision which has been properly taken. The LGO will 
decide whether there has been an injustice to the complainant and/or there is 
evidence of maladministration. Maladministration can include delay, failure to take 
action and failure to follow procedures. The LGO does not investigate the merits of 
decisions which have been properly taken, but which the complainant thinks are 
wrong, but does look at the decision-making process and the delivery of provision 
set out in EHC plans. 

11.90 The LGO does not investigate matters which can be appealed to the Tribunal, 
such as a decision not to carry out an assessment (see paragraph 11.45). The 
LGO can investigate complaints that the special educational provision set out in 
EHC plans is not being delivered and, in doing so, can investigate what part the 

Page 340



 

269 

school may have played in the provision not being delivered. (The LGO cannot, 
otherwise, investigate complaints about schools’ SEN provision and has no 
powers to make recommendations to a school.) In association with the 
Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO), the LGO can also 
investigate complaints about the delivery of health provision set out in plans. As 
set out in the previous paragraph, the LGO, in association with the PHSO with 
regard to health, does not investigate the merits of a decision which has been 
properly taken, but does look at the decision-making process and the delivery of 
provision set out in EHC plans. 

11.91 Complaints can be made to the Local Government Ombudsman via its website – a 
link is given in the References section under Chapter 11. Help in making 
complaints is available on this number: 0300 061 0614. 

11.92 Alternatively, complaints can be made in writing to the following address: 

PO Box 4771 
Coventry 
CV4 0EH 

11.93 If the LGO finds evidence of fault in the way a decision has been made, it will 
generally ask the local authority to reconsider the decision and consider if other 
remedies are available. Where there is evidence of systemic failings, LGO 
recommendations could include review of systems, policy and procedures. In 
addition, if during the course of an investigation the LGO identifies other children 
who are similarly affected they can widen the scope of their investigation to 
include them. 

11.94 The LGO cannot make local authorities carry out its recommendations following 
investigation of a complaint but in practice authorities almost always do so.  

The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman 

11.95 The role of the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) is to 
investigate complaints that individuals have been treated unfairly or have received 
a poor service from government departments and other public organisations in the 
UK, and the NHS in England. 

11.96 The PHSO can investigate complaints about the commissioning and provision of 
healthcare. As mentioned in paragraph 11.90, the PHSO can conduct joint 
investigations with the LGO where a complaint includes concerns about the 
delivery of the health provision in EHC plans. They will normally investigate a 
complaint only once the NHS organisation has had a chance to resolve the issue 
first.  

Page 341



 

270 

11.97 The PHSO can also investigate a number of other organisations which have to 
have regard to this Code: Ofsted, the Education Funding Agency, the Skills 
Funding Agency, and the Department for Education (including its School 
Complaints Unit and the Secretary of State for Education). The PHSO will 
generally expect the individual to have completed the organisation’s own 
complaints procedure first. Complaints about government departments and public 
organisations must be referred by an MP. If someone has any difficulties getting 
in touch with an MP, they can contact the PHSO for help. 

11.98 The PHSO can investigate complaints that the Tribunal’s administrative staff have 
got something wrong or acted in an unreasonable manner, although they cannot 
look into the actions of Tribunal members or the decisions made by the Tribunal. 
PHSO would generally expect the complaint to have been made to Her Majesty’s 
Courts and Tribunals Service first. These complaints will also need to be referred 
by an MP.   

11.99 More information on the role of the PHSO is available from their website – a link is 
given in the References section under Chapter 11. 

Judicial review 
11.100 Parents and young people can make an application to the Administrative Court for 

Judicial Review. The Administrative Court can consider decisions of local 
authorities in the exercise of their duties including decisions on special education 
for children and young people. For example, a judicial review in relation to EHC 
plans would be a review of the way in which decisions that are reflected in the 
plan were made rather than the content of these decisions. An application for 
judicial review will be considered only once all other options for remedy have been 
exhausted. Any application for judicial review is time bound. Guidance on making 
an application for Judicial Review is available from the Ministry of Justice website 
– a link is given in the References section under Chapter 11.  

NHS Complaints 
11.101 The NHS complaints arrangements cover the health services which a child or 

young person receives under an EHC plan. A complaint may be made to a service 
provider (for example, the NHS Hospital Trust), where there are concerns about 
the service provided, or to the CCG, where there is a concern about the way in 
which a service is commissioned or provided, and this might include concerns 
about the appropriateness of the services in an EHC plan.  

11.102 Local Healthwatch has a statutory role to provide patients with advice on how to 
take forward a complaint, or resolve an issue (local Healthwatch may also notify 
Healthwatch England of concerns which need to be considered at a national 

Page 342



 

271 

level). Contact details for local Healthwatch are available on the Healthwatch for 
England website and should also be available with the Local Offer – a link to the 
Healthwatch for England website is provided in the References section under 
Chapter 11. 

11.103 Each CCG will have available information about its complaints arrangements and 
will deal with complaints about any of its functions (providers of NHS services will 
have patient advice and liaison services, and handle complaints about the 
services they provide). Just as the arrangements for commissioning services for 
SEN integrate the contributions of education, health and care, so the local 
authority and CCG should consider integrating their arrangements for providing 
patient advice, liaison and complaints handling in this area. Support in making a 
complaint about health services can also be provided by NHS Complaints 
Advocacy Services (each local authority will have details of services in their own 
local areas). 

11.104 If a complainant is dissatisfied with the way in which the NHS has dealt with their 
complaint, they can contact the PHSO, though usually the NHS will need to have 
had a chance to resolve it locally. In line with the Ombudsman’s Principles of 
Good Administration, in considering a complaint in relation to health services in an 
EHC plan, the Ombudsman will take into account this Code of Practice, and 
relevant legislation.  

Complaints about social services provision 
11.105 The Children Act 1989 places a duty on children’s social care services to 

safeguard and protect children. Someone who is unhappy with the way in which 
they or their family have been treated by these services, including during EHC 
needs assessments and the drawing up of plans, has the right to make a formal 
complaint under the ‘Local Authority Complaints Procedure’. They can write to 
either the Director of Children’s Services or the Designated Complaints Officer for 
the local authority concerned. The authority must then consider the complaint, 
appointing at least one person independent of the local authority to take part in 
dealing with the issues raised and provide the complainant with a written response 
within 28 days. 

11.106 If the complainant is unhappy with the authority's response, they can request a 
panel hearing by writing to the authority within 28 days of the response. The panel 
should be chaired by an independent person. If the complainant remains 
dissatisfied with the handling of their complaint under the local procedures and 
they think a local authority has treated them unfairly as a result of bad or inefficient 
management (‘maladministration’), and that this has caused them injustice (such 
as loss, injury or upset), they can refer their complaint to the Local Government 

Page 343



 

272 

Ombudsman (LGO). See Local Government Ombudsman, paragraphs 11.89 to 
11.94.  

11.107 Young people aged 18 and over can complain under regulations which prescribe:  

• a procedure before investigation, and 

• an investigation and response process 

11.108 The provider must acknowledge the complaint within three days and they must 
offer the complainant the opportunity to discuss the timing and procedure for 
resolving the complaint. Once that has been agreed, the complaint must be 
investigated and, as soon as possible after completing the investigation, a written 
report must be sent to the complainant explaining how the complaint has been 
considered, the conclusions of the report and any remedial action which has been 
taken or is proposed to be taken. 

11.109 A complainant who is dissatisfied with the outcome of this process can also take 
their case to the Local Government Ombudsman. 

11.110 Parents and young people who wish to complain about the way in which their 
concerns about the social care elements of EHC plans have been dealt with can 
use these complaint procedures whether they go to mediation about the social 
care elements of the plan or not. 

11.111 From 2016 there will also be a new system for appealing local authority decisions 
made under part 1 of the Care Act. This will be detailed in future updates to 
Statutory Guidance on the Care Act 2014. 

  

Page 344



 

273 

Annex 1:  Mental Capacity 
Young people over compulsory school age have the right to participate in 
decisions about the provision that is made for them and be consulted about 
provision in their areas, although there is nothing to stop them asking their 
parents, or others to help them make the decision. However, some young people, 
and possibly some parents, will not have the mental capacity to make certain 
decisions. Provision is made in the Children and Families Act to deal with this. 
Under the Act, lacking mental capacity has the same meaning as in the Mental 
Capacity Act (MCA) 2005. A separate Code of Practice provides guidance on how 
the MCA works on a day-to-day basis. Professionals and anyone who is paid for 
the work they do with someone who lacks capacity has a duty to ‘have regard’ to 
that Code. The Code is available from the Ministry of Justice website – a link is 
given in the References section under Annex 1.   

In cases where a person lacks mental capacity to make a particular decision, that 
decision will be taken by a representative on their behalf. The representative will 
be a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection, or a person who has a lasting or 
enduring power of attorney for the person. In the case of a young person who 
does not have such a representative, the decision will be taken by the young 
person’s parent. It is also likely that where a young person does have a 
representative, that representative will be the young person’s parent. Therefore in 
most cases, where a young person lacks capacity, decisions will be taken on their 
behalf by their parent. However, it is important that people are helped to make 
decisions themselves wherever possible.  

The MCA sets out five key principles which must underlie everything someone 
does in relation to someone who may lack capacity to make some decisions. The 
five key principles are:  

• It should be assumed that everyone can make their own decisions 
unless it is proved otherwise 

• A person should have all the help and support possible to make and 
communicate their own decision before anyone concludes that they lack 
capacity to make their own decision 

• A person should not be treated as lacking capacity just because they 
make an unwise decision 

• Actions or decisions carried out on behalf of someone who lacks 
capacity must be in their best interests 

• Actions or decisions carried out on behalf of someone who lacks 
capacity should limit their rights and freedom of action as little as 
possible 

Page 345



 

274 

If there is doubt about a person’s mental capacity, consideration needs to be given 
as to whether the person lacks capacity to make that particular decision, as they 
may have capacity to make some decisions but not others. This does not 
necessarily mean that a person’s mental capacity has to be reassessed each time 
a decision needs to be taken. If there is a reasonable belief that the person lacks 
the capacity to make a decision based on prior knowledge of that person then the 
decision can be made by a parent or representative, as appropriate. Subject to 
the principles above, there are four key questions to consider in determining 
whether someone is able to make a decision: 

• Can the person understand information relevant to the decision, 
including understanding the likely consequences of making, or not 
making the decision? 

• Can they retain this information for long enough to make the decision? 

• Can they use and weigh the information to arrive at a choice? 

• Can they communicate their decision in any way? 

If the answer to any of these questions is ‘no’ (bearing in mind that if an 
individual needs a lot of support to make and communicate a decision it 
does not mean they are incapable of making a decision) then the person lacks 
capacity to make that decision at that time. 

The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 specify the 
particular occasions when a representative or parent has to act on behalf of a 
young person who lacks capacity or a representative if the child or young person’s 
parent lacks capacity.  

There are some occasions when a local authority must take account of the views 
of the young person as well as any representative. These are when the local 
authority is:  

• having regard to the views and wishes of a child, the child’s parent or a 
young person when carrying out its functions under Part III of the Act 
(Section 19) 

• consulting children, their parents and young people when carrying out its 
duty to keep education and care provision for disabled children and 
young people and those with SEN under review (Section 27) 

• publishing the comments of children, their parents and young people 
about its Local Offer and involving these people in preparing and 
reviewing the Local Offer (Section 30), and  

Page 346



 

275 

• arranging for information and advice to be provided to children, their 
parents and young people and taking steps to make information and 
advice services known to those people (Section 32) 

The Regulations also specify the following occasions when the local authority 
considers the views of the representative instead of the parent or young person. 
These are where the child’s parent or young person is:  

• expressing their wishes, being notified, consulted and copied documents, 
agreeing or taking decisions in relation to needs assessments, 
re-assessments and EHC plans (Sections 33, 36, 38, 39, 40, 42 and 44) 

• being admitted to special provision where they do not have an EHC plan 
(Section 34) 

• requesting a Personal Budget (Section 49) 

• appealing to the Tribunal (Section 51) 

• participating in mediation and resolving disagreements (Sections 52, 53, 
54, 55, 56 and 57) 

• being consulted about making special educational provision otherwise 
than in a school or post-16 institution (Section 61) 

• being informed that special educational provision is being made for them 
or their child (Section 68) 

• similar provisions in relation to detained persons 

Further advice about the MCA is available from the Ministry of Justice website – a 
link is given in the References section under Annex 1. 

  

Page 347



 

276 

Annex 2:  Improving practice and staff training in 
education settings 
Early years providers, schools and colleges are responsible for deciding what 
external support to seek and for setting their own priorities for the continuous 
professional development of their staff. The support described in this guidance 
can be delivered most effectively in education settings which adopt structured 
approaches to engaging parents and children, tracking and measuring progress of 
pupils with SEN, and where there is a good level of knowledge across all staff of 
different types of SEN and suitable teaching approaches and interventions. Where 
a setting has a SENCO, they should play an important role in advising on and 
contributing to the broader support provided by schools and the professional 
development of other teachers and staff. 

A range of organisations offer support and training to schools  on overall 
identification and teaching approaches for pupils with SEN as well as on specific 
conditions. 

Many aspects of the approach set out in Chapter 6 draw on learning from the 
piloting and subsequent work of Achievement for All (www.afa3as.org.uk). This 
demonstrates that when a whole-school approach to supporting pupils with SEN is 
taken, along with effective engagement with parents, there can be a clear impact 
on attainment.  

Schools, colleges and early years providers who need to improve the knowledge 
and skills of staff in relation to specific conditions can access information, advice 
and training materials that have been developed through the Department for 
Education’s voluntary and community sector grants programme. NASEN provides 
a SEN Gateway that enables access to a broad range of materials and support 
services across the range of SEN (www.sendgateway.org.uk).  

The Excellence gateway provides access to resources to support professional 
development in the FE and Skills sector (www.excellencegateway.org.uk).  

Early Support provides a range of information materials to families and 
professionals www.ncb.org.uk/earlysupport. 

The following organisations provide advice, information and training on specific 
impairments: 

• The Autism Education Trust for children and young people on the Autism 
Spectrum (www.autismeducationtrust.org.uk) 

• The Communications Trust for speech, language and communication 
difficulties (www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk) 

Page 348

http://www.afa3as.org.uk/
http://www.sendgateway.org.uk/
http://www.excellencegateway.org.uk/
http://www.ncb.org.uk/earlysupport
http://www.autismeducationtrust.org.uk/
http://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/


 

277 

• The Dyslexia SpLD Trust on dyslexia and literacy difficulties 
(www.thedyslexia-spldtrust.org.uk) 

• The National Sensory Impairment Partnership for vision impairment, 
hearing impairment and multi-sensory impairment (www.natsip.org.uk)   

Each of these organisations is working with funding from the Department for 
Education to support the reforms to the SEN system. 

MindEd (www.minded.org.uk)  is an e-learning portal aimed at supporting all 
adults working with children and young people. It provides simple, clear guidance 
on children and young people's mental health, wellbeing and development.  

  

Page 349

http://www.thedyslexia-spldtrust.org.uk/
http://www.natsip.org.uk/
http://www.minded.org.uk/


 

278 

Glossary of terms 
Academy: A state-funded school in England that is directly funded by the 
Department for Education, through the Education Funding Agency. Academies are 
self-governing and independent of local authority control. 

Access to Work: An Access to Work grant from the Department for Work and 
Pensions helps to pay for practical support for young people and adults who have 
a disability, health or mental health condition so they can start work, stay in work 
or start their own business. It can pay for things like special equipment, fares to 
work if public transport is not practical, a support worker or coach in the workplace 
or a communicator at a job interview. 

Annual review: the review of an EHC plan which the local authority must make as 
a minimum every 12 months.  

Armed Forces Covenant: The armed forces covenant sets out the relationship 
between the nation, the government and the armed forces. It recognises that the 
whole nation has a moral obligation to members of the armed forces and their 
families and it establishes how they should expect to be treated. The Covenant 
states that the children of service personnel should have the same standard of, 
and access to, education (including early years services) as any other UK citizen 
in the area in which they live. 

Care Plan: A record of the health and/or social care services that are being 
provided to a child or young person to help them manage a disability or health 
condition. The Plan will be agreed with the child’s parent or the young person and 
may be contained within a patient’s medical record or maintained as a separate 
document. Care Plans are also maintained by local authorities for looked after 
children – in this instance the Care Plan will contain a Personal Education Plan in 
addition to the health and social care elements. 

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS): These services 
assess and treat children and young people with emotional, behavioural or mental 
health difficulties. They range from basic pastoral care, such as identifying mental 
health problems, to specialist ‘Tier 4’ CAMHS, which provide in-patient care for 
those who are severely mentally ill. 

Children and young people’s secure estate: This comprises three types of 
establishment – secure children’s homes, secure training centres and young 
offender institutions. 

Comprehensive Health Assessment Tool (CHAT): An assessment tool for 
young people in the youth justice system. It ensures that young people in the 
secure estate and in the community receive a comprehensive assessment of their 

Page 350



 

279 

physical and mental health, substance misuse and neuro-disability needs on entry 
to the system. 

Compulsory school age: A child is of compulsory school age from the beginning 
of the term following their 5th birthday until the last Friday of June in the year in 
which they become 16, provided that their 16th birthday falls before the start of the 
next school year. 

Disabled Students Allowance (DSA):  An allowance for undergraduate or post-
graduate students who have a disability or long-term health condition, mental 
health condition or specific learning difficulty such as dyslexia or dyspraxia which 
affects their ability to study. It can be used to pay for things such as special 
equipment, a note-taker or transport costs. 

Disagreement resolution: This is a statutory service commissioned by local 
authorities to provide a quick and non-adversarial way of resolving disagreements 
between parents or young people and bodies responsible for providing education, 
whether the child or young person has an EHC plan or not, or health and social 
care in relation to EHC assessments and plans. Disagreement resolution services 
can also be used in cases of disagreement between local authorities and health 
commissioning bodies during EHC needs assessments, the drawing up of EHC 
plans or the reviewing of those plans. 

Early Help Assessment: A social care assessment of a child and his or her 
family, designed to identify needs at an early stage and enable suitable 
interventions to be put in place to support the family. 

Early Support Programme: The Early Support Programme co-ordinates health, 
education and social care support for the parents and carers of disabled children 
and young people from birth to adulthood. A key worker is assigned to families 
that join the Programme. 

Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS): The foundation stage begins when 
children reach the age of three. Many children attend an early education setting 
soon after their third birthday. The foundation stage continues until the end of the 
reception year and is consistent with the National Curriculum. It prepares children 
for learning in Year 1, when programmes of study for Key Stage 1 are taught. 

Early years provider: A provider of early education places for children under five 
years of age. This can include state-funded and private nurseries as well as child 
minders. 

Education Funding Agency (EFA): An arm of the Department for Education that 
manages the funding for learners between the ages of 3 and 19 years and for 
those with SEN or disabilities between the ages of 3 and 25. The EFA allocates 
funding to 152 local authorities for maintained schools and voluntary aided 
schools. It is also responsible for funding and monitoring academies, University 

Page 351



 

280 

Technical Colleges, studio schools and free schools, as well as building 
maintenance programmes for schools and sixth-form colleges. 

Education, Health and Care plan (EHC plan): An EHC plan details the 
education, health and social care support that is to be provided to a child or young 
person who has SEN or a disability. It is drawn up by the local authority after an 
EHC needs assessment of the child or young person has determined that an EHC 
plan is necessary, and after consultation with relevant partner agencies. 

Elected members: The elected members of a county council or unitary local 
authority (as opposed to the salaried officials of the council or local authority). 
Some elected members have a lead responsibility for specific areas of policy, for 
example the Lead Member for Children’s Services.  

First-tier Tribunal (Special Educational Needs and Disability): An independent 
body which has jurisdiction under section 333 of the Education Act 1996 for 
determining appeals by parents against local authority decisions on EHC needs 
assessments and EHC plans. The Tribunal’s decision is binding on both parties to 
the appeal. The Tribunal also hears claims of disability discrimination under the 
Equality Act 2010. 

Free school: A free school is a type of academy, which is free to attend, but is not 
controlled by the local authority. Free schools receive state funding via the 
Education Funding Agency. Parents, teachers, businesses or charities can submit 
an application to the Department for Education to set up a free school.  

Further education (FE) college: A college offering continuing education to young 
people over the compulsory school age of 16. The FE sector in England includes 
general further education colleges, sixth form colleges, specialist colleges and 
adult education institutes. 

Graduated approach: A model of action and intervention in early education 
settings, schools and colleges to help children and young people who have 
special educational needs. The approach recognises that there is a continuum of 
special educational needs and that, where necessary, increasing specialist 
expertise should be brought to bear on the difficulties that a child or young person 
may be experiencing. 

Health and Wellbeing Board: A Health and Wellbeing Board acts as a forum 
where local commissioners across the NHS, social care and public health work 
together to improve the health and wellbeing of their local population and reduce 
health inequalities. The boards are intended to increase democratic input into 
strategic decisions about health and wellbeing services, strengthen working 
relationships between health and social care and encourage integrated 
commissioning of health and social care services. 

Page 352



 

281 

Healthwatch England: Healthwatch England is an independent consumer 
champion, gathering and representing the views of the public about health and 
social care services in England. It operates both at a national and local level and 
ensures the views of the public and people who use services are taken into 
account. Healthwatch England works as part of the Care Quality Commission. 

Healthy Child Programme: The Healthy Child Programme covers pregnancy and 
the first five years of a child’s life, focusing on a universal preventative service that 
provides families with a programme of screening, immunisation, health and 
development reviews, supplemented by advice around health, wellbeing and 
parenting. 

Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO): The appointment of an IRO is a statutory 
requirement for local authorities under the Adoption and Children Act 2002. IROs 
make an important contribution to the goal of significantly improving outcomes for 
looked after children. Their primary focus is to quality assure the care planning 
process for each child, and to ensure that his or her current wishes and feelings 
are given full consideration. 

Independent school: A school that is not maintained by a local authority and is 
registered under section 464 of the Education Act 1996. Section 347 of the Act 
sets out the conditions under which an independent school may be approved by 
the Secretary of State as being suitable for the admission of children with EHC 
plans. 

Independent supporter: A person recruited locally by a voluntary or community 
sector organisation to help families going through an EHC needs assessment and 
the process of developing an EHC plan. This person is independent of the local 
authority and will receive training, including legal training, to enable him or her to 
provide this support. 

Information, Advice and Support Services: Information, Advice and Support 
Services provide advice and information to children with SEN or disabilities, their 
parents, and young people with SEN or disabilities. They provide neutral and 
factual support on the special educational needs system to help the children, their 
parents and young people to play an active and informed role in their education 
and care. Although funded by local authorities, Information, Advice and Support 
Services are run either at arm’s length from the local authority or by a voluntary 
organisation to ensure children, their parents and young people have confidence 
in them. 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA): Joint strategic needs assessments 
(JSNAs) analyse the health needs of populations to inform and guide 
commissioning of health, wellbeing and social care services within local authority 
areas. The JSNA’s central role is to act as the overarching primary evidence base 
for health and wellbeing boards to decide on key local health priorities.  

Page 353



 

282 

Local Offer: Local authorities in England are required to set out in their Local 
Offer information about provision they expect to be available across education, 
health and social care for children and young people in their area who have SEN 
or are disabled, including those who do not have Education, Health and Care 
(EHC) plans. Local authorities must consult locally on what provision the Local 
Offer should contain.  

Maintained school: For the purposes of this Code, schools in England that are 
maintained by a local authority – any community, foundation or voluntary school, 
community special or foundation special school. 

Mediation: This is a statutory service commissioned by local authorities which is 
designed to help settle disagreements between parents or young people and local 
authorities over EHC needs assessments and plans and which parents and young 
people can use before deciding whether to appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal about 
decisions on assessment or the special educational element of a plan. Mediation 
can cover any one or all three elements of an EHC plan and must be offered to 
the parent or young person when the final plan is issued, but they are not able to 
appeal to the Tribunal about the health and social care aspects of the plan. 

National curriculum: This sets out a clear, full and statutory entitlement to 
learning for all pupils, determining what should be taught and setting attainment 
targets for learning. It also determines how performance will be assessed and 
reported. 

National Offender Management Service (NOMS): NOMS is an executive 
agency of the Ministry of Justice. It is responsible for the running of prison and 
probation services, rehabilitation services for prisoners leaving prison, ensuring 
support is available to stop people re-offending, contract managing private sector 
prisons and services such as the Prisoner Escort Service and electronic tagging, 
and contract managing 35 Probation Trusts. 

NHS Continuing Care: NHS Continuing Care is support provided for children and 
young people under 18 who need a tailored package of care because of their 
disability, an accident or illness. 

NHS Continuing Healthcare: NHS Continuing Healthcare is the name given to a 
package of care that is arranged and funded solely by the NHS for individuals 
aged 18 and over who are not in hospital but have complex ongoing healthcare 
needs. It can be provided in any setting, for example in the home or in a 
residential care home. 

NHS England: NHS England is an independent body, at arm’s length to the 
government and held to account through the NHS Mandate. Its main role is to 
improve health outcomes for people in England by providing national leadership 
for improving outcomes and driving up the quality of care; overseeing the 

Page 354



 

283 

operation of clinical commissioning groups; allocating resources to clinical 
commissioning groups, and commissioning primary care and specialist services. 

NHS foundation trust: NHS foundation trusts are not-for-profit corporations that 
provide NHS hospital, mental health and ambulance services. NHS foundation 
trusts are not directed by the Government, but are accountable to their local 
communities through their members and governors, to their commissioners 
through contracts and to Parliament through their annual report and accounts. 
Foundation trusts are registered with and inspected by the Care Quality 
Commission.  

NHS Mandate: The NHS Mandate is issued by the government to NHS England.  
It sets out the government’s ambition for the National Health Service and provides 
direction to NHS England. The mandate will be reviewed annually.  

NHS trust: NHS trusts are public sector bodies that provide community health, 
hospital, mental health and ambulance services on behalf of the NHS in England 
and Wales. Each trust is headed by a board consisting of executive and non-
executive directors, and is chaired by a non-executive director. 

Non-maintained special school: Schools in England approved by the Secretary 
of State under section 342 of the Education Acct 1996 as special schools which 
are not maintained by the state but charge fees on a non-profit-making basis. Most 
non-maintained special schools are run by major charities or charitable trusts. 

Ofsted: Office for Standards in Education, a non-Ministerial government 
department established under the Education (Schools) Act 1992 to take 
responsibility for the inspection of all schools in England. Her Majesty’s Inspectors 
(HMI) form its professional arm. 

Parent: Under section 576 of the Education Act 1996, the term ‘parent’ includes 
any person who is not a parent of the child, but has parental responsibility (see 
below) or who cares for him or her. 

Parent Carer Forum: A Parent Carer Forum is a group of parents and carers of 
disabled children who work with local authorities, education, health and other 
providers to make sure the services they plan and deliver meet the needs of 
disabled children and families. 

Parental responsibility: Parental responsibility is defined under Section 3 (1) of 
the Children Act 1989 as meaning all the duties, rights, powers, responsibilities 
and authority which parents have with respect to their children and their children’s 
property. Under Section 2 of the Children Act 1989, parental responsibility falls 
upon: 

• all mothers and fathers who were married to each other at the time of the 
child’s birth (including those who have since separated or divorced) 

Page 355



 

284 

• mothers who were not married to the father at the time of the child’s 
birth, and 

• fathers who were not married to the mother at the time of the child’s 
birth, but who have obtained parental responsibility either by agreement 
with the child’s mother or through a court order 

Under Section 12 of the Children Act 1989, where a court makes a residence 
order in favour of any person who is not the parent or guardian of the child, that 
person has parental responsibility for the child while the residence order remains 
in force. 

Under section 33 (3) of the Children Act 1989, while a care order is in force with 
respect to a child, the social services department designated by the order will have 
parental responsibility for that child, and will have the power (subject to certain 
provisions) to determine the extent to which a parent or guardian of the child may 
meet his or her parental responsibility for the child. The social services department 
cannot have parental responsibility for a child unless that child is the subject of a 
care order, except for very limited purposes where an emergency protection order 
is in force under Section 44 of the Children Act 1989. 

Personal Budget: A Personal Budget is an amount of money identified by the 
local authority to deliver provision set out in an EHC plan where the parent or 
young person is involved in securing that provision. The funds can be held directly 
by the parent or young person, or may be held and managed on their behalf by 
the local authority, school, college or other organisation or individual and used to 
commission the support specified in the EHC plan. 

Personal Education Plan: An element of a Care Plan maintained by a local 
authority in respect of a looked after child, which sets out the education needs of 
the child. If a looked after child has an EHC plan, the regular reviews of the EHC 
plan should, where possible, coincide with reviews of the Personal Education 
Plan. 

Portage: Planned, home-based educational support for pre-school children with 
special educational needs. Local authorities usually provide Portage services. The 
Portage service is named after the town of Portage, Wisconsin, USA. There is an 
active and extensive network of Portage services in the UK, developed by the 
National Portage Association, which provides a Code of Practice and accredited 
training. 

Pupil Referral Unit (PRU): Any school established and maintained by a local 
authority under section 19 (2) of the Education Act 1996 which is specially 
organised to provide education for pupils who would otherwise not receive suitable 
education because of illness, exclusion or any other reason. 

Page 356



 

285 

Service Children’s Education (SCE): SCE oversees the education of UK Service 
children abroad. It is funded by the Ministry of Defence and operates its own 
schools as well as providing advice to parents on UK and overseas schools. 

Special Educational Needs (SEN): A child or young person has SEN if they have 
a learning difficulty or disability which calls for special educational provision to be 
made for him or her. A child of compulsory school age or a young person has a 
learning difficulty or disability if he or she has a significantly greater difficulty in 
learning than the majority of others of the same age, or has a disability which 
prevents or hinders him or her from making use of educational facilities of a kind 
generally provided for others of the same age in mainstream schools or 
mainstream post-16 institutions. 

Special Educational Needs Co-ordinator (SENCO): A qualified teacher in a 
school or maintained nursery school who has responsibility for co-ordinating SEN 
provision. In a small school, the headteacher or deputy may take on this role. In 
larger schools there may be a team of SENCOs. Other early years settings in 
group provision arrangements are expected to identify an individual to perform the 
role of SENCO and childminders are encouraged to do so, possibly sharing the 
role between them where they are registered with an agency.  

Special educational provision: Special educational provision is provision that is 
different from or additional to that normally available to pupils or students of the 
same age, which is designed to help children and young people with SEN or 
disabilities to access the National Curriculum at school or to study at college. 

Special school: A school which is specifically organised to make special 
educational provision for pupils with SEN. Special schools maintained by the local 
authority comprise community special schools and foundation special schools, and 
non-maintained (independent) special schools that are approved by the Secretary 
of State under Section 342 of the Education Act 1996. 

Speech and language therapy: Speech and language therapy is a health care 
profession, the role and aim of which is to enable children, young people and 
adults with speech, language and communication difficulties (and associated 
difficulties with eating and swallowing) to reach their maximum communication 
potential and achieve independence in all aspects of life. 

Virtual School Head (VSH): The Virtual School Head (VSH) is an officer of a 
local authority who leads a virtual school team that tracks the progress of children 
looked after by the authority as if they attended a single school. The Children and 
Families Act 2014 requires every local authority to appoint an officer who is an 
employee of that or another authority to discharge this duty. 

  

Page 357



 

286 

Young person: A person over compulsory school age (the end of the academic 
year in which they turn 16). From this point the right to make decisions about 
matters covered by the Children and Families Act 2014 applies to the young 
person directly, rather than to their parents. 

Youth Justice Board (YJB): The Youth Justice Board for England and Wales is 
an executive non-departmental public body. Its board members are appointed by 
the Secretary of State for Justice. The YJB oversees the youth justice system in 
England and Wales, works to prevent offending and reoffending by children and 
young people under the age of 18 and ensures that custody for them is safe, 
secure and addresses the causes of their offending behaviour. 

Youth Offending Team (YOT): Youth offending teams are part of local authorities 
and are separate from the police and the justice system. They work with local 
agencies including the police, probation officers, health, children’s services, 
schools and the local community, to run local crime prevention programmes, help 
young people at the police station if they’re arrested, help young people and their 
families at court, supervise young people serving a community sentence and stay 
in touch with a young person if they’re sentenced to custody. 

  

Page 358



 

287 

References 

General 
These references are used many times across the Code and are therefore not 
repeated under individual chapters: 

Care Act 2014 
Children and Families Act 2014 
Education Act 1996 
Equality Act 2010 
First-tier Tribunal (Special Educational Needs and Disability) 
Office for Standards in Education (Ofsted) 
Pathfinder information packs 
Special Educational Needs (Personal Budgets) Regulations 2014 
Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 

Introduction 
Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 2 (Care Planning, 
Placement and Case Review) 
Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 3 (Planning Transition to 
Adulthood for Care Leavers) 
Equality Act 2010: Advice for Schools 
Mental Capacity Act Code of Practice: Protecting the Vulnerable 2007 
Reasonable adjustments for disabled pupils 2012:  
Supporting pupils at school with medical conditions 
Transition to the new 0-25 special educational needs and disability system (DfE 
guidance) 
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013 

Chapter 1: Principles 
Contact a Family 
National Network of Parent Carer Forums 
School Admissions Code of Practice 
United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities  
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 

  

Page 359

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
https://www.gov.uk/equality-act-2010-guidance#equalities-act-2010-legislation
http://www.justice.gov.uk/tribunals/send/appeals
http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/
http://www.sendpathfinder.co.uk/infopacks
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2014/9780111114056
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2014/1530/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placement-and-case-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-care-planning-placement-and-case-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-transition-to-adulthood-for-care-leavers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-transition-to-adulthood-for-care-leavers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/equality-act-2010-advice-for-schools
http://www.justice.gov.uk/protecting-the-vulnerable/mental-capacity-act
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/private-and-public-sector-guidance/education-providers/schools-guidance/key-concepts/reasonable-adjustments
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-pupils-at-school-with-medical-conditions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-managing-changes-to-legislation-from-september-2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children
http://www.cafamily.org.uk/parentcarerparticipation
http://www.nnpcf.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-admissions-code
http://www.un.org/disabilities/convention/conventionfull.shtml
http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CRC.aspx


 

288 

Chapter 2: Impartial information, advice and support 
Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS) 
Early Support Programme 
Family Information Services 
Information, Advice and Support Services Network – guidance on impartial 
information, advice and support 

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 

Chapter 3: Working together across education, health 
and care for joint outcomes 
Campbell Collaboration   
Child and Maternal Health Intelligence Network (ChiMat) 
Children Act 1989 
Children Act 2004   
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 
Cochrane Collaboration 
Commissioning support resources (BOND/Young Minds):  
Health and Social Care Act 2012 
Improving Children and Young People’s Health Outcomes: a system-wide 
response (Children and Young People’s Outcome Forum) 
In Control examples of approaches to Personal Budgets 
JSNA guidance 
Making it personal (Kids website) 
National Development Team for Inclusion (NDTI) 
National Health Service Act 2006 
Procurement, Patient Choice and Competition Regulations: guidance and 
hypothetical case scenarios (Monitor) 
Public health in local government – factsheet for local authorities 
Transforming Participation in Health and Care (NHS England) 
Who Pays? Determining responsibility for payments to providers (August 2013) 
Winterbourne Concordat 

Chapter 4: The Local Offer 
Access to Work fund (DWP) 
Breaks for Carers of Disabled Children Regulations 2011 
School Organisation (Maintained Schools) guidance (DfE) 

Page 360

https://www.gov.uk/childrens-education-advisory-service
https://www.gov.uk/help-for-disabled-child/early-support-programme
http://www.daycaretrust.org.uk/nafis
http://www.iassnetwork.org.uk/
http://www.nhs.uk/chq/Pages/1082.aspx?CategoryID=68
http://www.campbellcollaboration.org/
http://www.chimat.org.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1970/44/contents
http://www.cochrane.org/
http://www.youngminds.org.uk/training_services/bond_voluntary_sector/resources/commissioners/1333_commissioning_support_resource_catalogue
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/214928/9328-TSO-2900598-DH-SystemWideResponse.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/214928/9328-TSO-2900598-DH-SystemWideResponse.pdf
http://www.in-control.org.uk/what-we-do/children-and-young-people/useful-resources/resource-allocation-systems-(ras).aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/223842/Statutory-Guidance-on-Joint-Strategic-Needs-Assessments-and-Joint-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategies-March-2013.pdf
http://kids.ritdns.com/mip
http://www.ndti.org.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/contents
http://www.monitor.gov.uk/s75
http://www.monitor.gov.uk/s75
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216712/dh_131901.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/2013/09/25/trans-part/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/who-pays.pdf
http://tinyurl.com/WinterbourneConcordat
https://www.gov.uk/access-to-work/overview
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/short-breaks-for-carers-of-disabled-children
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools


 

289 

Chapter 5: Early years providers 
Statutory Framework for the Early Years Foundation Stage 
Early years outcomes guide 
Healthy Child Programme 
National Children’s Bureau 

Chapter 6: Schools 
Achievement for All 
Autism Education Trust 
Bullying guidance 
Communication Trust 
Data Protection Act 1998 
Dyslexia SpLD Trust 
I CAN – the children’s communications charity 
Mental Health and Behaviour Guidance (DfE) 

MindEd 
National Award for SENCO Co-ordination: learning outcomes 
National Sensory Impairment Partnership 
Provision mapping resources 
Social Care for Deafblind Children and Adults guidance 2009 (DoH) 
Supporting pupils at school with medical conditions 

Chapter 7: Further Education 
16 to 19 funding guidance (DfE)   
Disabled Students Allowance (DSA) 
Education Funding Agency (EFA) 
Higher Education Funding Council for England (HEFCE)   
Skills Funding Agency (SFA) 

Chapter 8: Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years 
16 to 19 study programmes: advice for further education colleges  
Access to Work (DWP)   
Autism Strategy 2014 
Care Act 2014 – Personal Budget Guidance (draft) 
Care Act 2014 – Transition Guidance (draft) 

Mental Capacity Act 2005 

Page 361

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/early-learning-and-childcare-guidance-for-early-years-providers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/giving-all-children-a-healthy-start-in-life
http://www.ncb.org.uk/earlysupport
http://www.afa3as.org.uk/
http://www.autismeducationtrust.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/preventing-and-tackling-bullying
http://www.thecommunicationtrust.org.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/29/contents
http://www.thedyslexia-spldtrust.org.uk/
http://www.ican.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-health-and-behaviour-in-schools--2
http://www.minded.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-award-for-sen-co-ordination-learning-outcomes
http://www.natsip.org.uk/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130903171627/http:/www.education.gov.uk/schools/pupilsupport/inclusionandlearnersupport/onetoonetuition/a00199972/provision-mapping
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Lettersandcirculars/LocalAuthorityCirculars/DH_101114
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-pupils-at-school-with-medical-conditions
https://www.gov.uk/16-to-19-education-funding-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/disabled-students-allowances-dsas/overview
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/education-funding-agency
http://www.hefce.ac.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/skills-funding-agency
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/16-to-19-study-programmes-advice-for-further-education-colleges
http://www.gov.uk.access-to-work/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/think-autism-an-update-to-the-government-adult-autism-strategy
http://careandsupportregs.dh.gov.uk/category/personal-budgets/
http://careandsupportregs.dh.gov.uk/category/transition/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents


 

290 

Mental Health Action Plan – Closing the Gap 2014 
Ordinary Residence Guidance 2013 (DoH) 
Participation of young people in education, employment and training (DfE 
guidance) 
Preparing for Adulthood 
Supported internships – DfE advice (2014) 

Chapter 9: Education, health and care needs 
assessments and plans 
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970 
Community Care, services for Carers and Children’s Services (Direct Payments) 
Regulations 2009 
Disabled Persons (Services, Consultation and Representation) Act 1986 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 
Information sharing for practitioners and managers (DfE) 
Local Government Act 1974 
National Health Service (Direct Payments) Regulations 2013 

Picture Exchange Communication System 
Support and aspiration – introducing Personal Budgets 

Chapter 10: Children and young people in specific 
circumstances 
Alternative provision guidance (DfE)   

Apprenticeships, Skills and Learning Act 2009 
Children and Young Persons Act 2008 
Children’s Education Advisory Service (CEAS) 
Comprehensive Health Assessment Tool (CHAT) 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
Designated Teacher (Looked After Pupils etc) Regulations 2009 
Education (Pupil Information) Regulations 2005 
Preparing for Adulthood Factsheet – ‘Links Between the Children and Families Act 
2014 and the Care Act’ 
Preparing for Adulthood 
Raising the Participation Age – useful information  
Standards for the healthcare of children and young people in secure settings 
(Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health) 

Page 362

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/281250/Closing_the_gap_V2_-_17_Feb_2014.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/252864/OR_Guidance_2013-10-01_Revised__with_new_contact_details_New_DH_template.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/participation-of-young-people-education-employment-and-training
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/participation-of-young-people-education-employment-and-training
http://www.preparingforadulthood.org.uk/what-we-do/supported-internships/access-to-work-fund
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/316676/Supported_internships.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1970/44/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/1887/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/1887/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1986/33
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/40/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/information-sharing-for-practitioners-and-managers
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1974/7/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1617/part/3/made
http://www.pecs-unitedkingdom.com/
http://www.in-control.org.uk/what-we-do/children-and-young-people/publications/children's-programme-publications/support-and-aspiration-introducing-personal-budgets.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alternative-provision
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/22/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/23/contents
https://www.gov.uk/childrens-education-advisory-service
http://www.ohrn.nhs.uk/OHRNResearch/CHAT
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
http://legislation.data.gov.uk/cy/uksi/2009/1538/made/data.htm?wrap=true
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1437/contents/made
http://www.preparingforadulthood.org.uk/resources/pfa-resources/factsheet-the-children-and-families-act-and-the-care-act
http://www.preparingforadulthood.org.uk/resources/pfa-resources/factsheet-the-children-and-families-act-and-the-care-act
http://www.preparingforadulthood.org.uk/what-we-do/supported-internships/access-to-work-fund
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/increasing-opportunities-for-young-people-and-helping-them-to-achieve-their-potential
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/cypss
http://www.rcpch.ac.uk/cypss


 

291 

Chapter 11: Resolving disagreements 
Care Act – Statutory Guidance (draft) 

Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006:  
Complaints about schools (DfE) 
Complaints to local authorities (LGO tips) 
Complaints to Ofsted about early years or childcare provision 
Complaints to Ofsted about schools 
Complaints to the EFA  
Complaints to the SFA 
Education (Independent School Standards) Regulations 2010:  
Exclusions guidance (DfE) 
Healthwatch for England 
Judicial review guidance (MoJ) 
Legal aid checker 
Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012:  
Local Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints (England) 
Regulations 2009 
Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) 
Ministry of Justice – Tribunal video 
Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO) 
Tribunal Procedure (First-tier Tribunal)(Health, Education and Social Care 
Chamber) Rules 2008 
Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007 

Annex 1: Mental Capacity 
Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MoJ)

Page 363

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/updating-our-care-and-support-system-draft-regulations-and-guidance
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/1738/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/complain-about-school
http://www.lgo.org.uk/making-a-complaint/submitting-a-complaint/top-tips/
http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/resources/information-for-parents-about-ofsteds-role-regulating-childcare
http://www.ofsted.gov.uk/resources/complaints-ofsted-about-schools-guidance-for-parents
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/education-funding-agency/about/complaints-procedure
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/skills-funding-agency/about/complaints-procedure
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/1997/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-exclusion
http://www.healthwatch.co.uk/
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/rcj-rolls-building/administrative-court/applying-for-judicial-review
http://www.gov.uk/check-legal-aid
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/10/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/309/resources
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/309/resources
http://www.lgo.org.uk/making-a-complaint/submitting-a-complaint/top-tips/
http://www.justice.gov.uk/tribunals/send/hearings/hearings-demo-videos
http://www.ombudsman.org.uk/
http://www.justice.gov.uk/tribunals/rules
http://www.justice.gov.uk/tribunals/rules
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/15/contents
http://www.justice.gov.uk/protecting-the-vulnerable/mental-capacity-act


 

292 

 

© Crown copyright 2015 

You may re-use this document/publication (not including logos) free of charge in 
any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0. 
Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to 
obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned. 

To view this licence: 

visit  www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3 
email  psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk 

About this publication: 

enquiries   www.education.gov.uk/contactus  
download  www.gov.uk/government/publications  

Reference: DFE-00205-2013 

  
Follow us on Twitter: 
@educationgovuk  

Like us on Facebook: 
facebook.com/educationgovuk 

 

Page 364

mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.education.gov.uk/contactus
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications
http://twitter.com/educationgovuk
http://www.facebook.com/educationgovuk


The Annual Report of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of 
Education, Children’s Services and Skills 2020/21

HC 867
Page 365



Page 366



Ofsted

The Annual Report of Her Majesty’s 
Chief Inspector of Education, 
Children’s Services and Skills 2020/21
Presented to Parliament pursuant to section 121 
of the Education and Inspections Act 2006.

Ordered by the House of Commons to be printed 
7 December 2021.

HC 867

Page 367



© Crown copyright 2021

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 
except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, 
visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need 
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at www.gov.uk/official-documents.

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 
Ofsted, Clive House, 70 Petty France, London SW1H 9EX, 
telephone 0300 123 1231 or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk.

ISBN 978-1-5286-2984-3

E02690552 12/21

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum

Printed in the UK by HH Associates Ltd. on behalf of the Controller 
of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office

Page 368

http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
http://www.gov.uk/official-documents


The Annual Report of Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector 2020/21

I have pleasure in presenting my Annual Report to Parliament, as required by the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006. 

This report addresses the full range of our inspection and regulation both in education and care. It is 
underpinned by evidence from our inspections of, and visits to, schools, colleges and providers of social 
care, early years and further education and skills. I also draw on findings from our research, evaluation, 
data and analysis this year. 

Our aim is to be a force for improvement in education and social care. As Chief Inspector, it is my priority 
to not only report on individual providers but to offer the national picture of education and care from 
Ofsted’s unique, independent view. This is in order, unwaveringly, to support improvement and raise 
standards for all children and learners in England. It has been a difficult year. In this report, I describe the 
impact that the pandemic had had on children and learners, and I recognise the hard work of teachers, 
leaders and social workers in responding to the challenges. I also highlight those areas where more can be 
done for the benefit of children and learners. 

I trust that this report will provide useful evidence to inform policies aimed at securing the very best 
futures for our children and learners. 

Copies of this report will be placed in the Libraries of both Houses.

Yours sincerely

Amanda Spielman 
Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector

Clive House 
70 Petty France, 
SW1H 9EX

7 December 2021

The Rt Hon. Nadhim Zahawi MP 
Secretary of State for Education 
Sanctuary Buildings 
Great Smith Street 
London 
SW1P 3BT

Page 369



Page 370



Contents

HMCI commentary ........................................................................................................................ 7

A wholly different year ................................................................................................................ 7

A slow start.................................................................................................................................. 9

Stuttering progress and heightened challenges ......................................................................... 10

Future prospects ......................................................................................................................... 11

Registered early years and childcare providers ........................................................................... 15

Schools ........................................................................................................................................... 25

Further education and skills ......................................................................................................... 43

Social care ...................................................................................................................................... 55

Area SEND ..................................................................................................................................... 73

Teacher education ......................................................................................................................... 81

Bibliography: Ofsted’s publications this year .............................................................................. 85

www.gov.uk/ofsted 5
Page 371



6 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills
Page 372



7www.gov.uk/ofsted

HMCI commentary
A wholly different year
This was a difficult year to be young, and a challenging time to be learning. In all phases of education 
in 2020/21, most children and young people have learned less than they normally would have done. 
For many, the loss of education, disrupted routine and lack of physical and other activities led to physical 
and mental health problems. Loneliness, boredom and misery became endemic among the young.

In a typical year, my Annual Report summarises the achievements and the challenges in education and 
social care. This year was not typical. The challenges were vast. And for too many, the achievements were 
disappointingly small, despite the tremendous effort and commitment of many thousands of parents, 
teachers, social workers and carers, and of course the hard work of children and learners doing their best 
in extraordinary circumstances.

It would be wrong to present this as some sort of collective failure of individuals or of institutions. 
The education and social care sectors have been under tremendous strain, and their staff have generally 
worked tirelessly in children’s interests. The pandemic presented brand new challenges for parents, 
teachers, social workers and carers. Their efforts deserve praise and there was plenty of excellent work to 
be found in the responses of schools, colleges, nurseries, children’s homes and local authorities. In every 
institution, leaders worked exceptionally hard, making rapid but difficult decisions and implementing 
them at speed.

Almost all children felt the impact of COVID-19 and the resulting restrictions to some extent. Many of 
the youngest children had their development and progress hampered, with some even regressing. Given 
the vital importance to children of a good start in life and the learning potential of the youngest children, 
this must not be overlooked.

In primary and secondary schools, children struggled with a hokey-cokey education: in the classroom, 
at home, separated in bubbles, isolating alone. Further education (FE) students and apprentices saw their 
classroom doors closed, their placements curtailed and their job prospects limited. And prisoners seeking 
a second chance through education were unable to leave their cells to learn.

Some children had additional barriers to overcome. Many of those with special educational needs and/
or disabilities (SEND) were not able to access the support they rely on. Family circumstances too often 
dictated how well children could learn from home. Sometimes this was about access to technology, 
but often it was about space, peace and quiet, or the availability of parents to supervise and help their 
children with schoolwork. Many vulnerable children disappeared from teachers’ line of sight. And children 
in care or in secure accommodation had their day-to-day challenges heightened by additional restrictions 
on their movements and contacts.

But the impact of COVID has not aligned neatly with patterns of vulnerability or deprivation. 
Nearly all children have been affected to some degree. Even many of the highest achievers struggled with 
motivation away from the discipline and structure of school. And even the best teachers found it hard 
to translate classroom instruction and inspiration into lessons with the same impact at the kitchen table.

We do not yet know the long-term effects of school closures. But it is very clear that in the 
understandable rush to protect us all, in the first lockdown the education of many of our children 
was to all intents and purposes put on ice. 

Page 373



8 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Normally, my Annual Report would be based on statistical evidence from our inspections. But for much 
of this year, the work we are best known for was suspended. We did not stop visiting, though when we 
had to, we worked virtually. And our work took another shape, one that allowed us to see first-hand how 
schools, colleges, nurseries and social care providers were reacting to the shifting situation. We produced 
reports on how each sector was responding to COVID; we also reported on remote education, and on the 
impact of restrictions on children with SEND.

As restrictions eased, we gradually rebalanced our work programme back towards inspection, alongside 
continuing our regulatory work. At all times, we prioritised children’s safety. Towards the end of the school 
year, this aim was brought into sharp focus when we were asked to review the issue of sexual abuse and 
harassment in schools – perhaps the single most impactful study we have ever published.1 It revealed how 
prevalent sexual harassment and abuse are for children and young people, particularly girls. We made 
changes to the way we inspect as a result, and the government accepted all our recommendations – 
for schools and colleges and for government itself.

1. ‘Review of sexual abuse in schools and colleges’, Ofsted, June 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-sexual-
abuse-in-schools-and-colleges.

Page 374

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-sexual-abuse-in-schools-and-colleges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-sexual-abuse-in-schools-and-colleges


9www.gov.uk/ofsted

A slow start
When schools returned in September 2020, teachers and pupils alike had to pick up the pieces after many 
months away from the classroom. Although many schools tried hard to provide remote education in the 
2020 summer term, they were operating without clear expectations from government. This meant that the 
extent and the quality of remote education were patchy even before access to technology, ability to study 
and basic motivation were taken into account. I drew the Select Committee’s attention to this absence 
of clear expectations at a hearing in April 2020, having already advised the Secretary of State that these 
were urgently needed.

By the autumn term, schools were under a clear obligation to provide remote education where necessary, 
with the hope being that further school closures could be avoided. Coming back to school was motivating 
for most children. School leaders reported that pupils were happy to be back and eager to learn. However, 
there was understandably a good deal of concern expressed about some children’s mental health on their 
return. Schools also reported unwanted physical side effects of lockdowns, including a general lack of 
stamina and fitness.

Our autumn visits to schools, early years settings and FE and skills providers highlighted learning gaps for 
older children and delays for the youngest. Our reports from these visits record that some young children 
had fallen behind in language skills, had struggled with the skills necessary to interact well with their 
peers socially and had lost physical dexterity and confidence through a lack of practice while confined 
to their homes.

Much post-16 education has a large practical component, which exacerbated the problems of remote 
education for these students. It is possible, if not ideal, to teach theory remotely. But it is extremely 
difficult and often impossible to provide practical tuition and experience away from college or the 
workplace.

There was much concern at the start of the school year about children at risk of harm or neglect, who 
had been away from the watchful eyes of their teachers. Children with known vulnerabilities had been 
encouraged by government to attend school throughout the ‘closure’ period, but relatively few of them 
did. Meanwhile, for the children who were not permitted to attend, there was often no way to spot signs 
that something was going wrong at home. This was concerning, given the context of rising demand for 
domestic abuse victim support services.

In the autumn term, the expected spike in referrals to social care did not materialise immediately. 
But numbers began to creep up, and more of the children being referred had significant or acute needs.

Children with SEND had a particularly difficult time both during lockdowns and on the general reopening 
of schools. Local services were often hard to come by. Although some children had benefited from remote 
education giving them the opportunity to study at their own pace, many others were undoubtedly falling 
further behind their peers without specialist support.

Page 375



10 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Stuttering progress and heightened challenges
The hope that further school closures could be avoided proved futile, with another period of closure to 
most pupils after Christmas. Teachers have in any case had to wrestle with hybrid schooling throughout 
the school year, with some children in school while others were isolating or ill. The introduction of 
‘bubbles’ as a containment measure (and the inconsistency of those groupings) often resulted in large 
numbers of pupils isolating at any one time. This made the challenge of remote education even more 
acute, with lessons needing to be pitched and paced for pupils in and out of school. Maintaining the flow 
and structure of a curriculum in these circumstances proved particularly difficult.

As well as this different form of attendance, there was a notable increase in the number of parents 
choosing to keep children at home.2 I remain concerned about the number of children apparently 
withdrawn from school to be home educated. While there has always been an energetic and enthusiastic 
home education community embracing parent-led schooling, the reality remains that the energy, time 
commitment and expertise needed to do the job well is beyond most parents’ capacity.

It is notable that parents of children with SEND were the most likely to keep their children out of school, 
because of concerns either about the virus or – justified or not – that the school was unable to meet their 
child’s needs.

Patterns of attendance at nurseries and other childcare providers have remained inconsistent. 
Some nurseries closed, often as a result of staffing shortages. Some parents, furloughed or working 
from home, made less use of childcare.

Given the practical and work-based skills elements of apprenticeships, it is unsurprising that this sector 
has been hit particularly hard during the pandemic. Many apprentices found themselves furloughed, 
or out of work altogether. The route back to work experience and practical training is proving slow.

Restrictions on movement were also highly disruptive for the social care sector, though we noted good 
work in children’s homes under COVID restrictions. Staff made good use of technology to help children 
remain in touch with families and other key people in their lives. However, in common with other sectors, 
staff shortages have been a problem at times.

In children’s homes, much good work is founded on strong and consistent relationships between staff 
and children. The need for staff to isolate meant that homes had to rely more on short-term replacements, 
where available. This undermined work with children, who were already frustrated by lockdown rules. 
In some cases, children were less safe as a result. In the worst cases, increased levels of anxiety led to 
self-harm or destructive behaviour.

Of all the areas we inspect and regulate, the worst practices and outcomes have long been found in 
prisons and secure provision for children and young people. Year after year, we have highlighted the 
deficiencies in prison education and the knock-on effect this has on the rehabilitation and reintegration 
of offenders. COVID restrictions in the secure estate – which includes young offender institutions and 
secure training centres (STCs) – have made a bad situation much worse.

2. ‘Elective home education survey 2020’, Association of Directors of Children’s Services, November 2020; https://adcs.org.uk/education/
article/elective-home-education-survey-2020. The ADCS estimated that 75,700 children and young people were being electively home 
educated in October 2020, a 38% increase from October 2019.

Page 376

https://adcs.org.uk/education/article/elective-home-education-survey-2020
https://adcs.org.uk/education/article/elective-home-education-survey-2020


11www.gov.uk/ofsted

The pandemic forced prisons to institute very significant restrictions on prisoners’ movement. Prisoners 
largely remained in their cells for as many as 23 hours a day. And even when it was theoretically possible 
to allow prisoners to attend lessons or training, staff shortages meant that they were not escorted to 
education rooms and facilities. Prisons provided packs for learning in cells, but these were a very poor 
substitute for in-person teaching and structured lessons. Prisoners lost motivation and floundered, 
especially those with learning difficulties, low levels of education or limited English.

Future prospects
This report looks back over the academic year to the summer of 2021. We have since moved into a 
new phase in what we all hope will be the national recovery from COVID and a resumption of normality. 
We all hope that children and learners will have a more normal experience in the current academic year – 
something that has been denied to them for so long. However, at the time of writing, the continuing high 
level of infections – symptomatic and asymptomatic – is still keeping many children out of school.

Through 2020, I repeatedly drew public attention to the harm lockdowns were causing children and the 
importance of children being able to go to school in person. This message needs repeating now. Although 
many children are necessarily out of school because of COVID or other illness, it is important that they 
attend every day that they possibly can. Attendance is rightly a long-standing focus of inspection and 
we are using our autumn 2021 inspections to look in greater depth at the patterns of absence from 
September onwards.

Page 377



12 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Much has been said and written about the need for academic catch-up, and it is clear that, overall, 
children have fallen behind. From our inspections, we’re beginning to see that schools that already had 
a well-planned and implemented curriculum have been best placed to assess and adjust their teaching 
to get children to where they need to be. There has also been significant additional funding for catch-up 
and tutoring programmes, although it is too early to assess their impact.

But for children to really regain a sense of normality in their lives and their education, we should not 
focus solely on bridging gaps in learning. Schools must once again become places where children can 
enjoy a rounded experience: a rich and broad curriculum, sport and physical activity, and extra-curricular 
opportunities that broaden their horizons.

We must continue with improvements that were in progress before the pandemic, and also see other 
reforms, such as of the SEND and children’s social care systems, taken forward. We have outlined some 
of these systemic improvements needed below. 

There is a need to improve the quality and consistency of teacher education to make sure that the new 
generation of teachers is set up for success in the classroom.

There is also a need to reform alternative provision (AP), removing the loopholes that allow so much of it 
to avoid regulation and oversight. We need to go deeper into the reasons why so many children sent to 
AP never return to mainstream schools. We need a better understanding of what happens to the children 
who are removed from school. And we need to find and close illegal schools, which are operating under 
the radar and out of sight of authorities. 

We need support for the most vulnerable children to return to pre-COVID levels, and from there to 
improve rapidly. For that to happen, we need the partnerships working across local areas to do better 
for the children who rely on them.

There are longer-term problems to be tackled too in the care system. Many of the concerns we 
highlight in this report are set to continue over the next 12 months, and there is no silver bullet for the 
long-standing sufficiency issues the sector faces. In the short to medium term, these problems may even 
be exacerbated by the ban on children under the age of 16 being placed in unregulated accommodation, 
which came into force in September 2021.

In the children’s homes market, we have seen conglomerates grow larger. We have also seen an imbalance 
in the number of homes across different regions in England – with very few children’s homes in the South 
West and East of England and many in the North West, for example. We hope the current Care Review will 
consider how best to address this imbalance of demand and supply.

Welcome initiatives such as Staying Put and Staying Close are still underdeveloped and not available 
to all care leavers. Outcomes and continuing support for care leavers also remain variable, although 
standards are being developed for semi-independent living for care leavers. In normal times, this is a huge 
challenge for vulnerable young people; in the current climate, the isolation of many care leavers needs 
to be addressed even more urgently. There is an urgent need to modernise the legislative frameworks for 
regulation while maintaining a strong focus on essential safeguards for children.

Page 378



13www.gov.uk/ofsted

The restrictions we have all had to live under, necessary as they may have been, nevertheless brought 
hardships to many. Children and learners faced more than their fair share.

In order to protect older generations, we asked the youngest generation to put their lives and education 
on hold. As we look forward with more optimism to the year ahead, we must strive to redress the balance.

In our favour is the resilience of children. Good, well-structured, face-to-face education will help most 
children catch up and close learning gaps. Daily routines, and the return of sport and extra-curricular 
activities, will help most children improve their mental and physical health. Where some children need 
a little extra help, they should get it. And children who need specialist care and support must not be 
left wanting.

Every generation gets one chance to enjoy its childhood and fulfil its potential. We must do all we can 
to make sure this generation is not denied its opportunity.

Amanda Spielman 
Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector

Page 379



14 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills
Page 380



15www.gov.uk/ofsted

Registered early years and childcare 
providers
The years between birth and starting school are important for lots of reasons. Children’s brains develop 
quickly, and they learn more rapidly between birth and five than at any other stage. The experiences 
children have at this time really count, whether at home, with a childminder or in a nursery.

This year, early years providers closed for part of the year except to vulnerable and key workers’ children, 
and demand for places remained low throughout the year. This means that many children missed out on 
the benefits of good-quality early education and care.

What we did this year
We did fewer inspections this year because routine inspection was suspended for much of it.3 
However, our regulatory and enforcement activity, including registration of new providers, continued.

In the autumn, we inspected providers on the Childcare Register.4 These inspections resulted 
in a compliance judgement as to whether the provider had met the legal requirements for registration 
rather than a graded judgement of quality.

We also visited childminders and nurseries to make sure that standards were being maintained and that 
there was safe and effective childcare.5 Similarly, these visits did not have an inspection grade, but we 
took regulatory action if needed. We published outcome summaries after each visit to reassure parents 
of the safety of their children while routine inspections were suspended.

We also carried out a programme of research interviews with a selection of early years providers and 
published three briefing notes to share our findings.6

We resumed on-site inspections under the education inspection framework (EIF) for registered early years 
providers in May. We prioritised providers:

	● judged less than good at their last inspection (including those that received an interim visit 
in the autumn term)

	● registered recently and that had not been previously inspected

	● whose first inspection was overdue

	● that were not inspected in the last inspection cycle due to the pause in routine inspection.

3. The Secretary of State wrote to HMCI on 25 March 2020 to pause routine inspection.
4. The Childcare Register is one of two registers introduced through the Childcare Act 2006. The Act sets out requirements that registered 

providers must meet. Ofsted is responsible for regulating and inspecting all those that are registered on the Childcare Register. The 
Childcare Register has two parts: compulsory, for those caring for children aged five to eight years old, including childminders, childcare 
on domestic premises and childcare on non-domestic premises; and voluntary, for those caring for children aged over eight years old, 
including childminders, childcare on domestic premises, childcare on non-domestic premises and home childcarers. For further details, 
see ‘Childminders and childcare providers: register with Ofsted’, Ofsted, October 2018; https://www.gov.uk/guidance/childminders-and-
childcare-providers-register-with-ofsted/the-ofsted-registers.

5. ‘Data on COVID-19 visits: registered early years providers’, Ofsted, November 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-
on-covid-19-visits-registered-early-years-providers.

6. ‘Ofsted COVID-19 series’, Ofsted, October 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series.

Page 381

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/childminders-and-childcare-providers-register-with-ofsted/the-ofsted-registers
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/childminders-and-childcare-providers-register-with-ofsted/the-ofsted-registers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-on-covid-19-visits-registered-early-years-providers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-on-covid-19-visits-registered-early-years-providers
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series


16 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

State of the nation
There are around 71,000 early years and childcare providers registered with Ofsted.7 Of these, around 
55,700 are registered on the Early Years Register and provide care and education for children aged 
between birth and five years old.

Ninety-seven per cent of all early years providers were judged either good or outstanding at their most 
recent inspection. This overall proportion of good or outstanding providers (97%) remains relatively 
unchanged since last year, which is to be expected as graded inspections were paused for most of the year 
due to COVID-19.

Figure 1: Overall effectiveness of early years providers: 31 August 2021

Nurseries and
pre-schools (15,700)

Childminders
(25,000)

All providers on
the Early Years

Register (40,900)

% Outstanding

% Good

% Requires improvement

% Inadequate

17 80 12

14 82 3 1

7622 11

Number of providers in brackets (rounded)

1. Includes inspections carried out by 31 August 2021 with a report published by 30 September 2021.
2. Childcare on domestic premises are not included because there are only a small number of providers.
3. Percentages are rounded and may not add to 100.

7. ‘Childcare providers and inspections as at 31 August 2021’, Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childcare-
providers-and-inspections-as-at-31-august-2021.

Page 382

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childcare-providers-and-inspections-as-at-31-august-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/childcare-providers-and-inspections-as-at-31-august-2021


17www.gov.uk/ofsted

Inspections this year
Figure 2: Overall effectiveness of early years providers at EIF inspections between May 2021 
and August 2021, by previous inspection grade

Previously good/
outstanding (210)

Previously requires
improvement/

inadequate (400)

Post-registration
inspection (1,120)

All full
Early Years Register
inspections (1,730)

% Outstanding

% Good

% Requires improvement

% Inadequate

6

7

4

5

77

81

74

60

9 8

7 5

12 10

2114

Number of providers in brackets (rounded)

1. Includes inspections carried out by 31 August 2021 with a report published by 30 September 2021.
2. Percentages are rounded and may not add to 100.

Of the 1,730 full inspections we carried out this reporting year, a large majority (65%) were ‘post-
registration’ inspections of providers whose first inspection was overdue, or that had recently registered. 
We found that 88% of providers were good or outstanding at their first inspections.

Of the Childcare Register inspections we did in 2020/21, 83% of providers met the requirements of 
registration. A higher proportion of childminders that were inspected did not meet the requirements 
(25%) compared with nurseries and pre-schools (11%).8

8. The term ‘nurseries and pre-schools’ is used throughout this report to describe childcare on non-domestic premises.

Page 383



18 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Challenges of returning to early years education post-lockdown
Many providers commented on how resilient and adaptable most children were; however, children who 
had experienced particularly challenging family circumstances found it harder to readjust.

Although some children had mastered new skills during the first national lockdown, we found many had 
fallen behind in key areas of learning. For example, 44% of providers interviewed for our research found 
that children’s personal, social and emotional development had fallen behind.9 As a result, many providers 
put more emphasis than usual on care practices and personal development. That said, some children 
actually returned happier, having spent more time with their parents.

There were also differences in children’s physical development. While some children had positive 
experiences at home during the first lockdown and were able to access outdoor space, for example, 
others did not. Many children who had less access to outdoor space had lost their physical confidence. 
For example, some were more hesitant about jumping off play equipment. As such, many providers took 
to using outdoor areas more frequently, promoting physical skills and stimulating more imaginative play 
during this period.

Most providers adapted their daily routines to give more time to emotional well-being, health and 
self-care. For example, many spent time teaching children about personal hygiene and independent 
self-care. Some adapted their curriculum in response to changes in children’s needs, refocusing the 
curriculum on areas in which children had fallen behind, for example mathematics and communication.

Though providers told us they were not able to offer all the usual activities and experiences because 
of COVID-19 restrictions, some said this had made them think more carefully about what they wanted 
the children to learn.

Children’s behaviour
Unsurprisingly, the first national lockdown disrupted routines, and some children were struggling to eat, 
play and learn to a fixed timetable. In addition to a disrupted routine, many children also needed to 
relearn social skills such as sharing and playing with each other nicely. However, some providers told 
us that some children with siblings at home to play with had actually improved their social skills.

Providers reported that some children were angry, some had shorter attention spans and were more 
difficult to engage, and some were less inquisitive. However, behaviour improved during the autumn 
term and most children were able to adapt to a learning pattern and more easily engage with activities.

9. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on early years, November 2020’, Ofsted, December 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ 
covid-19-series-briefing-on-early-years-november-2020.

Page 384

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-early-years-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-early-years-november-2020


19www.gov.uk/ofsted

Staff resilience and knowledge
Providers worked hard to prepare their staff to best support children as they returned. Some providers 
had trained their staff on areas such as speech and language, special educational needs and mental 
health, and others had provided training in conflict resolution and in how to keep two-year-olds engaged. 
Restrictions such as the introduction of ‘bubbles’ meant staff were able to get to know their children 
really well, but also meant they were not able to give their children the same levels of freedom as before.

Early years staff were more stressed and felt their work was more difficult than before the pandemic. 
Despite this, there was an increased appreciation of the importance of early years and many felt honoured 
to be working to support children during this time.

However, during inspections we noted that many staff in inadequate providers did not have the skills 
and training they needed. They also lacked high expectations for children’s learning.

In these providers, staffing levels and arrangements did not ensure that children were supervised 
effectively at all times. We saw children left to cry or not being adequately settled in the setting. 
There were several examples where this led to children’s safety being compromised.

Page 385



20 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Demand and attendance in early years
In the autumn term, providers operated with fewer children on roll. Providers in the most deprived areas, 
as well as those in London and the West Midlands, reported the lowest take-up of places.

Factors such as changes to parents’ employment patterns – including unemployment, furlough and 
working from home – are likely to have contributed to this reduction in demand for childcare. In addition 
to employment patterns, providers told us that some parents, particularly those with health concerns, 
were anxious about sending their children back to nursery.

Although providers adapted to these changes, many were concerned about the financial implications 
for their businesses as they face a longer-term fall in demand. Almost half of providers we spoke to in 
the autumn term rated financial difficulties among the top three challenges they faced, having absorbed 
additional costs (such as for personal protective equipment) alongside reduced income. Some said that 
government funding was an issue, including funding for increased numbers of children with SEND, 
and a few were worried about having to repay their government loan.

Looking ahead, we are concerned by some reports that disadvantaged children and those with SEND 
are less likely to be attending early years provision than before the pandemic.

There are also increasing numbers of summer-born children whose entry to Reception is deferred.10 
We will watch to see whether this pattern continues.

10. ‘Delayed school admissions for summer born pupils (2020)’, Department for Education, May 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/delayed-school-admissions-for-summer-born-pupils-2020.

Page 386

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/delayed-school-admissions-for-summer-born-pupils-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/delayed-school-admissions-for-summer-born-pupils-2020


21www.gov.uk/ofsted

Early years regulation
Our regulatory and enforcement activity, including registration of new providers, did not stop during 
the pandemic. In 2020/21, we carried out around 3,070 registration visits, 4% more than in 2019/20. 
Around two thirds of the visits in 2020/21 were to prospective childminders.

Joiners and leavers in the childcare sector

The number of active providers on our registers has been falling steadily since 2015.

Figure 3: Joiners and leavers in the childcare sector, 2015/16 to 2020/21

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

2020/212019/202018/192017/182016/172015/16

Joiners Leavers

1. Most leavers are provider resignations and most joiners are new provider registrations, but some will be providers moving between the 
Early Years Register and the Childcare Register.

2. Each estimate is built up from multiple reporting periods (between three and seven months long) for each year.

Between 1 September 2020 and 31 August 2021, there was a net decrease of around 4,360 providers. 
This was higher than the average across the last six years.

Most of this overall decrease is due to a substantial fall in the number of childminders. Childminders make 
up nearly half of all registered providers but numbers have decreased by 8% in the last year, compared 
with 5% in 2019/20. Meanwhile, numbers of nurseries and pre-schools have remained fairly stable.

Despite decreasing numbers of childminders, the number of childcare places has remained broadly 
stable since 2015. This is due to the increasing proportion of places offered by nurseries and 
pre-schools. However, in this reporting year the number of childcare places marginally decreased 
by around 9,920 (1%). On 31 August 2021, 1.3 million childcare places were offered by providers 
on the Early Years Register.

Page 387



22 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Childminder agencies

Childminders can also choose to register with childminder agencies (CMAs) rather than registering directly 
with us. CMAs are organisations that register childminders and provide them with training, advice and 
other types of support.

CMAs vary in size, with the largest having hundreds of childminders registered. Their numbers have 
been growing steadily since they were introduced in 2014. At the time of writing, and according to the 
information that CMAs have provided, around 760 childminders are registered with CMAs.

Complaints and notifications

In 2020/21, we received slightly more complaints about providers than last year (6,980 compared with 
6,640), despite the fact that fewer providers were operating. Around a third of complaints were about 
safeguarding or people’s suitability to care. We also received a substantially higher number of notifications 
from providers: 49,500 compared with 7,040 last year. Around three quarters of these were because 
providers were required to notify us of any confirmed cases of COVID-19 in their settings. But even 
allowing for this, notifications were much higher than the previous year. The remaining notifications 
were most often about changes that providers must notify us of (24%), or accidents and injuries (20%). 
Most risk assessments (80%) were made as a result of complaints or notifications related to nurseries 
and pre-schools.

Page 388



23www.gov.uk/ofsted

Regulatory visits

When we receive information from complaints or notifications, we make a risk assessment and decide 
whether we need to bring forward an inspection, make a regulatory visit or take other action.

We carried out around 8,070 regulatory visits over the last year compared with 4,740 visits in 2019/20. 
We did more regulatory visits this year because in some cases we made a regulatory visit when we would 
normally have made a full routine inspection in response to concerns. Of the 6,590 risk assessments handled 
by our regional regulatory teams, 16% resulted in enforcement action, down from 19% in 2019/20.

Cancellations and suspensions

We may suspend a provider’s registration when we reasonably believe that the continued provision of 
childcare may expose a child to a risk of harm. The suspension period allows for further investigation  
and/or the provider to take steps to reduce or remove any risk to children. There were 290 suspensions 
of childcare providers in 2020/21 compared with 200 in 2019/20. Of the 290 suspensions in the last year, 
one third resigned from our registers or were cancelled before the end of August 2021.

Most suspensions related to alleged abuse by someone living or working on childminder premises, 
and other serious concerns such as providers not taking the right action to notify relevant agencies 
of concerns about children, and unsuitable people having access to children.

Overall, around 3,920 childcare providers had their registration cancelled in 2020/21. Of these, 62 
cancellations were about serious issues such as unsuitable people, consistent failure to meet learning, 
development, safeguarding and/or welfare requirements, causing physical harm to children or leaving 
children unattended for significant periods of time. Other cancellations (98%) related to unpaid fees.

Page 389



24 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills
Page 390



25www.gov.uk/ofsted

Schools
The pandemic has unquestionably had an enormous impact on school children, their parents and those 
working in schools this year. Schools faced challenges with attendance, remote learning, curriculum 
planning, behaviour, pupils’ social, emotional and physical health, and of course having to close to 
most pupils during lockdowns. We found many examples of schools working hard to overcome these 
challenges, but they had a significant impact on children nonetheless.

State-funded schools
What we did this year

In autumn 2020, we carried out nearly 1,300 interim visits to schools to discuss their experiences since the 
first national lockdown and plans to manage their schools through the pandemic.11 These visits reassured 
and informed parents, government and the public about how schools managed the return to full 
education for all pupils. School leaders also told us that they found these visits supportive, saying that the 
discussion with Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) helped them reflect on their priorities during this difficult 
time. During the autumn term, we published monthly briefing notes summarising our findings.12

Although routine inspections were suspended, we carried out emergency visits when serious concerns 
were raised.13

Building on this work, from January 2021, we returned to inspection gradually with additional monitoring 
inspections of schools judged requires improvement or inadequate, most of which were carried out 
remotely.14 These were different from our normal monitoring inspections, as they focused on how schools 
were managing the impact of the pandemic in a period when most pupils were learning remotely. 

In the summer term, after a 12-month gap, we resumed full graded inspections, section 8 visits to good 
and outstanding schools, and in-person monitoring inspections of schools graded requires improvement 
or inadequate. In 2020/21 as a whole, the pandemic had a significant impact on both the type and 
number of inspections we carried out. We did 1,310 inspections, compared with 5,560 in 2018/19, 
the last full year’s data available before the pandemic.

State of the nation

There are nearly 22,000 state-funded schools. Eighty-six per cent of these were judged good or 
outstanding at their most recent inspection.15  This figure has not changed this year, which is to be 
expected because we did very few graded inspections. However, even before the pandemic, the picture 
had been stable, with 86% good or outstanding since August 2019.

11. ‘Data on COVID-19 visits: schools’, Ofsted, November 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-on-covid-19-visits-
schools.

12. ‘Ofsted COVID-19 series’, Ofsted, October 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series.
13. Across the 2020/21 year, we carried out 37 ‘no formal designation’ visits under section 8 powers, including 10 in the autumn term. Nine out 

of 37 converted to full section 5 inspections, but none of these were in the autumn term.
14. ‘State-funded schools inspections and outcomes as at 31 March 2021’, Ofsted, June 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/

state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-march-2021.
15. ‘State-funded schools inspections and outcomes as at 31 August 2021’, Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/

statistics/state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021.

Page 391

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-on-covid-19-visits-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-on-covid-19-visits-schools
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-march-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-march-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021


26 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Figure 4: Overall effectiveness of state-funded schools: 31 August 2021

Alternative provision
(330)

Special
(1,020)

Secondary
(3,320)

Primary
(16,700)

Nursery
(390)

All schools
(21,700)

% Outstanding

% Good

% Requires improvement

% Inadequate

19 67 10 3

63 35 2

17 71 9 3

20 56 16 7

38 52 55

18 66 10 6

Number of providers in brackets (rounded)

1. Percentages are rounded and may not add to 100.
2. Data includes the most recent judgements for predecessor schools that have not yet been inspected in their current form.
3. AP includes pupil referral units, academy AP and free school AP.

Attendance
For nearly all children this year, face-to-face attendance at school was affected by the pandemic. 
For most of the spring term, schools were closed to all but vulnerable children and children of key 
workers. In addition to lockdown, periods of self-isolation also limited many children’s progress. This was 
not spread evenly across different regions or phases. For example, in the autumn term, COVID-related 
absences were 4.4% in the South West compared with 8.8% in the North West.

In autumn 2020, children lost a lot of school time to COVID. COVID-related absence averaged 7%, on top 
of non-COVID-related absence of 4.7% (which was similar to 4.9% the previous year).16 This is 33 million 
days of lost schooling, an average of one week per pupil during the term. Sixty per cent of pupils lost 
face-to-face teaching time to COVID-related isolation.

16. ‘Pupil absence in schools in England: autumn term’, Department for Education, May 2021; https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.
uk/find-statistics/pupil-absence-in-schools-in-england-autumn-term. The standard absence rate (which is broadly comparable with earlier 
years) includes sickness (including COVID) and general absences, but excludes isolation as a result of a suspected case of COVID or contact 
with someone with COVID.

Page 392

https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/pupil-absence-in-schools-in-england-autumn-term
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/pupil-absence-in-schools-in-england-autumn-term


27www.gov.uk/ofsted

Table 1: COVID-related absences in state-funded schools, autumn term 2020
Region COVID-related absences (%)

North West 8.8

West Midlands 8.4

Yorkshire and the Humber 8.3

North East 7.9

Outer London 7.3

Inner London 6.9

East Midlands 6.7

South East 6.0

East of England 5.2

South West 4.4

England 7.0

1. Data shows COVID-related absences only. This includes pupils self-isolating and shielding, including when a class or bubble has been 
required to stay at home. Where a pupil was not attending in these circumstances, schools were expected to provide immediate access 
to remote education.

2. Pupils who tested positive for COVID-19 are not included above. They are included in the Department for Education’s main absence figure 
instead, alongside other types of illness.

3. See https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/pupil-absence-in-schools-in-england-autumn-term. 
Source: Department for Education

Page 393

https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/pupil-absence-in-schools-in-england-autumn-term


28 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Remote education

Remote education was a significant part of schooling in 2020/21. School staff worked hard on their 
remote offer, often drawing on external programmes such as Oak National Academy and BBC Bitesize.

However, a number of studies, both from home and abroad, have shown that children did not learn as 
much when learning remotely. One paper, on the Dutch primary school system, highlighted that pupils 
had made little or no progress while learning from home, despite the Netherlands supposedly having a 
high degree of technological preparedness.17 An Ofqual study found that, when assessed during autumn 
term 2020, primary school pupils were generally a month or two behind expectations.18

Keeping motivated while learning remotely was a struggle for many children. Thirty-nine per cent of parents 
who responded to a YouGov questionnaire said their child was not very engaged in remote learning.

17. P Engzell, A Frey and M Verhagen, ‘Learning inequality during the COVID-19 pandemic’, Center for Open Science, working paper, 2020; 
https://ideas.repec.org/p/osf/socarx/ve4z7.html.

18. ‘Learning during the pandemic’, Ofqual, July 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/learning-during-the-pandemic.

Page 394

https://ideas.repec.org/p/osf/socarx/ve4z7.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/learning-during-the-pandemic


29www.gov.uk/ofsted

Understanding what good remote education looks like was a priority during the pandemic. We published 
a short guide on what was working well in remote education based on our findings from interim visits 
of nearly 800 schools, in-depth interviews with school leaders from 25 schools, a survey of just over 
1,000 teachers and just over 2,000 parents, and a wider literature review.19,20 This guide set out some 
evidence-based tips and challenged some unhelpful myths about remote education.

Many dynamics of classroom teaching – such as pupils’ interactions, relationship-building, providing 
feedback, delivery of practical components of a lesson and other experiences – are not directly replicable 
in a remote environment. Schools had to make adaptations that were unlikely to be as effective for all 
children as face-to-face teaching.

Many schools viewed their remote approach as a work in progress and were improving as they went along. 
Assessment was a particular area that schools said they needed to think more about. It is more difficult 
to pick up on children’s misconceptions remotely as so much relies on expressions and body language. 
And giving quality feedback depends on the same mechanisms: the ability of a teacher to see pupils’ 
learning processes, understand their needs and suggest ways to improve in both daily activities as well as 
in summative assessments. Some school leaders and experts also talked about the difficulty of teaching to 
a class with some pupils physically present and some isolating, raising questions about curriculum equity.21

Our monitoring visits to requires improvement and inadequate schools found that many pupils still 
struggled with remote education, particularly those with SEND and those who speak English as an 
additional language. Many children struggled to stay motivated during the third lockdown, and this 
became progressively more difficult for them. Not all children had access to essential technology or quiet 
space at home. This, coupled with the ongoing challenges of remote teaching, contributed to widespread 
learning shortfalls.

19. ‘What’s working well in remote education’, Ofsted, January 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whats-working-well-in-
remote-education. The interim visits we made during the autumn term 2020 included questions for leaders on the remote education that 
each school was providing. In total, we analysed the evidence from 798 of these visits.

20. ‘Remote education research’, Ofsted, January 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-research.
21. ‘What’s working well in remote education’, Ofsted, January 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whats-working-well-in-

remote-education.

Page 395

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whats-working-well-in-remote-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whats-working-well-in-remote-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-research
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whats-working-well-in-remote-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/whats-working-well-in-remote-education


30 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Lost schooling and the breadth of the curriculum

The loss of in-person schooling affected children differently depending on their age and circumstances, 
and on the level of support they received at home and from school.

While many schools worked exceptionally hard to improve their remote learning over the year, we saw 
that even the most well-thought-out offer could not replicate classroom learning.

In primary schools, there was a widespread view that most pupils made little to no real progress over the 
summer of 2020, and that reading and mathematics were of particular concern.22 By November, most 
primary school leaders we spoke to in our interim visits had restructured their timetables to give extra 
time to English and mathematics. The extra time was being used to teach components that had not 
been taught during the first national lockdown and to revisit aspects that had not been well learned. 
Most primary schools had continued the teaching of phonics remotely and in person. However, they 
found it difficult to teach phonics or reading effectively when teaching remotely, especially for those 
who struggled the most.23

Secondary leaders noted greater variability in successful learning, which they attributed to pupils’ different 
experiences at home during the first national lockdown. There were particular concerns expressed about 
Year 7, who were coming into secondary education without a proper transition, and Year 11, who were 
preparing for exams. In almost all secondary schools we visited, pupils were studying the usual subjects 
but there were significant restrictions on what could be achieved in some subjects, such as music and 
physical education (PE). Almost all pupils on qualification courses were continuing with these, but again 
it was not always possible to teach the full range of content.

Primary and secondary school leaders said that it was difficult to arrange some specialist support for 
pupils with SEND, usually because they did not feel able to move staff around the school’s bubbles. 
The pandemic limited the ability of specialists, such as educational psychologists, to assess or work 
directly with pupils.

Our summer term inspections showed that having well-developed curriculum thinking served schools 
well during the return to school after lockdown, enabling them to flexibly address missed content due 
to COVID-19 disruptions. Strong leaders identified gaps caused by the pandemic and prioritised the 
knowledge that would be most important for pupils as they moved up the school.

However, weaker schools struggled to make changes to their curriculum effectively. The pandemic slowed 
the implementation of curriculum plans and improvements. In these schools, some teachers did not 
successfully identify the knowledge that pupils needed to learn and did not pick up on pupils’ lack of 
understanding. Teachers did not always have the subject knowledge required to maximise pupils’ learning 
post-lockdown.

22. ‘HMCI commentary: findings from visits in November’, Ofsted, December 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-
commentary-findings-from-visits-in-november.

23. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on schools, November 2020’, Ofsted, December 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-
19-series-briefing-on-schools-november-2020. Based on 297 visits to schools.

Page 396

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-findings-from-visits-in-november
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-findings-from-visits-in-november
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-november-2020


31www.gov.uk/ofsted

Pupils’ physical and mental health

Some pupils had gained weight or become unfit during lockdown. As a result, many schools made PE 
a priority in the autumn term, for example by extending PE lessons or encouraging pupils to jog a ‘daily 
mile’. Nearly half of the respondents to our annual parent survey were concerned about their child’s 
physical health.24

NHS Digital data indicates that rates of probable mental health disorders in children aged five to 16 have 
increased from one in nine in 2017 to one in six in 2020.25 Pupils in Years 11, 12 and 13 were particularly 
worried about the uncertainty of exams, a finding also supported by Teacher Tapp data, which showed 
67% of teachers somewhat or strongly agreeing that their Year 11 and 13 classes appeared to be more 
anxious and stressed than previous classes for this time of year.26

Elective home education

This year, school and local authority leaders told us about a significant increase in pupils being removed 
from school to be home educated. This finding is in line with the annual elective home education survey 
carried out by the Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS), which reported an annual 
increase of 38% in the number of children being home educated.27

Almost three fifths of school leaders we spoke to in the autumn term had at least some parents who 
wanted to home educate temporarily due to the pandemic.

24. ‘Ofsted parents annual survey 2021: parents’ awareness and perceptions of Ofsted’, Ofsted, May 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/annual-parents-survey.

25. ‘Mental health of children and young people in England, 2020’, NHS Digital, October 2020; https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/
publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2020-wave-1-follow-up.

26. ‘Is behaviour worse after a lockdown? And other findings from this week’s results…’, Teacher Tapp, March 2021; https://teachertapp.
co.uk/behaviour-after-lockdown-self-care-water-diet-sleep-exercise/.

27. ‘Elective home education survey 2020’, Association of Directors of Children’s Services, November 2020; https://adcs.org.uk/education/
article/elective-home-education-survey-2020. The ADCS estimated that 75,700 children and young people were being electively home 
educated in October 2020, a 38% increase from October 2019.

Page 397

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/annual-parents-survey
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/annual-parents-survey
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2020-wave-1-follow-up
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2020-wave-1-follow-up
https://teachertapp.co.uk/behaviour-after-lockdown-self-care-water-diet-sleep-exercise/
https://teachertapp.co.uk/behaviour-after-lockdown-self-care-water-diet-sleep-exercise/
https://adcs.org.uk/education/article/elective-home-education-survey-2020
https://adcs.org.uk/education/article/elective-home-education-survey-2020


32 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

We have seen an increase in the proportion of pupils who moved out of the state-funded sector to other 
destinations. This can include moves into independent schools, unregistered schools and home education, 
but they cannot be tracked through the data we hold. Thirty-three per cent of pupils who left their school 
between January 2020 and January 2021 moved to one of these ‘unknown’ destinations, compared 
with 29% the year before. This may be a sign of an increase in home schooling but also moving overseas. 
The increase in the proportion moving to unknown destinations is greater for primary-age pupils than 
secondary-age pupils.

Figure 5: Percentage of pupil movements to unknown destinations

1098754321

23

30

24

29

23

29

24

31
28

35
33

37
35

37 37 38

53 54

% to unknown destinations spring 2019 to spring 2020 % to unknown destinations spring 2020 to spring 2021

Year group

1. This chart compares consecutive years in the Department for Education’s January school census data in order to ascertain if a pupil has moved 
to an unknown destination.

2. A pupil is categorised as moving to an unknown destination if they do not appear in the following year’s census data, meaning that they 
have moved to somewhere other than a state-funded school. The destination is therefore unknown to Ofsted, from the data held centrally. 
This does not mean the destination is not known by the school.

3. Year group refers to the school year that pupils were in at the start of the period in question, for example year group 1 counts pupils who were 
in Year 1 in the first census, but did not appear in Year 2 in the following census.

Source: Department for Education

Experience of pupils with SEND in mainstream schools

We know from our research visits in the autumn term 202028 and spring term 202129 that pupils with 
SEND have been disproportionately affected by the pandemic.

Pupils with education, health and care (EHC) plans were expected to attend school during the lockdowns, 
where possible, whereas those on a lower level of special educational needs support were not. However, 
those categorised as vulnerable because of the impact that being out of school would have on their 
learning or mental health/well-being were eligible to attend. Of those who did attend, some flourished 
in smaller class sizes. Those who did not attend had varied experiences. Some pupils enjoyed working at 
home or found it calming. However, some parents we spoke to in our visits to local areas reported that 
their children had regressed in their learning and communication as a result of being out of school.

28. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on local areas’ SEND provision, November 2020’, Ofsted, December 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020.

29. ‘SEND: old issues, new issues, next steps’, Ofsted, June 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-
next-steps/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps.

Page 398

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps


33www.gov.uk/ofsted

Some pupils with SEND were classed as clinically extremely vulnerable and were therefore less likely 
than others to return to schools when they reopened fully. There were also some additional barriers 
to attendance for some children, such as problems accessing transport and anxiety about the pandemic 
on the part of parents, carers or pupils themselves.

On 8 March, schools reopened for all pupils, except for a very small number who had individual medical 
advice not to attend. However, attendance levels differed greatly between schools, and were still 
especially low for pupils with SEND.30 Despite the best efforts of leaders, some parents remained worried 
about sending their children in. The return to education worked best where education, health and social 
care practitioners stayed in touch with families, helping them to access support even when schools were 
partly closed. Provision of this support was uneven, and there were families we spoke to in all local areas 
who reported receiving little or even no contact from practitioners.31

There was a similar pattern of reduced attendance by children with SEND in short-break provision. 
Even where these services reopened, not all children were using them as much as before the pandemic. 
Barriers to attendance included providers reducing capacity and anxiety on the part of parents, carers 
and children.32

In our remote education work, we found that 59% of parents of a pupil with SEND said that their 
child had disengaged from remote education (20 percentage points more than those without SEND).33 
Furthermore, fewer than half (46%) of the teachers surveyed stated that their school offered additional 
remote learning arrangements for pupils with SEND. The most effective solutions for pupils with SEND 
took into account each child’s specific needs and circumstances.

However, for some children, there were benefits to remote education, including being able to:

	● work more at their own pace

	● take breaks when they needed to rather than at prescribed times

	● work in a space that met their sensory needs and did not overstimulate them.

30. This is based on a daily collection from schools (rather than the mandatory school census), and is an estimate as not all schools provided 
data each day. Data was only collected for children with EHC plans rather than all pupils with SEND (so excludes SEND support). 
See ‘Attendance in education and early years settings during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic’, Department for Education, July 2021; 
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/attendance-in-education-and-early-years-settings-during-the-
coronavirus-covid-19-outbreak/2021-week-29.

31. ‘SEND: old issues, new issues, next steps’, Ofsted, June 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-
next-steps/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps.

32. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on local areas’ SEND provision, November 2020’, Ofsted, December 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020.

33. ‘Remote education research’, Ofsted, February 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-research/remote-
education-research.

Page 399

https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/attendance-in-education-and-early-years-settings-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-outbreak/2021-week-29
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/attendance-in-education-and-early-years-settings-during-the-coronavirus-covid-19-outbreak/2021-week-29
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-research/remote-education-research
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-research/remote-education-research


34 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Special schools (state and independent)
We inspect around 1,650 special schools. Of these, 1,010 are state-funded, 580 are non-association 
independent and 57 are non-maintained schools.34

Managing through the early period of the pandemic and the lockdowns was particularly challenging 
for special schools. Unlike mainstream schools, special schools were expected to remain fully open for 
all their pupils. Clinically extremely vulnerable children were advised to shield and therefore needed 
access to remote education. Access to specialist services was restricted for many children with SEND 
and maintaining the right levels of appropriate staff was difficult.

State of the nation

At 31 August 2021, a higher proportion of state-funded and non-maintained special schools (90%) were 
judged good or outstanding compared with independent special schools (84%). These figures remain 
similar to previous years, which is to be expected as graded inspections were paused for most of the year 
due to COVID-19.

Attendance

Pupils often join special schools having had very poor attendance at school previously. This can be as 
a result of their health, anxiety or long-term disengagement from school. Against this backdrop, it is no 
surprise that, in autumn 2020, special school leaders reported a mixed picture in terms of attendance. 
Additional concerns during the pandemic included practical considerations, such as medical support 
needed at school, and worries that parents and pupils had about returning.

Our summer inspections found that, in strong special schools, leaders set high expectations for pupils’ 
attendance. Pupils and families often need additional logistical support such as taxis, chaperones and 
personal assistants, so it was heartening to see these schools’ commitment to overcoming logistical 
complications. In these schools, staff worked closely with families and parents, actively encouraged pupils’ 
engagement and focused on building confidence and trust. Strategies to re-engage pupils were tailored 
to the needs of the child. Schools with good attendance often engaged and worked closely with families 
and parents. Leaders had robust processes for monitoring attendance, and procedures were also in place 
to engage external agencies (for example, local authorities) where attendance was a concern.

34. Non-maintained special schools are not-for-profit schools for children with SEND that the Secretary of State for Education has approved 
under section 342 of the Education Act 1996. Although not under local authority control, many placements in these schools are funded 
by local authorities. They are inspected under the same legislation as state-funded schools (sections 5 and 8 of the Education Act 2005). 
They are therefore included in the state-funded figures in most instances in this report, and in our official statistics: ‘State-funded schools 
inspections and outcomes as at 31 August 2021’, Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/state-funded-
schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021.

Page 400

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/state-funded-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021


35www.gov.uk/ofsted

Expectations of attendance varied considerably in special schools. For example, in one special school, 
attendance targets were set at 90%. However, in another, over half of pupils were still on a part‑time 
timetable in June 2021. Some special schools reported in the summer term that attendance was back 
to pre‑pandemic levels, but this was not the case for all.

Shortfalls in learning and breadth of curriculum

The areas of learning in which special school pupils were affected most depended largely on their different 
needs, but also on their experience during the first national lockdown.

In our autumn visits, nearly all special school leaders said that pupils were studying their usual subjects, 
including courses leading to qualifications where relevant. Leaders were also determined to provide a 
rich range of experiences, including practical and creative activities where possible. However, as with 
mainstream schools, they were making some adaptations to the curriculum. Many schools were focusing 
more strongly than usual on core subjects, with community‑based learning (such as shopping and travel 
training), volunteering, work experience and outdoor activities not taking place.

Our summer inspections found that the curriculum in good and outstanding independent special schools 
was broad. The curriculum was mapped out clearly, well sequenced and guided by assessment. In most 
special schools, the curriculum was bespoke and factored in a pupil’s health, well‑being and learning 
needs. One school we visited tailored its curriculum to its pupils’ significant mental health needs, including 
working around strict risk assessments. Personal development was often an even more important aspect 
of the curriculum post‑lockdown.

Even by the summer term, extra‑curricular activities continued to be affected by the pandemic. 
For example, schools were unable to accommodate visits from the emergency services, pupils’ work 
experience was cancelled and opportunities for independent travel had been curtailed. Many leaders were 
aware of the impact on pupils’ personal development and spoke about reintroducing these experiences 
as soon as restrictions were lifted.

Page 401



36 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Alternative provision
AP is for pupils who have been excluded or otherwise fallen out of mainstream school, or who are dual 
registered at both a mainstream school and in AP.35 Most AP schools invest time helping pupils build 
positive relationships with teachers and re-engage with education, offering a curriculum with sufficient 
breadth, with a blend of academic and vocational subjects.

Impact of the pandemic

Our visits to AP in the autumn term found that, as with other types of schools, AP leaders were concerned 
about the impact of the pandemic on pupils. But in addition to the concerns heard from mainstream 
school leaders, AP leaders talked about some children becoming more involved in criminal exploitation, 
including gang violence, and child sexual exploitation.36 This is in line with reports from frontline health 
professionals, who reported an increase in injuries related to gang violence.37

As with special schools, reports of attendance were mixed, and the lack of school transport was 
mentioned as an issue. AP leaders reported that the work they had done during the first lockdown to 
support families had had a positive impact on their relationships with families, and on pupils’ attendance.

Characteristics of the AP sector

There are different types of AP placements, such as in state-funded schools, independent schools, 
non-maintained special schools and unregistered provision. Some provide part-time education, 
while others offer full time, and pupils can be registered at more than one provider. This means it can 
be difficult to get an overview of the AP sector as a whole, so the following is based on our analysis of 
pupil-level data from both the Department for Education (DfE)’s school census and its AP census.

The number of placements in independent schools, including independent special schools, that have 
been commissioned and paid for by local authorities at an average annual cost of £40,000, has increased 
by 78% over the last 10 years.38 The overall number of AP placements across all sectors increased from 
46,000 to 57,000 between 2010 and 2020. While places in the state sector increased slightly, 8,000 of 
these extra 11,000 places were provided by independent schools, including independent special schools.39 
These placements are often what the school agreed and listed on the child’s EHC plan, so the DfE 
considers these to be special rather than AP placements (though they are recorded and published as part 
of the AP census).

35. This can also include pupils who left mainstream schools due to illness.
36. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on schools, October 2020’, Ofsted, November 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-

series-briefing-on-schools-october-2020. The AP providers visited were state-funded, not independent or unregistered.
37. ‘Rise in violence and sexual exploitation against children and young people “linked to county lines”’, University of Nottingham, June 2021; 

https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/news/rise-violence-and-sexual-exploitation-children-young-people-county-lines.
38. This is based on data from the DfE on lowest and highest fees charged by each independent school, including independent special schools, 

and data from the DfE’s AP census. The census shows the independent schools and independent special schools that local authorities send 
children to for AP. The calculation takes the median value of the lowest and highest day fees for each school and calculates a weighted 
average for all such schools based on the numbers of pupils sent there by local authorities. The median value of the annual fees charged 
for independent special schools is £49,000 compared with just £10,000 for other independent schools. ‘School-level annual school census’, 
Department for Education, January 2020.

39. For more information on the AP census, see ‘Alternative provision census’, Department for Education, July 2020; https://www.gov.uk/
guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census; ‘Schools, pupils and their characteristics: January 2020’, Department for Education, June 2020; 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020. However, the analysis was produced by 
Ofsted using pupil-level data provided by the DfE.

Page 402

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-october-2020
https://www.nottingham.ac.uk/news/rise-violence-and-sexual-exploitation-children-young-people-county-lines
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020


37www.gov.uk/ofsted

Figure 6: Numbers of AP placements in state-funded schools, independent schools and 
unregistered providers over time

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

20202019201820172016201520142013201220112010

State-funded schools

Independent schools

Unregistered provision

8,100

14,500

23,900

8,200

14,800

23,200

8,300

13,900

22,600

7,700

14,500

22,400

5,100

15,100

22,600

4,900

15,600

23,500

5,600

16,500

25,500

4,900

17,300

25,800

6,400

17,300

26,700

7,800

19,900

26,200

8,800

22,400

26,100N
um

be
r 

of
 p

la
ce

m
en

ts

Spring census year

1. This chart was produced by Ofsted using pupil-level census data provided by the DfE. 
2. Unregistered provision includes any provision not registered as a school in England, such as FE providers, providers in Wales, prisons, 

secure units, one-on-one tuition, work-based placements and other unregistered providers. This includes pupils that are attending 
the provision because it is the placement named in their EHC plan.

3.  Independent schools includes both independent special schools, other independent schools and non-maintained special schools. 
These schools are not registered as AP providers, but are receiving pupils sent there for AP places funded by the local authority.

4. Based on actual rather than planned places. Some children may have multiple part-time places at different providers. Note that the overall 
population of school-age children has grown during the period.

5. The number of AP placements in independent schools, excluding non-maintained special schools, in 2010 and 2020 were 11,000 and 19,000 
respectively.

Source: Department for Education

AP is a form of special education and so disproportionately educates children with SEND, especially those 
with social, emotional and mental health issues. The AP population is also skewed towards children from 
poorer families and older children.

More than half of children with SEND who are in AP have social, emotional and mental health issues 
as a primary need.40 It is understandable that schools supporting children at risk of exclusion use this 
category on the SEND register. However, there is a risk that these children’s other needs, especially 
relating to speech, language and communication, are not on the radar and are not addressed.

There are now over 8,000 AP places for primary-age pupils.41 The number of placements for primary-age 
children in AP has increased by 55% since 2010.42

40. ‘Alternative provision census’, Department for Education, July 2020; https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census; 
‘Schools, pupils and their characteristics: January 2020’, Department for Education, June 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020.

41. Includes part-time and full-time AP placements for pupils recorded in the school census or AP census in January 2020. When a pupil 
attends more than one AP, each placement has been counted. ‘Alternative provision census’, Department for Education, July 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census; ‘Schools, pupils and their characteristics: January 2020’, Department 
for Education, June 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020.

42. ‘Alternative provision census’, Department for Education, January 2014 to 2020; ‘PRU census’, Department for Education, January 2010 
to 2013; ‘School census’, Department for Education, January 2010 to 2020.

Page 403

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020


38 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Three quarters of pupils in AP have not been excluded: they either continue to be registered with a 
mainstream school or attend full time at a pupil referral unit (PRU), academy AP or free school AP.43 
The statutory powers that enable schools to educate children off site in AP include requirements on 
mainstream schools to keep those placements under constant review and to reintegrate the pupils back 
into mainstream school as soon as possible.

However, this aim does not translate into reality. Thirty-eight per cent of children stay in PRUs, academy 
AP or free school AP for more than a year.44 In fact, children who move to state-funded AP as teenagers 
rarely return to their mainstream secondary schools. For instance, 58% of those who join in Year 9 
and 78% who join in Year 10 are still there in the January of Year 11.45 Only 60% of pupils in AP went 
to a sustained destination at age 16, compared with 94% from state-funded mainstream schools.46

Ofsted inspects all registered AP but unregistered provision is not directly monitored. The number 
of placements in unregistered provision, which is commissioned by local authorities, has been rising 
over the last three years, meaning more children are in settings that are not Ofsted-inspected.47

Our unregistered schools investigations have found that a number of APs are operating illegally, taking 
on more than five pupils on a full-time basis (and so meeting the legal definition of a school) without 
registering, and schools and local authorities are not always checking providers’ registration status.48 
Since our unregistered schools team was established in 2016, the proportion of warning notices issued 
to APs we believe to be operating illegally has increased.

Alarmingly, the children with the highest needs are particularly likely to end up in unregistered providers: 
60% of children placed in unregistered AP have an EHC plan. We cannot inspect unregulated AP, and 
so providers that cater for children with particularly complex needs are not systematically monitored. 
This is a big gap in our oversight and one that should be filled.

43. ‘Alternative provision census’, Department for Education, July 2020; https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census; 
‘Schools, pupils and their characteristics: January 2020’, Department for Education, June 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020.

44. ‘Schools, pupils and their characteristics: January 2020’, Department for Education, June 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020.

45. ‘Alternative provision census’, Department for Education, January 2014 to 2020; ‘PRU census’, Department for Education, January 2010 
to 2013; ‘School census’, Department for Education, January 2010 to 2020.

46. ‘Key stage 4 destination measures, academic year 2019/20’, Department for Education, October 2021; https://explore-education-
statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-4-destination-measures.

47. Unregistered provision refers to any provision not registered as a school in England. This includes FE providers, providers in Wales, 
prisons, secure units, one-on-one tuition, work-based placements and other unregistered providers. Pupils who attend the provision 
include those who have it as the placement named in their EHC plan. ‘Alternative provision census’, Department for Education, July 2020; 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census. Schools may also commission placements in unregistered providers, 
but these are not included in the figures.

48. ‘Alternative school provision: findings of a three-year survey’, Ofsted, July 2014; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/
alternative-school-provision-findings-of-a-three-year-survey.

Page 404

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/schools-pupils-and-their-characteristics-january-2020
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-4-destination-measures
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/key-stage-4-destination-measures
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/alternative-provision-ap-census
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alternative-school-provision-findings-of-a-three-year-survey
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/alternative-school-provision-findings-of-a-three-year-survey


39www.gov.uk/ofsted

Independent schools
There are around 2,420 independent schools in England. Of these, we inspect just over 
1,160 non-association independent schools.49 Independent special schools account for half 
of these. The outcomes for independent special schools are discussed in more detail in the 
earlier ‘special schools’ section of this report. The following section includes insights from all 
non-association independent schools.

Our routine inspection of independent schools was paused for four terms during the pandemic. 
However, throughout the pandemic, we continued inspecting where children were most at risk, or where 
we could do so remotely. From the start of the autumn term 2020 until the end of the summer term 2021, 
we carried out around 350 additional inspections at the request of the DfE. Of these, 77 were progress 
monitoring inspections (PMIs) to schools that had previously not met the government’s independent 
school standards, which independent schools are expected to comply with. In these PMIs, 51% of schools 
continued to not meet all the standards checked. We also made 52 emergency inspections, in which 
44% of schools did not meet all the standards checked.50 In the summer term 2021, we also did 95 
standard inspections.51

During our standard inspections, as well as inspecting against the EIF, we check whether independent 
schools meet the standards. As at 31 August 2021, 14% of schools did not meet all the standards at 
their most recent standard inspection. For these 141 schools, we have looked at their 10-year history 
of standard, progress monitoring and emergency inspections. From this, we found:

	● 27% of these schools only failed to meet the standards once

	● 52% did not meet the standards on two to four inspections

	● 21% did not meet the standards on five or more inspections.

49. The remaining independent schools are members of an association and are inspected by the Independent Schools Inspectorate (ISI).
50. ’Non-association independent schools inspections and outcomes in England: August 2021’, Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/

government/statistics/non-association-independent-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-in-england-august-2021.
51. ‘Management information - non-association independent schools - as at 31 July 2021’, Ofsted, September 2021; https://www.gov.uk/

government/statistical-data-sets/non-association-independent-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-management-information.

Page 405

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/non-association-independent-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-in-england-august-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/non-association-independent-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-in-england-august-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/non-association-independent-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-management-information
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/non-association-independent-schools-inspections-and-outcomes-management-information


40 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Although most of the sector performs well, there is clearly too much persistent poor performance. 
We continue supporting the DfE to improve these schools or to take effective enforcement action 
against them.

It is also clear that independent faith schools have relatively poor inspection outcomes compared with 
either faith schools in the state sector or with other independent schools.52 Of the independent faith 
schools we inspect, 34% are judged less than good, including 17% judged inadequate. The underlying 
reports and evidence show three distinct strands that contribute to these disappointing outcomes.

First, independent faith schools are often small and poorly resourced, and as a consequence find it hard 
to keep up with good practice in many aspects of education and safeguarding.

Second, some of these schools limit the curriculum in areas that are seen to conflict directly with 
their religion. The curriculum may be limited in science, humanities and other subjects where national 
curriculum or exam specification content is considered to conflict directly with religious teaching. 
Some aspects of relationships, sex and health education are also seen to conflict with religious principles. 
However, these issues are almost never found in state-funded faith schools.

Third, some schools serve communities that want children’s education only to prepare them for life 
within that community, which means knowledge about the wider world is restricted. For example, some 
schools give very limited time to the secular curriculum. Some do not teach about fundamental British 
values, particularly around mutual respect for and tolerance of those with different faiths and beliefs. 
Again, these issues are almost never found in state-funded faith schools.

Inspection can contribute to helping these schools do better in relation to the first strand, and the 
modest improvements seen in inspection outcomes for these schools in recent years may reflect this. 
Many inspection reports show schools making real progress in improving the education they offer.

However, in relation to the second and third strands, inspection can only draw attention to the real 
tension that exists in the most conservative faith communities between education and equalities law, 
regulations and guidance on the one hand, and religious conviction on the other.

52. The faith of a school is defined by whether the school has declared a religious character or ethos on the DfE’s Get Information About 
Schools site; https://get-information-schools.service.gov.uk. If the school does not declare a religious character or ethos, it is categorised 
in our statistics as ‘non-faith’, although it is possible that some of these schools also operate as faith schools.

Page 406

https://get-information-schools.service.gov.uk


41www.gov.uk/ofsted

Unregistered schools
This year, we continued our enforcement activity against unregistered schools. During all the lockdowns, 
we carried out investigative work and on-site inspections where risk assessment determined they should 
go ahead. Some unregistered schools stayed open in contravention of COVID-19 legislation, and we have 
worked with local authorities and the police to close them.

In 2020/21, we carried out just over 100 inspections and issued 24 warning notices.53 We have also 
continued to support the Crown Prosecution Service with three cases that are before the criminal courts. 
This included the prosecution of the individuals responsible for an unregistered facility called Ambassadors 
Home School. The defendants were sentenced in October 2021, having changed their pleas to guilty. 
Since 2018, we have submitted five investigations to the Crown Prosecution Service, all of which have 
resulted in successful prosecutions, with 16 defendants being sentenced. Ambassadors Home School 
is the second Ofsted investigation to result in the imposition of a suspended prison sentence.

As we said last year, although we have made significant progress in tackling unregistered schools, there is 
no room for complacency or inaction. Thousands of children in unregistered schools are still out of reach 
because of weaknesses in legislation and in our investigative powers. We welcome the commitments 
made by government to strengthen the legislation in this area, but they have been slow to arrive.

53. ‘Unregistered schools management information - 1 January 2016 to 31 August 2021’, Ofsted, November 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/unregistered-schools-management-information.

Page 407

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/unregistered-schools-management-information


42 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills
Page 408



43www.gov.uk/ofsted

Further education and skills
The FE and skills sector is mainly made up of colleges, independent learning providers (which include 
employer providers), adult community education providers and independent specialist colleges (ISCs). 
In total, the sector provides education, training and apprenticeships for around 2.9 million learners aged 
16 and over every year.54

The sector offers a broad range of courses relating to employment, social integration, community support, 
and improved health and well-being, as well as qualifications that give access to further study. The type 
and quality of the provision are important, both in meeting the needs of individuals and in meeting the 
needs of society and supporting the economy.

The experience of FE and skills learners varied considerably this year. Some were able to continue with 
much of their studies. But many (particularly apprentices and those studying courses with a practical 
element) were not taught the practical skills and knowledge required to progress or succeed at the 
next stage.

What we did this year
With routine inspection suspended for much of the year, we carried out 250 interim visits and 140 
progress monitoring visits (PMVs) to a sample of providers. These visits were to help learners, parents, 
employers and government understand how providers were meeting the needs of students and 
apprentices during this period, including learners with high needs and SEND. The interim visits did not 
result in a grade, and we published briefing notes summarising our findings.55

We also carried out 44 full inspections and nearly 280 other monitoring visits, which included almost 
230 new provider monitoring visits (NPMVs) to providers that deliver apprenticeships. These covered 
a broad range of providers that collectively teach and train tens of thousands of learners across England.

54. ‘Further education and skills data: FE and skills learner participation by provider, local authority, funding stream, learner and learning 
characteristics: 2018 to 2019’, Department for Education and Education and Skills Funding Agency, November 2019; 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fe-data-library-further-education-and-skills.

55. ‘Ofsted COVID-19 series’, Ofsted, October 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series.

Page 409

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fe-data-library-further-education-and-skills
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series


44 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

State of the nation
On 31 August 2021, there were just over 2,000 FE and skills providers publicly funded and providing 
education, training and/or apprenticeships.

Figure 7: FE and skills providers, inspections and monitoring visits in 2020/21

61
16-19 academies

1
monitoring visit

160
General further 

education colleges

24
monitoring visits

44
full inspections

230
new provider monitoring visits

180
other monitoring visits 

in 2020/21

110
Independent 
specialist colleges

24
monitoring visits

15
Specialist further 
education colleges

1
monitoring visit

20
Dance and drama 
colleges

3
monitoring visits

48
Sixth-form colleges

3
monitoring visits

91
Higher education 

institutions

7
monitoring visits

150
Adult community 

education providers

13
monitoring visits

1,400
Independent 

learning providers
340

monitoring visits

44
inspections

1. The number of providers funded and delivering education, training and/or apprenticeships on 31 August 2021.
2. The number of inspections and monitoring visits for 2020/21 includes those providers that had ceased to be funded or were closed 

by 31 August 2021.
3. Other monitoring visits include: progress monitoring visits, visits to providers previously judged requires improvement or inadequate, 

monitoring visits to newly merged colleges and return safeguarding visits to new providers initially judged to be making insufficient 
progress towards safeguarding their learners at their new provider monitoring visit.

4. Independent learning providers include employer providers.
5. We judge higher education institutions on their FE and apprenticeship provision to Level 7. We do not judge the provider as a whole.
6. Numbers over 100 are rounded.

There are 180 more FE and skills providers than on 31 August 2020: 310 new providers joined the market 
and 130 merged, ceased to be funded or stopped providing training.

The proportion of FE and skills providers judged good or outstanding on 31 August 2021 was 83%, 
an increase of two percentage points compared with last year. This increase was mainly a result 
of providers judged requires improvement or inadequate no longer being in scope for inspection, 
as they either lost their funding to deliver public education, training and/or apprenticeships or closed.

Page 410



45www.gov.uk/ofsted

Figure 8: Overall effectiveness of FE and skills providers: 31 August 2021

Higher education institutions (37)

Dance and drama colleges (18)

16–19 academies (49)

Adult community education providers (140)

Independent learning providers (540)

Independent specialist colleges (79)

Colleges (200)

All further education and skills providers (1,070)

% Outstanding % Good % Requires improvement % Inadequate

Number of providers in brackets (rounded)

14 78 8

89 11

43 49 8

2 91 25

10 70 17 3

8 67 323

18 63 19 1

13 69 15 2

1. Independent learning providers include employer providers.
2. We judge higher education institutions on their FE and apprenticeship provision to Level 7. We do not judge the provider as a whole.
3. Based on inspections carried out by 31 August 2021 and with the report published by 30 September 2021.
4. Percentages are rounded and may not add to 100. Some percentages are based on small numbers, and should be treated with caution.

Page 411



46 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Apprenticeships
As at 31 August 2021, there were almost 1,600 FE and skills providers delivering apprenticeships.

Table 2: Number of providers delivering apprenticeships by provider group: 31 August 2021

Provider group Number of providers

Independent learning providers 1,260

Colleges 180

Higher education institutions 87

Adult community education providers 65

Independent specialist colleges 3

All providers 1,600

1. Independent learning providers include employer providers.
2. We judge higher education institutions on their FE and apprenticeship provision to Level 7. We do not judge the provider as a whole.
3. Numbers over 100 are rounded.
Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

Around three quarters (74%) of these providers had a judgement made on the quality of their 
apprenticeship provision at the time of their full inspection or NPMV.56

Of the 1,180 providers that had a judgement made on their apprenticeship provision, 81% were judged 
good or outstanding at their full inspection or were judged to be making at least reasonable progress across 
all apprenticeship themes at their NPMV. This is a two percentage point increase from the previous year.

56. The 26% of providers without a judgement on the quality of their apprenticeship provision include those awaiting an inspection grade for 
their apprenticeship provision or their first NPMV.

Page 412



47www.gov.uk/ofsted

Figure 9: Quality of apprenticeship provision over time

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

31 August 2021 (1,180)31 August 2020 (1,060)

% At least reasonable
across all apprenticeship
themes

% At least one 
insufficient theme

% Outstanding

% Good

% Requires improvement

% Inadequate

New provider monitoring visit

Full inspection

N
um

be
r 

of
 p

ro
vi

de
rs

 w
it

h 
an

ap
pr

en
ti

ce
sh

ip
 ju

dg
em

en
t

4

36

11

38

8

4

33

10

44

7

Number of providers in brackets (rounded)

New provider monitoring visits
NPMVs are brief interim inspections of new providers that have just started to be funded. They provide 
an early assessment of progress and risk, and this results in progress judgements against the set themes: 
leadership and management, quality of education and training, and safeguarding. New providers will 
normally have a monitoring visit within 24 months of being funded. They will then normally receive a full 
inspection within 24 months of the publication of the monitoring visit report.57

This year, we carried out almost 230 NPMVs. In these, we judged more than 170 providers (76%) to 
have made reasonable or significant progress across all themes and 55 (24%) to have made insufficient 
progress in at least one theme.58 These proportions are similar to last year.

Progress monitoring visits
PMVs were brief interim inspections to new providers and those judged as requires improvement or 
inadequate. We carried these out remotely during the third national lockdown (January to March 2021). 
They resulted in a single progress judgement, which included the provision of remote/online learning. 
Because they were carried out remotely, we could not give the same level of assurance of quality as for 
on-site visits.

As with other, similar, visits, the judgements in PMVs were: insufficient progress; reasonable progress; or 
significant progress. Although inspectors judged most providers to be making reasonable or significant 
progress in the PMV, they judged around 15% to be making insufficient progress.

57. The usual inspection timescales have been extended on account of COVID-19.
58. In the autumn, we carried out 32 NPMVs to providers that were judged to be making insufficient progress against one or more themes at 

their previous NPMV and were due a full inspection. This allowed us to reassess the providers in a timely and proportionate way and in the 
interests of learners.

Page 413



48 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Table 3: Outcomes from PMVs 2020/21

Number of visits

Outcomes from all PMVs
Total number 
of providers 

visited

Insufficient 
progress

Reasonable 
progress

Significant 
progress

What progress are leaders and those responsible for 
governance making to ensure that staff teach a curriculum 
and provide support to meet learners’ needs, including the 
provision of remote/online learning?

140 20 87 28

1. Numbers over 100 are rounded.

Disruption to education and training programmes
Many students in FE and skills had significant disruption to their studies this year. Some returned to 
face-to-face education in the autumn term, but others did not. Around 80 providers that delivered 
apprenticeships lost their funding or closed during the year. Even after public health guidance no longer 
required it, some colleges retained an element of remote learning. Some had learners spend one week 
on site and the next week off site. Others divided their courses to teach practical skills face to face and 
theoretical knowledge virtually.

Apprenticeships and courses linked to the sectors hardest hit by the pandemic, for example retail, 
customer service, childcare and health and social care, were least likely to be running fully. Reasons for 
this varied. For example, in some courses, learners had still not returned from furlough or learners were 
on a ‘break in learning’, and in other courses, employers were not taking on new work placements due 
to economic uncertainty or because of health and safety concerns. 

Some apprentices were unable to finish their course because they had been furloughed, their employer 
had ceased trading or because of COVID restrictions. Others had been delayed in completing their 
end-point assessment (EPA) as increased work demands meant they did not have time to focus on their 
apprenticeship. Furthermore, some EPAs were cancelled, which led to a sizeable backlog in the system.

Page 414



49www.gov.uk/ofsted

Learning loss and curriculum

Many colleges and adult community education providers assessed learners at the beginning of the 
autumn term to establish any gaps in their knowledge following the summer lockdown. They then used 
this information to change curriculum content. Providers identified gaps in English and mathematics 
and in practical skills for apprentices. For some providers, having to reorganise assessment and teaching 
due to restrictions, along with meeting learners’ different needs, led to learning becoming disjointed and 
the logical sequencing of the curriculum being disrupted. This is likely to have hindered learners from 
developing and embedding new knowledge and skills.

We looked at how providers responded to these challenges. The best providers structured the curriculum 
logically to enable apprentices to learn basic knowledge and skills at the start of the programme and then 
to progress to more complex ones. Leaders ensured that training officers and workplace line managers 
developed apprentices’ skills and behaviours to carry out their job roles and to achieve apprenticeship 
standards. Development coaches made sure the curriculum was accessible by supporting apprentices with 
SEND effectively. They identified apprentices’ needs early in the programme and put in place strategies 
to enable equal access to lessons.

Strong providers also carried out rigorous initial assessments to check that apprentices were suitable for 
the programme. They made sure that employers had a full understanding of the level of commitment 
required. They used this initial assessment information to plan training tailored to the skills needs and the 
interests of individual apprentices and their employers. They linked the knowledge that apprentices had 
gained from independently researched projects to their job roles. As a result, most achieved merit and 
distinction grades in their final assessments.

These providers worked effectively to adapt the curriculum in the changing circumstances of the pandemic. 
Leaders made sure that teachers and trainers were trained to teach using online and remote means effectively.

In contrast, leaders in weaker providers did not provide an ambitious curriculum for apprentices. 
As a result, too many apprentices were merely accrediting their existing skills, rather than developing 
significant new knowledge.

Weaker providers did not adapt their curriculum quickly and/or effectively to the changing circumstances 
of the pandemic. Teachers and trainers were not sufficiently skilled or trained to teach online or remotely. 
They tried to replicate what they would have done in the classroom in remote lessons or training sessions, 
without considering the pedagogy associated with a different teaching method.

In these providers, leaders and managers did not evaluate accurately (or at all in a few cases) the quality 
of education or training provided remotely or online. As a result, too much ineffective teaching and 
training did not improve, as teachers and trainers did not get any feedback about the quality of their 
work, or any training to help them improve. When learners were able to return to face-to-face teaching, 
they had too many gaps in their learning that teachers and trainers needed to remedy.

Learners’ well-being and safeguarding

Providers reported that the number of learners with significant mental health problems had increased 
during the pandemic. They had also seen increases in safeguarding concerns such as domestic abuse, 
county lines, knife crime and larger numbers of families experiencing destitution or needing to access 
foodbanks. Many leaders referred more learners to local mental health, safeguarding or early help teams.

Page 415



50 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Learners with high needs
Senior leaders in ISCs for learners with high needs, and in other providers that run supported internships, 
told us that we are unlikely to see a rapid restoration of work placements and activities designed to 
promote independence for their learners. Many of these placements were run with the support of small 
businesses and charities that have closed during the pandemic.

In many providers, we found that safety and care were (quite rightly) prioritised for clinically extremely 
vulnerable learners. In some cases, such as in ISCs where learners were exceptionally vulnerable, leaders 
had designed the curriculum based on sorting learners into safe and workable groups, rather than 
grouping them by level, vocational area or aspiration.

Many learners with high needs found online learning more difficult. It was also challenging for providers 
to offer them an individualised curriculum. Some providers posted paper-based resources to learners 
who struggled.

Some learners’ behaviour was severely affected by the circumstances of the pandemic. They found it hard 
to talk to inspectors and were not able to work with other learners.

Annual reviews for learners with high needs continued remotely. Some providers reported that these were 
successful and more convenient for the stakeholders required to attend.

Page 416



51www.gov.uk/ofsted

Working with others
Leaders in the providers we visited continued to work closely with employers, local organisations 
and partners. Many made better use of technology to do this. Some leaders said that the growing 
economic impact of the pandemic meant employers needed more flexibility in how and when 
content was taught and assessment took place, so they were working more closely together to meet 
these needs. Some providers successfully established links with new employers for placement and 
work-experience opportunities.

Many leaders mentioned receiving help from professional organisations, such as the Association of 
Colleges, Association of Employment and Learning Providers, HOLEX and Natspec, as well as other, 
more local, networks. They said these have been an invaluable source of support, practical advice and 
guidance. Several leaders had created local support networks to help them, particularly to interpret 
government guidance.

Careers guidance
In our PMVs, we reported on positive work relating to careers education, information, advice and 
guidance (CEIAG) and support for those who were furloughed or at risk of redundancy.

Providers doing well with CEIAG tended to:

	● have employed a careers adviser/careers coordinator

	● be monitoring furloughed apprentices and those on a ‘learning break’

	● support apprentices at risk of redundancy to complete qualifications and undertake job searches

	● source alternative employment for apprentices who had been made redundant.

Finding work experience placements was a continuing challenge for providers. Many, however, found 
innovative ways for their learners to access remote and face-to-face placements. For example, some 
learners on health and social care programmes attended in-person work experience placements at 
vaccination centres and others had virtual work experience with a hospital pharmacist.

Providers that were weaker in CEIAG tended to offer insufficient advice and guidance for apprentices at 
the start of their course, or provided it too late (towards the end of the course). In some cases, CEIAG was 
not provided at all. In these providers, leaders also focused careers guidance too narrowly on apprentices’ 
current employer and industry.

Page 417



52 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Adult learning
Adult learning is inspected and graded as a provision type in FE and skills providers.

General FE colleges had the most adult learners: just over 40% of all adult learners in England. 
Independent learning providers had 31%, adult community education providers and higher education 
institutions (HEIs) had a combined 23%, and other FE and skills providers had 6%.59

Continuing the trend seen during the first national lockdown, when the numbers of adults participating 
in learning declined by 44% (between March and July 2020), the overall adult participation rate declined 
by a further 11% between August 2020 and April 2021.60 This was due to a combination of venue 
restrictions, other learners being prioritised, the reluctance of some to return to face-to-face teaching and 
the difficulties some learners had accessing remote learning platforms. However, participation rates for 
some groups of learners increased as they enjoyed the flexibility that remote learning offered them.

In many instances, the number of adult learners was low because job centres had only just reopened and 
begun mandating them to go on courses again. Inspectors also found that there were no sessions running 
in community venues, or they had only restarted in summer 2021. COVID restrictions also led to the 
cancellation of adult and family learning in community venues. 

59. ‘Further education and skills, academic year 2019/20’, Department for Education, November 2020; https://explore-education-statistics.
service.gov.uk/find-statistics/further-education-and-skills/2019-20.

60. See: ‘Further education and skills, academic year 2019/20’, Department for Education, November 2020; https://explore-education-
statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/further-education-and-skills/2019-20 and ‘Further education and skills, academic year 2020/21’, 
Department for Education, October 2021; https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/further-education-and-
skills/2020-21.

Page 418

https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/further-education-and-skills/2019-20
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/further-education-and-skills/2019-20
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/further-education-and-skills/2019-20
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/further-education-and-skills/2019-20
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/further-education-and-skills/2020-21
https://explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk/find-statistics/further-education-and-skills/2020-21


53www.gov.uk/ofsted

Prisons
Over the last five years, at 31 August each year, around 60% of all prison and young offender institution 
inspections had resulted in a requires improvement or inadequate judgement for the overall effectiveness 
of education, skills and work. This compares with a maximum of 20% in other parts of the FE and skills 
sector that we inspect.

Figure 10: Overall effectiveness of education, skills and work in prisons and young offender 
institutions: 31 August 2021

Number
of prisons and

young offender
institutions (120)

% Outstanding

% Good

% Requires improvement

% Inadequate
2 144143

80 20

Number of providers in brackets (rounded)

1. Percentages are rounded and may not add to 100. Some percentages are based on small numbers, and should be treated with caution.

This year, we were unable to carry out our routine inspections of prisons and young offender institutions. 
However, we were able to carry out a number of remote interim visits and face-to-face PMVs.

During much of the last year, opportunities for prisoners to take part in classroom education stopped. 
Many prisoners were limited to in-cell work packs, with little feedback from teachers. Initially, these packs 
were produced for mathematics and English but the range of subjects they covered increased over time, 
including theoretical elements of vocational courses. However, in some prisons, these were not available 
until up to six months after the first national lockdown started in March 2020, meaning there was no 
education to speak of until September 2020.

The lack of face-to-face teaching has affected prisoners. Some prisoners told us that, without a tutor 
to help them while working through the packs, they had to ‘turn the page’ if they came across something 
they could not do. They found this frustrating and demotivating.

Prison leaders and education providers must ensure that prisoners’ learning needs are properly assessed 
and that they get learners back into the classroom as quickly as possible.

We understand the risk of COVID transmission is especially high in prison environments. Prison staff have 
worked hard to keep prisoners safe. However, we must ask, both of prison leaders and of government, 
whether enough is being done to get prison education back on course.

In September, we published a joint commentary with HM Inspectorate of Prisons launching our prison 
education review.61 We will start the review by looking at how reading is taught in prisons, how it is 
assessed and what progress prisoners make with reading.

61. ‘Launching our prison education review’, Ofsted, September 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/launching-our-prison-
education-review.

Page 419

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/launching-our-prison-education-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/launching-our-prison-education-review


54 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills
Page 420



55www.gov.uk/ofsted

Social care
The pandemic has been extremely challenging, both for the children in social care and for the social 
workers and care staff who protect and care for them. All services came under pressure due to restrictions 
and the difficulties some families have faced. Many of the most vulnerable children were adversely 
affected by this.

Despite this, we saw much positive work in difficult circumstances by unsung heroes in the social care 
sector. Many social workers, care workers and others working with families found imaginative ways to help 
the most vulnerable children.

Although children’s social care services have worked hard through the pandemic, there are still 
long-standing problems to overcome. There are too many children whose complex needs are not being 
met. The system is failing to deliver the right services for them where and when they need it most, 
including finding places for them to live and arranging specialist health provision.

What we did
Our urgent regulatory and enforcement work continued as usual.

In autumn 2020, we began assurance visits to children’s homes and other children’s social care providers. 
These visits aimed to reassure parents, government and commissioners that children were safe and well 
cared for. They did not result in a grade, but reports included requirements or recommendations for 
improvement and highlighted any serious or widespread concerns. Between September and March, we did 
933 visits.

We also did 43 focused assurance visits to local authorities. On these visits, inspectors evaluate an aspect 
of service, a theme or the experiences of a cohort of children within a local authority. This type of visit 
does not result in a judgement. Instead, we send the local authority a letter setting out narrative findings 
about strengths and areas to improve.

We prioritised lower-performing providers and local authorities and those where we had urgent 
safeguarding concerns. Findings from these visits formed the basis of three briefing notes about children’s 
experiences of the pandemic.62

Throughout the year, we also carried out monitoring visits in order to focus on specific concerns, to monitor 
compliance with a notice, or to follow up an inadequate inspection. We did around 1,000 monitoring visits 
to just under 900 children’s social care providers and one monitoring visit to a local authority.

We resumed routine inspections for all children’s social care settings inspected under the social care 
common inspection framework (SCCIF) in April 2021. Between 1 April and 31 August 2021, we carried 
out 1,100 full inspections, 180 monitoring inspections and four interim inspections, the majority of which 
were to children’s homes. We also did one emergency inspection of a boarding school.

We restarted the inspection of local authority children’s services (ILACS) programme in May 2021.

62. ‘Ofsted COVID-19 series’, Ofsted, October 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series.

Page 421

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series


56 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

State of the nation
On 31 August 2021, there were 3,470 social care providers.

Figure 11: Number of settings on 31 August 2021 and percentage change since 31 August 2020

2
Secure training centres

39
Adoption support agencies

8%
increase

No change

Total settings on  
31 August 2021: 

3,470

2,780
Children’s homes 
of all types 7%

increase

120
Residential 
special schools

10%
decrease

59
Boarding schools

12%
decrease

37
Further education 
colleges with 
residential accommodation

14%
decrease

61
Residential 

family centres

320
Independent 

fostering agencies

5%
increase

3%
increase

37
Voluntary adoption 

agencies3%
decrease

16
Residential holiday 

schemes for 
disabled children

11%
decrease

1. Ofsted inspects the boarding provision in maintained boarding schools, academies and non-association independent boarding schools. 

Page 422



57www.gov.uk/ofsted

Most registered social care providers are children’s homes. As at 31 August 2021, 79% of the 2,380 
inspected children’s homes were judged good or outstanding, in line with 2020.

Figure 12: Overall effectiveness of children’s homes: 31 August 2021

Secure children's
home (13)

Residential
special school

(registered as a
children's home) (67)

Short-break-only
children's home (150)

Children's home
(2,150)

All children's homes
(2,380)

% Outstanding % Good % Requires improvement to be good % Inadequate

15

14

27

16

23

64

64

61

63

62

17 4

17 4

10 2

15 6

15

Number of providers in brackets (rounded)

1. Percentages are rounded and may not add to 100. Some percentages are based on small numbers, and should be treated with caution.

Of the remaining 630 inspected social care providers, 93% were judged good or outstanding. This is 
a small increase from 90% at the same point in 2020.

Figure 13: Overall effectiveness of other inspected providers: 31 August 2021

Residential holiday scheme
for disabled children (12)

Adoption support
agency (29)

Voluntary adoption
agency (33)

Further education college with
residential accommodation (36)

Residential family centre (52)

Boarding school (55)

Residential special
school (120)

Independent fostering
agency (290)

All other social care
providers (630)

% Outstanding % Good % Requires improvement to be good % Inadequate

31 62 5 2

19 75 4 2

47 45 7 2

31 58 5 5

17 77 4 2

53 44 3

48 45 6

52 34 14

42 58

Number of providers in brackets (rounded)

1. Due to very small numbers, STCs are not included in this chart.
2. Percentages are rounded and may not add to 100. Some percentages are based on small numbers, and should be treated with caution.

Page 423



58 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Overall, 51% of local authorities were judged good or outstanding. This is an increase from just over one 
third after each local authority’s first inspection under the single inspection framework (the framework 
that preceded ILACS).

Figure 14: Local authority inspection outcomes over time

After each
local authority's first
SIF inspection (152)

At the end of the
first year of ILACS

(151)

As at 31 August
2021 (152)

% Outstanding

% Not yet inspected

% Good % Requires improvement to be good

% Inadequate

13 38 35 313

8 40 1238 1

4334 222

Number of local authorities in brackets

1. With Northamptonshire dividing into two local authorities, the overall number of local authorities has changed slightly, as has the number not 
yet inspected.

2. Percentages are rounded and may not add to 100. Some percentages are based on small numbers, and should be treated with caution.
3. In this chart, SIF stands for single inspection framework.

Sufficiency

The greatest challenge in the children’s social care sector is having enough places, especially for the 
most vulnerable children with the most complex needs. A lack of suitable provision limits choice for 
where children can live, meaning children do not always get the help and support they need. At times, 
the pandemic has reduced the number of suitable places even further. Sufficiency is a problem in many 
aspects of children’s social care, as explained in each section.

Children’s homes

Between September 2020 and August 2021, the overall number of children’s homes rose by 180 (7%) to 
2,770, the highest number since at least 2012. This is due to around 290 children’s homes registering and 
around 110 closing. However, new children’s homes are generally smaller, with an average of three places 
compared with an average of six for recently closed homes. The net result was still an increase in places, 
to 12,790 (a 2% increase from 2020).

The number of children’s homes and places increased in all regions in 2020/21.63 However, there is still a 
shortage of places in many parts of the country. As at 31 August 2021, a quarter of all children’s homes 
were in the North West, while only 5% were in London, which has had the fewest children’s homes for 
many years. Furthermore, many placements are ill-matched to children’s needs.

63. See the data tables that accompany this Annual Report.

Page 424



59www.gov.uk/ofsted

There are also regional differences in the types of care offered. For example, while London has the 
smallest number of children’s homes, it has a high percentage of homes for children with sensory 
impairments (16%). The reverse is true for the East Midlands, which has a much smaller percentage 
of homes for children with sensory impairments (4%) than it does of all homes (11%). Similarly, the 
West Midlands, which has the second highest percentage of children’s homes (18%) has a much lower 
percentage of homes for children with physical disabilities (11%) or complex health needs (13%).

This uneven distribution means that homes that cater for children with particular needs are often distant 
from the families whose children need them. For a small number of children, there are very few homes 
able or willing to provide what they need – particularly children with complex needs, including mental 
health needs.

Local authorities are undoubtedly in a difficult position when it comes to finding somewhere for children 
to live. But some are not doing all they can to make sure that the places they choose meet children’s 
individual needs and are safe and secure.

A greater understanding of the characteristics and needs of children in care would help to resolve these 
gaps, overlaps and mismatches in provision. There is also scope for better planning above local authority 
level for high-cost, specialist provision – including for children who need bespoke placements in secure 
mental health or youth justice provision.

Many local authorities are struggling to find suitable placements for children who have spent time as 
mental health in-patients, but who were deemed not to have a treatable disorder and then released. 
A fifth (21%) of children’s homes in England (475 homes) offer care for children with mental health 
difficulties. Of the 40 homes that specify the severity of difficulties that they are equipped to deal with, 
only around a third (15) state that they can care for children with moderate or severe mental health 
difficulties.64 Half of these 15 homes are in the North West; none are in the East Midlands or the North 
East, Yorkshire and the Humber; and there is only one in each of the East of England, South West, South 
East, and London.

64. In most cases, the home’s statement of purpose does not specify the severity of difficulties that it is equipped to deal with.

Page 425



60 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Children’s homes that have done well during the pandemic usually achieved this through the commitment 
and flexibility of their staff.65 Some staff have shown great creativity in finding solutions to restrictions, 
and are still managing to carry on with activities, family time and emotional support. In inadequate 
homes, the pandemic tended not to be the only reason for poor performance. But in some cases, it made 
existing problems worse.

Some providers have struggled to manage COVID restrictions, which has led them to reduce the activities 
they offer to children and also had a negative effect on children’s education. These shortfalls were 
sometimes due to a lack of creative thinking, or linked to poor staff training or a lack of resources.

Staff shortages due to COVID have also been a problem in many homes. When a home’s core team has 
needed to self-isolate, replacement staff did not always have the same strong relationship with children. 
And in the worst cases, staff shortages left children unsafe.

In some homes, regulation 44 independent visits have not been carried out effectively during the 
pandemic. With ‘visits’ taking place off site, some independent visitors were not doing all they should 
to assure themselves of children’s welfare. This means that homes did not always get the same level of 
independent feedback about how they were functioning.

The ‘market’

The children’s social care ‘market’ remains problematic. Commissioning of specialist services is often 
linked to individual children, and involves high prices and limited choice. This means that commissioners 
are rarely in a good position to negotiate the best care and support for children. A national approach to 
commissioning these specialist services is necessary and long overdue.

The largest private owners of children’s homes have grown, now owning more homes and offering more 
placements. The 21 largest companies own 880 homes, 43% of all private homes. These companies 
accounted for 38% of all growth in the number of private homes this year.66

The 10 largest companies own a third of all children’s homes. This means that the loss of any of the bigger 
providers could leave major gaps in supply.

Meanwhile, our own regulatory powers reflect historical sector operating models. No organisation has the 
responsibility of overseeing the ‘market’ for children’s home places in the same way that the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) does for adults, providing important safeguards against business failure or withdrawal. 
In a dynamic ‘market’ with large providers that operate a considerable proportion of provision, this is a 
serious gap.

65. ‘Ofsted COVID-19 series’, Ofsted, October 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series.
66. ‘Largest national providers of private and voluntary social care (March 2021)’, Ofsted, July 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/

publications/inspection-outcomes-of-the-largest-childrens-social-care-providers/largest-national-providers-of-private-and-voluntary-
social-care-march-2021.

Page 426

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/ofsted-covid-19-series
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspection-outcomes-of-the-largest-childrens-social-care-providers/largest-national-providers-of-private-and-voluntary-social-care-march-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspection-outcomes-of-the-largest-childrens-social-care-providers/largest-national-providers-of-private-and-voluntary-social-care-march-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspection-outcomes-of-the-largest-childrens-social-care-providers/largest-national-providers-of-private-and-voluntary-social-care-march-2021


61www.gov.uk/ofsted

The impact of the pandemic on children in care
Despite clear challenges, many social care providers did a good job of keeping children safe during the 
pandemic, helping them to live as normally as possible in difficult circumstances.67

Providers worked hard to help children keep up with their schoolwork and to keep them motivated. 
Staff and carers appreciated the impact the pandemic was having on children’s health and happiness. 
Many went the extra mile to support children, for example moving into children’s homes to isolate with 
them when children had COVID-19 symptoms.

Children who responded to our social care surveys spoke highly of the support that staff had given them 
during the pandemic.68 This ranged from helping them to understand the restrictions and how to keep 
safe, to making sure they had fun despite repeated lockdowns, to enabling them to keep in touch with 
family and friends.

Social care providers made good use of technology to help children keep in contact with their families 
and social workers. The move to online communication even helped some children who had previously 
found direct contact with family members or social workers stressful. In some instances, it also meant that 
partners could more easily attend multi-agency meetings.

Not all children found it easy to access technology. This affected their ability to learn remotely, access the 
job market, and keep in touch with friends and family.

67. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on children’s social care providers, September 2020’, Ofsted, October 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-providers-september-2020.

68. ‘Children’s social care questionnaires 2021: what children and young people told Ofsted’, Ofsted, October 2020; https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/childrens-social-care-questionnaires-2021-what-children-and-young-people-told-ofsted.

Page 427

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-providers-september-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-providers-september-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-questionnaires-2021-what-children-and-young-people-told-ofsted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-questionnaires-2021-what-children-and-young-people-told-ofsted


62 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

For many children, being locked down in their children’s home led to closer relationships with staff and 
carers. However, for some older children, the restrictions led to increased anxiety, low mood and, in some 
cases, self-harm and/or drug and alcohol misuse. School closures and isolation from friends proved 
particularly difficult for some children in care, as they did for most other children. Disruption to education 
and the challenges of remote learning and home schooling also placed increased demands on carers 
and staff.69

In every kind of provider, strong leadership and committed staff have been central to making the best of 
a very challenging time. But the picture has not been universally positive. Often, public health guidance 
was fit for the adult social care sector rather than the children’s sector, so providers struggled. Access to 
personal protective equipment, testing and wider support was difficult. This all put extra pressure on the 
sector. Providers that were not managing well before the pandemic, because of a lack of structure or 
inadequate leadership or staffing vacancies, were put under even more strain. Many had difficulties 
working with partner agencies or accessing specialist services for children.

Fostering

Most children in care live in foster care. Our visits to fostering agencies this year showed that most 
agencies had adapted well to the unique and varied challenges of the pandemic. They were able to 
respond creatively and sensitively to the individual needs of children and carers, with very limited use 
of the flexibilities permitted by the temporary amendments to regulations.

During the restrictions, foster carers used technology well to help children keep in touch with family and 
friends. But, wherever possible, carers and agencies facilitated face-to-face visits. The combination of 
COVID restrictions and illness sometimes led to increased instability for children but, for many, the time 
spent at home had enabled them to develop stronger relationships with their carers. During lockdowns, 
the best agencies worked well with schools and local authorities to reach appropriate decisions about 
children’s school attendance, and they continued to promote children’s learning effectively.

69. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on children’s social care, September 2020’, Ofsted, October 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-providers-september-2020.

Page 428

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-providers-september-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-providers-september-2020


63www.gov.uk/ofsted

The shortage of foster carers continues to be a concern. As at March 2021, there were around 44,370 
fostering households, the highest number since 2015.70 However, this 2% increase in households occurred 
in the same period as an 11% increase in the number of children in foster care. The Fostering Network 
estimated that 7,300 new foster families were needed over the next 12 months alone.71 Our own research 
into matching of children with foster families suggested that the shortage of fostering families is one of 
the most significant challenges in placing children, leading to undesirable compromises in some cases.72

Two thirds of all households are approved by local authority fostering agencies (rather than 
independent fostering agencies), and over a quarter of these are family and friends (kinship) 
households.73 Kinship carers are under-resourced and often feel undervalued in some local authorities, 
despite providing an important route to a permanent home for many children.

There are clear signs of strain in the system. In 2019–20, a proportion (13%) of brothers and sisters 
assessed for foster care were not placed according to their care plan.74 Foster carers also report being 
asked to take children outside their age approval range, or feeling pressured to accept children they 
are not qualified to look after.75

One quarter of all carers are aged 60 or over.76 Without younger carers coming forward to replace 
older carers as they retire, there may be even more challenges to sufficiency ahead.

70. ‘Fostering in England 2020 to 2021: main findings’, Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-
england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings.

71. ‘Recruitment targets’, The Fostering Network, 2021; https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/advice-information/all-about-fostering/
recruitment-targets.

72. ‘Matching in foster care: making good decisions for children in care and care leavers’, Ofsted, November 2020; https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/matching-in-foster-care-making-good-decisions-for-children-in-care-and-care-leavers.

73. ‘Fostering in England 2020 to 2021: main findings’, Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-
england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings.

74. ‘Fostering in England 2019 to 2020: main findings’, Ofsted, November 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-
england-1-april-2019-to-31-march-2020.

75. ‘State of the nation’s foster care 2019’, The Fostering Network, February 2019; https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/policy-practice/
research/state-nations-foster-care-2019.

76. ‘Fostering in England 2020 to 2021: main findings’, Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-
england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings.

Page 429

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings
https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/advice-information/all-about-fostering/recruitment-targets
https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/advice-information/all-about-fostering/recruitment-targets
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/matching-in-foster-care-making-good-decisions-for-children-in-care-and-care-leavers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/matching-in-foster-care-making-good-decisions-for-children-in-care-and-care-leavers
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2019-to-31-march-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2019-to-31-march-2020
https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/policy-practice/research/state-nations-foster-care-2019
https://www.thefosteringnetwork.org.uk/policy-practice/research/state-nations-foster-care-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fostering-in-england-1-april-2020-to-31-march-2021/fostering-in-england-2020-to-2021-main-findings


64 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Adoption

As at 31 August 2021, there were 37 voluntary adoption agencies in England. This is a fall of a quarter 
from 2019, when the number peaked at 50 after gradually increasing for several years. A number of 
changes have contributed to this fall. One is the introduction of regional adoption agencies. These are 
groups of local authorities, and in some cases voluntary adoption agencies (VAAs), working together to 
deliver regional adoption services. Some VAAs have chosen to close their regional branches that were 
registered separately. In addition, one large VAA with multiple registrations closed during 2019. We do 
not know whether the fall in numbers represents consolidation of capacity or loss of capacity across the 
country. With routine inspection suspended, we did not visit any adoption agencies this year.

We are pleased that the government’s new national adoption strategy sets out plans to review the current 
inspection and regulation arrangements for adoption so they can match the way that services are now 
delivered. It is essential that we can provide the right level of scrutiny and reassurance of all key elements 
of adoption practice.

Secure estate

Secure children’s homes (SCHs) mainly provide places for children who pose a significant risk to others 
or themselves and children who have been placed there on welfare grounds. They also accommodate 
children who are on remand or serving a custodial sentence. The children in SCHs are vulnerable, often 
with very complex needs.

The shortage of secure placements for children placed by local authorities under section 25 of the 
Children Act 1989 or under the inherent jurisdiction of the high court is a long-standing issue. Since 2002, 
16 SCHs have closed. As at March 2021, 13 SCHs remained. When operating at capacity, they offer just 
231 places, of which 101 are for children on remand or serving a custodial sentence, with the remaining 
places for children placed on welfare grounds. This limited number of SCH places means that, even when 
children get a place, they are likely to be living far away from home, which can make family visits harder.

On any given day, around 25 children are waiting for a secure placement. At times there have been 
substantially more, especially when homes have needed to reduce capacity because of COVID-19 
restrictions.77 Additionally, on any given day, around 20 children from English local authorities are living 
in Scottish secure homes, having been placed there due to a lack of places in England. The Scottish 
government has decided not to accept placements from local authorities outside Scotland from 2022, 
which will reduce available places even further. And in some cases, children’s needs are so complex that 
SCHs’ capacity has had to be reduced so that enough staff are available for these children.

During the pandemic, many SCHs also had to reduce the number of children they could look after when 
staff were off sick or had to isolate. With even fewer places available, some local authorities resorted to 
alternative placements. Some of these included unregistered provision, despite the risks this can pose 
for children.

77. ‘Secure children’s homes – helping the most vulnerable children’, Ofsted, June 2020; https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.
uk/2020/06/09/secure-childrens-homes-helping-the-most-vulnerable-children.

Page 430

https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/06/09/secure-childrens-homes-helping-the-most-vulnerable-children
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/06/09/secure-childrens-homes-helping-the-most-vulnerable-children


65www.gov.uk/ofsted

SCHs generally performed well during the pandemic, despite facing these challenges. Children had an 
almost normal routine, including attending face-to-face education. However, new arrivals were required 
to self-isolate for 14-day periods, which only increased anxiety for children who were already emotionally 
vulnerable. In some cases, this resulted in children physically attacking others or self-harming.78

We also carried out assurance visits at the two remaining STCs: Rainsbrook and Oakhill. The Secretary 
of State for Justice is responsible for taking any necessary action to secure improvements.

After a monitoring visit in December 2020 found poor care and leadership at Rainsbrook STC, we issued 
an urgent notification to the Secretary of State for Justice. Inspectors found that children as young 
as 15 were subject to 14-day COVID-19 isolation periods and were only being let out of their rooms 
for 30 minutes a day. This decision by managers at the centre was not justified. In a full inspection 
in June 2021, we found the overall experiences and progress of children to be inadequate, due to 
serious concerns about their care and safety, as well as about leadership and staffing. Following the full 
inspection, we issued a second urgent notification. The Secretary of State for Justice then decided to 
remove all children from Rainsbrook STC.

We also carried out a monitoring visit to Oakhill STC in September 2021. While the focus of the visit was 
narrow, it found serious and widespread concerns about the care and protection of children. Our full 
inspection in October 2021 found the overall experiences and progress of children to be inadequate, with 
serious and widespread concerns about children’s safety and well-being. We issued an urgent notification 
to the Secretary of State for Justice.

Children at risk of harm

In the first months of the pandemic, local authorities saw far fewer referrals to children’s social care due to 
schools being closed to most pupils and the disruption to health services. Referrals remained low in some 
areas even after schools reopened fully in September, giving rise to concerns that neglect, exploitation or 
abuse could be going undetected – although this was not a universal picture.79

Most local authorities had responded quickly and appropriately to children at risk of harm. In most places, 
we saw child-centred, risk-assessed decision-making and sensible use of the flexibilities given by the 
COVID-19 regulations.

The pandemic placed a great deal of pressure on family courts and the family justice system, which were 
already significantly stretched. This in turn affected local authorities’ ability to issue care proceedings to 
protect children. The backlog of public law cases also delayed adoption and special guardianship cases, 
as well as making it harder to return children home or move them out of care, with all that entails for 
children’s well-being. This backlog is continuing to slow down decision-making for children.

78. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on children’s social care, November 2020’, Ofsted, December 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-november-2020.

79. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on children’s social care, October 2020’, Ofsted, November 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-october-2020.

Page 431

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-october-2020


66 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Unregistered provision

In the absence of suitable placements, many local authorities resort to using unregistered provision. 
In recent years, there have been a number of high court cases where judges have reluctantly approved 
unregistered placements for children with complex needs in the absence of suitable registered places.

In December 2020, the President of the Family Division asked courts to notify Ofsted when using their 
inherent jurisdiction to authorise the use of unregistered placements to deprive children of their liberty.

Since then, we have been notified of 33 of these court-ordered placements. None of these settings has 
registered with Ofsted, although one (which is responsible for four placements out of the 33) had an 
application to register refused. Four of the 33 placements are in settings registered with the DfE or CQC.

The average age of children living in these placements is 15. Many have complex mental health needs 
that are defined as ‘untreatable’ by the NHS. As a result, they have nowhere else to go.

This year, we carried out 181 investigations into unregistered providers. Of these:

	● 121 (67%) were found to be unregistered settings

	● 54 (30%) were found not to be unregistered settings (for example unregulated provision for over-16s)80

	● six (3%) are still being investigated.

Care leavers

Local authorities that support their care leavers effectively tend to know their young people well and 
during the pandemic have been able to prioritise tailored, individual support to those who need it most. 

Many care leavers continued to make progress and live with the right support this year. Personal advisers 
and social workers maintained good relationships or increased contact with care leavers, particularly 
young people who were vulnerable or isolated.81 But not every care leaver had a positive experience. 
In some cases, the support that care leavers would normally have received was unavailable or extremely 
difficult to access.

The quality of relationships that care leavers had with their personal advisers and social workers had 
a strong bearing on the support they received during restrictions. Some young people reported frequent 
changes of social worker, leaving them feeling disillusioned and abandoned. For some care leavers, 
these issues were evident before the pandemic, which only magnified them. Some young people 
at university said that they felt as though they had to cope alone.

80. Unregulated provision is allowed in law for older children who need support to live independently rather than needing full-time care. 
Unregulated provision does not need to be registered and Ofsted does not have the power to regulate it.

81. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on children’s social care, October 2020’, Ofsted, November 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-october-2020.

Page 432

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-october-2020


67www.gov.uk/ofsted

Residential special schools and short-break services

Residential special schools could continue to operate throughout the year, although some children stayed 
at home. Inspections from April 2021 showed that barriers to children’s attendance included: the anxiety 
of parents, carers and children; the heightened risks for children with acute health needs; and having to 
choose between staying at school or having physical contact with their families. Some children struggled 
to adapt to restrictions in the school’s environment. This created situations where staff were unable to 
manage children safely, resulting in some exclusions.

Many short-break settings ceased operating during lockdowns, although some offered full-time care for 
highly vulnerable children instead. Once short breaks resumed, the need for ‘bubbles’ meant that some 
settings could take only one or two children at a time. This led to limited opportunities for enrichment 
and socialisation for some children.

Staff in these residential providers found dealing with the pandemic extremely difficult. Staff in some 
residential special schools and homes showed huge commitment by staying for longer shifts or moving 
into the setting to cover colleagues’ absence, forgoing seeing their own family to maintain bubbles with 
the children they were caring for.

Page 433



68 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Local authority children’s services

Throughout the pandemic, critical social care services were still delivered to the most vulnerable children 
and families. Our assurance visits have shown that there has been vital leadership from many directors of 
children’s services and other local authority leaders.

Between September 2020 and August 2021, we visited or inspected half of all local authority children’s 
services departments. All authorities that we visited have been working hard to get back to normality after 
an extremely challenging year. Some managed to make improvements despite the pandemic, while others 
maintained a strong performance. More broadly, we saw good work in response to COVID from local 
authorities with lower ILACS judgements, as well as the more highly rated.

But some areas have struggled. Local authorities performing less well have not yet created an 
environment where good practice can thrive. Common issues include lack of leadership oversight, 
large caseloads and too many children not getting the services to keep them safely with their family. 
Some children, sadly, had experienced harm for far too long before action was taken to keep them safe.

There is no doubt that social care services and all agencies working with children and families are under 
huge pressure from COVID-related challenges. Despite these pressures, we did not find rising thresholds 
to be a common feature. We did find serious or widespread weaknesses in four local authorities, but 
these did not relate to how they applied thresholds in response to referrals. In four other local authorities 
we visited or inspected, we did identify areas for improvement related to thresholds. Two thirds of 
local authorities, working with partners, were making appropriate decisions for children and families 
at the ‘front door’.82 The remaining third fell into two groups (half demonstrating improving practice, 
and the other weaker practice) but not to the extent that inspectors highlighted this as their most 
pressing priority.

82. In a social care context, the ‘front door’ is a term used for the arrangement that local authorities have in place to respond to an initial 
contact from a professional or member of the public who is concerned about a child.

Page 434



69www.gov.uk/ofsted

Cafcass

In April, we introduced a new approach to inspecting the Children and Family Court Advisory and Support 
Service (Cafcass), the organisation that provides specialist social work advice to the family courts.83 
This includes shorter inspections every three years, with more regular contact in between, to build a better 
picture of practice. The new approach brings Cafcass inspections in line with our other inspections of 
children’s social care.

Cafcass has come under extreme pressure over the past year, to the extent that it had to introduce an 
emergency prioritisation protocol in some areas. While closely monitored, this meant that some private 
law cases were deprioritised for a period of time, to allow children at greatest risk to get an order to keep 
them safe.

Our focused visit to Cafcass in April found strong practice in a number of areas, including excellent system 
leadership and swift identification of children at risk of serious harm. Skilled family court advisers worked 
patiently with children, helping them to understand what was happening so that children could tell their 
stories and express their views and worries.

Enforcement work

An important part of our work, which has continued throughout the pandemic, is the regulation of social 
care settings.

In this reporting year, we received 1,040 complaints about 720 providers. This is a higher number 
than in the previous two years, but broadly in line with the increase in the number of providers.84 
Around a quarter of homes were complained about, which is in line with the previous three years.

We also received 160 child protection notifications in the year. This is in line with previous years.

Of these 1,200 complaints and notifications, 970 (80%) had one or more actions recorded by the end 
of August 2021. Cases can have multiple actions taken, so there are nearly 1,500 actions to report.

83. ‘Ofsted to introduce new Cafcass inspections’, Ofsted, March 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/news/ofsted-to-introduce-new-
cafcass-inspections.

84. 960 complaints received in 2019/20 and 990 in 2018/19.

Page 435

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/ofsted-to-introduce-new-cafcass-inspections
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/ofsted-to-introduce-new-cafcass-inspections


70 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Table 4: Number and type of actions taken 2020/21

Action taken Actions taken 2020/21 

Key line of enquiry for next inspection 360

Continued monitoring by allocated inspector 340

Provider-led investigation 310

Monitoring visit 130

Inspection brought forward 64

Compliance and enforcement action 59

Referred to the local authority's child protection team 50

Other action not included in other categories 120

Not for Ofsted 37

Total actions 1,470

1. ‘Other action’ includes any action that does not fall under one of the named categories. An example of this would be a complaint about 
a possible unregistered children’s home.

2. Cases can have multiple actions taken, so there are more actions than cases recorded.

In addition to responding to complaints and child protection notifications, we also take enforcement 
action. Our actions include restrictions of accommodation, suspensions and cancellations. In most 
cases, we take action because of concerns about children’s safety or about the quality of leadership 
and management.

This reporting year, we took 140 enforcement actions against 120 providers. We had multiple concerns 
about most of these providers, sometimes from more than one inspection or visit.

In some of the starkest cases, we heard about children being given drugs, children going missing with no 
action by the home and inappropriate use of physical restraint. More common issues included concerns 
about staffing levels, poor management of children’s behaviour, poor oversight of records, policies and 
procedures not being followed, and poor risk assessment and management.

Enforcement action more often results in the home resigning voluntarily than in Ofsted cancelling the 
registration. Of the 110 children’s homes that resigned in the year, around a third (31 homes) had been 
subject to some form of enforcement activity before resigning.

Page 436



71www.gov.uk/ofsted

Care review
We welcome the independent review of the family support, child protection and care system. Our 
inspection findings show an improving but fragile system.

At their best, strong local social care leaders and partners work proactively with families. They secure the 
timely help and protection of children at risk of significant harm, and they are relentlessly ambitious for 
children in care and care leavers.

In struggling areas, there is a lack of focus on the risks to children and a failure to deliver timely, 
purposeful and effective help and protection. This leaves families unsupported and too many children 
at risk for too long. It also fails to secure timely permanency, and leaves children in care and care leavers 
without the support they need to thrive.

A review is therefore overdue and necessary. It is, in fact, a unique opportunity to create an ambitious and 
joined-up cross-government strategy for at-risk and vulnerable children.

In particular, there needs to be clarity about the funding for and accountability of all partners in providing 
help and protection services. Resources need to be carefully targeted to help children remain safely with 
their family, whenever possible preventing the need for more intrusive state intervention. For the children 
who need to be in care, we urgently need the right range and volume of fostering and residential places, as 
well as the right support for adoption and kinship families. Support for care leavers into early adulthood also 
needs considerable improvement to secure better education and employment opportunities and outcomes, 
as well as better physical and mental health. Beyond this, the care regulations need urgently updating to set 
sufficiently high standards while responding to the changing care market and gaps in oversight.

Page 437



72 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills
Page 438



73www.gov.uk/ofsted

Area SEND
As we have said throughout this report, children and young people with SEND have been 
disproportionately affected by the pandemic. Their families and those who work with them have also 
faced significant challenges over the past year. However, not all local areas rose fully to the challenge 
across all of education, health and care. And sadly, few of the negative experiences that many had this 
year are new: there are long-standing issues in the SEND system. The pandemic has only served to 
highlight these issues and deepen their effects.

Since 2016, we have worked with CQC on joint inspections to judge how well areas fulfil their 
responsibilities for children and young people with SEND.85

This year, children and families have told us about missed and narrowed education, the absence of 
essential services (such as physiotherapy or speech and language therapy) and long waiting times for 
assessment and treatment. Many families were exhausted, even despairing, particularly when they were 
persistently unable to access essential services for their children.

85. The local area includes the local authority, clinical commissioning groups, public health, NHS England for specialist services, early years 
settings, schools and FE providers. For further information, see ‘Joint inspections of local area special educational needs or disabilities 
(or both) provision’, Care Quality Commission and Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-
send-inspections-information-for-families/joint-inspections-of-local-area-send-provision.

Page 439

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-send-inspections-information-for-families/joint-inspections-of-local-area-send-provision
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-area-send-inspections-information-for-families/joint-inspections-of-local-area-send-provision


74 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

What we did this year
We carried out six interim visits to local areas with CQC in autumn 2020 and four more during spring 
2021. We used a case-study approach that focused on a sample of children and young people with 
SEND to examine their experiences of support during the pandemic. During these visits, inspectors spoke 
to parents and carers, along with education, health and social care practitioners. Inspectors also met 
education, health, social care and children’s services leaders. We published two briefing notes and a report 
setting out our findings.86,87

In summer 2021, we and CQC made eight full inspections and eight re-visits.

86. ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on local areas’ SEND provision, October 2020’, Ofsted, November 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-october-2020; ‘COVID-19 series: briefing on local areas’ SEND 
provision, November 2020’, Ofsted, December 2020; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-
areas-send-provision-november-2020.

87. ‘SEND: old issues, new issues, next steps’, Ofsted, June 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-
next-steps/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps.

Page 440

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps


75www.gov.uk/ofsted

State of the nation
By the end of August 2021, we had inspected 123 areas. Twenty-six areas remain to be inspected under 
this framework.88,89

Just over half (66 out of 123) of those inspected have been required to produce and submit a written 
statement of action (WSoA), an indication of significant weaknesses. Of the eight areas inspected in 
this reporting year, seven required a WSoA.

Figure 15: Area SEND inspection outcomes: 31 August 2021
Figures represent number of areas

57 2666

80 20No written statement of action           Written statement of action required          Not inspected

1. Includes inspections carried out between 1 May 2016 and 31 July 2021 with a report published by 31 October 2021.
2. Dorset was inspected before local government boundary changes in April 2019 and is not included in the figures. It required a WSoA.
3. Northamptonshire was inspected before local government boundary changes in April 2021 and is not included in the figures. It did not require 

a WSoA.

88. Dorset was inspected before local government boundary changes in April 2019 and is not included in the figures. It required a WSoA.
89. Northamptonshire was inspected before local government boundary changes in April 2021 and is not included in the figures. It did not 

require a WSoA.

Page 441



76 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Re-visits

Ofsted and CQC carry out re-visits to determine whether areas have made sufficient progress. The first 
re-visit was in December 2018. By the end of August 2021, we had carried out a total of 29 re-visits, 
including eight this year.90

Inspectors found that almost all areas were making at least some progress. Of these:

	● just over a third (11) were making sufficient progress in addressing all significant weaknesses

	● the majority (17) had made progress in addressing some significant weaknesses

	● one area was found to have not made sufficient progress in addressing any of its significant weaknesses.

Of the eight re-visited areas this reporting year, two were making sufficient progress, with the remaining 
six deemed to have made some progress.

Figure 16: Area SEND re-visit outcomes: 31 August 2021
Figures represent number of areas

11 117

80 20

Sufficient progress has been
made in addressing some
significant weaknesses

Insufficient progress has
been made in addressing
any significant weaknesses

Sufficient progress has been
made in addressing all
significant weaknesses

1. Includes re-visits carried out between 1 December 2018 and 31 July 2021 with a report published by 31 October 2021.
2. Dorset received a re-visit before local government boundary changes in April 2019 and is not included in the figures. It was deemed to be 

making sufficient progress in addressing some significant weaknesses.

The next steps for areas that have not addressed all significant weaknesses are determined by the DfE and 
NHS England, and may include the Secretary of State using their powers of intervention.91

90. Dorset received a re-visit before local government boundary changes in April 2019 and is not included in the figures. It was deemed to be 
making sufficient progress in addressing some significant weaknesses.

91. A small minority of areas (three out of 29) have been issued an improvement notice or statutory direction by the DfE. ‘Improvement notices 
and directions’, Department for Education, October 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/improvement-notices.

Page 442

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/improvement-notices


77www.gov.uk/ofsted

Impact of the pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted established routines for many families of children with SEND. 
Some families struggled without specialist support and some of the informal and family support networks.  
Families spoke about their child’s regression, their own emerging mental health difficulties, the challenges 
of explaining restrictions to their children, or real concerns about the risks the virus posed to their 
child’s health.

However, some children and families reported positive experiences. Some children who remained 
in education flourished with smaller class sizes and more support. Others enjoyed being at home 
and made progress.

During the pandemic, some practitioners increased their monitoring of vulnerable children and young 
people, including linking up with community policing teams for welfare visits, and carrying out additional 
home visits for those with SEND. However, some children and young people were still exposed to 
increased levels of abuse and neglect while at home or in care.

Risk assessments for children and young people with EHC plans continued in many cases. However, 
we found that not all families were consulted during the risk assessment process. Some said they were 
unaware that a risk assessment had been carried out. In a small number of areas, the pandemic-related 
risks for disabled children were not assessed at all. We also found that, in some areas, children and young 
people with SEND missed out on support because their high COVID-19 risk meant that non-pandemic-
related risks were sidelined.

Many in-person services were cancelled or curtailed, including short breaks, physiotherapy and 
occupational therapy. As a result, some parents and carers reported that children had regressed in 
communication skills and in wider learning. In several areas, access to child and adolescent mental health 
services was a particular concern. The lack of services overall left some parents and carers feeling isolated, 
exhausted or unable to fill in gaps in support. Without access to their usual services, some children and 
young people with SEND were left in pain, immobile or unable to communicate properly.

Page 443



78 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Furthermore, school and college leaders felt that children and young people needed additional mental 
health support and that extra pastoral provision for those with SEND was important. Some examples of 
extra support being provided included:

	● one-to-one sessions

	● additional personal, social, health and economic education

	● COVID-19-themed lessons or bought-in pastoral support services.

We do not, however, know how much this benefited children.

Practitioners working with children and young people with SEND have found the pandemic personally 
and professionally difficult. Many leaders said that rapid changes to working practice, having to learn to 
use new technologies and having to work at a faster pace and for longer hours had all been stressful for 
them and for their teams. For example, we were told that staff in some residential special schools and 
homes took on longer shifts or moved into a setting to cover in colleagues’ absence, sometimes at the 
expense of seeing their own families.

We did, however, also hear from practitioners that working collectively in a pressured environment created 
a team spirit that had some real benefits. They talked about everyone ‘pulling together’ to encourage one 
another and do the best they could for children and young people. Evidence from our interim area SEND 
visits shows that agencies had worked together more closely to support children and young people than 
they had previously.

The SEND system

In most areas visited in our eight inspections over summer 2021, new leadership or a refreshed system 
has led to increased urgency around SEND work and a greater focus on understanding what is (or is not) 
working well. Leaders from different disciplines were working more collaboratively. Collaboration between 
staff and parents and carers is also key. In some of the areas we visited, this was a significant strength, 
with parents and carers involved at every stage of system design and decision-making. In others, however, 
this relationship was fractured, and some parents had lost faith.

Our inspections also revealed good work and innovative projects in some local areas during the pandemic. 
For example, health visitors in one area realised that their virtual appointments, while useful, did not 
identify some emerging needs. They subsequently introduced an additional point of contact with parents 
before children started nursery.

In most areas inspected this year, the quality of EHC plans remained weak. In too many cases, they had 
not been updated when a child or young person’s needs changed, or when they reached a transition point. 
This means that some children and young people did not have their needs identified accurately. In most of 
the areas, overview of the quality of EHC plans and the annual review process were weaknesses.

Waiting times also remained a concern in most areas, especially for diagnoses of autism spectrum disorder. 
In some areas, families could not get support while they waited for assessment.

Page 444



79www.gov.uk/ofsted

SEND review
Given the context outlined above, the government’s SEND review is very much welcomed. Although 
the review has been unavoidably delayed by the pandemic, it will clearly be no less important when 
it is published.

We hope that the review clarifies the purpose of the SEND system, outlines changes that will result in 
SEND being identified accurately and early, embeds evidence-based provision that enables all children 
and young people to make the best possible progress, and clarifies the roles, responsibilities and 
accountabilities of all partners in the system. Parents cannot be the driving force in ensuring that agencies 
work together, as they too often are. This must be a cross-government effort.

The needs of some children and young people with SEND can be met in the classroom, while others will 
require additional support across education, health and care. It is important not to automatically conflate 
all types of SEND support with specialist provision and multi-agency arrangements. Whatever the level 
of support required, it is vital that all those with SEND receive a high-quality education, an ambitious 
curriculum and enough time to learn the essential knowledge and skills they need.

Page 445



80 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills
Page 446



81www.gov.uk/ofsted

Teacher education
Initial teacher education
The purpose of teacher training is to make sure that trainee teachers, in all sectors, are prepared to a high 
professional standard. The initial teacher education (ITE) experience must equip them with the knowledge 
and skills to teach all pupils and learners well.

In 2021, after earlier pilots, we introduced a new framework for inspecting ITE. This puts a much greater 
emphasis on the quality of the ITE curriculum.

As the effort to get children back on track continues, the teaching profession needs a flow of consistently 
good new teachers, ready to start teaching and play their part in education recovery.

What we did

Inspections under the new framework were suspended during the spring term. Instead, we looked at the 
impact of COVID-19 on ITE provision, including on the quality of ITE curriculums.92 We carried out remote 
research visits to 75 ITE providers and partnerships: about a third of the sector.

We started inspections under the new framework in summer 2021. We inspected 36 age phases 
in the year.

State of the nation

There are around 250 providers and partnerships (covering 420 age phases) that train teachers 
through school-centred initial teacher training (SCITT), higher education institutions (HEIs) and college 
providers.93

The new framework intentionally raises the bar on the quality of education and training provided to 
trainee teachers. In 2021, one age-phase partnership was judged outstanding, 16 good, 12 requires 
improvement and seven inadequate.94 These grades may not be representative of the whole sector 
because it is a small sample, and we prioritised new providers not previously inspected and those not 
inspected for the longest time. This also means that the evidence base is too small to make any comment 
on the effectiveness by type of provider.

92. ‘Teaching teachers during COVID-19’, Ofsted, May 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teaching-teachers-during-
covid-19/teaching-teachers-during-covid-19.

93. ‘Initial teacher education: inspections and outcomes as at 31 August 2021’, Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/initial-teacher-education-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021.

94. ‘Initial teacher education: inspections and outcomes as at 31 August 2021’, Ofsted, November 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/initial-teacher-education-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021.

Page 447

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teaching-teachers-during-covid-19/teaching-teachers-during-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teaching-teachers-during-covid-19/teaching-teachers-during-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/initial-teacher-education-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/initial-teacher-education-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/initial-teacher-education-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/initial-teacher-education-inspections-and-outcomes-as-at-31-august-2021


82 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Figure 17: Overall effectiveness of ITE by age phase: 31 August 2021

Early years
(16)

Further education
(35)

Primary and
secondary (67)

Primary
(110)

Secondary
(120)

All age phases
(350)

Outstanding

Good

Requires improvement

Inadequate

121 211 12 5

39 82 3

47 55 5

28 36 1 2

5 26 2 2

2 12 1 1

Number of providers in brackets (rounded)

1. An ITE provider with more than one age phase will have a separate judgement for each (but see note 2). In general, the number of providers 
inspected is not the same as the total number of age phases inspected.

2. When a provider offering primary and secondary training only has a small number of trainees, Ofsted may inspect both phases simultaneously 
and produce a combined judgement for both primary and secondary training. 

Teacher education during the pandemic

Due to the pandemic, trainees may not yet have had enough time to apply what they have learned in 
the classroom. Trainees are particularly behind in their experience of managing behaviour, and many in 
the primary phase have had limited experience of teaching early reading, including systematic synthetic 
phonics. All trainees are likely to need some additional support in their first year of teaching, and possibly 
longer, to make up for these shortfalls.

However, we found that too few providers and partnerships have a sufficiently ambitious ITE curriculum 
for their trainees.95 This is equally true for SCITT providers and HEIs. Leaders were aware of the DfE’s 
statutory minimum curriculum entitlement for trainees set out in the ITT core content framework where 
this applied to their phase.96 However, most had not yet fully incorporated it into their curriculum plans.

Too many relied too heavily on placement experiences for learning the curriculum and this was a problem 
for both HEIs and SCITT providers. Some ITE curriculums contained very little subject-specific content 
to be taught during centre-based training, and so the quality of education depended mainly on what 
happened during the school or college placements. We also found that some mentors were relying too 
much on trainees to let them know what they had already learned and what they needed to work on, 
rather than making sure trainees were getting the essential building blocks. This was particularly apparent 
in the early years and primary phases, where learning subject fundamentals, like early reading, is essential.

95. ‘Teaching teachers during COVID-19’, Ofsted, May 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teaching-teachers-during-
covid-19.

96. The core content framework only applies to primary and secondary phases.

Page 448

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teaching-teachers-during-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teaching-teachers-during-covid-19


83www.gov.uk/ofsted

Although the pandemic has been an immense challenge for providers and partnerships and their trainees, 
the move to remote training and remote teaching has, in some cases, stimulated deeper and more 
connected thinking about the ITE curriculum. Providers and partnerships have generally either maintained 
or improved access to the ITE curriculum for those with caring responsibilities, and have worked 
particularly hard to support trainees with their well-being.

Wider issues with weaker providers and partnerships

Many issues in weaker providers and partnerships stem from leadership at a strategic level, such as 
inaccuracies with self-evaluation and priorities that do not focus closely enough on areas needing 
improvement. Teacher training schools may not be involved in decision-making, for example with 
recruitment of new trainees. Quality assurance systems and procedures are often ineffective, especially 
where these relate to the quality of the mentoring programme and the design and implementation 
of the ITE curriculum.

In weaker providers, the curriculum is typically not well developed. Some partnerships have not 
incorporated the core content framework (a mandatory minimum requirement for the primary and 
secondary age phases) within their curriculum planning or have done so in a superficial way. Some staff 
in partnerships do not work closely together to ensure that knowledge taught at the centre is practised 
by the trainees on placement. In the primary phase, this can mean trainees are limited in their 
understanding of teaching different subjects, particularly early reading, including systematic synthetic 
phonics. In FE and skills, programmes can rely too heavily on the expertise of individual mentors, rather 
than a carefully planned and sequenced curriculum.

The quality of mentoring programmes varies. For example, some mentors do not understand how to 
review and support trainees’ progress, nor how to set effective targets linked to the ITE curriculum. 
Training and support for mentors are sometimes inconsistent, and mentors need more information to align 
their mentoring with other elements of the training programme.

Page 449



84 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Assessment of trainees is not always effective. Weaker providers misapply the teachers’ standards 
as a formative assessment tool. Targets are set against end-of-course expectations rather than against 
what trainees should be learning.

Weaker providers do not fully develop trainees’ subject knowledge and planning skills, which leaves some 
with a limited or an incomplete understanding. In the primary phase, for example, training in foundation 
subjects is superficial, especially relating to subject knowledge. In the secondary phase, trainees do not 
routinely learn what is special and unique about their subjects.

The early career framework and national professional qualifications
We support the government’s ambition to improve training and development opportunities for qualified 
teachers, making teaching an attractive career that recruits and retains the best professionals. As everyone 
works hard to get children back on track, this could not be more important.

Earlier this year, the DfE announced the roll-out of the early career framework (ECF) and a suite of 
reformed national professional qualifications (NPQs) for teachers and school leaders, available from 
autumn this year.97,98 As part of this, the DfE also confirmed that DfE-funded lead providers delivering 
the ECF and NPQs will be inspected by Ofsted.

Quality assuring ECF training and NPQs builds on our existing role inspecting ITE. It will give us oversight 
of training and development for trainee, early career and established teachers.

We are devising a new inspection framework and handbook for this work. The framework will assess how 
DfE-funded lead providers provide high-quality training and professional development aligned with the 
contents of the ECF and the NPQs. We expect inspections to begin in summer 2022.

We will also be carrying out an independent review of teacher development as part of our evaluation of 
education recovery.99 This will include an assessment of the implementation and impact of the ECF and 
NPQs on the quality of teaching and leadership. We will publish the results of this work in early 2023 
and early 2024.

97. ‘Early career framework reforms: overview’, Ofsted, June 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-career-framework-
reforms-overview/early-career-framework-reforms-overview.

98. ‘National professional qualifications (NPQs) reforms’, Ofsted, October 2021; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
professional-qualifications-npqs-reforms/national-professional-qualifications-npqs-reforms.

99. ‘Ofsted’s independent review of teachers’ professional development: terms of reference’, Ofsted, September 2021; https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/ofsteds-independent-review-of-teachers-professional-development.

Page 450

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-career-framework-reforms-overview/early-career-framework-reforms-overview
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-career-framework-reforms-overview/early-career-framework-reforms-overview
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-professional-qualifications-npqs-reforms/national-professional-qualifications-npqs-reforms
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-professional-qualifications-npqs-reforms/national-professional-qualifications-npqs-reforms
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsteds-independent-review-of-teachers-professional-development
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsteds-independent-review-of-teachers-professional-development


85www.gov.uk/ofsted

Bibliography: Ofsted’s publications 
this year
A list of Ofsted’s publications on GOV.UK in this reporting period, 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021.

Research and analysis
‘Governing in unprecedented times’, 11 September 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/governing-in-unprecedented-times.

‘Subcontracting in further education and skills’, 16 September 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/subcontracting-in-further-education-and-skills.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on children’s social care providers, September 2020’, 6 October 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-
providers-september-2020.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on schools, September 2020’, 6 October 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-september-2020.

‘Matching in foster care: making good decisions for children in care and care leavers’, 6 November 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/matching-in-foster-care-making-good-decisions-for-
children-in-care-and-care-leavers.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on schools, October 2020’, 10 November 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-october-2020.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on further education and skills, October 2020’, 10 November 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-further-education-and-
skills-october-2020.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on local areas’ SEND provision, October 2020’, 10 November 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-
october-2020.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on early years, October 2020’, 10 November 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-early-years-october-2020.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on children’s social care, October 2020’, 10 November 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-
october-2020.

‘“Feeling heard”: partner agencies working together to make a difference for children with mental 
ill health’, 9 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/feeling-heard-partner-agencies-working-together-to-
make-a-difference-for-children-with-mental-ill-health.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on schools, November 2020’, 15 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-november-2020.

Page 451

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/governing-in-unprecedented-times
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/subcontracting-in-further-education-and-skills
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-providers-september-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-providers-september-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-september-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/matching-in-foster-care-making-good-decisions-for-children-in-care-and-care-leavers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/matching-in-foster-care-making-good-decisions-for-children-in-care-and-care-leavers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-further-education-and-skills-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-further-education-and-skills-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-early-years-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-october-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/feeling-heard-partner-agencies-working-together-to-make-a-difference-for-children-with-mental-ill-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/feeling-heard-partner-agencies-working-together-to-make-a-difference-for-children-with-mental-ill-health
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-schools-november-2020


86 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on local areas’ SEND provision, November 2020’, 15 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-
november-2020. .

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on children’s social care, November 2020’, 15 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-
november-2020.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on early years, November 2020’, 15 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-early-years-november-2020.

‘COVID-19 series: briefing on further education and skills, November 2020’, 15 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-further-education-and-
skills-november-2020.

‘Social care questionnaires 2020: what children and young people told Ofsted’, 16 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-questionnaires-2020-what-children-and-
young-people-told-ofsted.

‘Remote education research’, 25 January 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-research.

‘The education of children living in children’s homes’, 17 February 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-education-of-children-living-in-childrens-homes.

‘Remote education and SEND’, 2 March 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-and-send.

‘Principles behind Ofsted’s research reviews and subject reports’, 30 March 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/principles-behind-ofsteds-research-reviews-and-subject-
reports.

‘Research review series: science’, 29 April 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-science.

‘Research review series: religious education’, 12 May 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-religious-education.

‘Supporting SEND’, 13 May 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-send.

‘Teaching teachers during COVID-19’, 19 May 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teaching-teachers-during-covid-19.

‘Research review series: mathematics’, 25 May 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-mathematics.

‘Research review series: languages’, 7 June 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-research-review-series-languages.

Page 452

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-local-areas-send-provision-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-childrens-social-care-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-early-years-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-further-education-and-skills-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-series-briefing-on-further-education-and-skills-november-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-questionnaires-2020-what-children-and-young-people-told-ofsted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-care-questionnaires-2020-what-children-and-young-people-told-ofsted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-research
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-education-of-children-living-in-childrens-homes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/remote-education-and-send
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/principles-behind-ofsteds-research-reviews-and-subject-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/principles-behind-ofsteds-research-reviews-and-subject-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-science
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-religious-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/supporting-send
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/teaching-teachers-during-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-mathematics
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/curriculum-research-review-series-languages


87www.gov.uk/ofsted

‘Review of sexual abuse in schools and colleges’, 9 June 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-sexual-abuse-in-schools-and-colleges.

‘SEND: old issues, new issues, next steps’, 16 June 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps.

‘Children’s social care questionnaires 2021: what children and young people told Ofsted’, 18 June 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-questionnaires-2021-what-
children-and-young-people-told-ofsted.

‘Research review series: music’, 12 July 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-music.

‘Research review series: history’, 14 July 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-history.

‘Children’s homes providing short breaks’, 10 August 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-homes-providing-short-breaks.

Commentaries
‘HMCI commentary: findings from visits in September’, 6 October 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-findings-from-visits-in-september.

‘HMCI commentary: findings from visits in October’, 10 November 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-findings-from-visits-in-october.

‘HMCI commentary: findings from visits in November’, 15 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-findings-from-visits-in-november.

‘Evaluating the education inspection framework: for schools and further education and skills providers’, 
21 May 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/evaluating-the-education-inspection-framework-for-
schools-and-further-education-and-skills-providers.

‘HMCI commentary: putting children and young people with SEND at the heart of our recovery plans’, 
16 June 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-putting-children-and-young-people-
with-send-at-the-heart-of-our-recovery-plans.

‘Research commentary: teaching about sex, sexual orientation and gender reassignment’, 6 July 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/research-commentary-teaching-about-sex-sexual-
orientation-and-gender-reassignment.

Page 453

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-sexual-abuse-in-schools-and-colleges
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-old-issues-new-issues-next-steps
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-questionnaires-2021-what-children-and-young-people-told-ofsted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-social-care-questionnaires-2021-what-children-and-young-people-told-ofsted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-music
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/research-review-series-history
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/childrens-homes-providing-short-breaks
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-findings-from-visits-in-september
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-findings-from-visits-in-october
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-findings-from-visits-in-november
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/evaluating-the-education-inspection-framework-for-schools-and-further-education-and-skills-providers
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/evaluating-the-education-inspection-framework-for-schools-and-further-education-and-skills-providers
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-putting-children-and-young-people-with-send-at-the-heart-of-our-recovery-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/hmci-commentary-putting-children-and-young-people-with-send-at-the-heart-of-our-recovery-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/research-commentary-teaching-about-sex-sexual-orientation-and-gender-reassignment
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/research-commentary-teaching-about-sex-sexual-orientation-and-gender-reassignment


88 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Blogs
Education

‘“We’re not here to make life difficult”: our further education and skills visits’, 30 September 2020;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/09/30/were-not-here-to-make-life-difficult-our-further-
education-and-skills-visits/.

‘The trust in testing times: the role of multi-academy trusts during the pandemic’, 19 January 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/01/19/the-trust-in-testing-times-the-role-of-multi-
academy-trusts-during-the-pandemic/.

‘Apprenticeships in challenging times’, 10 February 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/02/10/apprenticeships-in-challenging-times/.

‘Our education inspection handbooks have changed. What’s new? What do you need to know?’, 
19 April 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/19/our-education-inspection-handbooks-have-
changed-whats-new-what-do-you-need-to-know/.

‘Early years inspection handbooks: what you need to know’, 19 April 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/19/early-years-inspection-handbooks-what-you-
need-to-know/.

‘FES handbook changes: what you need to know’, 19 April 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/19/fes-handbook-changes-what-you-need-to-
know/.

‘Spring term monitoring inspections – moving forward, despite the challenges’, 21 April 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/21/spring-term-monitoring-inspections-moving-
forward-despite-the-challenges/.

‘History in outstanding primary schools’, 27 April 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/27/history-in-outstanding-primary-schools/.

‘Languages in outstanding primary schools’, 4 May 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/04/languages-in-outstanding-primary-schools/.

‘Geography in outstanding primary schools’, 11 May 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/11/geography-in-outstanding-primary-schools/.

‘As education recovers, let’s make sure our new teachers hit the ground running’, 19 May 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/19/as-education-recovers-lets-make-sure-our-new-
teachers-hit-the-ground-running/.

‘Our inspections of professional development for teachers – what to expect’, 8 June 2021;  
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/06/08/our-inspections-of-professional-development-
for-teachers-what-to-expect/.

Page 454

https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/09/30/were-not-here-to-make-life-difficult-our-further-education-and-skills-visits/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/09/30/were-not-here-to-make-life-difficult-our-further-education-and-skills-visits/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/01/19/the-trust-in-testing-times-the-role-of-multi-academy-trusts-during-the-pandemic/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/01/19/the-trust-in-testing-times-the-role-of-multi-academy-trusts-during-the-pandemic/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/02/10/apprenticeships-in-challenging-times/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/19/our-education-inspection-handbooks-have-changed-whats-new-what-do-you-need-to-know/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/19/our-education-inspection-handbooks-have-changed-whats-new-what-do-you-need-to-know/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/19/early-years-inspection-handbooks-what-you-need-to-know/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/19/early-years-inspection-handbooks-what-you-need-to-know/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/19/fes-handbook-changes-what-you-need-to-know/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/19/fes-handbook-changes-what-you-need-to-know/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/21/spring-term-monitoring-inspections-moving-forward-despite-the-challenges/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/21/spring-term-monitoring-inspections-moving-forward-despite-the-challenges/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/04/27/history-in-outstanding-primary-schools/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/04/languages-in-outstanding-primary-schools/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/11/geography-in-outstanding-primary-schools/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/19/as-education-recovers-lets-make-sure-our-new-teachers-hit-the-ground-running/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/19/as-education-recovers-lets-make-sure-our-new-teachers-hit-the-ground-running/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/06/08/our-inspections-of-professional-development-for-teachers-what-to-expect/
https://educationinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/06/08/our-inspections-of-professional-development-for-teachers-what-to-expect/


89www.gov.uk/ofsted

Social care

‘Our regulatory work during lockdown’, 1 October 2020;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/10/01/our-regulatory-work-during-lockdown/.

‘This week, let’s stop and think of care leavers’, 28 October 2020;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/10/28/this-week-lets-stop-and-think-of-care-leavers/.

‘An extraordinary year: Ofsted’s Annual Report’, 11 December 2020;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/12/11/an-extraordinary-year-ofsteds-annual-report/.

‘An unusual Christmas’, 21 December 2020;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/12/21/an-unusual-christmas/.

‘Ofsted ratings and “hard to place” children’, 27 January 2021;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/01/27/ofsted-ratings-and-hard-to-place-children/.

‘The education of children in children’s homes’, 17 February 2021;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/02/17/the-education-of-children-in-childrens-homes/.

‘The Care Review – a rare, not to be missed opportunity’, 11 March 2021;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/03/11/the-care-review-a-rare-not-to-be-missed-
opportunity/.

‘Foster Care Fortnight – time to celebrate the fostering community’, 10 May 2021;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/10/foster-care-fortnight-time-to-celebrate-the-
fostering-community/.

‘In care during COVID-19 – what children told us about lockdown’, 25 May 2021;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/25/in-care-during-covid-19-what-children-told-us-
about-lockdown/.

‘The early years sector – a changing picture’, 30 June 2021;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/06/30/the-early-years-sector-a-changing-picture/.

‘Care leavers – please give us your views!’, 2 July 2021;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/07/02/care-leavers-please-give-us-your-views/.

‘Ofsted’s response to the Case for Change’, 25 August 2021;  
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/08/25/ofsteds-response-to-the-case-for-change/.

Page 455

https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/10/01/our-regulatory-work-during-lockdown/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/10/28/this-week-lets-stop-and-think-of-care-leavers/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/12/11/an-extraordinary-year-ofsteds-annual-report/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2020/12/21/an-unusual-christmas/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/01/27/ofsted-ratings-and-hard-to-place-children/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/02/17/the-education-of-children-in-childrens-homes/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/03/11/the-care-review-a-rare-not-to-be-missed-opportunity/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/03/11/the-care-review-a-rare-not-to-be-missed-opportunity/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/10/foster-care-fortnight-time-to-celebrate-the-fostering-community/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/10/foster-care-fortnight-time-to-celebrate-the-fostering-community/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/25/in-care-during-covid-19-what-children-told-us-about-lockdown/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/05/25/in-care-during-covid-19-what-children-told-us-about-lockdown/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/06/30/the-early-years-sector-a-changing-picture/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/07/02/care-leavers-please-give-us-your-views/
https://socialcareinspection.blog.gov.uk/2021/08/25/ofsteds-response-to-the-case-for-change/


90 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills

Speeches
‘Amanda Spielman at NCASC 2020’, 6 November 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-at-ncasc-2020.

‘Amanda Spielman launches Ofsted’s Annual Report 2019/20’, 1 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-launches-ofsteds-annual-report-201920.

‘Amanda Spielman’s speech at the ASCL Annual Conference 2021’, 17 March 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielmans-speech-at-the-ascl-annual-
conference-2021.

‘Amanda Spielman at the 2021 Annual Apprenticeship Conference’, 28 April 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-at-the-2021-annual-apprenticeship-
conference.

‘Ofsted’s Chief Inspector at the Festival of Education, 2021’, 24 June 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/ofsteds-chief-inspector-at-the-festival-of-education-2021.

‘Amanda Spielman at the 2021 ADCS conference’, 9 July 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-at-the-2021-adcs-conference.

Correspondence (published for transparency and information)
‘Schools and early education inspection update: academic year 2020 to 2021’, 1 October 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-and-early-education-inspection-update-
academic-year-2020-to-2021.

‘Letter from Amanda Spielman to the Secretary of State for Justice about Rainsbrook Secure Training 
Centre’, 18 December 2020;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/letter-from-amanda-spielman-to-the-secretary-of-state-
for-justice-about-rainsbrook-secure-training-centre.

‘Amanda Spielman letter to the Secretary of State for Justice about Rainsbrook Secure Training Centre’, 
18 June 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/amanda-spielman-letter-to-the-secretary-of-state-for-
justice-about-rainsbrook-secure-training-centre.

‘Ofsted’s response to The Case for Change’, 25 August 2021;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsteds-response-to-the-case-for-change.

Page 456

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-at-ncasc-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-launches-ofsteds-annual-report-201920
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielmans-speech-at-the-ascl-annual-conference-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielmans-speech-at-the-ascl-annual-conference-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-at-the-2021-annual-apprenticeship-conference
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-at-the-2021-annual-apprenticeship-conference
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/ofsteds-chief-inspector-at-the-festival-of-education-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/amanda-spielman-at-the-2021-adcs-conference
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-and-early-education-inspection-update-academic-year-2020-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/schools-and-early-education-inspection-update-academic-year-2020-to-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/letter-from-amanda-spielman-to-the-secretary-of-state-for-justice-about-rainsbrook-secure-training-centre
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/letter-from-amanda-spielman-to-the-secretary-of-state-for-justice-about-rainsbrook-secure-training-centre
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/amanda-spielman-letter-to-the-secretary-of-state-for-justice-about-rainsbrook-secure-training-centre
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/amanda-spielman-letter-to-the-secretary-of-state-for-justice-about-rainsbrook-secure-training-centre
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ofsteds-response-to-the-case-for-change


91www.gov.uk/ofsted

Official statistics and management information
‘Area SEND statistics’;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/area-send-statistics.

‘Children’s social care statistics’;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/childrens-social-care-statistics.

‘Early years and childcare statistics’;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/early-years-and-childcare-statistics.

‘Further education and skills statistics’;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/further-education-and-skills-inspection-outcomes.

‘Initial teacher education statistics’;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/initial-teacher-education-inspections-and-outcomes.

‘Non-association independent schools statistics’;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/independent-schools-inspections-and-outcomes.

‘State-funded schools statistics’;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/maintained-schools-and-academies-inspections-and-
outcomes-official-statistics.

‘Unregistered schools management information’;  
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/unregistered-schools-management-information.

For a more interactive look at changes in inspection outcomes over time, please visit the regional 
performance sections of Ofsted’s Data View pages;  
https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/ofsted/viz/Dataview/Viewregionalperformanceovertime. 

Page 457

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/area-send-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/childrens-social-care-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/early-years-and-childcare-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/further-education-and-skills-inspection-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/initial-teacher-education-inspections-and-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/independent-schools-inspections-and-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/maintained-schools-and-academies-inspections-and-outcomes-official-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/maintained-schools-and-academies-inspections-and-outcomes-official-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/unregistered-schools-management-information
https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/ofsted/viz/Dataview/Viewregionalperformanceovertime


92 Annual Report 2020/21: Education, children’s services and skills
Page 458



93www.gov.uk/ofsted
Page 459



E02690552

978-1-5286-2984-3
Page 460



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Our Time Annual Report 2020/2021 
 
Our Time is an all ability youth forum committed to championing the voice of young people.  
We are a group of young people with different Special Educational Needs and Disabilities.  
The Forum is run by young people for young people between the ages of 14 – 25, with the 
support of Young Peoples Advice Centre (SEND IASS) 
 
Our aim is to: 

• Ensure young people’s voices are heard 

• Raise awareness of what young people want 

• Campaign for change 

• Ensure that everyone knows what their rights are 

• Meet new people 

• Gain new experiences  
 

“Our Time Forum gives us as a voice to ensure that leaders in Tower Hamlets know what 
Young People want.” 
 
“We want other young people locally to have their voice” 
 
“Our Ambassadors go out and help people understand what its like to be a young person 
with special needs so we can make things better for other young people like us” 
 

2020 – 2021 
 
This year has been a difficult one for everyone but particularly for us as Young People with 
SEND.  Many of the projects we had planned for this year have not been possible because of 
COVID.  We had been invited to the Houses of Parliament and were looking forward to going 
but this had to be postponed until it is safe and has now been rearranged.  Other sessions 
we had organised with Young People or Professionals, including the SENCO Conference, also 
had to be postponed or cancelled but as the year has progressed we have learnt to do more 
virtually and plan to do even more next year. 
 
We have continued to meet monthly to support each other and look at difficulties that 
Young People are struggling with especially during COVID.  We have discussed how difficult 
it has been for many of us to get additional support during this time, so being able to meet 
other Young People and talk about this has been really helpful. 

Page 461



We really enjoyed meeting the new Director, James Thomas, to tell him more about what 
we do, and we look forward to meeting him again. 
 
One of our members, Sornnaly Hossain, is now a member of the SEND Improvement Board 
so we can put forward our ideas and let leaders know what works and what doesn’t. 
 
The Young People’s SEND Ambassadors are part of the Forum and those who are 
Ambassadors want to keep all young people with SEND Informed, Consulted, and Included.  
Ambassadors also want to ensure that the community in Tower Hamlets accepts and 
welcomes all Young People with SEND. 
 
 
SUMMER PICNIC 
In August we were lucky to be able to meet in person for our Summer Picnic, we had a 
wonderful time and it was really great for everyone to get together. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 462



VIDEOS 
 
These are some of the videos that we have made 
 

• Young people’s experiences of living with SEND (Council for Disabled Children) 
https://youtu.be/vJnUDI4nEWU  

• IASSN FAQs: (Council for Disabled Children) 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WfzdgebmyL0&feature=youtu.be 

• Selection of videos made by Our Time Forum 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC0ffQI0TNtINebkcIHABKUQ/videos 

• Video made with University of East London for Education Psychologists 
https://youtu.be/ini-wYWTBT0 

 
 
OUR PLANS FOR 21/22 
 

• We are writing to schools and colleges to ask if they would like us to come and talk 
to other students and staff about SEND and being a Young Person in Tower Hamlets 

• We will also be writing to professionals to offer to come to their team meetings to 
tell them more about the Forum and the Ambassadors 

• We are working with Jenny to put in a bid for money to be able to make more videos 
to show people the work we do and encourage other young people to come and join 
us 

• We will be attending as many events as possible to recruit new members and inform 
people about the Forum 

• We are talking with the Youth Council about how we can best work with them 

• We want to ensure that there are more fun activities for Young People with SEN and 
we are planning to do a survey with Young People to see what they would like 

• We are going to plan a series of ‘mystery shopping’ of services and will report on this 
next year (we have already started looking at Mental Health Services like Kooth) 

• We want to work with GPS and other Health professionals to help them understand 
our conditions and respond accordingly 

• We want to work with the Youth Service to make sure that all Young People can use 
their services and that those with SEND feel truly included 

• We will continue to work on YP Zone for Local Offer  

• We also want to raise money to be able to have a trip in the summer so we can have 
fun 

• We will continue to meet monthly as will our Ambassadors, hopefully in person, as 
Zoom is difficult for some of us (though some prefer it!) 

• We would like to meet with Senior Leaders from the Council and Health every 6 
months 

• We are also working to try and raise money so that we can build our website 

• We will look at this again in 6 months because there is so much more we want to do 
 

 

Page 463

https://youtu.be/vJnUDI4nEWU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WfzdgebmyL0&feature=youtu.be
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UC0ffQI0TNtINebkcIHABKUQ/videos
https://youtu.be/ini-wYWTBT0


MD Yaomin Ali – Member of Our Time and YP Ambassador 

Sornnaly Hossain – Our Time Member, YP Ambassador and Member of SEND 

Improvement Board 

29th March 2021 

ypambassadors@gmail.com 

 Our Time (@OurTimeYF) / Twitter  

 

  

OUR TIME BUSINESS CARD 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OUR TIME ASD LANYARD CARDS  

Page 464

mailto:ypambassadors@gmail.com
https://twitter.com/OurTimeYF


EPIC Glossary 

This glossary explains some policy words and terms that you might 
come across. 

A 

Act: A law that has been passed by Parliament. 
Advocate: An independent person or organisation who will give 
children and young people information or support to make a decision. 
Alternative providers: Organisations that provide services to people 
but are not funded by the government, for example private care 
organisations. 
Appeal: To argue against something or question a decision you don’t 
agree with using the law. 
Apprenticeship: Paid jobs that include training to gain practical skills 
while you work, for example veterinary nursing or plumbing. 
Assessments: Looking at what you can and can’t do, and looking at 
the support available to help you do those things. Autonomy: Being 
able to make your own decisions about things. 
Additional Learning Support this is what further education describe 
special education needs as. 
Additional SEN Support: the replacement for school action and 
school action plus for young people with special educational needs 
who are not covered by education health and care plans  

B 

Bill: A Bill is something the government wants to become law, but is 
waiting for Parliament to agree to. 

C 

Call for evidence: When an organisation asking experts to tell them 
what they think about something. 
Care and Support Bill: A Bill that will make changes to the law about 
how adult social care and health services work. 
Case studies: Stories about someone’s experience to show how 
services work in real life. 
Children and Families Bill: A new set of laws that the government 
want to introduce. This will include changes that affect how disabled 
children, young people and families get the services and support they 

Page 465



need. 
Children and Young People’s Health Outcomes Forum: A group of 
children’s health experts who wrote a report for the Government on 
children’s health issues. 
Code of Practice: A guide to tell local authorities what they need to 
do to work within the law and provide support for students with 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities. 

D 

Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS): A 
government department that deals with businesses, training and 
universities. 
Direct payments: Allow people to receive money directly from their 
local authority, so they can pay for their own services and live more 
independently. 
Draft 0-25 special educational needs (SEN) Code of Practice: A 
guide to tell local authorities what they need to do to work within the 
law and provide support for students with Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities. 
Draft clauses: Ideas the government is thinking about putting into a 
Bill. Duty: Something the law says an organisation must do.  

E 

Early Support: A way of working with disabled children to help them 
do better in school. Early education practitioners Education Funding 
Agency (EFA): Decides how schools and colleges get their money. 
Education, Health and Care Assessment: A new assessment for 
disabled children and young people to help decide what services and 
support they need. 
Education, Health and Care Plan: A new document that will set out 
what support disabled children and young people should get in 
school. This will replace a ‘statement’. 
Education Select Committee: A group of MP’s from different parties 
in government that look at issues to do with Education. 

F 

Framework: A set of rules that show how something should happen. 
Further education: Any education that a young person does once 
they’ve left school. This includes college, university, apprenticeships 
and supported internships.  

Page 466



G 

Guidance: Tells organisations what they should be doing to work 
within the law. 

H 

Healthwatch: A group that helps patients and the public speak to 
health services in their area. 
Health and Well Being Boards: They bring together local health 
services, doctors and local authorities to decide what health issues 
are important to concentrate on in the local area. 

I 

Implementation: Making something that is set out in law happen. 
Indicative draft: a draft document setting out a structure and ideas 
but it is published knowing it will change 
Impartial: information from a person, organisation that tells you all the 
facts and options available to you to help you make your own 
decision. 

J 

Joined-up: When services work together to plan what services 
people in the local area need. 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA): This finds out what a 
local area is like, who lives there and what services they need. 

K 

Key workers: Someone who works with children and families to help 
them get the best education and social care services and make sure 
services work together. 

L 

Legal documents: A document that includes information and 
instructions that you must do to follow the law. Learning Disability 
Assessments: An assessment to find out if a person has learning 
disabilities and what support they will need to help them in school or 
education. 
LINKs: Organisations that found out what local people thought about 
the health services in their area. LlNKs will be replaced by 

Page 467



Healthwatch. 
Local authority: The local government responsible for managing 
services in your area – i.e. your local council. 
Local offer: A document to say what services and support are 
available in local areas for disabled children, young people and 
families. 

M 

Mainstream: Services that all children and young people use, for 
example youth clubs, leisure facilities and public transport. This can 
also include mainstream education, so schools and colleges that all 
children and young people can go to. 
Mediation: A way of trying to come to an agreement when people 
disagree. In education this is often when parents disagree with a 
council or school. 
Munro report: A report about how professionals can be better at 
keep children safe. 

O 

Ofsted: The organisation that makes sure schools and social care 
services are doing a good job. 
Oral evidence sessions: When a government committee asks 
specific people to answer detailed questions on a particular topic. 
Outcomes: What children and young people achieve and how their 
lives improve, for example going to college, learning new skills, living 
on their own or getting a job.  

P 

Parent/ Carer forums: Local groups where parents of disabled 
children and young people can come together to discuss issues in 
their local area and how they would like to improve them. 
Parent Partnership Services: A service in your local area where 
parents can get advice on education issues for children and young 
people with Special Educational Needs. 
Pathfinders: Local areas that are testing out the different government 
SEND proposals. They do this by working with families and young 
people to find out what works best for them and sharing what they find 
with the government and other pathfinder areas. 
Pathfinder areas: Bromley & Bexley; Calderdale; Cornwall and Isles 
of Scilly; Devon; Gateshead; Greenwich; Hartlepool & Darlington; 

Page 468



Hertfordshire; Lewisham; Manchester; North Yorkshire; 
Northamptonshire & Leicester City; Nottinghamshire; Oldham & 
Rochdale; SE7 = Brighton & Hove, East Sussex, Hampshire, Kent, 
Medway, Surrey, West Sussex; Solihull; Southampton; Trafford; 
Wigan; Wiltshire. 
Pathfinder Advisory Group (PAG): A group of experts who help the 
government work with the local area pathfinders. Person Centred 
Planning: A way of planning services based on what the person 
using them wants and cares about. 
Personal budgets: Money that people can use and decide 
themselves how to spend to pay for support. 
Personal health budgets: Money that people can use to spend on 
things to help them improve their health condition. Pre-legislative 
scrutiny: When a group of MP’s look at a draft Bill and tell the 
government what they should change before they publish the final 
version. 
Provisions: Something that is provided for somebody, sometimes the 
law tells organisations what they must provide. 
Public health: Trying to make everyone get healthier by helping them 
make good decisions about their health. Pupil Premium: Extra money 
for that a school gets for every pupil who is from a poor family to help 
them get a better education. 

R 

Redress: What someone should get if something goes wrong and it is 
the fault of an organisation. 
Regulations: Guidance that tells professionals and organisations 
what to do to make sure they carry out what the law says. 
Ring fencing: when the government decides that some money can 
only be spent on a specific thing.  

S 

Secondary legislation: Changes the Government makes to an 
existing law without having to pass a new law. 
Select Committee: A group of MP’s from all political parties that look 
at a specific issue. They listen to experts, write reports and tell the 
government what they think they should pay attention to. 
Short breaks: Opportunities for disabled children and young people 
to spend time away from their family and do something fun. For 
example a day, evening, overnight or weekend activity. 

Page 469



Special Educational Needs (SEN): Children and young people have 
special educational needs if they have a learning difficulty which 
means they need extra support to help them learn or take part in 
activities in school or college. 
Specialist support: Services specifically designed to support 
disabled children and young people, for example speech and 
language, short breaks or special education. 
Statement of SEN Support: A legal document written by the local 
authority that tells schools what support they have to give you. 
Statutory: In law. 
Statutory services: Services that the government provide, for 
example education, health or social care services from a local 
authority. 
Supported Internships: These are unpaid roles for young disabled 
people to study or train with an employer. They will gain skills to help 
them move into paid employment.  

T 

Therapies: Medical treatments that help a disabled person to manage 
the symptoms of their condition, for example physiotherapy, speech 
therapy. 
Transition: When a young person moves from children’s to adult 
services. 
Tribunal: A place where you can go to talk about decisions that you 
don’t agree with. A group of people who are not involved will listen to 
all the people involved in the argument and make a decision.  

V 

Vulnerable Children’s Task Group: Part of the National Advisory 
group, the members are experts in how to look after vulnerable 
children. 

 

Page 470


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF  INTERESTS
	3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	FINAL minutes 081221

	4.2 Special Education Needs and Disability
	1.TH Inpsection Outcome Letter
	2.Tower Hamlets Written Statement of Action
	3.TH WSOA Fit for Purpose Letter
	4.SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015
	Foreword
	From the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Health and the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Children and Families

	Introduction
	About this guidance
	Expiry or review date
	To which legislation does this guidance refer?
	Who must have regard to this guidance?
	The First-tier Tribunal (Special Educational Needs and Disability)
	Changes from the SEN Code of Practice (2001)
	Implementation of the Code of Practice
	Implementation
	Transitional arrangements

	Special educational needs (SEN)
	Disabled children and young people
	Related legislation and guidance

	1 Principles
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Principles underpinning this Code of Practice
	The principles in practice
	Participating in decision making
	Supporting children, young people and parents to participate in decisions about their support
	Involving children, young people and parents in planning, commissioning and reviewing services
	Parent Carer Forums
	Identifying children and young people’s needs
	Greater choice and control for parents and young people over their support
	Collaboration between education, health and social care services to provide support
	High quality provision to meet the needs of children and young people with SEN
	A focus on inclusive practice and removing barriers to learning
	Supporting successful preparation for adulthood


	2 Impartial information, advice and support
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	Introduction
	Who are information, advice and support for?
	Children
	Parents
	Young people

	What needs to be provided?
	Additional support
	Support for parents in HM Armed Forces

	3 Working together across education, health and care for joint outcomes
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary

	The legal framework
	Scope of joint commissioning arrangements
	Establishing effective partnerships across education, health and care
	Partnership with children, young people and parents
	Joint understanding: Joint Strategic Needs Assessments
	Responsibility for decision-making in joint commissioning arrangements
	Using information to understand and predict need for services
	Joint planning
	Deciding on shared outcomes
	Making best use of resources
	Personal Budgets

	Joint delivery
	Joint review to improve service offered
	Education, Health and Care: roles and responsibilities
	Designated Medical/Clinical Officer
	Children’s social care
	Adult social care
	Health services for children and young people with SEN and disabilities and their families
	Local authorities’ role in delivering health services
	The health commissioning duty
	Schools and post-16 settings as commissioners

	Regional commissioning: meeting the needs of children and young people with highly specialised and/or low-incidence needs
	Local accountability

	4 The Local Offer
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	What is the Local Offer?
	Preparing and reviewing the Local Offer
	Involving children and young people and parents
	Young people
	Parents

	Involving schools, colleges, health services and others
	Keeping the Local Offer under review
	Publishing comments about the Local Offer
	Taking action in response to comments about the Local Offer

	What must be included in the Local Offer?
	Educational, health and care provision
	Educational and training provision
	Schools
	Early years
	Other educational provision
	Health
	Social care and other provision

	Training and apprenticeships
	Transport
	Support available to children and young people to help them prepare for adulthood
	Information about how to seek an EHC needs assessment
	Information, advice and support

	Publishing the Local Offer

	5 Early years providers
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	Improving outcomes: high aspirations and expectations for children with SEN
	5.7 Early years providers must provide information for parents on how they support children with SEN and disabilities, and should regularly review and evaluate the quality and breadth of the support they offer or can access for children with SEN or di...
	5.8 Local authorities must ensure that all providers they fund in the maintained, private, voluntary and independent sectors are aware of the requirement on them to have regard to the SEN Code of Practice and to meet the needs of children with SEN and...
	5.9 Where assessment indicates that support from specialist services is required, it is important that children receive it as quickly as possible. Joint commissioning arrangements should seek to ensure that there are sufficient services to meet the li...

	Equality Act 2010
	Medical conditions
	SEN in the early years
	From birth to two – early identification
	5.17 Early Support supports the better delivery and co-ordination of services for disabled children, and their families, including training for professional or trained independent volunteers providing a single point of contact or key working. (See Ref...
	5.18 From September 2014, 2-year-olds for whom Disability Living Allowance is paid will be entitled to free early education.
	5.19 Information about these services should be included in the Local Offer.

	Early years provision
	5.22 The EYFS framework includes two specific points for providing written assessments for parents and other professionals – when the child is aged two and at the end of the reception year – which are detailed below.

	Progress check at age two
	5.23 When a child is aged between two and three, early years practitioners must review progress and provide parents with a short written summary of their child’s development, focusing in particular on communication and language, physical development a...
	5.24 It must describe the activities and strategies the provider intends to adopt to address any issues or concerns. If a child moves settings between the ages of two and three it is expected that the progress check will be undertaken in the setting w...
	5.25 Health visitors currently check children’s physical development milestones between ages two and three as part of the universal Healthy Child Programme. From 2015, it is proposed to introduce an integrated review that will cover the development ar...
	 identify the child’s progress, strengths and needs at this age in order to promote positive outcomes in health and wellbeing, learning and development
	 enable appropriate intervention and support for children and their families, where progress is less than expected, and
	 generate information which can be used to plan services and contribute to the reduction of inequalities in children’s outcomes

	Assessment at the end of the EYFS – the EYFS profile
	5.26 The EYFS profile provides parents, practitioners and teachers with a well-rounded picture of a child’s knowledge, understanding and abilities. A profile is usually completed for children in the final term of the year in which they turn five. It i...


	Identifying needs in the early years
	5.27 In addition to the formal checks, early years practitioners working with children should monitor and review the progress and development of all children throughout the early years.
	5.28 Where a child appears to be behind expected levels, or where a child’s progress gives cause for concern, practitioners should consider all the information about the child’s learning and development from within and beyond the setting, from formal ...
	5.30 Identifying and assessing SEN for young children whose first language is not English requires particular care. Early years practitioners should look carefully at all aspects of a child’s learning and development to establish whether any delay is ...
	5.31 Where a child has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than their peers, or a disability that prevents or hinders a child from making use of the facilities in the setting and requires special educational provision, the setting should ma...

	SEN support in the early years
	5.36 It is particularly important in the early years that there is no delay in making any necessary special educational provision. Delay at this stage can give rise to learning difficulty and subsequently to loss of self-esteem, frustration in learnin...
	5.37 Where a setting identifies a child as having SEN they must work in partnership with parents to establish the support the child needs.
	5.38 Where a setting makes special educational provision for a child with SEN they should inform the parents and a maintained nursery school must inform the parents. All settings should adopt a graduated approach with four stages of action: assess, pl...
	Assess
	5.39 In identifying a child as needing SEN support, the early years practitioner, working with the setting SENCO and the child’s parents, will have carried out an analysis of the child’s needs. This initial assessment should be reviewed regularly to e...

	Plan
	5.40 Where it is decided to provide SEN support, and having formally notified the parents, (see 5.38 above), the practitioner and the SENCO should agree, in consultation with the parent, the outcomes they are seeking, the interventions and support to ...
	5.41 Parents should be involved in planning support and, where appropriate, in reinforcing the provision or contributing to progress at home.

	Do
	5.42 The early years practitioner, usually the child’s key person, remains responsible for working with the child on a daily basis. With support from the SENCO, they should oversee the implementation of the interventions or programmes agreed as part o...

	Review
	5.43 The effectiveness of the support and its impact on the child’s progress should be reviewed in line with the agreed date. The impact and quality of the support should be evaluated by the practitioner and the SENCO working with the child’s parents ...
	5.44 This cycle of action should be revisited in increasing detail and with increasing frequency, to identify the best way of securing good progress. At each stage parents should be engaged with the setting, contributing their insights to assessment a...
	5.45 The graduated approach should be led and co-ordinated by the setting SENCO working with and supporting individual practitioners in the setting and informed by EYFS materials, the Early Years Outcomes guidance and Early Support resources (informat...
	5.46 Where a child has an EHC plan, the local authority must review that plan as a minimum every twelve months. As part of the review, the local authority can ask settings, and require maintained nursery schools, to convene and hold the annual review ...

	Transition
	5.47 SEN support should include planning and preparing for transition, before a child moves into another setting or school. This can also include a review of the SEN support being provided or the EHC plan. To support the transition, information should...

	Involving specialists
	5.48 Where a child continues to make less than expected progress, despite evidence-based support and interventions that are matched to the child’s area of need, practitioners should consider involving appropriate specialists, for example, health visit...

	Requesting an Education, Health and Care needs assessment
	5.49 Where, despite the setting having taken relevant and purposeful action to identify, assess and meet the special educational needs of the child, the child has not made expected progress, the setting should consider requesting an Education, Health ...

	Record keeping
	5.50 Practitioners must maintain a record of children under their care as required under the EYFS framework. Such records about their children must be available to parents and they must include how the setting supports children with SEN and disabilities.

	Keeping provision under review

	The role of the SENCO in early years provision
	The role of the Area SENCO
	5.57 The Area SENCO plays an important part in planning for children with SEN to transfer between early years provision and schools.
	5.58 Where there is an Area SENCO in place, they will want to work with early years providers who are registered with either Ofsted or a childminder agency. They should consider how they work with and provide advice to childminder agencies and their r...

	Funding for SEN support in the early years
	5.59 Local authorities must ensure that all providers delivering funded early education places meet the needs of children with SEN and disabled children. In order to do this local authorities should make sure funding arrangements for early education r...
	5.60 Early years providers should consider how best to use their resources to support the progress of children with SEN.


	6 Schools
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	Improving outcomes: high aspirations and expectations for children and young people with SEN
	Equality and inclusion
	Medical conditions
	Curriculum
	Careers guidance for children and young people
	Identifying SEN in schools
	Broad areas of need
	Communication and interaction
	Cognition and learning
	Social, emotional and mental health difficulties
	Sensory and/or physical needs


	Special educational provision in schools
	SEN support in schools
	Assess
	Plan
	Do
	Review

	Transition
	Involving specialists
	Requesting an Education, Health and Care needs assessment
	Involving parents and pupils in planning and reviewing progress
	Use of data and record keeping

	Publishing information: SEN information report
	The role of the SENCO in schools
	Funding for SEN support

	7 Further education
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	Introduction
	Statutory duties on post-16 institutions
	Equality Act 2010

	Careers guidance for young people
	Identifying SEN
	SEN support in college
	Assessing what support is needed
	Planning the right support
	Putting the provision in place
	Keeping support under review
	Expertise within and beyond the college
	Record keeping

	Funding for SEN support

	8 Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	Introduction
	Strategic planning for the best outcomes in adult life
	Duties on local authorities
	Starting early
	Support from Year 9 onwards (age 13-14)
	Children and young people with EHC plans: preparing for adulthood reviews
	Young people preparing to make their own decisions
	16- to 17-year-olds
	Support for young people
	The Mental Capacity Act
	Planning the transition into post-16 education and training
	Careers advice for children and young people
	High quality study programmes for students with SEN
	Pathways to employment
	Packages of support across five days a week
	Transition to higher education
	Young people aged 19 to 25
	Funding places for 19- to 25-year-olds

	Transition to adult health services
	Transition to adult social care
	Transition assessments for young people with EHC plans
	Continuity of provision
	EHC plans and statutory care and support plans
	Personal Budgets
	Leaving education or training

	9 Education, Health and Care needs assessments and plans
	What the chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	Introduction
	Requesting an EHC needs assessment
	Considering whether an EHC needs assessment is necessary
	Principles underpinning co-ordinated assessment and planning
	Involving children, young people and parents in decision-making
	Support for children, young people and parents
	Co-ordination
	Sharing information
	Timely provision of services
	Cross-agency working
	Looked after children

	Timescales for EHC needs assessment and preparation of an EHC plan
	Advice and information for EHC needs assessments
	Deciding whether to issue an EHC plan
	Decision not to issue an EHC plan
	Transparent and consistent decision-making
	Writing the EHC plan
	Content of EHC plans
	Outcomes
	What to include in each section of the EHC plan
	Agreeing the health provision in EHC plans
	Responsibility for provision

	The draft EHC plan
	Requests for a particular school, college or other institution
	Where no request is made for a particular school or college or a request for a particular school or college has not been met
	Reasonable steps

	Requesting a Personal Budget
	Mechanisms for delivery of a Personal Budget
	Setting and agreeing the Personal Budget
	Scope of Personal Budgets
	Education
	Health
	Social Care

	Use of direct payments

	Finalising and maintaining the EHC plan
	Maintaining special educational provision in EHC plans
	Maintaining social care provision in EHC plans
	Maintaining health provision in EHC plans

	Specific age ranges
	All children under compulsory school age
	Children aged under 2
	Children aged 2 to 5
	Young people aged 19 to 25
	Young people turning 19 who have EHC plans
	Reviewing and re-assessing EHC plans
	New requests for EHC needs assessments for 19- to 25-year-olds


	Transfer of EHC plans
	Transfers between local authorities
	Transfers between clinical commissioning groups

	Reviewing an EHC plan
	Reviews where a child or young person attends a school or other institution
	Reviews where a child or young person does not attend a school or other institution
	Reviews of EHC plans for children aged 0 to 5
	Transfer between phases of education
	Preparing for adulthood in reviews

	Re-assessments of EHC plans
	Requesting a re-assessment
	The re-assessment process

	Amending an existing plan
	Ceasing an EHC plan
	Disclosure of an EHC plan
	Transport costs for children and young people with EHC plans

	10 Children and young people in specific circumstances
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	Looked-after children
	Care leavers
	SEN and social care needs, including children in need
	Children’s social care
	Power to continue children’s social care services to those aged 18 to 25

	Children and young people educated out of area
	Children and young people with SEN educated at home
	Children with SEN who are in alternative provision
	Children and young people in alternative provision because of health needs

	Children of Service personnel
	Action to take in respect of Service children with SEN
	First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability)
	Further information

	Children and young people with SEN who are in youth custody
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	What this section covers
	Introduction
	Summary of statutory requirements
	Sharing information
	Education for children and young people in youth custody
	Healthcare for children and young people in youth custody
	Requesting an EHC needs assessment for a detained person
	Considering whether an assessment of post-detention education, health and care needs is necessary
	Advice and information for an assessment of post-detention education, health and care needs
	Preparing an EHC plan for a detained person in custody
	Provision of information, advice and support
	Partial assessment on entry to or exit from custody
	Transfer between places of relevant youth accommodation
	Appeals and mediation
	Keeping an EHC plan and arranging special educational provision
	Arranging health care provision for detained children and young people with EHC plans
	Monitoring provision in custody
	Review on release from youth custody
	Moving to a new local authority on release
	Looked after children remanded or sentenced to custody
	Transition from youth justice to a custodial establishment for adults
	Education on release for those in a custodial establishment for adults
	Cross-border detention


	11 Resolving disagreements
	What this chapter covers
	Relevant legislation
	Primary
	Regulations

	Principles for resolving disagreements
	Children and young people with education, health and care needs – avenues for complaint and redress

	Early resolution of disagreements
	Disagreement resolution arrangements and mediation
	Disagreement resolution services
	Contracting disagreement resolution services

	Mediation
	Contracting services for mediation and mediation information
	Routes to mediation
	Mediation on matters which can be appealed to the Tribunal
	Mediation advice before mediation
	Exceptions to the requirement to contact a mediation adviser
	Going to mediation about matters which can be appealed to the Tribunal
	Mediation on the health and social care elements of an EHC plan
	Effective mediation

	Children and young people in youth custody
	Registering an appeal with the Tribunal
	Parents’ and young people’s right to appeal to the Tribunal about EHC needs assessments and EHC plans
	The First-tier Tribunal (SEN and Disability)
	The role and function of the Tribunal
	Who can appeal to the Tribunal about EHC needs assessments and plans
	What parents and young people can appeal about
	Conditions related to appeals
	Decisions the Tribunal can make
	How parents and young people can appeal

	Disability discrimination claims
	Exclusion
	Legal aid
	Complaints procedures
	Early education providers’ and schools’ complaints procedures
	Complaints to the Secretary of State
	Complaints to Ofsted
	Post-16 institution complaints
	Local Authority complaints procedures
	Local Government Ombudsman
	The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman

	Judicial review
	NHS Complaints
	Complaints about social services provision

	Annex 1:  Mental Capacity
	Annex 2:  Improving practice and staff training in education settings
	Glossary of terms
	References
	General
	Introduction
	Chapter 1: Principles
	Chapter 2: Impartial information, advice and support
	Chapter 3: Working together across education, health and care for joint outcomes
	Chapter 4: The Local Offer
	Chapter 5: Early years providers
	Chapter 6: Schools
	Chapter 7: Further Education
	Chapter 8: Preparing for adulthood from the earliest years
	Chapter 9: Education, health and care needs assessments and plans
	Chapter 10: Children and young people in specific circumstances
	Chapter 11: Resolving disagreements
	Annex 1: Mental Capacity


	5.Ofsted_Annual_Report_2020_to_2021
	HMCI commentary
	A wholly different year
	A slow start
	Stuttering progress and heightened challenges
	Future prospects

	Registered early years and childcare providers
	Schools
	Further education and skills
	Social care
	Area SEND
	Teacher education
	Bibliography: Ofsted’s publications this year

	6.Our Time and YP Ambassadors Report 2021
	7. EPIC Glossary




